# World Journal of *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy*

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2015 February 16; 7(2): 77-158





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

# World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy

A peer-reviewed, online, open-access journal of gastrointestinal endoscopy

# Editorial Board

## 2014-2017

The World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy Editorial Board consists of 330 members, representing a team of worldwide experts in gastrointestinal endoscopy. They are from 40 countries, including Australia (3), Austria (3), Brazil (6), Canada (3), China (62), Croatia (1), Czech Republic (1), Denmark (1), Ecuador (1), Egypt (3), France (1), Germany (8), Greece (10), Hungary (2), India (11), Indonesia (1), Iran (6), Iraq (1), Ireland (2), Israel (1), Italy (37), Japan (43), Lebanon (1), Lithuania (1), Malaysia (1), Mexico (4), Netherlands (1), Norway (2), Poland (4), Portugal (5), Romania (1), Singapore (3), Slovenia (2), South Korea (19), Spain (9), Thailand (2), Turkey (11), United Arab Emirates (1), United Kingdom (14), and United States (43).

#### **EDITORS-IN-CHIEF**

Atsushi Imagawa, Kan-onji Juan Manuel Herrerias Gutierrez, Sevilla

#### GUEST EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS

Chung-Yi Chen, Kaohsiung Ming-Jen Chen, Taipei Wai-Keung Chow, Taichung Kevin Cheng-Wen Hsiao, Taipei Chia-Long Lee, Hsinchu Kuang-Wen Liao, Hsin-Chu Yi-Hsin Lin, Hsinchu Pei-Jung Lu, Tainan Yan-Sheng Shan, Tainan Ming-Yao Su, Tao-Yuan Chi-Ming Tai, Kaohsiung Yao-Chou Tsai, New Taipei Yih-Huei Uen, Tainan Hsiu-Po Wang, Taipei Yuan-Huang Wang, Taipei Shu Chen Wei, Taipei Sheng-Lei Yan, Changhua Hsu-Heng Yen, Changhua

#### MEMBERS OF THE EDITORIAL BOARD



John F Beltrame, Adelaide Guy D Eslick, Sydney Vincent Lam, Sydney



Karl A Miller, Hallein Markus Raderer, Vienna



Vitor Arantes, *Belo Horizonte* Djalma E Coelho, *Rio de janeiro* Daniel C Damin, *Porto Alegre* William Kondo, *Curitiba* Fauze Maluf-Filho, *Sao Paulo* José Luiz S Souza, *Sao Paulo* 



Sonny S Dhalla, *Brandon* Choong-Chin Liew, *Richmond Hill* Ping-Chang Yang, *Hamilton* 



Kin Wai Edwin Chan, Hong Kong Jun-Qiang Chen, Nanning Kent-Man Chu, Hong Kong Shi-Gang Ding, Beijing Song-Ze Ding, *Zhengzhou* Xiang-Wu Ding, Xiangyang Ya-Dong Feng, Nanjing Xin Geng, Tianjin Chuan-Yong Guo, Shanghai Song-Bing He, Suzhou Hai Hu, Shanghai San-Yuan Hu, Jinan Zhao-Hui Huang, Wuxi Bo Jiang, Guangzhou Brian H Lang, Hong Kong Xue-Liang Li, Nanjing Zhi-Qing Liang, Chongqing Zhi-Qiang Ling, Hangzhou

Chibo Liu, Taizhou Xiao-Wen Liu, Shanghai Xing' e Liu, Hangzhou Samuel Chun-Lap Lo, Hong Kong Shen Lu, Dalian He-Sheng Luo, Wuhan Simon SM Ng, Hong Kong Hong-Zhi Pan, Harbin Bing Peng, Chengdu Guo-Ming Shen, Hefei Xue-Ying Shi, Beijing Xiao-Dong Sun, Hangzhou Na-Ping Tang, Shanghai Anthony YB Teoh, Hong Kong Qiang Tong, Wuhan Dao-Rong Wang, Yangzhou Xian Wang, Hangzhou Xiao-Lei Wang, Shanghai Qiang Xiao, Nanning Zhu-Ping Xiao, Jishou Li-Shou Xiong, Guangzhou Ying-Min Yao, Xi'an Bo Yu, Beijing Qing-Yun Zhang, Beijing Ping-Hong Zhou, Shanghai Yong-Liang Zhu, Hangzhou





Marcela Kopacova, Hradec Králové

Jakob Lykke, Slagelse





Carlos Robles-Medranda, Guayaquil

#### <u>)</u> Egypt

Asmaa G Abdou, Shebein Elkom Ahmed AR ElGeidie, Mansoura Mohamed Abdel-Sabour Mekky, Assiut



Jean Michel Fabre, Montpellier

#### Germany

Jorg G Albert, Frankfurt Hüseyin Kemal Cakmak, Karlsruhe Robert Grützmann, Dresden Thilo Hackert, Heidelberg Arthur Hoffman, Frankfurt Thomas E Langwieler, Nordhausen Andreas Sieg, Heidelberg Jorg Rüdiger Siewert, Freiburg



Sotirios C Botaitis, Alexandroupolis George A Giannopoulos, Piraeus Dimitris K Iakovidis, Lamia Dimitrios Kapetanos, Thessaloniki John A Karagiannis, Athens Gregory Kouraklis, Athens Spiros D Ladas, Athens Theodoros E Pavlidis, Thessaloniki Demitrios Vynios, Patras Elias Xirouchakis, Athens

#### Hungary

László Czakó, Szeged Laszlo Herszenyi, Budapest



Pradeep S Anand, Bhopal Deepraj S Bhandarkar, Mumbai Hemanga Kumar Bhattacharjee, New Delhi Radha K Dhiman, Chandigarh Mahesh K Goenka, Kolkata Asish K Mukhopadhyay, Kolkata Manickam Ramalingam, Coimbatore Aga Syed Sameer, Srinagar Omar J Shah, Srinagar Shyam S Sharma, Jaipur Jayashree Sood, New Delhi

#### Indonesia

Ari F Syam, Jakarta



Alireza Aminsharifi, Shiraz

Homa Davoodi, Gorgan Ahad Eshraghian, Shiraz Ali Reza Maleki, Gorgan Yousef Rasmi, Urmia Farhad Pourfarzi, Ardabil







Ronan A Cahill, *Dublin* Kevin C Conlon, *Dublin* 



Haggi Mazeh, Jerusalem



Ferdinando Agresta, Adria (RO) Alberto Arezzo, Torino Corrado R Asteria, Mantua Massimiliano Berretta, Aviano (PN) Vittorio Bresadola, udine Lorenzo Camellini, Reggio Emilia Salvatore Maria Antonio Campo, Rome Gabriele Capurso, Rome Luigi Cavanna, Piacenza Francesco Di Costanzo, Firenze Salvatore Cucchiara, Rome Paolo Declich, Rho Massimiliano Fabozzi, Aosta Enrico Fiori, Rome Luciano Fogli, Bologna Francesco Franceschi, Rome Lorenzo Fuccio, Bologna Giuseppe Galloro, Naples Carlo M Girelli, Busto Arsizio Gaetano La Greca, Catania Fabrizio Guarneri, Messina Giovanni Lezoche, Ancona Paolo Limongelli, Naples Marco M Lirici, Rome Valerio Mais, Cagliari Andrea Mingoli, Rome Igor Monsellato, Milan Marco Moschetta, Bari Lucia Pacifico, Rome Giovanni D De Palma, Naples Paolo Del Rio, Parma Pierpaolo Sileri, Rome Cristiano Spada, Rome Stefano Trastulli, Terni Nereo Vettoretto, Chiari (BS) Mario Alessandro Vitale, Rome Nicola Zampieri, Verona



Hiroki Akamatsu, Osaka Shotaro Enomoto, Wakayama Masakatsu Fukuzawa, Tokyo Takahisa Furuta, Hamamatsu Chisato Hamashima, Tokyo

Naoki Hotta, Nagoya Hiroshi Kashida, Osaka-saayama Motohiko Kato, Suita Yoshiro Kawahara, Okayama Hiroto Kita, Tokyo Nozomu Kobayashi, Utsunomiya Shigeo Koido, Chiba Koga Komatsu, Yurihonjo Kazuo Konishi, Tokyo Keiichiro Kume, Kitakyushu Katsuhiro Mabe, Sapporo Iruru Maetani, Tokyo Nobuyuki Matsuhashi, Tokyo Kenshi Matsumoto, Tokyo Satohiro Matsumoto, Saitama Hiroto Miwa, Nishinomiya Naoki Muguruma, Tokushima Yuji Naito, Kyoto Noriko Nakajima, Tokyo Katsuhiko Nosho, Sapporo Satoshi Ogiso, Kyoto Keiji Ogura, Tokyo Shiro Oka, Hiroshima Hiroyuki Okada, Okayama Yasushi Sano, Kobe Atsushi Sofuni, Tokyo Hiromichi Sonoda, Otsu Haruhisa Suzuki, Tokyo Gen Tohda, Fukui Yosuke Tsuji, Tokyo Toshio Uraoka, Tokyo Hiroyuki Yamamoto, Kawasaki Shuji Yamamoto, Shiga Kenjiro Yasuda, Kyoto Naohisa Yoshida, Kyoto Shuhei Yoshida, Chiba Hitoshi Yoshiji, Kashihara



Eddie K Abdalla, Beirut



Laimas Jonaitis, Kaunas



Sreenivasan Sasidharan, Minden



Quintín H Gonzalez-Contreras, *Mexico* Carmen Maldonado-Bernal, *Mexico* Jose M Remes-Troche, *Veracruz* Mario A Riquelme, *Monterrey* 

#### Netherlands

Marco J Bruno, Rotterdam



Airazat M Kazaryan, Skien Thomas de Lange, Rud



Thomas Brzozowski, Cracow Piotr Pierzchalski, Krakow Stanislaw Sulkowski, Bialystok Andrzej Szkaradkiewicz, Poznań



#### Portugal

Andreia Albuquerque, Porto Pedro N Figueiredo, Coimbra Ana Isabel Lopes, Lisbon Rui A Silva, Porto Filipa F Vale, Lisbon



Lucian Negreanu, Bucharest



#### Singapore

Surendra Mantoo, Singapore Francis Seow-Choen, Singapore Kok-Yang Tan, Singapore





Pavel Skok, Maribor Bojan Tepes, Rogaska Slatina



South Korea Seung Hyuk Baik, Seoul

Joo Young Cho, Seoul Young-Seok Cho, Uijeongbu Ho-Seong Han, Seoul Hye S Han, Seoul Seong Woo Jeon, Daegu Won Joong Jeon, Jeju Min Kyu Jung, Daegu Gwang Ha Kim, Busan Song Cheol Kim, Seoul Tae Il Kim, Seoul Young Ho Kim, Daegu Hyung-Sik Lee, Busan Kil Yeon Lee, Seoul SangKil Lee, Seoul Jong-Baeck Lim, Seoul Do Youn Park, Busan Dong Kyun Park, Incheon Jaekyu Sung, Daejeon





Sergi Castellvi-Bel, Barcelona Angel Cuadrado-Garcia, Sanse Alfredo J Lucendo, Tomelloso José F Noguera, Valencia Enrique Quintero, Tenerife Luis Rabago, Madrid Eduardo Redondo-Cerezo, Granada Juan J Vila, Pamplona



#### Thailand

Somchai Amornyotin, Bangkok Pradermchai Kongkam, Pathumwan



Ziya Anadol, Ankara Cemil Bilir, Rize Ertan Bulbuloglu, Kahramanmaras Vedat Goral, Izmir Alp Gurkan, Istanbul Serkan Kahyaoglu, Ankara Erdinc Kamer, Izmir Cuneyt Kayaalp, Malatya Erdal Kurtoglu, Turkey Oner Mentes, Ankara Orhan V Ozkan, Sakarya



Maher A Abbas, Abu Dhabi



Nadeem A Afzal, Southampton Emad H Aly, Aberdeen Gianpiero Gravante, Leicester Karim Mukhtar, Liverpool Samir Pathak, East Yorkshire Jayesh Sagar, Frimley Muhammad S Sajid, Worthing, West Sussex Sanchoy Sarkar, Liverpool Audun S Sigurdsson, Telford Tony CK Tham, Belfast Kym Thorne, Swansea Her Hsin Tsai, Hull Edward Tudor, Taunton Weiguang Wang, Wolverhampton



Emmanuel Atta Agaba, Bronx Mohammad Alsolaiman, Lehi Erman Aytac, Cleveland Jodie A Barkin, Miami Corey E Basch, Wayne Charles Bellows, albuquerque Jianyuan Chai, Long Beach Edward J Ciaccio, New York Konstantinos Economopoulos, Boston Viktor E Eysselein, Torrance Michael R Hamblin, Boston Shantel Hebert-Magee, Orlando Cheryl L Holt, College Park Timothy D Kane, Washington Matthew Kroh, Cleveland I Michael Leitman, New York Wanguo Liu, New Orleans Charles Maltz, New York Robert CG Martin, Louisville Hiroshi Mashimo, West Roxbury Abraham Mathew, Hershey Amosy E M'Koma, Nashville Klaus Monkemuller, Birmingham James M Mullin, Wynnewood Farr Reza Nezhat, New York Gelu Osian, Baltimore Eric M Pauli, Hershey Srinivas R Puli, Peoria Isaac Raijman, Houston Robert J Richards, Stony Brook William S Richardson, New Orleans Bryan K Richmond, Charleston Praveen K Roy, Marshfield Rodrigo Ruano, Houston Danny Sherwinter, Brooklyn Bronislaw L Slomiany, Newark Aijaz Sofi, Toledo Stanislaw P Stawicki, Columbus Nicholas Stylopoulos, Boston XiangLin Tan, New Brunswick Wahid Wassef, Worcester Nathaniel S Winstead, Houma



WJGE www.wjgnet.com

# World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy

#### Contents

Monthly Volume 7 Number 2 February 16, 2015

#### **REVIEW**

77 Reappraisal of endoscopic papillary balloon dilation for the management of common bile duct stones Lai KH, Chan HH, Tsai TJ, Cheng JS, Hsu PI

#### **MINIREVIEWS**

- 87 Current status of minimally invasive endoscopic management for Zenker diverticulum Aiolfi A, Scolari F, Saino G, Bonavina L
- 94 Colonoscopy appropriateness: Really needed or a waste of time? Gimeno-García AZ, Quintero E
- 102 Sedation in gastrointestinal endoscopy: Where are we at in 2014? Ferreira AO, Cravo M
- 110 Narrow-band imaging with magnifying endoscopy for the evaluation of gastrointestinal lesions Boeriu A, Boeriu C, Drasovean S, Pascarenco O, Mocan S, Stoian M, Dobru D
- 121 Circumstance of endoscopic and laparoscopic treatments for gastric cancer in Japan: A review of epidemiological studies using a national administrative database Murata A, Matsuda S

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

#### **Retrospective Study**

128 Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography for suspected choledocholithiasis: From guidelines to clinical practice

Magalhães J, Rosa B, Cotter J

#### SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

135 Clinical outcomes of self-expandable stent placement for benign esophageal diseases: A pooled analysis of the literature

van Halsema EE, van Hooft JE

#### **CASE REPORT**

154 Rare case of dysphagia, skin blistering, missing nails in a young boy Makker J, Bajantri B, Remy P



Contents	World J Volume	<i>Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy</i> e 7 Number 2 February 16, 2015	
ABOUT COVER	Editorial Board Member of <i>World Journal</i> Xiang-Wu Ding, MD, PhD, Associate Prof of Gastroenterology, Department of Gast of Hubei University of Science and Art 441021, Hubei Province, China	<i>l of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy</i> , essor, Chief Doctor, Director, Department rointestinal Endoscopy, Affiliated Hospital (Xiangyang Central Hospital), Xiangyang	
AIM AND SCOPE	World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (World J Gastrointest Endosc, WJGE, online ISSN 1948-5190, DOI: 10.4253) is a peer-reviewed open access (OA) academic journal that aims to guide clinical practice and improve diagnostic and therapeutic skills of clinicians. WJGE covers topics concerning gastroscopy, intestinal endoscopy, colonoscopy, capsule endoscopy, laparoscopy, interventional diagnosis and therapy, as well as advances in technology. Emphasis is placed on the clinical practice of treating gastrointestinal diseases with or under endoscopy. We encourage authors to submit their manuscripts to WJGE. We will give priority to manuscripts that are supported by major national and international foundations and those that are of great clinical significance.		
INDEXING/ABSTRACTING	<i>World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy</i> is Digital Object Identifier, and Directory of C	now indexed in PubMed Central, PubMed, Open Access Journals.	
FLYLEAF I-IV	Editorial Board		
EDITORS FOR Response THIS ISSUE Proofing	sible Assistant Editor: Xiang Li     Resp       sible Electronic Editor: Dan-Ni Zhang     Proof       g Editor-in-Chief: Lian-Sheng Ma     Yes	onsible Science Editor: Fang-Fang Ji fing Editorial Office Director: Xin-Xia Song	
<ul> <li>NAME OF JOURNAL World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy</li> <li>ISSN ISSN 1948-5190 (online)</li> <li>LAUNCH DATE October 15, 2009</li> <li>FREQUENCY Monthly</li> <li>EDITORS-IN-CHIEF Juan Manuel Herrerias Gutierrez, PhD, Academic Fellow, Chief Doctor, Professor, Unidad de Gestión Clínica de Aparato Digestivo, Hospital Universitario Virgen Macarena, Sevilla 41009, Sevilla, Spain</li> <li>Atsushi Imagawa, PhD, Director, Doctor, Depart- ment of Gastroenterology, Mitoyo General Hospital, Kan-onji, Kagawa 769-1695, Japan</li> </ul>	Xiu-Xia Song, Vice Director World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy Room 903, Building D, Ocean International Center, No. 62 Dongsihuan Zhonglu, Chaoyang District, Beijing 100025, China Telephone: +86-10-85381891 Fax: +86-10-85381893 E-mail: editorialoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx http://www.wjgnet.com <b>PUBLISHER</b> Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 8226 Regency Drive, Pleasanton, CA 94588, USA Telephone: +1-925-223-8243 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx http://www.wjgnet.com	COPYRIGHT © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. Articles published by this Open-Access journal are distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-commercial License, which permits use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non commercial and is otherwise in compliance with the license. SPECIAL STATEMENT All articles published in journals owned by the Baishideng Publishing Group (BPG) represent the views and opinions of their authors, and not the views, opinions or policies of the BPG, except where otherwise explicitly indicated. INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS Full instructions are available online at http://www.ignet. com/1948-5190/g_info_20100316080002.htm	



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v7.i2.77 World J Gastrointest Endosc 2015 February 16; 7(2): 77-86 ISSN 1948-5190 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

REVIEW

# Reappraisal of endoscopic papillary balloon dilation for the management of common bile duct stones

Kwok-Hung Lai, Hoi-Hung Chan, Tzung-Jiun Tsai, Jin-Shiung Cheng, Ping-I Hsu

Kwok-Hung Lai, Hoi-Hung Chan, Tzung-Jiun Tsai, Jin-Shiung Cheng, Ping-I Hsu, Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Internal Medicine, Kaohsiung Veterans General Hospital, Kaohsiung 813, Taiwan

Kwok-Hung Lai, Hoi-Hung Chan, Ping-I Hsu, School of Medicine, National Yang-Ming University, Taipei 112, Taiwan Author contributions: All the authors solely contributed to this paper.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Kwok-Hung Lai, Professor, Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Internal Medicine, Kaohsiung Veterans General Hospital, 386 Ta-Chung 1<sup>st</sup> Road, Kaohsiung 813, Taiwan. khlai@yghks.gov.tw

Telephone: +886-7-3422121-2074 Fax: +886-7-5574361 Received: September 14, 2014 Peer-review started: September 20, 2014 First decision: October 14, 2014

Revised: October 30, 2014

Accepted: November 17, 2014

Article in press: November 19, 2014

Published online: February 16, 2015

## Abstract

Although endoscopic sphincterotomy (EST) is still considered as a gold standard treatment for common bile duct (CBD) stones in western guideline, endoscopic papillary balloon dilation (EPBD) is commonly used by the endoscopists in Asia as the first-line treatment for CBD stones. Besides the advantages of a technical easy procedure, endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation (EPLBD) can facilitate the removal of large CBD stones.

The indication of EPBD is now extended from removal of the small stones by using traditional balloon, to removal of large stones and avoidance of lithotripsy by using large balloon alone or after EST. According to the reports of antegrade papillary balloon dilatation, balloon dilation itself is not the cause of pancreatitis. On the contrary, adequate dilation of papillary orifice can reduce the trauma to the papilla and pancreas by the basket or lithotripter during the procedure of stone extraction. EPLBD alone is as effective as EPLBD with limited EST. Longer ballooning time may be beneficial in EPLBD alone to achieve adequate loosening of papillary orifice. The longer ballooning time does not increase the risk of pancreatitis but may reduce the bleeding episodes in patients with coagulopathy. Slowly inflation of the balloon, but not exceed the diameter of bile duct and tolerance of the patients are important to prevent the complication of perforation. EPBLD alone or with EST are not the sphincter preserved procedures, regular follow up is necessary for early detection and management of CBD stones recurrence.

**Key words:** Common bile duct stones; Complications; Endoscopic balloon dilation; Endoscopic large balloon dilation; Endoscopic sphincterotomy

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** Indication of endoscopic papillary balloon dilation is now extended from removal of small common bile duct stones to large or difficult stones by using large balloon. Balloon dilation itself is not the cause of pancreatitis. Avoidance of unnecessary pancreatic contrast injection, use the suitable balloon and pressure, slowly balloon inflation and adequate ballooning time to achieve a widely opened papillary orifice are the important steps to perform a safe endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation and successful clearance of bile duct.



Lai KH, Chan HH, Tsai TJ, Cheng JS, Hsu PI. Reappraisal of endoscopic papillary balloon dilation for the management of common bile duct stones. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2015; 7(2): 77-86 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet. com/1948-5190/full/v7/i2/77.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.4253/wjge.v7.i2.77

#### INTRODUCTION

In the laparoscopic era, endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) is as efficient as laparoscopic surgery in the treatment of common bile duct (CBD) stones<sup>[1]</sup>. Since the introduction of endoscopic sphincterotomy (EST) in 1974 by Classen et al<sup>[2]</sup> and Kawai et al<sup>[3]</sup>, EST is widespread used for removal of CBD stones in the following 40 years. Although the success rate of EST is high, this procedure may cause pancreatitis, hemorrhage, perforation and other complications. In a prospective cohort study of EST in 2347 patients<sup>[4]</sup>, the overall complications of EST was 9.8%, including pancreatitis 5.4% (severe 0.4% and one patient died), hemorrhage 2% (severe 0.5% and 2 patients died), perforation 0.3% (severe 0.5%, one patient died), cholangitis 1% (severe 0.1% and one patient died), cholecystitis 0.5% (severe 0.1% and one patient died). The risk factors of pancreatitis included dysfunction of sphincter of Oddi, young age, difficulty in cannulating the bile duct, and number of pancreatic contrast injections; whereas the risk factors of hemorrhage included coagulopathy, anticoagulation therapy, cholangitis, mean case volume of endoscopist  $\leq$  1/week, and bleeding during the procedure. Thus, the risk of complications was influenced by the technique of endoscopist in the process of bile duct cannulation and cutting the papilla<sup>[4]</sup>.

In 1981, Centola et al<sup>[5]</sup> presented a case with CBD stones who was successfully treated by percutaneous transhepatic balloon dilation of papilla of Vater. Staritz et al<sup>[6]</sup> also reported his experience by using a 15 mm diameter balloon catheter for endoscopic papillary dilation in 10 patients with CBD stones and one patient with benign papillary stenosis in the next year. Six of the ten patients were successfully cleared the bile tract soon after endoscopic papillary balloon dilation (EPBD) and four patients needed mechanical lithotripsy for stone retrieval. There were no complications in this report. For the purpose of preserving the function of sphincter of Oddi and avoidance of late complication, most endoscopists used the smaller balloon catheters (8 mm or less) to dilate the biliary sphincter for removal of the small stones, or combination use of the smaller balloon with lithotripter to treat the larger stones in the following twenty years. The success rate of EPBD was comparable with EST and reduced risk of bleeding was found<sup>[7-13]</sup>. Higher incidences of pancreatitis after EPBD by using the 8 mm balloon catheter were reported in some studies<sup>[14-16]</sup>. Although most of the patients with post-EPBD pancreatitis recovered after conservative treatment, a multi-center study from United States and Ireland disclosed two patients with fatal pancreatitis after EPBD<sup>[16]</sup>. The impact of this report discouraged the use of EPBD as the first line modality for the treatment of CBD stones by some western endoscopists, particularly in United States<sup>[17-20]</sup>. However, EPBD was still a popular procedure in Asia and parts of Europe<sup>[21]</sup>. Tsujino *et al*<sup>[22]</sup> found that 4.8% of their 1000 patients developed pancreatitis after EPBD, but all of them recovered later.

In 2003, Ersoz et al<sup>[23]</sup> reported their retrospective analysis for using the enteric balloon catheter (previously used for esophageal or pyloric dilation) with the diameter 12-20 mm, to treat 58 patients who had received complete endoscopic sphincterotomy but failure to clear the CBD stones. Of the 58 patients, 18 patients had tapered distal bile duct, and another 40 patients had the large, square and barrel shaped stones. Successful stone removal at the first session was 82.8%, and the other 10 patients also achieved clearance of bile duct after second dilation or mechanical lithotripsy. Complications occurred in 15.5%, including moderate bleeding in three patients (5.2%) and mild pancreatitis in two patients (3.4%). In 2004, Lin et al<sup>[24]</sup> from Taiwan reported a randomized controlled study comparing 51 patients receiving EPBD alone by using the enteric balloon catheter (diameter 10-12 mm) with 53 patients receiving EST for removal of CBD stones. The ballooning time was increased to 5 min to avoid the continuous blood oozing after balloon deflation. The successful bile duct clearance rates and the frequencies of mechanical lithotripsy were comparable between two groups. The minor bleeding episodes were more frequent in EST group (2% vs 26.4%, P < 0.001), but no other adverse effects such as pancreatitis and perforation were reported. Since then, endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation alone (EPLBD) or after sphincterotomy (ESLBD) became popular use for removal the large or difficult CBD stones, the results are satisfactory and even superior to EST in most studies and literatures of meta-analysis<sup>[25-61]</sup>. Although lethal pancreatitis is rare, life-threatened complications such as perforation and bleeding have been reported after ESLBD or EPLBD<sup>[62,63]</sup>. In the era of EPLBD/ESLBD, several previous concepts about EPBD, such as the indications, methodology, short-term and long-term complications should be amended.

#### **INDICATIONS OF EPBD/EPLBD**

Staritz *et al*<sup>(6)</sup> firstly reported the good clinical results of EPBD for removal of CBD stones by using the large balloon catheter, but most endoscopists shifted to the smaller balloon catheter (8 mm) for papillary dilation later<sup>[9-16,22]</sup>. Because of high incidence of post-procedural pancreatitis in a few studies<sup>[15,16]</sup>, the indica-



tions of EPBD was confined to the vulnerable patients (e.g., coagulopathy, cirrhosis), or altered anatomy (e.g., Billroth II gastrectomy, Roux-en-y anastomosis, juxtapapillary diverticulum), and the stones were lesser than 1 cm in diameter<sup>[19,20]</sup>. After ESLBD and EPLBD were widely used to remove the large or difficult stones with good results, the indications extend to the patients with large stones, tapered or stricture of distal bile duct<sup>[21,23,25,31,36,41,44,58,61]</sup>. As perforation is more likely to occur in those patients with distal bile duct stricture, some studies suggest that the target of EPLBD/ESLBD should include the patients with CBD dilation but without stricture of distal CBD<sup>[25,63]</sup>. Since stricture of distal bile duct is also a problem after EST, other studies recommend limited EST, gradually inflation of balloon and early use of lithotripter to remove the CBD stones safely<sup>[23,63-66]</sup>.

# SUCCESS RATE OF EPBD/EPLBD FOR REMOVAL OF CBD STONES

The overall success rate of EPBD by using the conventional balloon catheter was comparable (94.3% vs 96.5%) with EST in a meta-analysis of eight studies<sup>[17]</sup>, another similar analysis of thirteen studies reported that EPBD being less successful overall in regard to stone removal (90.1% vs 95.3%)<sup>[18]</sup>. Both two above studies showed that patients undergoing EPBD were more likely required mechanical lithotripsy for stone extraction (20.9% vs 14.8% and 20.0% vs 13.3%, respectively)<sup>[17,18]</sup>. The contradictory results of meta-analyses in clinical trials may be due to diverse nature of the studies in design and methods<sup>[67]</sup>. Most of the trials excluded the patients with coagulopathy, cirrhosis, distal bile duct stricture, big stones or difficult cases, the detailed methods including the ballooning time and medications were different. The heterogeneity of the trials may interfere the assessment of overall results.

The initial success rate of ESLBD was 91% (75.5% -100%), overall success rate was 98% (88.6% -100%), mechanical lithotripsy was necessary in 9.3% (0-33%)<sup>[68]</sup>. The overall success rate ESLBD was comparable with EST in most studies, but the need of mechanical lithotripsy was less frequent in ESLBD<sup>[25,31,41,44,58]</sup>. In patients received EPLBD alone, the overall success rate of CBD stones removal ranged from 92.7%-97.5%, the need for mechanical lithotripsy ranged from 15.8%-21.2%<sup>[45,51,69-72]</sup>. Minakari *et al*<sup>[69]</sup> found that there were no significant difference between the success rate of EPLBD alone and EST (97.5% vs 96.2%). Hwang et al reported that the overall success rate of CBD stone removal and the needs of mechanical lithotripsy were similar between the patients received EPLBD alone or ESLBD (96.8% vs 95.7% and 19.4% vs 26.1%, respectively)<sup>[57]</sup>.

#### METHODS OF EPBD/EPLBD

The diameter of the balloon depends upon the injection pressure inside the balloon according to the manufacturer's instruction<sup>[24,45]</sup>. A multicenter study demonstrated the efficacy and safety of EPBD by inflating the balloon until its waist disappears, rather than inflating to a prespecified pressure<sup>[72,73]</sup>. The balloon should be slowly inflated to avoid sudden tearing of the ampullary roof. After EST, the shape of papillary orifice will be triangular and the distal CBD will be narrow in shape. In contrast, the papillary orifice will be shaped as a large round hole with cylindrical configuration without a narrowing at distal bile duct after adequate balloon dilation, the relative stiff accessory instruments such as basket and lithotripter will enter easily into bile duct for stones removal<sup>[47]</sup>. The traditional balloon catheter (8 mm in diameter, 3 cm in length) was used to remove the small CBD stones and to preserve the integrity of the sphincter<sup>[13,74]</sup>. The large balloon ( $\geq$  10 mm to 20 mm) is used to remove the big difficult stones without consideration of sphincter preservation<sup>[44]</sup>.

The choice of balloon depends on the size of the largest stones and the CBD diameter<sup>[44]</sup>. The size of balloon should not exceed the maximal diameter of bile duct. In the patients with a stricture or tapered distal bile duct, gradual dilation with smaller balloon until disappearance of the waist is suggested, and EPBD should be terminated if the patient is intolerant to the dilating procedure.

The ballooning time is heterogeneous in different reports. In several controlled studies, the short ballooning time 20-30 s had the comparable results with the ballooning time 60-120  $s^{[55,72,75]}$ . In the study of Choi et al<sup>[76]</sup> they demonstrated the favorable outcome of immediate balloon deflation method in ESLBD for the extraction of difficult CBD stones. In a randomized trial from Taiwan, Liao et al[77] showed that 5-min EPBD improved the efficacy of stone extraction and reduces the risk of pancreatitis in comparison with conventional 1-min EPBD. A metaanalysis also demonstrated the duration of EPBD is inversely associated with pancreatitis risk<sup>[60]</sup>. Long EPBD can result in adequate loosening of the intact sphincter and less blood oozing, the widely opened papillary orifice may facilitate the insertion of accessary instruments into bile duct, and decrease the injury of pancreas<sup>[24,45,77,78]</sup>. In the patients who received ESLBD, shorter ballooning time may be enough because the sphincter is partially severed. The longer ballooning time may probably prevent bleeding complication, particularly in the flail patients with bleeding tendency, cirrhosis, uremia or under anti-platelet therapy<sup>[37,63,65]</sup>.

Attasaranya *et al*<sup>[38]</sup> suggested that EPLBD after EST may result in separation of the pancreatic and biliary orifices and the balloon dilation forces are away

Baishideng®

WJGE | www.wjgnet.com

from the pancreatic duct. According to his theory, many endoscopists performed ESLBD to remove the CBD stones recently<sup>[26-30,32-35,37,39,40,42-44,46-48,53,54]</sup>. Sianificant bleeding was reported in 2.8% (0-8%) after ESLBD<sup>[68]</sup>. Hwang *et al*<sup>[57]</sup> conducted a study of 131 patients to compare the clinical effect of EPLBD alone and ESLBD. The successful stone removal (EPLBD 96.8%, ESLBD 95.7%), need of mechanical lithotripsy (EPLBD 19.4%, ESLBD 26.1%), postprocedural pancreatitis (EPLBD 6.5%, ESLBD 4.3%), perforation (EPLBD 0%, ESBD 1.4%) were no significant differences between two groups<sup>[57]</sup>. The recent prospective controlled study by Kogure et al<sup>[77]</sup> also demonstrated the similar findings. Another two single-institution retrospective studies reported that the EPLBD alone had the overall success rate 92.7%-97.4%, required the help of mechanical lithotripsy 15.8%-21.1%, postprocedural mild pancreatitis 0-0.8%, and no major bleeding<sup>[45,71]</sup>. Therefore, EPLBD alone is a simple safe and effective method in patients with large CBD stones, precut sphincterotomy may be unnecessary except in those patients with difficult cannulation of bile duct.

## ADVERSE EVENTS AFTER EPBD/EPLBD

#### Pancreatitis

EPBD is categorized as one of the important causes of pancreatitis since the report of multicenter study from Disario et al<sup>[16]</sup>. From the result of recent studies, pancreatitis is more frequent in the patients using the traditional balloon (8 mm) and short duration (< 3 min) than the patients using the large balloon and long duration [6,12,14-17,24,25,31,36,45,52,58,60,65,71,77,79]. In 2000, Gil et al<sup>[80]</sup> from Spain reported their results by using percutaneous balloon dilation of sphincter of Oddi to clear the bile duct in the 38 patients with CBD stones. The success rate was 94.7% and no patient developed pancreatitis<sup>[80]</sup>. Another study from Argentina applied similar method in 300 patients, no patients developed pancreatitis after antegrade balloon dilation of biliary sphincter with maximal diameter 20 mm<sup>[81]</sup>. A Korean retrospective study compared the efficacy and adverse event in 56 patients underwent percutaneous transhepatic papillary dilation (PTPD) with 208 patients underwent retrograde EPBD for removal of CBD stones<sup>[82]</sup>. Complete bile duct clearance was achieved in 97.1% of EPBD and 98.2% of PTPD. Fourteen (6.7%) of 208 EPBD group vs 0% of PTPD developed pancreatitis after the procedure (P = 0.046). Hyperamylasemia occurred in 29.8% of EPBD group and 7.1% of PTPD group (P = 0.0005). These studies disprove the previous concept of balloon dilation being the cause of pancreatitis. The balloon is innocent and the pancreatitis may actually result from the traumatic injury of major papilla or pancreatic duct at the time of selective cannulation of bile duct, or the procedures of stone extraction after balloon dilation. In the patients with difficult cannulation, papillary edema after repeated cannulation, accidental trauma by diagnostic catheter or excessive injection of contrast medium to the pancreatic ducts are not uncommon, particularly in the patients with small papillary orifice or not widely opened orifice after inadequate balloon dilation. The pathogenesis of pancreatitis after EPBD appears multifactorial, only the superfluous injection of contrast medium into pancreatic duct is certainly considered to lead to increasing the risk of pancreatitis<sup>[83]</sup>. Once the head portion of pancreatic duct filled with contrast, we should stop the contrast medium injection immediately and withdraw the catheter in order to minimize the pancreatic injury. In addition, adequate dilation of papilla to create a large opening of bile duct may facilitate the accessory instruments enter the bile duct easily and to avoid further injury of pancreas<sup>[45]</sup>. Routine use of pancreatic stent may help for decrease the risk of pancreatitis by experienced endoscopists, but the indication and detailed methodology are not established yet<sup>[84]</sup>.

#### Bleeding

Less bleeding is believed to be one of the advantages for EPBD in the treatment of CBD stones up to now. In the early meta-analysis from Baron *et al*<sup>[17]</sup>, no patients developed bleeding after EPBD in 8 controlled studies using the traditional balloon for dilation, but 2% of patients had bleeding after EST. In DiSario's study, self-limited or endoscopically controlled bleeding occurred in 27% of the patients undergoing EST and 10.5% of patients undergoing EPBD<sup>[16]</sup>. Minor oozing after EPBD commonly occurs due to microvascular rupture accompanied by stretching of the mucosa, particularly in the patients receiving EPLBD, but most of them are self-limited and does not considered as a bleeding complication in most studies<sup>[44,65]</sup>. Park et al<sup>[85]</sup> had conducted a study to compare the results of EPBD using traditional balloon with EST in patients with cirrhosis and coagulopathy. Significant bleeding occurred in six (30%) patients who received EST and three of them died of bleeding related complications. No bleeding episode was reported in patients received EPBD<sup>[85]</sup>. Unlike the EPBD using a traditional balloon, the bleeding episodes were ranged from 0-16.7% in patients who received the ESLBD for treatment of CBD stones<sup>[44]</sup>, one patient died of bleeding in a multi-center study who received EPLBD after a full EST<sup>[63]</sup>. Patients who received EPLBD alone had less frequent or less severe bleeding episodes in both prospective and retrospective reports<sup>[45,57-71,77]</sup>. Lin et  $al^{[24]}$  prolonged the duration of balloon inflation to 5 min because of continuous oozing after short duration balloon inflation in the initial two cases. Most of published reports excluded the patients with coagulopathy in their protocols, and there is no consensus for the methodology of EPBD or EPLBD in the present



time. To prolong the duration of balloon inflation and the use of EPLBD alone may probably reduce the risk of significant bleeding to the patients with potential coagulopathy<sup>[24,65]</sup>, but it needs further controlled studies to confirm.

#### Perforation

The incidence of perforation was 0-2% in patients after EPBD, 0-1.7% in patients after ESLBD<sup>[17,44]</sup>, 0-2.5% after EPLBD alone<sup>[30,45,57,71,77,86]</sup>. Mortalities after EPBD or ESLBD were also reported<sup>[7,63,86]</sup>. Distal CBD stricture and over-inflation of balloon may be responsible for the fatal perforation<sup>[63]</sup>. In the patients with stricture or tapered distal bile duct, gradual balloon dilation with a smaller balloon initially and application of lithotripter may help for safely extraction of CBD stones<sup>[23,66]</sup>. Strong resistance, persistence of notch, and intolerable pain development during balloon inflation indicated stricture of bile duct, additional pressure should not be applied to avoid perforation<sup>[63]</sup>. In such cases, it should convert to drainage procedure or other stone extraction modalities<sup>[63]</sup>.

#### Infection

Incidences of infection after endoscopic treatment for CBD stones are heterogeneous in the published reports. They range from 0-8% in EST, 0-10% in EPBD, 0-3.3% in ESLBD and 0-5% in EPLBD alone <sup>[30,44,45,57,61,71,77,86,87]</sup>. Biliary infection after endoscopic treatment may relate to the concomitant disease and general condition of the patients, contamination during the procedure and incomplete drainage of bile after the procedure. However, even under strict clean and disinfection protocol, biliary infection still occurred in 0.28%<sup>[88]</sup>. Some endoscopists routinely used the prophylactic antibiotics to the patients who received endoscopic therapy, but Cotton et al<sup>[88]</sup> suggested that prophylactic antibiotics should restrict to patients with predictably undrainable biliary systems or likely to have infected bile (e.g., immunocompromised, prior sphincterotomy, and/or stent). Besides the strict cleaning and disinfection protocol, aspiration of bile from the proximal bile duct above the obstruction level before the contrast injection and to avoid over-filling of intrahepatic ducts during the procedure may reduce disseminating infection<sup>[88]</sup>.

#### Late complications

The recurrent CBD stones ranged from 0-25% in the patients using traditional EPBD<sup>[9,12,22,87,89-91]</sup>, 4.4%-21% in ESLBD<sup>[79,92-95]</sup>, 4%-14.5% in EPLBD alone<sup>[45,70,79]</sup>. Tsujino *et al*<sup>[22]</sup> reported the long term outcome of 1000 patient after traditional EPBD; the recurrence rate was 8.8%. In subgroup analysis, the recurrent rate was highest in the patients with gallbladder left *in situ* with stones (15.6%), followed by cholecystectomy before EPBD (10.8%), gallbladder left *in situ* without stone (5.9%) and elective cholecystectomy after

EPBD(2.4%)<sup>[22]</sup>. Kojima et al<sup>[92]</sup> and Ohashi et al<sup>[90]</sup> reported the highest recurrent rate of CBD stones in patients with cholecystectomy before EPBD (22%, 17.6%). The recurrent rates in other subgroups were gallbladder in situ with gallstones 8.9% and 0%, gallbladder in situ without stone 4.9% and 4.9%, cholecystectomy after EPBD 4.3% and 7.4%<sup>[90,92]</sup>. However, the incidences of acute cholecystitis in the patients with intact gallbladder and gallstones were higher than other three groups  $(4.5\%-7.7\%)^{[22,90]}$ . Most of the primary CBD stones and recurrent stones from Asian patients are belonged to loose bilirubinate stone<sup>[22,50,86,90,94,96]</sup>, the small fragments of these stones missed by cholangiography may remain in the bile duct and act as nidi for early recurrent stones<sup>[90]</sup>. Poor biliary emptying is responsible to the formation of primary and recurrent stones<sup>[97]</sup>. Gallbladder contraction after meal may flush the bile duct and expel the small stone particles into duodenum. Patients with prior cholecystectomy may lose this flushing function and increase the risk of stone recurrence. In patients with an intact gallbladder and stones, the stone may migrate to cystic duct and CBD resulting to cholecystitis and recurrent CBD stones<sup>[22]</sup>.

In the recent meta-analysis by Zhao *et al*<sup>[93]</sup>, they found that the overall long-term complications were significant lower if patients were treated by EPBD rather than EST. Compared to EST, EPBD markedly decreased the incidence of acute cholecystitis. Although there were no significant difference between EPBD and EST in the incidences of acute cholangitis and recurrent CBD stones, but a study with followup for more than one year indicated that the stones recurrence rate decreased significantly in the EPBD group<sup>[95]</sup>. Tanaka et al found that the recurrent rate of CBD stones within one year was higher in EPBD than EST (25% vs 6.3%), but the incidence of recurrent CBD stones was lower in EPBD than EST after follow up for 1-6 years (6.3% vs 26.7%)<sup>[12]</sup>. Similar late complication and stone recurrence rate in patients after ESLBD and EST was reported by Kim et al<sup>[94]</sup>. During a median 22 mo (range, 1-56 mo) follow up, Kogure *et al*<sup>[79]</sup> found that the incidence of recurrent CBD stones was higher in patients received ESLBD than the patients received EPLBD alone (21% vs 11%).

# SPHINCTERIC FUNCTION AFTER EPBD/ EPLBD

Most endoscopists emphasized the advantage of EPBD in preservation of sphincteric function and the prevention of late complications in the last century, so the traditional balloon (8 mm) was commonly used with this purpose. Sato *et al*<sup>[74]</sup> had used the micro-transducer catheter to check the sphincter of Oddi (SO) function before and after traditional EPBD. The mean SO basal pressure dropped from 13.6 mmHg to



6.3 mmHg at one week after EPBD and increased to 9.3 mmHg after one month<sup>[74]</sup>. Yasuda *et al*<sup>[13]</sup> used the same method as Sato et al<sup>[74]</sup> and found that the preservation of SO function was not completed but remained somewhat reduced (SO basal pressure before, one week and one year after EPBD were 9 mmHg, 3.3 mmHg and 4.2 mmHg respectively)<sup>[13]</sup>. In addition, EPBD caused less pneumobilia than EST (86% vs 40%, P < 0.01) but the incidences of recurrent CBD stones did not have significant difference between two methods<sup>[13]</sup>. Both two studies did not include the pharmacological test in manometry<sup>[98,99]</sup>, the incidences of paradoxical response after cholecystokinin or ceruletide in their patients were not known. Failure to relax the sphincter after meal or SO dysfunction may hinder the spontaneous passage of residual stones particles, resulting in recurrent stone formation<sup>[12]</sup>. In the patients who received EPLBD (> 1 cm), the SO function was not preserved<sup>[100]</sup>. The Asian patients with CBD stones are male predominant, older age, high percentage of juxtapapillary diverticulum and bilirubinate stones, their characteristics are different from the Western patients<sup>[7-10,13-16,30,35,63,83,91]</sup>. A recent retrospective study indicates that EPLBD is helpful to prevent re-recurrence of CBD stones after previous EST<sup>[101]</sup>, but further controlled studies are needed to clarify the role of sphincteric function in the Asian patients with CBD stones.

#### LIMITATION OF EPBD/EPLBD

In patients with papillary stenosis, severe stricture of distal bile duct or impacted stones in papilla, it is difficult to insert the guidewire deeply into bile duct, precut sphincterotomy is necessary to assist EPBD or EPLBD. In patients with non-dilated bile duct or tapered distal bile duct, EPBD should be started with a small balloon and gradual inflation. In the patients with biliary stricture and unsuitable for surgical intervention, EPBD can be tried but the risk of perforation is high<sup>[63]</sup>. If patient feels intolerable pain during the procedure or the waist of balloon does not disappear after inflating the balloon to 75% of the maximum recommended pressure, balloon pressure should be reduced or change to other modalities<sup>[65]</sup>. Although EPBD is recommended in the patients with coagulopathy, details of the method for safely handling these high risk patients is not yet established. As non-significant bleeding is common in EPBD/EPLBD, avoid precut sphincterotomy and increased the duration of balloon dilation may be necessary to prevent the lethal bleeding complication. EPBLD alone or with EST are not the sphincter preserved procedures, the patent papillary orifice can facilitate the free drainage of small stone particles into duodenum, but also allows the reflux of duodenal content, regular follow up is necessary for early detection and management of CBD stones recurrence<sup>[102]</sup>.

#### CONCLUSION

The methods in endoscopic treatment of CBD stones should be individualized. Both EST and EPBD/EPBLD can be safely used in the routine practice to remove the CBD stones by the experienced endoscopists. EPBD/EPLBD is preferred in the patients with difficult CBD stones, altered anatomy, tapered or mild stricture of distal bile duct, and coagulopathy. EST is superior to EPBD in the patients with stones impaction, difficult deep cannulation, and small CBD diameter without stricture. EPLBD is a safe procedure if it is performed according to the following steps: (1) avoidance of unnecessary pancreatic contrast injection; (2) use of suitable balloon and pressure; and (3) slowly balloon inflation and adequate ballooning time to achieve a widely opened papillary orifice. EPLBD alone is as effective as ESLBD but this point needs more controlled studies to confirm. EPLBD as well as EST is not the sphincter preserved procedure, regular follow-up may be necessary for early detection of recurrent CBD stones.

#### REFERENCES

- Martin DJ, Vernon DR, Toouli J. Surgical versus endoscopic treatment of bile duct stones. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2006; (2): CD003327 [PMID: 16625577 DOI: 10.1002/14651858]
- 2 Classen M, Demling L. [Endoscopic sphincterotomy of the papilla of vater and extraction of stones from the choledochal duct (author's transl)]. *Dtsch Med Wochenschr* 1974; **99**: 496-497 [PMID: 4835515 DOI: 10.1055/s-0028-1107790]
- 3 Kawai K, Akasaka Y, Murakami K, Tada M, Koli Y. Endoscopic sphincterotomy of the ampulla of Vater. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1974; 20: 148-151 [PMID: 4825160 DOI: 10.1016/s0015-5107(74)73914-1]
- 4 Freeman ML, Nelson DB, Sherman S, Haber GB, Herman ME, Dorsher PJ, Moore JP, Fennerty MB, Ryan ME, Shaw MJ, Lande JD, Pheley AM. Complications of endoscopic biliary sphincterotomy. *N Engl J Med* 1996; **335**: 909-918 [PMID: 8782497 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199609263351301]
- 5 Centola CA, Jander HP, Stauffer A, Russinovich NA. Balloon dilatation of the papilla of Vater to allow biliary stone passage. *Am J Roentgenol* 1981; 136: 613-614 [PMID: 6781307 DOI: 10.2214/ ajr.136.3.613]
- 6 Staritz M, Ewe K, Meyer zum Büschenfelde KH. Endoscopic papillary dilatation, a possible alternative to endoscopic papillotomy. *Lancet* 1982; 1: 1306-1307 [PMID: 6123047 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(82)92873-2]
- 7 Bergman JJ, Rauws EA, Fockens P, van Berkel AM, Bossuyt PM, Tijssen JG, Tytgat GN, Huibregtse K. Randomised trial of endoscopic balloon dilation versus endoscopic sphincterotomy for removal of bileduct stones. *Lancet* 1997; 349: 1124-1129 [PMID: 9113010 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(96)11026-6]
- 8 Mathuna PM, White P, Clarke E, Merriman R, Lennon JR, Crowe J. Endoscopic balloon sphincteroplasty (papillary dilation) for bile duct stones: efficacy, safety, and follow-up in 100 patients. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1995; **42**: 468-474 [PMID: 8566640 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5107(95)70052-8]
- 9 Minami A, Nakatsu T, Uchida N, Hirabayashi S, Fukuma H, Morshed SA, Nishioka M. Papillary dilation vs sphincterotomy in endoscopic removal of bile duct stones. A randomized trial with manometric function. *Dig Dis Sci* 1995; 40: 2550-2554 [PMID: 8536511 DOI: 10.1007/BF02220440]
- 10 **Ochi Y**, Mukawa K, Kiyosawa K, Akamatsu T. Comparing the treatment outcomes of endoscopic papillary dilation and

Baishideng®

WJGE | www.wjgnet.com

endoscopic sphincterotomy for removal of bile duct stones. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 1999; **14**: 90-96 [PMID: 10029284 DOI: 10.1046/j.1440-1746.1999.01798.x]

- 11 Natsui M, Narisawa R, Motoyama H, Hayashi S, Seki K, Wakabayashi H, Itoh S, Asakura H. What is an appropriate indication for endoscopic papillary balloon dilation? *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2002; 14: 635-640 [PMID: 12072597 DOI: 10.1097/00042737-200206000-00008]
- 12 Tanaka S, Sawayama T, Yoshioka T. Endoscopic papillary balloon dilation and endoscopic sphincterotomy for bile duct stones: long-term outcomes in a prospective randomized controlled trial. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2004; 59: 614-618 [PMID: 15114302 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5107(04)001157-9]
- 13 Yasuda I, Tomita E, Enya M, Kato T, Moriwaki H. Can endoscopic papillary balloon dilation really preserve sphincter of Oddi function? *Gut* 2001; 49: 686-691 [PMID: 11600473 DOI: 10.1136/gut.49.5.686]
- 14 Fujita N, Maguchi H, Komatsu Y, Yasuda I, Hasebe O, Igarashi Y, Murakami A, Mukai H, Fujii T, Yamao K, Maeshiro K. Endoscopic sphincterotomy and endoscopic papillary balloon dilatation for bile duct stones: A prospective randomized controlled multicenter trial. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2003; **57**: 151-155 [PMID: 12556774 DOI: 10.1067/mge.2003.56]
- 15 Arnold JC, Benz C, Martin WR, Adamek HE, Riemann JF. Endoscopic papillary balloon dilation vs. sphincterotomy for removal of common bile duct stones: a prospective randomized pilot study. *Endoscopy* 2001; **33**: 563-567 [PMID: 11473325 DOI: 10.1055/s-2001-15307]
- 16 Disario JA, Freeman ML, Bjorkman DJ, Macmathuna P, Petersen BT, Jaffe PE, Morales TG, Hixson LJ, Sherman S, Lehman GA, Jamal MM, Al-Kawas FH, Khandelwal M, Moore JP, Derfus GA, Jamidar PA, Ramirez FC, Ryan ME, Woods KL, Carr-Locke DL, Alder SC. Endoscopic balloon dilation compared with sphincterotomy for extraction of bile duct stones. *Gastroenterology* 2004; **127**: 1291-1299 [PMID: 15520997 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2004.07.017]
- 17 Baron TH, Harewood GC. Endoscopic balloon dilation of the biliary sphincter compared to endoscopic biliary sphincterotomy for removal of common bile duct stones during ERCP: a metaanalysis of randomized, controlled trials. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2004; **99**: 1455-1460 [PMID: 15307859 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2004.30151.x]
- 18 Weinberg BM, Shindy W, Lo S. Endoscopic balloon sphincter dilation (sphincteroplasty) versus sphincterotomy for common bile duct stones. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2006; (4): CD004890 [PMID: 17054222 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.]
- 19 Williams EJ, Green J, Beckingham I, Parks R, Martin D, Lombard M. Guidelines on the management of common bile duct stones (CBDS). *Gut* 2008; 57: 1004-1021 [PMID: 18321943 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2007.121657]
- 20 Bergman JJ, Saltzman JR, Travis AC. Endoscopic balloon dilatation for removal of bile duct stones. 2014. Available from: URL: http://www.uptodate.com.ermg.vghks.gov.tw: 81/ contents/endoscopic-balloon-dilatation-for-removal-of-bile-ductstones?source=search\_result&search=endoscopic balloon dilatation for removal of bile duct stones&selectedTitle=1~150
- 21 Aiura K, Kitagawa Y. Current status of endoscopic papillary balloon dilation for the treatment of bile duct stones. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci 2011; 18: 339-345 [PMID: 21161289 DOI: 10.1007/s00534-010-0362-5]
- 22 Tsujino T, Kawabe T, Komatsu Y, Yoshida H, Isayama H, Sasaki T, Kogure H, Togawa O, Arizumi T, Matsubara S, Ito Y, Nakai Y, Yamamoto N, Sasahira N, Hirano K, Toda N, Tada M, Omata M. Endoscopic papillary balloon dilation for bile duct stone: immediate and long-term outcomes in 1000 patients. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2007; **5**: 130-137 [PMID: 17234559 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2006.10.013]
- 23 **Ersoz G**, Tekesin O, Ozutemiz AO, Gunsar F. Biliary sphincterotomy plus dilation with a large balloon for bile duct stones that are difficult to extract. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2003; **57**: 156-159

[PMID: 12556775 DOI: 10.1067/mge.2003.52]

- 24 Lin CK, Lai KH, Chan HH, Tsai WL, Wang EM, Wei MC, Fu MT, Lo CC, Hsu PI, Lo GH. Endoscopic balloon dilatation is a safe method in the management of common bile duct stones. *Dig Liver Dis* 2004; **36**: 68-72 [PMID: 14971818 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2003.09.014]
- 25 Jin PP, Cheng JF, Liu D, Mei M, Xu ZQ, Sun LM. Endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation vs endoscopic sphincterotomy for retrieval of common bile duct stones: a meta-analysis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 5548-5556 [PMID: 24833886]
- 26 Qian JB, Xu LH, Chen TM, Gu LG, Yang YY, Lu HS. Small endoscopic sphincterotomy plus large-balloon dilation for removal of large common bile duct stones during ERCP. *Pak J Med Sci* 2013; 29: 907-912 [PMID: 24353657 DOI: 10.12669/ pjms.294.3662]
- 27 Teoh AY, Cheung FK, Hu B, Pan YM, Lai LH, Chiu PW, Wong SK, Chan FK, Lau JY. Randomized trial of endoscopic sphincterotomy with balloon dilation versus endoscopic sphincterotomy alone for removal of bile duct stones. *Gastroenterology* 2013; 144: 341-345. e1 [PMID: 23085096 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.10.027]
- 28 Heo JH, Kang DH, Jung HJ, Kwon DS, An JK, Kim BS, Suh KD, Lee SY, Lee JH, Kim GH, Kim TO, Heo J, Song GA, Cho M. Endoscopic sphincterotomy plus large-balloon dilation versus endoscopic sphincterotomy for removal of bile-duct stones. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2007; 66: 720-726; quiz 768, 771 [PMID: 17905013 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2007.02.033]
- 29 Kim HG, Cheon YK, Cho YD, Moon JH, Park do H, Lee TH, Choi HJ, Park SH, Lee JS, Lee MS. Small sphincterotomy combined with endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation versus sphincterotomy. *World J Gastroenterol* 2009; 15: 4298-4304 [PMID: 19750573 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.15.4298]
- 30 Oh MJ, Kim TN. Prospective comparative study of endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation and endoscopic sphincterotomy for removal of large bile duct stones in patients above 45 years of age. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2012; 47: 1071-1077 [PMID: 22934594 DOI: 10.3109/00365521.2012.690]
- 31 Feng Y, Zhu H, Chen X, Xu S, Cheng W, Ni J, Shi R. Comparison of endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation and endoscopic sphincterotomy for retrieval of choledocholithiasis: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Gastroenterol* 2012; 47: 655-663 [PMID: 22361862]
- 32 Itoi T, Itokawa F, Sofuni A, Kurihara T, Tsuchiya T, Ishii K, Tsuji S, Ikeuchi N, Moriyasu F. Endoscopic sphincterotomy combined with large balloon dilation can reduce the procedure time and fluoroscopy time for removal of large bile duct stones. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2009; 104: 560-565 [PMID: 19174779 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2008.67]
- 33 García-Cano J, Arana LT, Ayllón CJ, Chicano MV, Fernández RM, Sánchez LS, Ruiz CJ, xAriño MJ, García JI, Vigara MG, Cerezo ER, Sola AP. Biliary sphincterotomy dilation for the extraction of difficult common bile duct stones. *Rev Esp Enferm Dig* 2009; 101: 541-545 [PMID: 19785493 DOI: 10.4321/ S1130-01082009000800004]
- 34 Kim TH, Oh HJ, Lee JY, Sohn YW. Can a small endoscopic sphincterotomy plus a large-balloon dilation reduce the use of mechanical lithotripsy in patients with large bile duct stones? *Surg Endosc* 2011; 25: 3330-3337 [PMID: 21533521 DOI: 10.1007/ s00464-011-1720-3]
- 35 Stefanidis G, Viazis N, Pleskow D, Manolakopoulos S, Theocharis L, Christodoulou C, Kotsikoros N, Giannousis J, Sgouros S, Rodias M, Katsikani A, Chuttani R. Large balloon dilation vs. mechanical lithotripsy for the management of large bile duct stones: a prospective randomized study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2011; 106: 278-285 [PMID: 21045816 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2010.421]
- 36 Stefanidis G, Christodoulou C, Manolakopoulos S, Chuttani R. Endoscopic extraction of large common bile duct stones: A review article. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; 4: 167-179 [PMID: 22624068 DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v4.i5.167]
- 37 Maydeo A, Bhandari S. Balloon sphincteroplasty for removing difficult bile duct stones. *Endoscopy* 2007; 39: 958-961 [PMID:

17701853 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-966784]

- 38 Attasaranya S, Cheon YK, Vittal H, Howell DA, Wakelin DE, Cunningham JT, Ajmere N, Ste Marie RW, Bhattacharya K, Gupta K, Freeman ML, Sherman S, McHenry L, Watkins JL, Fogel EL, Schmidt S, Lehman GA. Large-diameter biliary orifice balloon dilation to aid in endoscopic bile duct stone removal: a multicenter series. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2008; 67: 1046-1052 [PMID: 18178208 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2007.08.047]
- 39 Misra SP, Dwivedi M. Large-diameter balloon dilation after endoscopic sphincterotomy for removal of difficult bile duct stones. *Endoscopy* 2008; 40: 209-213 [PMID: 18264886 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-967040]
- 40 Draganov PV, Evans W, Fazel A, Forsmark CE. Large size balloon dilation of the ampulla after biliary sphincterotomy can facilitate endoscopic extraction of difficult bile duct stones. J Clin Gastroenterol 2009; 43: 782-786 [PMID: 19318979 DOI: 10.1097/ MCG.0b013e31818f50a2]
- 41 Madhoun MF, Wani S, Hong S, Tierney WM, Maple JT. Endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation reduces the need for mechanical lithotripsy in patients with large bile duct stones: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diagn Ther Endosc* 2014; 2014: 309618 [PMID: 24729674 DOI: 10.1155/2014/309618]
- 42 Hong GY, Park SW, Seo KS, Moon H. Endoscopic sphincterotomy plus large-balloon dilation versus endoscopic sphincterotomy for removal of large common bile duct stones. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2009; 69: B148 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2009.03.233]
- 43 Rosa B, Moutinho Ribeiro P, Rebelo A, Pinto Correia A, Cotter J. Endoscopic papillary balloon dilation after sphincterotomy for difficult choledocholithiasis: A case-controlled study. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; 5: 211-218 [PMID: 23678373 DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v5.i5.211]
- 44 Rouquette O, Bommelaer G, Abergel A, Poincloux L. Large balloon dilation post endoscopic sphincterotomy in removal of difficult common bile duct stones: a literature review. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 7760-7766 [PMID: 24976713 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i24.7760]
- 45 Chan HH, Lai KH, Lin CK, Tsai WL, Wang EM, Hsu PI, Chen WC, Yu HC, Wang HM, Tsay FW, Tsai CC, Chen IS, Chen YC, Liang HL, Pan HB. Endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation alone without sphincterotomy for the treatment of large common bile duct stones. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2011; **11**: 69 [PMID: 21668994 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230X-11-69]
- 46 Bang S, Kim MH, Park JY, Park SW, Song SY, Chung JB. Endoscopic papillary balloon dilation with large balloon after limited sphincterotomy for retrieval of choledocholithiasis. *Yonsei Med J* 2006; 47: 805-810 [PMID: 17191309]
- 47 Lee DK, Lee BJ, Hwhang SJ, Baik YH, Lee SJ. Endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation after endoscopic sphincterotomy for treatment of large common bile duct stone. *Dig Endosc* 2007; 19: S52-S56 [DOI: 10.1111/j.1443-1661.2007.00716.x]
- 48 Yang XM, Hu B, Pan YM, Gao DJ, Wang TT, Wu J, Ye X. Endoscopic papillary large-balloon dilation following limited sphincterotomy for the removal of refractory bile duct stones: experience of 169 cases in a single Chinese center. *J Dig Dis* 2013; 14: 125-131 [PMID: 23167553 DOI: 10.1111/1751-2980.12013]
- 49 Yoon HG, Moon JH, Choi HJ, Kim DC, Kang MS, Lee TH, Cha SW, Cho YD, Park SH, Kim SJ. Endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation for the management of recurrent difficult bile duct stones after previous endoscopic sphincterotomy. *Dig Endosc* 2014; 26: 259-263 [PMID: 23581623 DOI: 10.1111/den.12102]
- 50 Kim KO, Kim TN, Lee SH. Endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation for the treatment of recurrent bile duct stones in patients with prior sphincterotomy. *J Gastroenterol* 2010; 45: 1283-1288 [PMID: 20635102 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-010-0284-7]
- 51 Kurita A, Maguchi H, Takahashi K, Katanuma A, Osanai M. Large balloon dilation for the treatment of recurrent bile duct stones in patients with previous endoscopic sphincterotomy: preliminary results. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2010; **45**: 1242-1247 [PMID: 20521873 DOI: 10.3109/00365521.2010.495420]
- 52 Park SY, Park CH, Yoon KW, Cho SB, Lee WS, Joo YE, Kim

HS, Choi SK, Rew JS. Endoscopic large-diameter balloon dilation after fistulotomy for the removal of bile duct stones in a difficult cannulation. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2009; **69**: 955-959 [PMID: 19327486 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2008.12.048]

- 53 Poincloux L, Rouquette O, Privat J, Gorce D, Abergel A, Dapoigny M, Bommelaer G. Large-balloon dilation of the sphincter of Oddi after sphincterotomy or infundibulotomy to extract large calculi or multiple common bile duct stones without using mechanical lithotripsy. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2013; **48**: 246-251 [PMID: 22229762 DOI: 10.3109/00365521.2011.647064]
- 54 Sakai Y, Tsuyuguchi T, Sugiyama H, Nishikawa T, Kurosawa J, Saito M, Tawada K, Mikata R, Tada M, Ishihara T, Yokosuka O. Endoscopic sphincterotomy combined with large balloon dilation for removal of large bile duct stones. *Hepatogastroenterology* 2013; 60: 58-64 [PMID: 22641109 DOI: 10.5754/hge12351]
- 55 Paspatis GA, Konstantinidis K, Tribonias G, Voudoukis E, Tavernaraki A, Theodoropoulou A, Chainaki I, Manolaraki M, Chlouverakis G, Vardas E, Paraskeva K. Sixty- versus thirtyseconds papillary balloon dilation after sphincterotomy for the treatment of large bile duct stones: a randomized controlled trial. *Dig Liver Dis* 2013; 45: 301-304 [PMID: 23195665 DOI: 10.1016/ j.dld.2012.10.015]
- 56 Espinel J, Pinedo E, Olcoz JL. [Large hydrostatic balloon for choledocolithiasis]. *Rev Esp Enferm Dig* 2007; 99: 33-38 [PMID: 17295596]
- 57 Hwang JC, Kim JH, Lim SG, Kim SS, Shin SJ, Lee KM, Yoo BM. Endoscopic large-balloon dilation alone versus endoscopic sphincterotomy plus large-balloon dilation for the treatment of large bile duct stones. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2013; 13: 15 [PMID: 23324454 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230X-13-15]
- 58 Liu Y, Su P, Lin Y, Lin S, Xiao K, Chen P, An S, Bai Y, Zhi F. Endoscopic sphincterotomy plus balloon dilation versus endoscopic sphincterotomy for choledocholithiasis: A meta-analysis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013; 28: 937-945 [PMID: 23489041 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.12192]
- 59 Ha DW, Song GA, Kim DU, Kim GH, Heo J, Lee HW, Cho EJ, Jeon HK. [Recurrent common bile duct stone and endoscopic treatment after endoscopic papillary large balloon dilatation with minor endoscopic sphincterotomy]. *Korean J Gastroenterol* 2011; 57: 352-357 [PMID: 21694487 DOI: 10.4166/kjg.2011.57.6.352]
- 60 Liao WC, Tu YK, Wu MS, Wang HP, Lin JT, Leung JW, Chien KL. Balloon dilation with adequate duration is safer than sphincterotomy for extracting bile duct stones: a systematic review and meta-analyses. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; 10: 1101-1109 [PMID: 22642953 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2012.05.017]
- Jeong SU, Moon SH, Kim MH. Endoscopic papillary balloon dilation: revival of the old technique. *World J Gastroenterol* 2013; 19: 8258-8268 [PMID: 24363517 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i45.8258]
- 62 Lee TH, Park SH, Lee CK, Chung IK, Kim SJ, Kang CH. Lifethreatening hemorrhage following large-balloon endoscopic papillary dilation successfully treated with angiographic embolization. *Endoscopy* 2009; 41 Suppl 2: E241-E242 [PMID: 19757375 DOI: 10.1055/s-0029-1214984]
- 63 Park SJ, Kim JH, Hwang JC, Kim HG, Lee DH, Jeong S, Cha SW, Cho YD, Kim HJ, Moon JH, Park SH, Itoi T, Isayama H, Kogure H, Lee SJ, Jung KT, Kee HS, Baron TH, Lee DK. Factors predictive of adverse events following endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation: Results from a multicenter series. *Dig Dis Sci* 2013; 58: 1100-1109 [DOI: 10.1007/s10620-012-2494-8]
- 64 Carr-Locke DL. Can endoscopic papillary balloon dilation really preserve sphincter of Oddi function? *Gut* 2001; **49**: 608-609 [PMID: 11600457 DOI: 10.1136/gut.49.5.608]
- 65 Lee DK, Han JW. Endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation: guidelines for pursuing zero mortality. *Clin Endosc* 2012; 45: 299-304 [PMID: 22977823 DOI: 10.5946/ce.2012.45.3.299]
- 66 Cheng CL, Tsou YK, Lin CH, Tang JH, Hung CF, Sung KF, Lee CS, Liu NJ. Poorly expandable common bile duct with stones on endoscopic retrograde cholangiography. *World J Gastroenterol* 2012; 18: 2396-2401 [PMID: 22654432 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v18. i19.2396]

- 67 DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. Control Clin Trials 1986; 7: 177-188 [PMID: 3802833 DOI: 10.1016/0197 -2456(86)90046-2]
- 68 Meine GC, Baron TH. Endoscopic papillary large-balloon dilation combined with endoscopic biliary sphincterotomy for the removal of bile duct stones (with video). *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 74: 1119-1126; quiz 1119-1126 [PMID: 21944309 DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2011.06.042]
- 69 Minakari M, Samani RR, Shavakhi A, Jafari A, Alijanian N, Hajalikhani M. Endoscopic papillary balloon dilatation in comparison with endoscopic sphincterotomy for the treatment of large common bile duct stone. *Adv Biomed Res* 2013; 2: 46 [PMID: 24516846 DOI: 10.4103/2277-9175.114186]
- 70 Kuo CM, Chiu YC, Changchien CS, Tai WC, Chuah SK, Hu TH, Kuo YH, Kuo CH. Endoscopic papillary balloon dilation for removal of bile duct stones: evaluation of outcomes and complications in 298 patients. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2012; 46: 860-864 [PMID: 23060218 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.0b013e3182617a42]
- 71 Jeong S, Ki SH, Lee DH, Lee JI, Lee JW, Kwon KS, Kim HG, Shin YW, Kim YS. Endoscopic large-balloon sphincteroplasty without preceding sphincterotomy for the removal of large bile duct stones: a preliminary study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2009; **70**: 915-922 [PMID: 19647241 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2009.04.042]
- 72 Tsujino T, Kawabe T, Isayama H, Sasaki T, Kogure H, Togawa O, Arizumi T, Ito Y, Matsubara S, Yamamoto N, Nakai Y, Sasahira N, Hirano K, Toda N, Komatsu Y, Tada M, Yoshida H, Omata M. Efficacy and safety of low-pressured and short-time dilation in endoscopic papillary balloon dilation for bile duct stone removal. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2008; 23: 867-871 [PMID: 18086110 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2007.05267.x]
- 73 Garg PK. Refining papillary balloon dilation: less is better! J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008; 23: 824-827 [PMID: 18565015 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2008.05473.x]
- 74 Sato H, Kodama T, Takaaki J, Tatsumi Y, Maeda T, Fujita S, Fukui Y, Ogasawara H, Mitsufuji S. Endoscopic papillary balloon dilatation may preserve sphincter of Oddi function after common bile duct stone management: evaluation from the viewpoint of endoscopic manometry. *Gut* 1997; **41**: 541-544 [PMID: 9391256 DOI: 10.1136/gut.41.4.541]
- 75 Bang BW, Jeong S, Lee DH, Lee JI, Lee JW, Kwon KS, Kim HG, Shin YW, Kim YS. The ballooning time in endoscopic papillary balloon dilation for the treatment of bile duct stones. *Korean J Intern Med* 2010; 25: 239-245 [PMID: 20830219 DOI: 10.3904/ kjm.2010.25.3.239]
- 76 Choi DI, Kim YS, Kim JH, Ku YS, Ha MS, Kim JH. Immediate balloon deflation method in endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation for extraction of difficult bile duct stones. *Open J Gastroenterol* 2013; **3**: 142-147 [DOI: 10.4236/ojgas.2013.32024]
- 77 Liao WC, Lee CT, Chang CY, Leung JW, Chen JH, Tsai MC, Lin JT, Wu MS, Wang HP. Randomized trial of 1-minute versus 5-minute endoscopic balloon dilation for extraction of bile duct stones. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010; 72: 1154-1162 [PMID: 20869710 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.07.009]
- 78 Attam R, Freeman ML. Endoscopic papillary balloon dilation for stone extraction: if, when, and for how long? *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010; 72: 1163-1166 [PMID: 21111869 DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie2010.10.012]
- 79 Kogure H, Tsujino T, Isayama H, Takahara N, Uchino R, Hamada T, Miyabayashi K, Mizuno S, Mohri D, Yashima Y, Kawakubo K, Sasaki T, Yamamoto N, Nakai Y, Hirano K, Sasahira N, Tada M, Koike K. Short- and long-term outcomes of endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation with or without sphincterotomy for removal of large bile duct stones. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2014; **49**: 121-128 [PMID: 24164293 DOI: 10.3109/00365521.2013.848470]
- 80 Gil S, de la Iglesia P, Verdú JF, de España F, Arenas J, Irurzun J. Effectiveness and safety of balloon dilation of the papilla and the use of an occlusion balloon for clearance of bile duct calculi. *Am J Roentgenol* 2000; **174**: 1455-1460 [PMID: 10789811 DOI: 10.2214/ajr.174.5.1741455]
- 81 Szulman C, Giménez M, Sierre S. Antegrade papillary balloon

dilation for extrahepatic bile duct stone clearance: lessons learned from treating 300 patients. *J Vasc Interv Radiol* 2011; **22**: 346-353 [PMID: 21277793 DOI: 10.1016/j.vir.2010.11.015]

- 82 Seo YR, Moon JH, Choi HJ, Kim DC, Lee TH, Cha SW, Cho YD, Park SH, Kim SJ. Papillary balloon dilation is not itself a cause of post-endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography pancreatitis; results of anterograde and retrograde papillary balloon dilation. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2013; 28: 1416-1421 [PMID: 23701518 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.12277]
- 83 Tsujino T, Isayama H, Komatsu Y, Ito Y, Tada M, Minagawa N, Nakata R, Kawabe T, Omata M. Risk factors for pancreatitis in patients with common bile duct stones managed by endoscopic papillary balloon dilation. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2005; 100: 38-42 [PMID: 15654778 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2005.40638.x]
- 84 Choudhary A, Bechtold ML, Arif M, Szary NM, Puli SR, Othman MO, Pais WP, Antillon MR, Roy PK. Pancreatic stents for prophylaxis against post-ERCP pancreatitis: a meta-analysis and systematic review. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 73: 275-282 [PMID: 21295641 DOI: 10.1016/.gie.2010.10.039]
- 85 Park DH, Kim MH, Lee SK, Lee SS, Choi JS, Song MH, Seo DW, Min YI. Endoscopic sphincterotomy vs. endoscopic papillary balloon dilation for choledocholithiasis in patients with liver cirrhosis and coagulopathy. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2004; 60: 180-185 [PMID: 15278041 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5107(04)01554-8]
- Kim KH, Kim TN. Endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation in patients with periampullary diverticula. *World J Gastroenterol* 2013; 19: 7168-7176 [PMID: 24222962 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19. i41.7168]
- 87 Chung JW, Chung JB. Endoscopic papillary balloon dilation for removal of choledocholithiasis: indications, advantages, complications, and long-term follow-up results. *Gut Liver* 2011; 5: 1-14 [PMID: 21461066 DOI: 10.5009/gnl.2011.5.1.1]
- 88 Cotton PB, Connor P, Rawls E, Romagnuolo J. Infection after ERCP, and antibiotic prophylaxis: a sequential qualityimprovement approach over 11 years. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2008; 67: 471-475 [PMID: 18061594 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2007.06.065]
- 89 Yasuda I, Fujita N, Maguchi H, Hasebe O, Igarashi Y, Murakami A, Mukai H, Fujii T, Yamao K, Maeshiro K, Tada T, Tsujino T, Komatsu Y. Long-term outcomes after endoscopic sphincterotomy versus endoscopic papillary balloon dilation for bile duct stones. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010; **72**: 1185-1191 [PMID: 20869711 DOI: 10.1016/j/gie.2010.07.006]
- 90 Ohashi A, Tamada K, Wada S, Hatanaka H, Tomiyama T, Tano S, Nakazawa K, Sugano K. Risk factors for recurrent bile duct stones after endoscopic papillary balloon dilation: long-term followup study. *Dig Endosc* 2009; 21: 73-77 [PMID: 19691777 DOI: 10.1111/j.1443-1661.2009.00835.x]
- 91 Natsui M, Honma T, Genda T, Nakadaira H. Effects of endoscopic papillary balloon dilation and endoscopic sphincterotomy on bacterial contamination of the biliary tract. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011; 23: 818-824 [PMID: 21730870 DOI: 10.1097/MEG. ob013e328348c0bf]
- 92 Kojima Y, Nakagawa H, Miyata A, Hirai T, Ohyama I, Okada A, Hiramatsu T, Ohhara Y, Kuwahara T. Long-term prognosis of bile duct stones: endoscopic papillary balloon dilatation versus endoscopic sphincterotomy. *Dig Endosc* 2010; 22: 21-24 [PMID: 20078660 DOI: 10.1111/j.1443-1661.2009.00913.x]
- 93 Zhao HC, He L, Zhou DC, Geng XP, Pan FM. Meta-analysis comparison of endoscopic papillary balloon dilatation and endoscopic sphincteropapillotomy. *World J Gastroenterol* 2013; 19: 3883-3891 [PMID: 23840129 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19. i24.3883]
- 94 Kim KY, Han J, Kim HG, Kim BS, Jung JT, Kwon JG, Kim EY, Lee CH. Late complications and stone recurrence rates after bile duct stone removal by endoscopic sphincterotomy and large balloon dilation are similar to those after endoscopic sphincterotomy alone. *Clin Endosc* 2013; **46**: 637-642 [PMID: 24340257 DOI: 10.5946/ce.2013.46.6.637]
- 95 Itokawa F, Itoi T, Sofuni A, Kurihara T, Tsuchiya T, Ishii K, Tsuji S, Ikeuchi N, Umeda J, Tanaka R, Tonozuka R, Honjyo



WJGE | www.wjgnet.com

M, Moriyasu F, Kasuya K, Tsuchida A. Mid-term outcome of endoscopic sphincterotomy combined with large balloon dilation. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2015; **30**: 223-229 [PMID: 24995677 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.12675]

- 96 Tsai WL, Lai KH, Lin CK, Chan HH, Lo CC, Hsu PI, Chen WC, Cheng JS, Lo GH. Composition of common bile duct stones in Chinese patients during and after endoscopic sphincterotomy. *World J Gastroenterol* 2005; 11: 4246-4249 [PMID: 16015699]
- 97 Lai KH, Peng NJ, Lo GH, Cheng JS, Huang RL, Lin CK, Huang JS, Chiang HT, Ger LP. Prediction of recurrent choledocholithiasis by quantitative cholescintigraphy in patients after endoscopic sphincterotomy. *Gut* 1997; **41**: 399-403 [PMID: 9378399 DOI: 10.1136/gut.41.3.399]
- 98 Hogan W, Geenen J, Dodds W, Toouli J, Venu R, Helm J. Paradoxical motor response to cholecystokinin (CCK-OP) in patients with suspected sphincter of Oddi dysfunction. *Gastroenterology* 1982; 82: 105
- 99 Rolny P, Arlebäck A, Funch-Jensen P, Kruse A, Ravnsbaeck

J, Järnerot G. Paradoxical response of sphincter of Oddi to intravenous injection of cholecystokinin or ceruletide. Manometric findings and results of treatment in biliary dyskinesia. *Gut* 1986; **27**: 1507-1511 [PMID: 3804027 DOI: 10.1136/gut.27.12.1507]

- 100 Lai KH, Lin CK, Chan HH, Tsai WL, Hsu PI, Lo CC, Chen WC, Wei MC, Cheng JS, Lo GH. Sphincter of Oddi function in patients after endoscopic balloon dilatation for the treatment of common bile duct stones. *Gut* 2004; **53** (suppl VI): A203
- 101 Tsai TJ, Lai KH, Lin CK, Chan HH, Wang EM, Tsai WL, Cheng JS, Yu HC, Chen WC, Hsu PI. Role of endoscopic papillary balloon dilation in patients with recurrent bile duct stones after endoscopic sphincterotomy. *J Chin Med Assoc* 2015; **78**: 56-61 [PMID: 25241239 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcma2014.08.004]
- 102 Lai KH, Lo GH, Lin CK, Hsu PI, Chan HH, Cheng JS, Wang EM. Do patients with recurrent choledocholithiasis after endoscopic sphincterotomy benefit from regular follow-up? *Gastrointest Endosc* 2002; **55**: 523-526 [PMID: 11923765 DOI: 10.1067/ mge.2002.122611]
- P- Reviewer: Ding XW, Zhu YL S- Editor: Song XX L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang DN







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v7.i2.87 World J Gastrointest Endosc 2015 February 16; 7(2): 87-93 ISSN 1948-5190 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

MINIREVIEWS

# Current status of minimally invasive endoscopic management for Zenker diverticulum

Alberto Aiolfi, Federica Scolari, Greta Saino, Luigi Bonavina

Alberto Aiolfi, Federica Scolari, Greta Saino, Luigi Bonavina, Department of Biomedical Sciences for Health, Division of General Surgery, IRCCS Policlinico San Donato, University of Milan, 20097 San Donato Milanese, Milan, Italy

Author contributions: All the authors contributed to this work. Conflict-of-interest: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Luigi Bonavina, Professor, Department of Biomedical Sciences for Health, Division of General Surgery, IRCCS Policlinico San Donato, University of Milan, Piazza E. Malan 2, 20097 San Donato Milanese, Milan,

Italy. luigi.bonavina@unimi.it Telephone: +39-2-52774621 Fax: +39-2-52774395 Received: July 29, 2014 Peer-review started: July 30, 2014 First decision: October 31, 2014 Revised: November 2, 2014 Accepted: November 27, 2014 Article in press: December 1, 2014 Published online: February 16, 2015

## Abstract

Surgical resection has been the mainstay of treatment of pharyngoesophageal (Zenker) diverticula over the past century. Developments in minimally invasive surgery and new endoscopic devices have led to a paradigm change. The concept of dividing the septum between the esophagus and the pouch rather than resecting the pouch itself has been revisited during the last three decades and new technologies have been investigated to make the transoral operation safe and effective. The internal pharyngoesophageal myotomy accomplished through the transoral stapling approach has been shown to effectively relieve outflow obstruction and restore physiological bolus transit in patients with medium size diverticula. Transoral techniques, either through a rigid device or by flexible endoscopy, are gaining popularity over the open surgical approach due the low morbidity, the fast recovery time and the fact that the procedure can be safely repeated. We provide an analysis of the the current status of minimally invasive endoscopic management of Zenker diverticulum.

**Key words:** Zenker diverticulum; Endoscopic stapling; Cricopharyngeal myotomy; Diverticulectomy; Interventional flexible endoscopy

© **The Author(s) 2015**. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Developments in minimally invasive surgery and interventional endoscopic techniques have led to profound changes in the management of Zenker's diverticula. Transoral techniques, either through a rigid or flexible endoscopic device, have gained popularity due to the low morbidity, fast recovery time and safe repeatability. However, the choice of treatment is still based on phisician's expertise, personal preferences, and area of specialty. Endostapling through rigid endoscopy remains the most frequently performed approach. Interventional flexible endoscopy is an attractive minimally-invasive treatment option. However, due to heterogeneity of data and lack of standardized protocols, a direct comparison of the various techniques is difficult. Prospective clinical studies are required to establish treatment guidelines for Zenker diverticulum.

Aiolfi A, Scolari F, Saino G, Bonavina L. Current status of minimally invasive endoscopic management for Zenker diverticulum. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2015; 7(2): 87-93 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/ v7/i2/87.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v7.i2.87



#### INTRODUCTION

The management of Zenker diverticulum is far from being standardized in current clinical practice. Impaired opening of the upper esophageal sphincter due to increased hypopharyngeal bolus pressure and reduced wall compliance<sup>[1,2]</sup> are the main physiological determinants of this "pulsion" diverticulum which is more frequent in elderly male patients. It s likely that the prevalence of this disorder will increase in the future due to the increased aging population. Common symptoms are dysphagia, weight loss, regurgitation, halitosis, and aspiration with possible episodes of pneumonia. Preoperative workup should include a videofluoroscopic swallowing study and an upper endoscopy to rule out concomitant esophagogastric disease, and treatment should be reserved for symptomatic patients.

Interestingly, the first surgical resection and the first endoscopic approach with punch forceps were performed before World War I; both procedures were soon abandoned because of the high mortality rate. Between 1950 and 1960 both surgical and endoscopic procedures were revisited and restored to favour: surgeons recognized the importance of adding a cricopharyngeal myotomy to resection, whereas endoscopists introduced the CO<sub>2</sub> laser to divide the septum<sup>[3]</sup>.

Nonetheless, more than 50 years later, despite the revolution of minimally invasive surgery and the introduction of disruptive technologies, we are still left in doubt regarding the choice of the ideal therapy. In the real world, a minimally invasive endoscopic operation may sometimes be the only reasonable choice, especially in elderly patients with multiple comorbidities deemed unfit for conventional open surgery. A tailored approach that takes into account the size of the diverticulum and the patient physiological status seems also reasonable, but clinical evidence is still lacking<sup>[4,5]</sup>.

#### **CURRENT THERAPEUTIC OPTIONS**

Treatment options for Zenker diverticulum include open surgery through a left cervical incision (cricopharyngeal myotomy with or without resection), and transoral division of the septum through rigid endoscopy (with stapler, CO2-laser, or harmonic scalpel) or interventional flexible endoscopy (free hand or assisted). No controlled trials have been performed to demonstrate the superiority of one technique over another and, as a consequence, there is no accepted guideline for patient management<sup>[6]</sup>.

#### **Open surgical procedures**

Surgical repair of Zenker diverticulum is usually performed under general anaesthesia through a left neck access and consists of stapled diverticulectomy with cricopharyngeal myotomy. Myotomy alone may be preferred for small diverticula. The patient is placed supine with a small pillow under the shoulders and the head hyperextended and turned to the right side. The incision is made parallel to the anterior border of sternocleidomastoid muscle. The pharynx and cervical esophagus are exposed by retracting the sternocleidomastoid and carotid sheath laterally, and the larynx and thyroid medially. Cricopharyngeal and proximal esophageal myotomy is performed after dissecting the pouch from the surrounding loose connective tissue. The diverticulum can be surgically excised with a linear stapler (diverticulectomy), uplifted and suspended to the prevertebral fascia (diverticulopexy), or invaginated into the lumen (Table 1). The results of diverticulectomy have been uniformly satisfactory. In the largest series of 888 patients from the Mayo Clinic, the operative mortality was 1.2%. The most frequent complications were recurrent nerve palsy (3.2%), wound infection (3%), and salivary fistula (1.8%). The reported recurrence rate was less than 5%<sup>[7]</sup>. A similar outcome with no operative mortality, minimal morbidity, and very good to excellent results has been reported in Europe<sup>[8]</sup>. Reoperation can represent a technical challenge after open diverticulectomy because of the risk of fistula and recurrent nerve injuries<sup>[9]</sup>.

#### Transoral procedures

Rigid endoscopy: A transoral technique using an endoscopic stapler introduced through a rigid scope was first proposed in 1993<sup>[10-12]</sup>. The patient is placed supine with the neck hyperextended; the surgeon is sitting behind the patient's head. The operation is performed under general anaesthesia with orotracheal intubation. The Weerda diverticuloscope is introduced into the esophageal inlet in the closed position, under direct 0° telescopic vision, and it is slowly withdrawn to expose the septum between the diverticulum and the esophageal lumen. The two valves of the diverticuloscope are placed inside the esophagus and the diverticulum, respectively. An endoscopic linear stapler with a 35 mm blue cartridge is introduced through the diverticuloscope down to the septum. One or two cartridges are usually necessary to divide the septum depending on the length of the pouch. The stapler allows safe simultaneous cutting and sealing of the septum. By creating this delta-shaped anastomosis the diverticulum and the esophagus become a common cavity.

The procedure is generally not indicated in small diverticula (< 3 cm)<sup>[3]</sup>. In case of borderline diverticulum size, traction sutures applied at the apex of the septum with a laparoscopic endostitching device can help to engage the septum between the stapler jaws and allow a more complete septal division<sup>[13,14]</sup>. Transoral septum stapling is the preferred initial treatment for Zenker diverticulum in many centers and it has been shown to be a safe and effective proce-



diverticulum					
Ref.	No. pts	Technique	Satisfactory outcome (%)	Overall morbidity (%)	Salivary fistula (%)
Orringer <sup>[46]</sup>	12	M, DM	85	25	8
Ellis et al <sup>[47]</sup>	10	DM	100	0	0
Konowitz et al <sup>[48]</sup>	20	DM	100	20	5
Barthlen et al <sup>[49]</sup>	43	M, DM	82	7	0
Payne et al <sup>[7]</sup>	888	D	93	30	1
Morton et al <sup>[50]</sup>	15	DM	100	40	13
Bonafede et al <sup>[51]</sup>	87	D, DM,	78	24	NA
		DpM			
Fraczek et al <sup>[52]</sup>	37	DM, DpM	93	23	5
Van Eeden et al <sup>[53]</sup>	17	M, DM,	59	6	14
		DpM			
Zbären et al <sup>[54]</sup>	66	DM	77	15	12
Busaba <i>et al</i> <sup>[55]</sup>	9	DM	100	0	0
Leporrier et al <sup>[56]</sup>	40	DM, DpM	92	10	3
Sydow et al <sup>[57]</sup>	13	M, DM,	NA	27	23
		DpM			
Gutschow et al <sup>[58]</sup>	101	M, D, DM,	98	13	13
		DpM			
Zaninotto et al <sup>[59]</sup>	34	DM, M	100	12	6
Colombo-	79	D, DM	99	4	4
Benkmann <i>et al</i> <sup>[60]</sup>					
Bonavina et al <sup>[3]</sup>	116	DM	94	0.8	0.8
Rizzetto et al <sup>[4]</sup>	77	DM, DpM,	95	13	4
		М			

 Table 1
 Outcome of open surgical procedures for Zenker

nker diverticulum<sup>[24,25]</sup>. Some centers offer this option to all patients, although most authors recommend the endoscopic flexible approach for a selected subset of highly morbid patients who are unfit for surgery or for rigid endoscopy under narcosis<sup>[26,27]</sup>.

Patients are placed in a left lateral decubitus position. The operation is performed either in conscious sedation or under narcosis. The technique can be "freehand" or a variety of different accessories (capo, hood, overtube) can be used to improve septum exposure, stabilize its position, and protect the esophagus and the pouch from thermal injury<sup>[28,29]</sup>. A novel device for improving the operative field and fixing the septum is the soft diverticuloscope (Zenker overtube; Cook Endoscopy, Winston-Salem, North Carolina, United States)<sup>[30,31]</sup>. Similar to the Weerda diverticuloscope, this transparent soft-rubber overtube has two distal flaps that protect the esophagus anteriorly and the diverticulum posteriorly. The overtube is advanced over the endoscope and the septum is properly displayed under direct endoscopic vision. Different cutting devices can be used (needle-knife, monopolar forceps, hook-knife, argon plasma coagulation)<sup>[32]</sup>. Hondo *et al*<sup>[33]</sup> have recently described the use of the harmonic scalpel introduced through a soft diverticuloscope.

With the needle-knife, the septum is generally divided through a midline incision directed distally towards the bottom of the pouch. The wound edges of the septum separate immediately after the incision. The risk of mediastinal perforation associated with the procedure has led some operators authors to use a clip-assisted (clip and cut) technique where, prior to dissection, two endoclips are placed on either side of the septum<sup>[34,35]</sup>. Other operators place one or more metal endoclips at the bottom of the incision to secure the margins and prevent microperforations<sup>[31]</sup>.

An incomplete cricopharyngeal myotomy may account for the high recurrence rates associated with single session flexible endoscopy diverticulotomy. A step-wise approach with a limited initial incision followed by multiple repeat procedures could improve the overall clinical outcome and further reduce the risk of perforation<sup>[26]</sup>. Table 3 shows the results of the transoral procedures through interventional flexible endoscopy.

# CLINICAL OUTCOME AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES OF TRANSORAL PROCEDURES

The obvious advantages of endoscopic stapling over the conventional open surgical approach are the absence of cutaneous incision, shorter operative time, reduced postoperative discomfort, faster return to oral feeding, and shorter length of hospital stay. An additional advantage is expected in patients who had

M: Myotomy; DM: Diverticulectomy/myotomy; D: Diverticulectomy; DpM: Diverticulopexy/myotomy; NA: Not available.

#### dure<sup>[15-17]</sup>.

The harmonic scalpel (Ultracision, Ethicon Endo-Surgery, Cincinnati, Ohio), operated through the Weerda diverticuloscope, has been used to divide the septum as an alternative to stapling<sup>[18-20]</sup>. The device is able to cut and simultaneously coagulate tissue with minimal lateral thermal spreading and optimal haemostasis. The small diameter of the scalpel allows an easy maneauverability and the cutting surface extends to its distal tip allowing a distally extended miotomy in small diverticula that could not be suitable for endoscopic stapling.

CO2-laser division of the septum, first introduced in 1981 by van Overbeek<sup>[21]</sup>, represents another alternative or a complementary technique to endoscopic stapling. The operation is generally performed under narcosis with endotracheal intubation. An operating microscope with a 400-mm lens and attached CO<sub>2</sub> laser micromanipulator is introduced and focused on. Using the laser on continuous mode the septum is transected on the midline down to the bottom<sup>[22,23]</sup>. The CO<sub>2</sub> laser technique is precise but strictly operator-dependent, and the risk of perforation and mediastinitis should not be underestimated. Table 2 shows the results of the transoral procedures through rigid endoscopy.

Interventional flexible endoscopy: Flexible endoscopy was proposed in 1995 for the treatment of Ze-

#### Aiolfi A et al. Endoscopic management for Zenker diverticulum

Table 2   Outcome of	transoral rig	id procedures for Zenker	diverticulum			
Ref.	No. pts	Technique	Satisfactory outcome	Overall morbidity	Salivary fistula	Conversion rate
Fremling et al <sup>[61]</sup>	6	Stapling	100%	0%	0%	0%
Peracchia et al <sup>[36]</sup>	95	Stapling	93%	1%	0%	3%
Narne et al <sup>[62]</sup>	102	Stapling	100%	0%	0%	4%
Philippsen et al <sup>[15]</sup>	14	Stapling	100%	0%	0%	21%
Cook et al <sup>[16]</sup>	74	Stapling	97%	3%	2%	8%
Lüscher et al <sup>[63]</sup>	23	Stapling	96%	1%	4%	0%
Jaramillo et al <sup>[64]</sup>	32	Stapling	80%	4%	0%	16%
Thaler et al <sup>[65]</sup>	23	Stapling	87%	0%	0%	30%
Counter et al <sup>[66]</sup>	31	Stapling	95%	10%	10%	0%
Chang et al <sup>[22]</sup>	24	CO <sub>2</sub> laser	90%	8%	0%	0%
Fama et al <sup>[18]</sup>	25	Harmonic Scalpel	96%	12%	0%	0%
Sharp et al <sup>[19]</sup>	48	Stapling/Harmonic Scalpel	88%	12%	2%	0%
Helmstaedter et al <sup>[23]</sup>	40	CO <sub>2</sub> laser	NA	10%	NA	NA
Wasserzug et al <sup>[67]</sup>	55	Stapling	90%	4%	2%	7%
Peretti et al <sup>[68]</sup>	28	CO <sub>2</sub> laser	85%	7%	4%	4%
Nicholas et al <sup>[13]</sup>	7	Stapling	100%	14%	0%	0%
May et al <sup>[20]</sup>	7	Harmonic Scalpel	100%	0%	0%	0%
Bonavina et al <sup>[14]</sup>	91	Stapling	80.8%	5%	1%	13.2%
Adam et al <sup>[69]</sup>	128	Stapling/CO <sub>2</sub> laser	NA	4.6%	0%	NA

NA: Not available.

previous surgical procedures on the left side of the neck in whom the recurrent laryngeal nerve is more likely to be injured at conventional reoperation<sup>[36]</sup>.

Despite all these features and the proof of safety and efficacy, transoral stapling has not been widely accepted as first-line treatment for Zenker diverticulum for a number of reasons: (1) lack of long-term audit; (2) lack of controlled clinical studies; (3) lack of technical expertise and dedicated equipment in many hospitals; (4) lack of confidence or proper training with the transoral access by surgical specialists other than otolaryngologists; and (5) fear of carcinoma arising within the non resected pouch.

Collective data from retrospective or prospectively recorded case series consistently show that a satisfactory outcome with endoscopic stapling is obtained in more than 90% of patients, with a 6% recurrence or persistence rate<sup>[37]</sup>. A recent article by Leong *et al*<sup>[38]</sup> reviewed the experience with transoral stapling in England where this technique is performed by the majority of otolaryngologists and is endorsed by the National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE). Out of 585 patients reviewed, 540 (92.3%) successfully underwent transoral stapling with an intraoperative conversion rate of 7.7%, an overall complication rate of 9.6%, and an overall recurrence rate of 12.8%. Most of the patients in whom the procedure failed underwent repeat endoscopic stapling.

Small diverticula (< 3 cm) have indeed represented a major cause of long-term failure of transoral stapling<sup>[3]</sup>. This is due to the difficulties in accommodating of the 30-35 mm anvil. However, in most patients with borderline diverticulum size, the application of traction sutures the apex of the common septum can improve the engagement of the spur in the stapler jaws with a net gain of about 1 cm of stapled tissue<sup>[14]</sup>. In case of recurrent symptoms, the procedure can be successfully repeated through a transoral approach (rigid or flexible). CO<sub>2</sub> laser or ultrasonic cutting techniques may have a complementary role in some circumstances<sup>[39]</sup>.

Interventional flexible endoscopy is an attractive therapeutic alternative, especially in elderly patients unfit for surgery, and may overcome some of the physical limitations of rigid endoscopy. Flexible endoscopy can be performed in the endoscopic suite, under conscious sedation with midazolam. The procedure allows quick resumption of oral feeding and fast hospital discharge. In patients with persistent or recurrent symptoms the procedure is easily repeatable, and appears to be safe even after failure of endostapling. A recent study has reported similar outcomes for flexible and rigid endoscopy regarding hospital stay, dysphagia score improvement and complication rates<sup>[40]</sup>. Several case series have shown the safety and efficacy of interventional flexible endoscopy with clinical success rates ranging from 56% to 100%. Perforations and bleeding have been reported in up to 27% and 10% of cases, respectively<sup>[27]</sup>.

Interventional flexible endoscopy for Zenker diverticulum is not standardized, and different cutting techniques can be combined with different accessories depending physicians' personal experience and preferences. The needle-knife is the most frequently used device, often in combination with a transparent cap, hood or soft diverticuloscope. No significant differences in clinical outcomes have emerged by using of one or the other accessory<sup>[41,42]</sup>. An overall clinical recurrence rate of 25% has been reported in the literature<sup>[43]</sup>. It is generally recommended that the incision should be carefully balanced in order not to cause mediastinal perforation; on the other hand, a too

Table 3 Outcome of transoral flexible procedures for Zenker diverticulum							
Ref.	No. pts	Incision device	Accessories	Satisfactory outcome	Overall morbidity	Salivary fistula	
Mulder et al <sup>[25]</sup>	20	Coagulation	Forceps	NA	0%	0%	
Ishioka <i>et al</i> <sup>[24]</sup>	42	Needle Knife	Mix	93%	1%	2%	
Hashiba et al <sup>[70]</sup>	47	Needle Knife	Mix	96%	2%	13%	
Mulder <sup>[71]</sup>	125	Argon Plasma	None	100%	2%	15%	
Sakai et al <sup>[28]</sup>	10	Needle Knife	Hood	100%	1%	0%	
Costamagna et al <sup>[31]</sup>	28	Needle Knife	Cap	43%	14%	18%	
Rabenstein et al <sup>[72]</sup>	41	Argon Plasma	Cap	95%	0%	3%	
Christiaens et al <sup>[32]</sup>	21	Monopolar forceps	Hood	100%	0%	5%	
Vogelsang et al <sup>[34]</sup>	31	Needle Knife	Cap	84%	3%	23%	
Tang et al <sup>[35]</sup>	6	Needle Knife	Hood/Endoclips	100%	0%	0%	
Case et al <sup>[73]</sup>	22	Needle Knife	Cap	100%	32%	27%	
Repici et al <sup>[29]</sup>	32	Hook knife	None	88%	6%	3%	
Al-Kadi et al <sup>[74]</sup>	18	Needle Knife	None	78%	12%	6%	
Hondo et al <sup>[33]</sup>	6	Harmonic scalpel	Soft diverticuloscope	100%	0%	0%	

short transection may lead to incomplete myotomy and higher clinical recurrence rates. Unfortunately, when the incision is made in a proximal to distal direction it may be difficult to identify secure landmarks other than the muscular fibres. This has prompted some investigators to assess the safety and efficacy of the hook-knife by directing the incision from bottom to top. The more controlled and precise cut appears to reduce the risk of perforations<sup>[29]</sup>. More recently, an insulated-tip needle (IT-Knife 2), originally developed for endoscopic submucosal dissection has been tested in a series of 19 patients. The authors noted a more controlled septum incision and no adverse events. Over a median follow-up of 27 mo, dysphagia relapsed in two patients<sup>[44]</sup>. Finally, a diverticulum cap prototype with a swinging needleknife that is similar in principle to the device used for biliary sphincterotomy has been described and may provide in the future more precise and efficient septum dissection<sup>[45]</sup>.

#### CONCLUSION

Treatment of Zenker diverticulum has evolved thanks to a better appraisal of the pathophysiology of the disease and the implementation of new techniques in the field of minimally invasive surgery and interventional flexible endoscopy. Over the past three decades the transoral approach has been revisited and, once again, the emphasis of research has shifted from diverticulectomy to myotomy. However, heterogeneity of data and lack of standardized protocols preclude a direct and meaningful comparison of the techniques. No randomized trials nor retrospective case series have demonstrated the superiority of single treatment modalities and, therefore, the choice still depends on physician's expertise and personal preferences. Interventional flexible endoscopy is indeed an attractive treatment option, but at present transoral stapling has a longer follow-up and has been associated with significantly improved quality of life<sup>[75]</sup>. Further investigation and prospective clinical studies are eagerly awaited to define treatment guidelines for Zenker diverticulum.

#### REFERENCES

- Cook IJ, Gabb M, Panagopoulos V, Jamieson GG, Dodds WJ, Dent J, Shearman DJ. Pharyngeal (Zenker's) diverticulum is a disorder of upper esophageal sphincter opening. *Gastroenterology* 1992; 103: 1229-1235 [PMID: 1397879]
- 2 Venturi M, Bonavina L, Colombo L, Antoniazzi L, Bruno A, Mussini E, Peracchia A. Biochemical markers of upper esophageal sphincter compliance in patients with Zenker's diverticulum. *J Surg Res* 1997; **70**: 46-48 [PMID: 9228926 DOI: 10.1006/ jsre.1997.5049]
- 3 Bonavina L, Bona D, Abraham M, Saino G, Abate E. Long-term results of endosurgical and open surgical approach for Zenker diverticulum. *World J Gastroenterol* 2007; 13: 2586-2589 [PMID: 17552006 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v13.i18.2586]
- 4 Rizzetto C, Zaninotto G, Costantini M, Bottin R, Finotti E, Zanatta L, Guirroli E, Ceolin M, Nicoletti L, Ruol A, Ancona E. Zenker's diverticula: feasibility of a tailored approach based on diverticulum size. J Gastrointest Surg 2008; 12: 2057-2064; discussion 2057-2064 [PMID: 18810559 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-008-0684-7]
- 5 Bonavina L. Surgical management of esophageal diverticula. In: Shackelford's Surgery of the Alimentary Tract. 7th ed. Yeo CJ, editor. Philadelphia: Elsevier, 2013: 362-374
- 6 Sen P, Lowe DA, Farnan T. Surgical interventions for pharyngeal pouch. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2005; (3): CD004459 [PMID: 16034932 DOI: 10.1002/14651858]
- 7 Payne WS. The treatment of pharyngoesophageal diverticulum: the simple and complex. *Hepatogastroenterology* 1992; 39: 109-114 [PMID: 1634177]
- 8 Lerut T, van Raemdonck D, Guelinckx P, Dom R, Geboes K. Zenker's diverticulum: is a myotomy of the cricopharyngeus useful? How long should it be? *Hepatogastroenterology* 1992; **39**: 127-131 [PMID: 1634179]
- 9 Rocco G, Deschamps C, Martel E, Duranceau A, Trastek VF, Allen MS, Miller DL, Pairolero PC. Results of reoperation on the upper esophageal sphincter. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1999; 117: 28-30; discussion 30-31 [PMID: 9869755 DOI: 10.1016/ S0022-5223(99)70466-6]
- 10 Collard JM, Otte JB, Kestens PJ. Endoscopic stapling technique of esophagodiverticulostomy for Zenker's diverticulum. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1993; 56: 573-576 [PMID: 8379739 DOI: 10.1016/00 03-4975(93)90906-X]
- 11 Martin-Hirsch DP, Newbegin CJ. Autosuture GIA gun: a new application in the treatment of hypopharyngeal diverticula. J Laryngol Otol 1993; 107: 723-725 [PMID: 8409726 DOI: 10.1017/ S0022215100124247]
- 12 Narne S, Bonavina L, Guido E, Peracchia A. Treatment of Zenker's diverticulum by endoscopic stapling. *Endosurgery* 1993; 1: 118-120
- 13 Nicholas BD, Devitt S, Rosen D, Spiegel J, Boon M. Endostitchassisted endoscopic Zenker's diverticulostomy: a tried approach

WJGE | www.wjgnet.com

for difficult cases. *Dis Esophagus* 2010; **23**: 296-299 [PMID: 20095994 DOI: 10.1111/j.1442-2050.2009.01036.x]

- 14 Bonavina L, Rottoli M, Bona D, Siboni S, Russo IS, Bernardi D. Transoral stapling for Zenker diverticulum: effect of the traction suture-assisted technique on long-term outcomes. *Surg Endosc* 2012; 26: 2856-2861 [PMID: 22538675 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-012-2261-0]
- 15 Philippsen LP, Weisberger EC, Whiteman TS, Schmidt JL. Endoscopic stapled diverticulotomy: treatment of choice for Zenker's diverticulum. *Laryngoscope* 2000; 110: 1283-1286 [PMID: 10942127 DOI: 10.1097/00005537-200008000-00011]
- 16 Cook RD, Huang PC, Richstmeier WJ, Scher RL. Endoscopic staple-assisted esophagodiverticulostomy: an excellent treatment of choice for Zenker's diverticulum. *Laryngoscope* 2000; 110: 2020-2025 [PMID: 11129013 DOI: 10.1097/00005537-200012000 -00008]
- Siddiq MA, Sood S. Current management in pharyngeal pouch surgery by UK otorhinolaryngologists. *Ann R Coll Surg Engl* 2004; 86: 247-252 [PMID: 15239864 DOI: 10.1308/147870804524]
- 18 Fama AF, Moore EJ, Kasperbauer JL. Harmonic scalpel in the treatment of Zenker's diverticulum. *Laryngoscope* 2009; 119: 1265-1269 [PMID: 19399834 DOI: 10.1002/lary.20247]
- 19 Sharp DB, Newman JR, Magnuson JS. Endoscopic management of Zenker's diverticulum: stapler assisted versus Harmonic Ace. *Laryngoscope* 2009; 119: 1906-1912 [PMID: 19650136 DOI: 10.1002/lary.20142]
- 20 May JT, Padhya TA, McCaffrey TV. Endoscopic repair of Zenker's diverticulum by harmonic scalpel. *Am J Otolaryngol* 2011; 32: 553-556 [PMID: 21306794 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjoto.2010.11.009]
- 21 van Overbeek JJ. Pathogenesis and methods of treatment of Zenker's diverticulum. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 2003; 112: 583-593 [PMID: 12903677 DOI: 10.1177/000348940311200703]
- 22 Chang CW, Burkey BB, Netterville JL, Courey MS, Garrett CG, Bayles SW. Carbon dioxide laser endoscopic diverticulotomy versus open diverticulectomy for Zenker's diverticulum. *Laryngoscope* 2004; **114**: 519-527 [PMID: 15091228 DOI: 10.109 7/00005537-200403000-00025]
- 23 Helmstaedter V, Engel A, Huttenbrink KB, Guntinas-Lichius O. Carbon dioxide laser endoscopic diverticulotomy for Zenker's diverticulum: results and complications in a consecutive series of 40 patients. ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec 2009; 71: 40-44 [PMID: 18997480 DOI: 10.1159/000170379]
- 24 Ishioka S, Sakai P, Maluf Filho F, Melo JM. Endoscopic incision of Zenker's diverticula. *Endoscopy* 1995; 27: 433-437 [PMID: 8549440 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-1005736]
- 25 Mulder CJ, den Hartog G, Robijn RJ, Thies JE. Flexible endoscopic treatment of Zenker's diverticulum: a new approach. *Endoscopy* 1995; 27: 438-442 [PMID: 8549441 DOI: 10.1055/ s-2007-1005737]
- 26 Ferreira LE, Simmons DT, Baron TH. Zenker's diverticula: pathophysiology, clinical presentation, and flexible endoscopic management. *Dis Esophagus* 2008; 21: 1-8 [PMID: 18197932 DOI: 10.1111/j.1442-2050.2007.00795.x]
- 27 Dzeletovic I, Ekbom DC, Baron TH. Flexible endoscopic and surgical management of Zenker's diverticulum. *Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; 6: 449-465; quiz 466 [PMID: 22928898 DOI: 10.1586/egh.12.25]
- 28 Sakai P, Ishioka S, Maluf-Filho F, Chaves D, Moura EG. Endoscopic treatment of Zenker's diverticulum with an obliqueend hood attached to the endoscope. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2001; 54: 760-763 [PMID: 11726857 DOI: 10.1067/mge.2001.119606]
- 29 Repici A, Pagano N, Romeo F, Danese S, Arosio M, Rando G, Strangio G, Carlino A, Malesci A. Endoscopic flexible treatment of Zenker's diverticulum: a modification of the needle-knife technique. *Endoscopy* 2010; 42: 532-535 [PMID: 20593330 DOI: 10.1055/s-0029-1244163]
- 30 Evrard S, Le Moine O, Hassid S, Devière J. Zenker's diverticulum: a new endoscopic treatment with a soft diverticuloscope. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2003; 58: 116-120 [PMID: 12838237]
- 31 Costamagna G, Iacopini F, Tringali A, Marchese M, Spada C,

Familiari P, Mutignani M, Bella A. Flexible endoscopic Zenker' s diverticulotomy: cap-assisted technique vs. diverticuloscopeassisted technique. *Endoscopy* 2007; **39**: 146-152 [PMID: 17327973 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-966140]

- 32 Christiaens P, De Roock W, Van Olmen A, Moons V, D' Haens G. Treatment of Zenker's diverticulum through a flexible endoscope with a transparent oblique-end hood attached to the tip and a monopolar forceps. *Endoscopy* 2007; **39**: 137-140 [PMID: 17657700 DOI: 10.1055/s-2006-945118]
- 33 Hondo FY, Maluf-Filho F, Giordano-Nappi JH, Neves CZ, Cecconello I, Sakai P. Endoscopic treatment of Zenker's diverticulum by harmonic scalpel. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 74: 666-671 [PMID: 21872715 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.05.007]
- 34 Vogelsang A, Preiss C, Neuhaus H, Schumacher B. Endotherapy of Zenker's diverticulum using the needle-knife technique: longterm follow-up. *Endoscopy* 2007; 39: 131-136 [PMID: 17041841 DOI: 10.1055/s-2006-944657]
- 35 Tang SJ, Jazrawi SF, Chen E, Tang L, Myers LL. Flexible endoscopic clip-assisted Zenker's diverticulotomy: the first case series (with videos). *Laryngoscope* 2008; 118: 1199-1205 [PMID: 18401278 DOI: 10.1097/MLG.0b013e31816e2eee]
- 36 Peracchia A, Bonavina L, Narne S, Segalin A, Antoniazzi L, Marotta G. Minimally invasive surgery for Zenker diverticulum: analysis of results in 95 consecutive patients. *Arch Surg* 1998; 133: 695-700 [PMID: 9687995 DOI: 10.1001/archsurg.133.7.695]
- 37 Aly A, Devitt P, Jamieson J. Evolution of surgical treatment of Zenker's diverticulum. Br J Surg 2004; 91: 657 [DOI: 10.1002/ bjs.4572]
- 38 Leong SC, Wilkie MD, Webb CJ. Endoscopic stapling of Zenker' s diverticulum: establishing national baselines for auditing clinical outcomes in the United Kingdom. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol* 2012; 269: 1877-1884 [PMID: 22350426 DOI: 10.1007/s00405-012-1945-3]
- 39 Stoeckli SJ, Schmid S. Endoscopic stapler-assisted diverticuloesophagostomy for Zenker's diverticulum: patient satisfaction and subjective relief of symptoms. *Surgery* 2002; 131: 158-162 [PMID: 11854693 DOI: 10.1067/msy.2002.119491]
- 40 Repici A, Pagano N, Fumagalli U, Peracchia A, Narne S, Malesci A, Rosati R. Transoral treatment of Zenker diverticulum: flexible endoscopy versus endoscopic stapling. A retrospective comparison of outcomes. *Dis Esophagus* 2011; 24: 235-239 [PMID: 21143692 DOI: 10.1111/j.1442-2050.2010.01143.x]
- 41 Bizzotto A, Iacopini F, Landi R, Costamagna G. Zenker's diverticulum: exploring treatment options. *Acta Otorhinolaryngol Ital* 2013; 33: 219-229 [PMID: 24043908]
- 42 Leibowitz JM, Fundakowski CE, Abouyared M, Rivera A, Rudman J, Lo KM, Weed D, Civantos F. Surgical Techniques for Zenker's Diverticulum: A Comparative Analysis. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 2014; 151: 52-58 [PMID: 24705225 DOI: 10.117 7/0194599814529405]
- 43 Huberty V, El Bacha S, Blero D, Le Moine O, Hassid S, Devière J. Endoscopic treatment for Zenker's diverticulum: long-term results (with video). *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; 77: 701-707 [PMID: 23394840 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2012.12.008]
- 44 Manno M, Manta R, Caruso A, Bertani H, Mirante VG, Osja E, Bassotti G, Conigliaro R. Alternative endoscopic treatment of Zenker's diverticulum: a case series (with video). *Gastrointest Endosc* 2014; **79**: 168-170 [PMID: 23987574 DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2013.07.012]
- 45 Tang SJ. Flexible endoscopic Zenker's diverticulotomy: approach that involves thinking outside the box (with videos). Surg Endosc 2014; 28: 1355-1359 [PMID: 24380983 DOI: 10.1007/ s00464-013-3335-3]
- 46 Orringer MB. Extended cervical esophagomyotomy for cricopharyngeal dysfunction. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1980; 80: 669-678 [PMID: 6776351]
- Ellis FH, Crozier RE. Cervical esophageal dysphagia: indications for and results of cricopharyngeal myotomy. *Ann Surg* 1981; 194: 279-289 [PMID: 6791598 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-198109000-00 005]

- 48 Konowitz PM, Biller HF. Diverticulopexy and cricopharyngeal myotomy: treatment for the high-risk patient with a pharyngoesophageal (Zenker's) diverticulum. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 1989; 100: 146-153 [PMID: 2495511]
- 49 Barthlen W, Feussner H, Hannig C, Hölscher AH, Siewert JR. Surgical therapy of Zenker's diverticulum: low risk and high efficiency. *Dysphagia* 1990; 5: 13-19 [PMID: 2118024 DOI: 10.1007/BF02407389]
- 50 Morton RP, Bartley JR. Inversion of Zenker's diverticulum: the preferred option. *Head Neck* 1993; 15: 253-256 [PMID: 8491590 DOI: 10.1002/hed.2880150315]
- 51 Bonafede JP, Lavertu P, Wood BG, Eliachar I. Surgical outcome in 87 patients with Zenker's diverticulum. *Laryngoscope* 1997; 107: 720-725 [PMID: 9185726 DOI: 10.1097/00005537-19970600 0-00004]
- 52 Fraczek M, Karwowski A, Krawczyk M, Paczkowski PM, Pawlak B, Pszenny C. Results of surgical treatment of cervical esophageal diverticula. *Dis Esophagus* 1998; 11: 55-57 [PMID: 9595235]
- 53 van Eeden S, Lloyd RV, Tranter RM. Comparison of the endoscopic stapling technique with more established procedures for pharyngeal pouches: results and patient satisfaction survey. *J Laryngol Otol* 1999; **113**: 237-240 [PMID: 10435131 DOI: 10.1017/S0022215100143658]
- 54 Zbären P, Schär P, Tschopp L, Becker M, Häusler R. Surgical treatment of Zenker's diverticulum: transcutaneous diverticulectomy versus microendoscopic myotomy of the cricopharyngeal muscle with CO2 laser. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 1999; **121**: 482-487 [PMID: 10504609 DOI: 10.1016/S0194-5998(99)70242-1]
- 55 Busaba NY, Ishoo E, Kieff D. Open Zenker's diverticulectomy using stapling techniques. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 2001; 110: 498-501 [PMID: 11407839 DOI: 10.1177/000348940111000602]
- 56 Leporrier J, Salamé E, Gignoux M, Ségol P. [Zenker's diverticulum: diverticulopexy versus diverticulectomy]. Ann Chir 2001; 126: 42-45 [PMID: 11255970 DOI: 10.1016/S0003-3944(00)00455-7]
- 57 Sydow BD, Levine MS, Rubesin SE, Laufer I. Radiographic findings and complications after surgical or endoscopic repair of Zenker's diverticulum in 16 patients. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 2001; 177: 1067-1071 [PMID: 11641171 DOI: 10.2214/ajr.177.5.1771067]
- 58 Gutschow CA, Hamoir M, Rombaux P, Otte JB, Goncette L, Collard JM. Management of pharyngoesophageal (Zenker's) diverticulum: which technique? *Ann Thorac Surg* 2002; 74: 1677-1682; discussion 1677-1682 [PMID: 12440629 DOI: 10.1016/S0003-4975(02)03931-0]
- 59 Zaninotto G, Narne S, Costantini M, Molena D, Cutrone C, Portale G, Costantino M, Rizzetto C, Basili U, Ancona E. Tailored approach to Zenker's diverticula. *Surg Endosc* 2003; **17**: 129-133 [PMID: 12370775 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-002-8806-x]
- 60 Colombo-Benkmann M, Unruh V, Krieglstein C, Senninger N. Cricopharyngeal myotomy in the treatment of Zenker's diverticulum. *J Am Coll Surg* 2003; **196**: 370-37; discussion 377; author reply 378 [PMID: 12648686 DOI: 10.1016/S1072-7515(02)01903-8]
- 61 Fremling C, Raivio M, Karppinen I. Endoscopic discision of Zenker's diverticulum. Ann Chir Gynaecol 1995; 84: 169-172

[PMID: 7574376]

- 62 Narne S, Cutrone C, Bonavina L, Chella B, Peracchia A. Endoscopic diverticulotomy for the treatment of Zenker's diverticulum: results in 102 patients with staple-assisted endoscopy. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol* 1999; **108**: 810-815 [PMID: 10453792 DOI: 10.1177/000348949910800817]
- 63 Lüscher MS, Johansen LV. Zenker's diverticulum treated by the endoscopic stapling technique. *Acta Otolaryngol Suppl* 2000; 543: 235-238 [PMID: 10909029]
- 64 Jaramillo MJ, McLay KA, McAteer D. Long-term clinicoradiological assessment of endoscopic stapling of pharyngeal pouch: a series of cases. *J Laryngol Otol* 2001; 115: 462-466 [PMID: 11429069 DOI: 10.1258/0022215011908171]
- 65 Thaler ER, Weber RS, Goldberg AN, Weinstein GS. Feasibility and outcome of endoscopic staple-assisted esophagodiverticulostomy for Zenker's diverticulum. *Laryngoscope* 2001; 111: 1506-1508 [PMID: 11568596 DOI: 10.1097/00005537-200109000-00002]
- 66 Counter PR, Hilton ML, Baldwin DL. Long-term follow-up of endoscopic stapled diverticulotomy. *Ann R Coll Surg Engl* 2002; 84: 89-92 [PMID: 11995771]
- Wasserzug O, Zikk D, Raziel A, Cavel O, Fleece D, Szold A. Endoscopically stapled diverticulostomy for Zenker's diverticulum: results of a multidisciplinary team approach. *Surg Endosc* 2010; 24: 637-641 [PMID: 19688391 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-009-0651-8]
- 68 Peretti G, Piazza C, Del Bon F, Cocco D, De Benedetto L, Mangili S. Endoscopic treatment of Zenker's diverticulum by carbon dioxide laser. *Acta Otorhinolaryngol Ital* 2010; 30: 1-4 [PMID: 20559466]
- Adam SI, Paskhover B, Sasaki CT. Laser versus stapler: outcomes in endoscopic repair of Zenker diverticulum. *Laryngoscope* 2012; 122: 1961-1966 [PMID: 22870849 DOI: 10.1002/lary.23398]
- 70 Hashiba K, de Paula AL, da Silva JG, Cappellanes CA, Moribe D, Castillo CF, Brasil HA. Endoscopic treatment of Zenker's diverticulum. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1999; 49: 93-97 [PMID: 9869730 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5107(99)70452-9]
- 71 **Mulder CJ**. Zapping Zenker's diverticulum: gastroscopic treatment. *Can J Gastroenterol* 1999; **13**: 405-407 [PMID: 10377471]
- 72 Rabenstein T, May A, Michel J, Manner H, Pech O, Gossner L, Ell C. Argon plasma coagulation for flexible endoscopic Zenker's diverticulotomy. *Endoscopy* 2007; **39**: 141-145 [PMID: 17327972 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-966164]
- 73 Case DJ, Baron TH. Flexible endoscopic management of Zenker diverticulum: the Mayo Clinic experience. *Mayo Clin Proc* 2010; 85: 719-722 [PMID: 20675509 DOI: 10.4065/mcp.2009.0663]
- 74 Al-Kadi AS, Maghrabi AA, Thomson D, Gillman LM, Dhalla S. Endoscopic treatment of Zenker diverticulum: results of a 7-year experience. *J Am Coll Surg* 2010; 211: 239-243 [PMID: 20670862 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2010.04.011]
- 75 Bonavina L, Aiolfi A, Scolari F, Bona D, Lovece A, Asti E. Longterm outcome and quality of life after transoral stapling for Zenker diverticulum. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21: 1167-1172 [PMID: 25632189 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i4.1167]

P- Reviewer: Maluf-Filho F, Teoh AYB S- Editor: Tian YL L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang DN





WJGE | www.wjgnet.com



Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v7.i2.94 World J Gastrointest Endosc 2015 February 16; 7(2): 94-101 ISSN 1948-5190 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

MINIREVIEWS

# Colonoscopy appropriateness: Really needed or a waste of time?

Antonio Z Gimeno-García, Enrique Quintero

Antonio Z Gimeno-García, Enrique Quintero, Servicio de Gastroenterología, Hospital Universitario de Canarias, 38320 Tenerife, Spain

Antonio Z Gimeno-García, Enrique Quintero, Instituto Universitario de Tecnologías Biomédicas (ITB) and Centro de Investigación Biomédica de Canarias (CIBICAN), Departamento de Medicina Interna, Universidad de La Laguna, 38320 Tenerife, Spain

Author contributions: Gimeno-García AZ and Quintero E contributed to this paper; all authors have participated sufficiently in the conception of this review, as well as the writing, drafting and revising it critically for important intellectual content and final approval of the version to be published.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Antonio Z Gimeno-García, MD, PhD, Servicio de Gastroenterología, Hospital Universitario de Canarias, Ofra s/n, La Laguna, 38320 Tenerife,

Spain. antozeben@gmail.com Telephone: +34-92-2678554 Fax: +34-92-2678554 Received: August 16, 2014 Peer-review started: August 16, 2014 First decision: September 16, 2014 Revised: October 17, 2014 Accepted: October 31, 2014 Article in press: November 3, 2014

Published online: February 16, 2015

## Abstract

Technical and quality improvements in colonoscopy along with the widespread implementation of population screening programs and the development of openaccess units have resulted in an exponential increase in colonoscopy demands, forcing endoscopy units

to bear an excessive burden of work. The American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy appropriateness guideline and the European panel appropriateness of gastrointestinal endoscopy guideline have appeared as potential solutions to tackle this problem and to increase detection rates of relevant lesions. Inappropriate indications based on either guideline are as high as 30%. Strategies based on these clinical criteria or other systems may be used to reduce inappropriate indications, thus decreasing waiting lists for outpatient colonoscopy, saving costs, prioritizing colonoscopy referrals and subsequently decreasing interval times from diagnosis to treatment. Despite the potential role of appropriateness guidelines, they have not been widely adopted partly due to fear of missing significant lesions detected in inappropriate indications. We review the main appropriateness and prioritising systems, their usefulness for detecting relevant lesions, as well as interventions based on those systems and costeffectiveness.

Key words: Colonoscopy appropriateness; European panel appropriateness of gastrointestinal endoscopy II; National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence; Colonoscopy prioritisation; Open access endoscopy unit

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** There is increasing worldwide demand for colonoscopy referrals, overburdening endoscopy units. Controlling the appropriateness of colonoscopy referrals has been proposed to decrease the increased workload. The American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy appropriateness and the European panel appropriateness of gastrointestinal endoscopy guidelines, and prioritisation criteria such as those of the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence and the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines network are good candidates for this task. We review the available systems and interventions designed to rationalize colonoscopy demand.



Gimeno-García AZ, Quintero E. Colonoscopy appropriateness: Really needed or a waste of time? *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2015; 7(2): 94-101 Available from: URL: http://www. wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v7/i2/94.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.4253/wjge.v7.i2.94

#### INTRODUCTION

During the last decade we have witnessed a gradual increase of endoscopic procedures and a reduction of radiological techniques to examine the gastrointestinal tract such as esophagus-gastro-duodenal transit or barium enema. Some significant quality improvements have contributed to the widespread diffusion of endoscopic techniques, including conscious sedation<sup>[1]</sup>, safety<sup>[2]</sup> and technological developments.

Furthermore, the implementation of screening programs for the early detection of colorectal cancer (CRC) and the development of open-access endoscopy units may further increase the demand for outpatient colonoscopy and the overall workload of endoscopy units. These factors are particularly worrisome in universal insurance health care systems.

In this setting, rationalization of the demand is mandatory to prevent overburdening endoscopy units, to improve efficiency in colonoscopy and to reduce costs and potential risks arising from inadequate colonoscopy referrals.

This review analyses, firstly, the causes of increasing workload of endoscopy units, with greater emphasis on especially focusing on population screening programs and open-access endoscopy units; secondly, strategies developed to control colonoscopy appropriateness and their results, including appropriateness criteria and adherence to guidelines, and finally criteria for prioritising referrals with higher risk of advanced colorectal neoplasms. Table 1 shows the highlights of this review.

# INCREASING WORKLOAD OF ENDOSCOPY UNITS: SCREENING COLONOSCOPY AND OPEN ACCESS ENDOSCOPY UNITS

A recent survey carried out in the United States found that the number of colonoscopies performed had risen three to four times between 1998 and 2004<sup>[3]</sup>, with colonoscopy being the most demanded endoscopic procedure. Similar patterns have been found in Europe<sup>[4]</sup>. Furthermore, the European Commission has recommended the implementation of programs for the detection of CRC in all countries of the Union<sup>[5]</sup>. A recent report assessed the amount of colonoscopies generated by a population screening program, depending on the screening strategy and uptake. Assuming a participation rate of 60%,

#### Table 1Summary box

Appropriateness guidelines and prioritising criteria have been developed to lessen colonoscopy workload in endoscopy units The sensitivity of EPAGE II criteria is higher than that of EPAGE I criteria for detecting significant colorectal lesions (especially CRC); however, specificity should be further improved. Since these criteria are not perfect, in clinical practice, they should be used to assist the clinician before requesting a colonoscopy but they should not be the sole criteria for the decision Although EPACE II criteria might be used to cancel inapprepariate.

Although EPAGE II criteria might be used to cancel inappropriate colonoscopy referrals, in clinical practice they should be used with caution, because some life-threatening lesions are missed, even in inappropriate requests

NICE criteria used for prioritising colonoscopy are not accurate enough for detecting advanced colorectal neoplasms, but may be improved in combination with other markers (*i.e.*, immunochemical fecal occult blood tests)

Adherence to guidelines required to decrease inappropriate indications and colonoscopy waiting lists

EPAGE: European panel appropriateness of gastrointestinal endoscopy; CRC: Colorectal cancer; NICE: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence.

screening might double the annual workload of endoscopy units<sup>[6]</sup>. Another source of additional referrals arising from screening programs are subsequent surveillance colonoscopies required after the resection of colorectal adenomas and CRC. Notably, surveillance colonoscopy after resection of colorectal adenomas is the most frequent indication in patients aged over 74 years in the United States, accounting for 28.9% in women and 37.9% in men<sup>[7]</sup>. Furthermore, according to a recent meta-analysis, more than 30% of the average-risk population may have colorectal adenomas<sup>[8]</sup>. Similar data have been reported in European studies<sup>[9-11]</sup>. Such a volume of colonoscopies represents a substantial burden.

A potential source of inappropriate referrals is open-access endoscopy units, increasingly frequent in both the United States and Europe. In open-access endoscopy units, any physician (not only a gastroenterologist) may request an endoscopic procedure<sup>[12]</sup>. These units emerged in an effort to save costs, preventing unnecessary office consultations with the gastroenterologist. Open-access endoscopy units may also be useful as a "shortcut", decreasing waiting times between consultation and colonoscopy. In fact, time off work for appointments is a problem for patients and open-access endoscopy units may expedite the diagnosis of severe diseases, and decrease empirical treatments<sup>[13]</sup>. However, one wonders whether the ease of access would not also increase the workload of endoscopy units resulting from a higher rate of inappropriate referrals, further increasing waiting lists and total costs. Thus, rationalization of the indication is considered essential.

Open access endoscopy units can be roughly classified as simple or censored. While no control system is applied in the former, in the latter, referral appropriateness is continuously checked by trained staff<sup>[14]</sup>.



# Table 2Main indications for colonoscopy according toEuropean panel appropriateness of gastrointestinal endoscopyII (www.epage.ch)

Iron deficiency anemia Hematochezia Discomfort or pain in the lower abdomen persisting ≥ 3 mo Uncomplicated chronic diarrhea Assessment of ulcerative colitis Assessment of Crohn disease Colorectal cancer screening Colorectal cancer screening in patients with inflammatory bowel disease

Surveillance colonoscopy after polypectomy

Surveillance colonoscopy after colorectal cancer resection Miscellaneous

## APPROPRIATENESS CRITERIA FOR IMPROVING COLONOSCOPY INDICATION

A procedure is deemed appropriate as long as health advantages outweigh the theoretical risks by a wide margin of safety<sup>[15]</sup>. As resources are limited, adherence to the appropriate indications for colonoscopy is necessary. Appropriateness guidelines may be useful not only to prevent unnecessary colonoscopies and potential risks resulting from them, but also to prioritize colonoscopy<sup>[10,16]</sup>.

#### American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy and European panel appropriateness of gastrointestinal endoscopy I criteria

The first guideline was developed by the American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ASGE)<sup>[17]</sup>. It consists of 27 general indications for colonoscopy. This guideline has been adopted with some modifications by the Italian Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy which uses wider criteria and includes some indications unlisted by the original guideline, such as significant weight loss and changes of bowel habit<sup>[18]</sup>. The application of these modified criteria slightly increases the rates of appropriateness and detection of significant lesions, especially CRC<sup>[19]</sup>. In 1999, European experts, including gastroenterologists, surgeons and family physicians, designed the criteria of the European panel appropriateness of gastrointestinal endoscopy (EPAGE- I)<sup>[20]</sup>. These criteria are based on a detailed review of the literature. The European panel established 12 main indications for colonoscopy, including 309 different clinical scenarios. Each clinical situation is scored from 1 to 9 (appropriate 7-9; 1-3 inappropriate; 4-6 uncertain). Colorectal cancer, adenomas, inflammatory bowel disease, stenosis and angiectasia are usually considered "significant lesions". Compared with ASGE criteria, EPAGE- I criteria are more specific and detailed. With regard to the prediction of appropriateness, the two systems have been shown to be similar<sup>[19,21-28]</sup>. The rate of inappropriate referrals ranged from 20%-30% for both guidelines<sup>[21-24,26,27,29]</sup>; however, they have never been compared for colonoscopy referrals. One factor that might influence appropriateness is the role of physician specialty. In this regard, results are controversial; in some studies no differences between gastroenterologists and other specialists were found<sup>[21,23]</sup>, in others, the data were favourable to gastroenterologists<sup>[28]</sup>.

It must be said that neither set of criteria is perfect. First, significant lesions are detected in about 30% of inappropriate colonoscopies<sup>[22]</sup>. This has been attributed to incidental findings of asymptomatic lesions. In fact, one meta-analysis showed the suboptimal sensitivity of alarm symptoms for CRC detection, ranging from 5%-64% across the studies<sup>[30]</sup>. Second, it is well-known that some alarm signs and symptoms are also frequent in other diseases, leading to poor specificity. A recent meta-analysis assessed the performance of ASGE and EPAGE- I criteria for the detection of significant lesions (as defined in each manuscript)<sup>[31]</sup>. Sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative likelihood ratios were: 89% (95%CI: 82%-93%), 26% (95%CI: 21%-31%), 1.16 (95%CI: 1-1.3), 0.44 (95%CI: 0.25-0.8), respectively. These data were similar to those reported for CRC. The authors concluded that a more effective strategy is needed and that both sets of criteria need further refinement to increase sensitivity (especially for CRC) and positive predictive value, and to minimize the number of colonoscopies in patients without significant lesions.

The most frequent cause of inappropriateness identified by both sets of criteria is surveillance colonoscopies after polypectomy or CRC surgery that are performed too early<sup>[25,27,28]</sup>. In a study involving more than 3000 colonoscopies, the most frequent causes of inappropriate indication were surveillance colonoscopies performed by general practitioners (GPs), surgeons and internists, and by gastroenterologists in the context of inflammatory bowel disease<sup>[26]</sup>.

#### EPAGE II criteria

EPAGE- I and ASGE appropriateness guidelines are not sufficiently widespread. As mentioned, there are some concerns regarding safety when using these criteria, as a significant percentage of relevant lesions are detected in improperly requested colonoscopies.

More recently, an updated version of the EPAGE-I criteria for colonoscopy has been published (EPAGE-II criteria), after a comprehensive review of the literature from 1998 to February 2008 (Table 2)<sup>[32]</sup>. To date, four studies have assessed the benefit of EPAGE- II criteria for predicting appropriateness and diagnostic yield of significant lesions (Table 3)<sup>[9-10,16,33]</sup>. Only in the largest study was the design fully prospective<sup>[10]</sup>. Three studies were carried out in Spain<sup>[9-10,33]</sup> and one in Norway<sup>[16]</sup>. Although statistical performance with confidence intervals of EPAGE- II studies were described in only two of the studies<sup>[10,16]</sup>, enough information was available in the other two for



Table 3 European panel	appropriateness of	f gastrointestinal endoscop	y <b>II studies add</b>	ressing appropri	ateness and diagr	nostic yield
Ref.	Design <sup>1</sup> (referrals)	<b>EPAGE</b> II <sup>2</sup> (% appropriate)	S <sup>3</sup> (95%CI)	Sp (95%CI)	<b>PPV (95%CI)</b> <sup>4</sup>	NPV (95%CI)
Carrión <i>et al</i> <sup>[33]</sup> (2010)	R 655	82.0	80.3 (74.0-84.3)	16.8 (14.9-18.5)	24.8 (23.1-26.4)	71.3 (63.1-78.6)
Arguello et al <sup>[9]</sup> (2012)	R 619	82.6	78.3 (73.8-82.4)	34.4 (31.3-37.3)	45.2 (42.6-47.6)	69.6 (63.4-75.4)
Gimeno García et al <sup>[10]</sup> (2012)	P 968	89.5	93.1 (90.0-96.3)	12.7 (10.0-15.0)	38.8 (36.0-42.0)	75.5 (67.0-84.0)
Eskeland $et al^{[16]}$ (2014)	R 295	91.0	92.6 (84.8-96.6)	22.9 (17.8-29.0)	31.3 (25.3-37.3)	89.1 (80.7-97.5)

<sup>1</sup>Study design: R (retrospective); *P* (prospective); <sup>2</sup>Appropriate and uncertain referrals jointly analysed; <sup>3</sup>S (sensitivity); Sp (specificity); <sup>4</sup>PPV (positive predictive value); NPV (negative predictive value).

calculation<sup>[9,33]</sup>. Taking into account the pooled results of the four studies, 75.4% of colonoscopy referrals were deemed appropriate, 13.9% inappropriate and 10.7% uncertain.

A validation study of these criteria showed that significant lesions were more prevalent in appropriate colonoscopies than in those considered inappropriate (38.8% vs 24.5%; OR = 1.95, 95%CI: 1.22-3.13; P < 0.005<sup>[10]</sup>. This study also reported the performance for significant neoplastic lesions (advanced adenoma and CRC), showing sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values of 98% (95%CI: 95-100), 11.5% (95%CI: 9-14), 11.2 (95%CI: 9-13) and 98% (95%CI: 95-100) respectively. In accordance with other studies, an appropriate indication was more frequent in patients over 50 years compared with younger individuals (92.9% vs 76.7%; OR = 3.98, 95%CI: 2.60-6.09, P < 0.001). In fact, 50% of inappropriate referrals were found in patients younger than 50 years, despite constituting only 20% of referrals. In studies carried out in Spain, the indication with the highest rate of inappropriateness was surveillance colonoscopy, ranging from 41% to 76%<sup>[9-10,33]</sup>, whilst in the Scandinavian study, this was lower abdominal symptoms (49%)<sup>[16]</sup>. In one study, inappropriateness in subjects younger than 50 years was separately analyzed. CRC screening at a younger age than usually recommended (33.3%) followed by surveillance colonoscopy at shorter intervals than recommended (20.8%) were the most frequent causes of colonoscopy overuse<sup>[10]</sup>.

Recent evidence has shown that the application of EPAGE-II criteria decreases rates of inappropriateness compared with EPAGE- I criteria and, more importantly, decreases the rate of missed significant lesions<sup>[9,16]</sup>. In both studies, the specificity of EPAGE- ${\rm I\hspace{-1.5pt}I}$  criteria was lower than that of the first version, theoretically decreasing the impact of EPAGE-II criteria on saving colonoscopies. Nevertheless, EPAGE- II might be considered safer than EPAGE-I with respect to missed significant lesions. Some authors have suggested jointly calculating uncertain and inappropriate colonoscopies, as opposed to what is usually done (combining appropriate and uncertain together)<sup>[16]</sup>. In fact, no significant differences in diagnostic yield were found in two studies that compared different combinations<sup>[9,16]</sup>. However, some CRC might be missed with this approach. Of 109 CRC diagnosed in

the 4 series, 2 were diagnosed in inappropriate referrals (1.83%) and 3 more in uncertain ones (2.75%). Therefore, it seems safer to consider uncertain and appropriate referrals together to prevent missing significant lesions. Recently, the combination of EPAGE criteria with blood or fecal biological markers was tested with the purpose of increasing appropriateness and improving diagnostic yield of significant lesions<sup>[34]</sup>. In one study, fecal calprotectin<sup>[34]</sup>, which has shown its capacity to distinguish organic diseases (i.e., inflammatory bowel disease) from functional disorders, was tested with EPAGE criteria in 224 consecutive patients with abdominal discomfort. Diagnostic yield for significant lesions was significantly higher when the combined strategy was used (70.2%)compared with either EPAGE or calprotectin alone (diagnostic yield 23.6% and 57.4% respectively). The combined strategy also improved re-classification of patients with a higher rate of appropriateness.

In summary, the refined EPAGE II criteria are more sensitive than the old EPAGE I, and may be an effective strategy to assist the clinician to decide whether a colonoscopy should be requested or not. They may also be a useful tool for decreasing colonoscopy overuse, as well as increasing diagnostic yield.

## INTERVENTIONS BASED ON APPROPRIATENESS CRITERIA

Several studies have suggested that the medical specialty of the referring physician may influence colonoscopy appropriateness<sup>[9,10,21,28]</sup>, with surveillance after polypectomy at shorter intervals than recommended being the most inappropriate indication. Therefore interventions based on audits and training of referring physicians are warranted to increase appropriateness.

Using EPAGE II criteria<sup>[10]</sup>, 91% of the inappropriate referrals corresponded to CRC screening, surveillance of neoplastic lesions (adenomas or CRC) or to subjects younger than 50 years. Subjects with any of these conditions had a lower rate of significant lesions and advanced neoplastic lesions than those who did not meet these conditions (31.2% vs 46.6%, P < 0.001; OR = 1.9, 95%CI: 1.47 to 2.51 and 5.1% vs 18.1%, P < 0.001; OR = 4.1, 95%CI: 2.60 to 6.41, respectively). In an interventional prospective study<sup>[35]</sup>, 451 patients with high probability for inap-

propriateness (age < 50 years, surveillance colonoscopy or screening colonoscopy) were attended in an appropriateness outpatient clinic. EPAGE II criteria along with current Spanish Association of Gastroenterology guidelines<sup>[36-38]</sup> were applied and colonoscopy was finally requested when deemed appropriate. In patients with an inappropriate indication, a different approach was carried out; a more suitable examination was requested, (i.e., biochemical tests, abdominal ultrasonography) or treatment was prescribed when a functional disorder (intestinal bowel syndrome or functional dyspepsia) was suspected. Appropriateness was compared with a historical cohort of 968 patients who underwent colonoscopy and to whom EPAGE-II criteria were applied. The intervention achieved a significant reduction of inappropriateness (5.2% vs 10.5%, OR = 0.46, 95%CI: 0.27-0.81) and, furthermore, increased the diagnostic yield of significant lesions (50.7% vs 37.3%, OR = 1.73; 95%CI: 1.33-2.25). However, these encouraging results of a censored open access unit should be taken with caution as the cost-effectiveness of this strategy has not been evaluated yet.

In another interventional study<sup>[19]</sup>, involving 133 GPs, a tailored educational program was assessed using ASGE/SIED appropriateness guidelines. Fifty GPs finally attended the course and completed a multiple choice test to assess the level of learning. The rest received a brief summary of the ASGE/SIED appropriateness criteria by regular mail. Colonoscopy appropriateness was compared before and after the intervention. In this study, appropriate referrals significantly increased from the first to the second period, resulting in a mere 7% of inappropriateness (23% vs 7% respectively; P < 0.001). Although the effect was more striking among attendants, appropriateness also increased in those GPs who did not attend the course but received the ASGE/SIED criteria by mail. Furthermore, the authors also reported long-term efficacy of the intervention, with the benefit being maintained 1 year later. Therefore, this study encourages greater diffusion of the current guidelines on the main colonoscopy indications and the usefulness of periodic educational programs in an open access unit setting.

## ADHERENCE TO GUIDELINES

Several studies have addressed the impact of compliance with the current surveillance guidelines after adenoma or CRC resection on colonoscopy waiting lists<sup>[39,40]</sup>. One study evaluated the effect of good compliance with the guidelines proposed by the American Gastroenterology Association (AGA) for surveillance after resection of colorectal adenomas on improving appropriateness and decreasing the waiting list<sup>[40]</sup>. Compliance with guidelines not only improved appropriateness in this indication but also increased the interval between surveillance colonoscopies by 0.73 years, with a 14% reduction of annual colonoscopies for this indication. Another work assessed the impact of compliance with the guidelines of the British Society of Gastroenterology and the Association of Coloproctology of the United Kingdom and Ireland for screening and surveillance after endoscopic polypectomy<sup>[39]</sup>. In this multicenter study, researchers from a tertiary care referral center applied these guidelines to the waiting list of several hospitals, recommending the exclusion of patients with an inappropriate referral. Overall, in 78% of cases the indication was inappropriate. The appointment was delayed in 27% on them, whilst the indication was deemed inappropriate in the remaining 51% and were cancelled. The authors therefore concluded that adherence to the guidelines could reduce waiting times for diagnostic colonoscopy, but might trigger ethical and moral debate.

# CLINICAL IMPACT AND COST-EFFECTIVENESS OF APPROPRIATENESS GUIDELINES

The educational-based intervention study reported by Grassini et al<sup>[19]</sup>, noted above, estimated a saving of 19500 euros per year in a low-volume endoscopy unit (1700 colonoscopies per year) and a 15% reduction on the waiting list for outpatient colonoscopy. A recent systematic review assessed the impact of ASGE and EPAGE- I criteria on the cost-effectiveness of colonoscopy based on the appropriateness of an indication in selecting patients who were referred to for colonoscopy<sup>[41]</sup>. Appropriateness studies reported until 2007 were considered for inclusion. In a decisionanalysis model, a relatively high prevalence of CRC was found in inappropriate referrals (1.1%; 95%CI: 0.7%-1.4% vs 5.6%; 95%CI: 5.1%-6%) along with a significant reduction in survival because of CRC diagnostic delay. Therefore, the authors recommended refining the current criteria before using them in routine clinical practice. However, only the first version of EPAGE criteria was used in the studies included, but not the more recent EPAGE II criteria, which as previously mentioned are significantly more sensitive, especially for CRC.

# STRATEGIES FOR PRIORITIZING PATIENTS

Some systems have been developed to prioritise patients with alarm signs or symptoms. The most wellknown is the one developed in the United Kingdom by the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE), implemented in 2000 (Table 4)<sup>[42]</sup>. Based on this system, patients meeting certain clinical criteria are referred for consultation with the gastroenterologist within two weeks in order to decrease waiting times for CRC diagnosis<sup>[43]</sup>. This guideline was updated in 2005, with the goal of reducing death



#### Gimeno-García AZ et al. Colonoscopy appropriateness

# Table 4 Clinical criteria for prompt colonoscopy referral (2 wk) according to the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence in the United Kingdom<sup>[44]</sup>

Patients  $\ge 40$  yr with rectal bleeding and change of bowel habit persisting  $\ge 6$  wk

Patients  $\ge$  60 yr with rectal bleeding persisting  $\ge$  6 wk without a change in bowel habit and without anal symptoms

- Patients  $\ge 60$  yr with a change of bowel habit persisting  $\ge 6$  wk with a state of the state o
- without rectal bleeding

Patients with right lower abdominal mass Patients with palpable rectal mass

Patients with unexplained iron deficiency anemia ( $\leq 11 \text{ g/100 mL}$  in

men and  $\leq 10 \text{ g}/100 \text{ mL in women}$ )

rates by 20% in people under 75 years in 2010<sup>[42]</sup>. The United Kingdom National Health Service later developed the "straight to test" approach for suspected CRC, in order to delete time-wasting visits and therefore delays in the diagnosis phase<sup>[44]</sup>. The Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines network (SIGN) has also developed referral criteria which are less strict than NICE criteria. They are also based on alarm signs and symptoms of CRC<sup>[45]</sup> (Table 5).

Beggs *et al*<sup>[46]</sup>, compared the effect of the two week-referral pathway for colonoscopy with the traditional pathway (referring the patient firstly to the gastroenterologist) on colonoscopy waiting lists and direct costs (only consultation and colonoscopy). The former strategy was less costly (saving more than £ 26.000), and also significantly reduced colonoscopy waiting list numbers compared with the usual care process (by 166.6 d, P < 0.01). Another study assessed the time intervals between referral for colonoscopy, diagnosis and treatment in a fast referral group compared with the usual care process<sup>[47]</sup>. As expected, delay to endoscopic and histological diagnosis was significantly lower for the fast referral group (P < 0.0001), but also to treatment (P = 0.048). One study showed that the "straight to test" strategy was also an effective strategy for CRC detection at early stages compared with the standard of care<sup>[48]</sup>.

A recent Spanish multicenter study highlighted the limited accuracy of NICE criteria in a prospective cohort of 787 symptomatic patients referred for colonoscopy<sup>[49]</sup>. NICE and SIGN criteria were compared with the immunochemical fecal occult blood test (FIT) at 100 ng/ml threshold for CRC detection. FIT was significantly more sensitive than NICE criteria (87.6% vs 61.9% respectively; P < 0.001) but similar to SIGN criteria (82.5%, P = 0.4). However, the specificity of FIT was significantly higher than either NICE or SIGN criteria (77.4%, 65.2% and 42.7% respectively; P < 0.001). These data support the idea that, in isolation, NICE criteria lack sufficient diagnostic accuracy and should be used in combination with other markers. Studies using a combination of clinical, blood and fecal markers are currently ongoing in order to improve the accuracy of the clinical criteria<sup>[50]</sup>.

Recently, risk scores based on demographic and

# Table 5 Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines network referral criteria

1 Persistent rectal bleeding without anal symptoms

2 Persistent change in bowel habit (> 6 wk)

3 Significant family history 4 Right-side abdominal mass

5 Palpable rectal mass

6 Unexplained iron deficiency anemia

7 Persistent diarrhea

clinical information have been developed for either symptomatic or asymptomatic patients in order to prioritise outpatient colonoscopy<sup>[51,52]</sup>. Law *et al*<sup>[52]</sup>, with 1013 symptomatic Asian subjects, showed that a score higher than 17 predicted CRC with a specificity of 96%. The area under the curve of the risk score was 0.83, proving that the model had a good discrimination, leading the authors to conclude that this model might be useful to prioritise colonoscopy. Another recent study, carried out in asymptomatic Caucasian patients<sup>[51]</sup>, validated a model for detecting advanced colorectal neoplasia based on demographics and family history of CRC. The authors suggested that this model might help health care providers to make decisions about screening.

#### CONCLUSION

Although appropriateness criteria (ASGE and EPAGE II criteria) enable a better selection of colonoscopy referrals and increase the rate of significant lesions detected, further refinement is required since some relevant lesions are still missed even when the more sensitive EPAGE II criteria are used. Prioritising systems such NICE criteria seem to accelerate CRC diagnosis and treatment, without increasing the waiting list for outpatient colonoscopy, but they might not be sensitive enough for selecting patients with CRC. Educational programs on surveillance colonoscopy and adherence to the current guidelines are warranted to reduce inappropriate referrals. Finally, the combination of clinical criteria (appropriateness or prioritising criteria) with blood or fecal markers might be a better approach than isolated clinical criteria to increase the diagnostic yield of significant lesions.

#### REFERENCES

- Froehlich F, Harris JK, Wietlisbach V, Burnand B, Vader JP, Gonvers JJ. Current sedation and monitoring practice for colonoscopy: an International Observational Study (EPAGE). *Endoscopy* 2006; 38: 461-469 [PMID: 16767580 DOI: 10.1055/ s-2006-925368]
- Misra T, Lalor E, Fedorak RN. Endoscopic perforation rates at a Canadian university teaching hospital. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2004; 18: 221-226 [PMID: 15054498]
- 3 Sonnenberg A, Amorosi SL, Lacey MJ, Lieberman DA. Patterns of endoscopy in the United States: analysis of data from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services and the National Endoscopic Database. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2008; 67: 489-496

[PMID: 18179793]

- 4 Heuss LT, Froehlich F, Beglinger C. Changing patterns of sedation and monitoring practice during endoscopy: results of a nationwide survey in Switzerland. *Endoscopy* 2005; **37**: 161-166 [PMID: 15692932 DOI: 10.1055/s-2004-826143]
- 5 Recommendations on cancer screening in the European union. Advisory Committee on Cancer Prevention. *Eur J Cancer* 2000; 36: 1473-1478 [PMID: 10930794]
- 6 Rodríguez-Moranta F, Trapero-Bertran M, Castells A, Mas-Canal X, Balaguer F, Pellisé M, Gonzalo V, Ocaña T, Trilla A, Piqué JM. Endoscopic requirements of colorectal cancer screening programs in average-risk population. Estimation according to a Markov model. *Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2008; **31**: 405-412 [PMID: 18783684]
- 7 Lieberman DA, Williams JL, Holub JL, Morris CD, Logan JR, Eisen GM, Carney P. Colonoscopy utilization and outcomes 2000 to 2011. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2014; 80: 133-143 [PMID: 24565067 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2014.01.014]
- 8 Heitman SJ, Ronksley PE, Hilsden RJ, Manns BJ, Rostom A, Hemmelgarn BR. Prevalence of adenomas and colorectal cancer in average risk individuals: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2009; 7: 1272-1278 [PMID: 19523536 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2009.05.032]
- 9 Argüello L, Pertejo V, Ponce M, Peiró S, Garrigues V, Ponce J. The appropriateness of colonoscopies at a teaching hospital: magnitude, associated factors, and comparison of EPAGE and EPAGE-II criteria. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **75**: 138-145 [PMID: 22100299]
- 10 Gimeno García AZ, González Y, Quintero E, Nicolás-Pérez D, Adrián Z, Romero R, Alarcón Fernández O, Hernández M, Carrillo M, Felipe V, Díaz J, Ramos L, Moreno M, Jiménez-Sosa A. Clinical validation of the European Panel on the Appropriateness of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (EPAGE) II criteria in an openaccess unit: a prospective study. *Endoscopy* 2012; 44: 32-37 [PMID: 22109649]
- 11 Terhaar Sive Droste JS, Craanen ME, van der Hulst RW, Bartelsman JF, Bezemer DP, Cappendijk KR, Meijer GA, Morsink LM, Snel P, Tuynman HA, van Wanrooy RL, Wesdorp EI, Mulder CJ. Colonoscopic yield of colorectal neoplasia in daily clinical practice. *World J Gastroenterol* 2009; 15: 1085-1092 [PMID: 19266601]
- 12 Eisen GM, Baron TH, Dominitz JA, Faigel DO, Goldstein JL, Johanson JF, Mallery JS, Raddawi HM, Vargo JJ, Waring JP, Fanelli RD, Wheeler-Harbaugh J. Open access endoscopy. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2002; 56: 793-795 [PMID: 12447287]
- 13 Baron TH, Kimery BD, Sorbi D, Gorkis LC, Leighton JA, Fleischer DE. Strategies to address increased demand for colonoscopy: Guidelines in an open endoscopy practice. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2004; 2: 178-182 [PMID: 15017624]
- 14 Pike IM. Open-access endoscopy. *Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am* 2006; 16: 709-717 [PMID: 17098617]
- 15 Froehlich F, Pache I, Burnand B, Vader JP, Fried M, Beglinger C, Stalder G, Gyr K, Thorens J, Schneider C, Kosecoff J, Kolodny M, DuBois RW, Gonvers JJ, Brook RH. Performance of panelbased criteria to evaluate the appropriateness of colonoscopy: a prospective study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1998; **48**: 128-136 [PMID: 9717777]
- 16 Eskeland SL, Dalén E, Sponheim J, Lind E, Brunborg C, de Lange T. European panel on the appropriateness of gastrointestinal endoscopy II guidelines help in selecting and prioritizing patients referred to colonoscopy--a quality control study. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2014; 49: 492-500 [PMID: 24597781 DOI: 10.3109/ 00365521.2014.886715]
- American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy. Appropriate use of gastrointestinal endoscopy. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2000; 52: 831-837
- 18 Società italiana di Endoscopia Digestiva. Linee guida SIED. [Accessed 2007 Aug 22, 2007]. Available from: URL: http://www. sied.it
- 19 **Grassini M**, Verna C, Battaglia E, Niola P, Navino M, Bassotti G. Education improves colonoscopy appropriateness. *Gastrointest*

Endosc 2008; 67: 88-93 [PMID: 18028918]

- 20 Vader JP, Froehlich F, Dubois RW, Beglinger C, Wietlisbach V, Pittet V, Ebel N, Gonvers JJ, Burnand B. European Panel on the Appropriateness of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (EPAGE): conclusion and WWW site. *Endoscopy* 1999; **31**: 687-694 [PMID: 10571144]
- 21 Balaguer F, Llach J, Castells A, Bordas JM, Ppellisé M, Rodríguez-Moranta F, Mata A, Fernández-Esparrach G, Ginès A, Piqué JM. The European panel on the appropriateness of gastrointestinal endoscopy guidelines colonoscopy in an openaccess endoscopy unit: a prospective study. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2005; 21: 609-613 [PMID: 15740545]
- 22 **Bersani G**, Rossi A, Suzzi A, Ricci G, De Fabritiis G, Alvisi V. Comparison between the two systems to evaluate the appropriateness of endoscopy of the upper digestive tract. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2004; **99**: 2128-2135 [PMID: 15554991]
- 23 Fernández-Esparrach G, Gimeno-García AZ, Llach J, Pellisé M, Ginès A, Balaguer F, Mata A, Castells A, Bordas JM. [Guidelines for the rational use of endoscopy to improve the detection of relevant lesions in an open-access endoscopy unit: a prospective study]. *Med Clin (Barc)* 2007; **129**: 205-208 [PMID: 17678600]
- 24 Grassini M, Verna C, Niola P, Navino M, Battaglia E, Bassotti G. Appropriateness of colonoscopy: diagnostic yield and safety in guidelines. *World J Gastroenterol* 2007; 13: 1816-1819; discussion 1819 [PMID: 17465472]
- 25 Kmieciak Le Corguillé M, Gaudric M, Sogni P, Roche H, Brézault C, Dieumegard B, Couturier D, Chaussade S. [Appropiateness of colonoscopy in a gastrointestinal unit in 2001: a prospective study using criteria established by a European panel of experts]. *Gastroenterol Clin Biol* 2003; 27: 213-218 [PMID: 12658131]
- 26 Minoli G, Meucci G, Bortoli A, Garripoli A, Gullotta R, Leo P, Pera A, Prada A, Rocca F, Zambelli A. The ASGE guidelines for the appropriate use of colonoscopy in an open access system. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2000; 52: 39-44 [PMID: 10882960]
- 27 Morini S, Hassan C, Meucci G, Toldi A, Zullo A, Minoli G. Diagnostic yield of open access colonoscopy according to appropriateness. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2001; 54: 175-179 [PMID: 11474386]
- 28 Suriani R, Rizzetto M, Mazzucco D, Grosso S, Gastaldi P, Marino M, Sanseverinati S, Venturini I, Borghi A, Zeneroli ML. Appropriateness of colonoscopy in a digestive endoscopy unit: a prospective study using ASGE guidelines. *J Eval Clin Pract* 2009; 15: 41-45 [PMID: 19239580]
- 29 Burnand B, Harris JK, Wietlisbach V, Froehlich F, Vader JP, Gonvers JJ. Use, appropriateness, and diagnostic yield of screening colonoscopy: an international observational study (EPAGE). *Gastrointest Endosc* 2006; 63: 1018-1026 [PMID: 16733119]
- 30 Ford AC, Veldhuyzen van Zanten SJ, Rodgers CC, Talley NJ, Vakil NB, Moayyedi P. Diagnostic utility of alarm features for colorectal cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Gut* 2008; 57: 1545-1553 [PMID: 18676420 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2008.159723]
- 31 Hassan C, Di Giulio E, Marmo R, Zullo A, Annibale B. Appropriateness of the indication for colonoscopy: systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Gastrointestin Liver Dis* 2011; 20: 279-286 [PMID: 21961096]
- 32 Juillerat P, Peytremann-Bridevaux I, Vader JP, Arditi C, Schusselé Filliettaz S, Dubois RW, Gonvers JJ, Froehlich F, Burnand B, Pittet V. Appropriateness of colonoscopy in Europe (EPAGE II). Presentation of methodology, general results, and analysis of complications. *Endoscopy* 2009; **41**: 240-246 [PMID: 19280536]
- 33 Carrión S, Marín I, Lorenzo-Zúñiga V, Moreno De Vega V, Boix J. [Appropriateness of colonoscopy indications according to the new EPAGE II criteria]. *Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2010; 33: 484-489 [PMID: 20633961 DOI: 10.1016/j.gastrohep.2010.05.003]
- 34 Burri E, Manz M, Schroeder P, Froehlich F, Rossi L, Beglinger C, Lehmann FS. Diagnostic yield of endoscopy in patients with abdominal complaints: incremental value of faecal calprotectin on guidelines of appropriateness. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2014; 14: 57 [PMID: 24679065 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230X-14-57]
- 35 Adrian de Ganzo Z, Gimeno-García A Z, Alonso Abreu I,



Gonzalez Y, Nicolás Perez D, Alarcon O, romero R, Hernandez M, Ramos L, Carrillo M, Diaz JA, Arranz L, Quintero E. Impacto de una intervención para mejorar la idoneidad de la colonoscopia ambulatoria. *Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2013; **36**: 151

- 36 Alonso-Coello P, Marzo-Castillejo M, Mascort JJ, Hervás AJ, Viña LM, Ferrús JA, Ferrándiz J, López-Rivas L, Rigau D, Solà I, Bonfill X, Piqué JM. [Clinical practice guideline on the management of rectal bleeding (update 2007)]. *Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2008; **31**: 652-667 [PMID: 19174083]
- 37 Castells A, Marzo-Castillejo M, Mascort JJ, Amador FJ, Andreu M, Bellas B, Ferrández A, Ferrándiz J, Giráldez M, Gonzalo V, Jover R, Quintero E, Alonso-Coello P, Bonfill X, Lanas A, Piñol V, Piqué J. [Clinical practice guideline. Prevention of colorectal cancer. 2009 update. Asociación Española de Gastroenterología]. *Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2009; **32**: 717.e1-717.58 [PMID: 20474100]
- 38 Tort S, Balboa A, Marzo M, Carrillo R, Mínguez M, Valdepérez J, Alonso-Coello P, Mascort JJ, Ferrándiz J, Bonfill X, Piqué JM, Mearin F. [Clinical practice guideline for irritable bowel syndrome]. *Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2006; 29: 467-521 [PMID: 17020681]
- 39 Chivers K, Basnyat P, Taffinder N. The impact of national guidelines on the waiting list for colonoscopy: a quantitative clinical audit. *Colorectal Dis* 2010; 12: 632-639 [PMID: 19486094 DOI: 10.1111/j.1463-1318.2009.01871.x]
- 40 Sanaka MR, Super DM, Feldman ES, Mullen KD, Ferguson DR, McCullough AJ. Improving compliance with postpolypectomy surveillance guidelines: an interventional study using a continuous quality improvement initiative. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2006; 63: 97-103 [PMID: 16377324 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2005.08.048]
- Hassan C, Di Giulio E, Pickhardt PJ, Zullo A, Laghi A, Kim DH, Iafrate F, Morini S. Cost effectiveness of colonoscopy, based on the appropriateness of an indication. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2008; 6: 1231-1236 [PMID: 18995214 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2008.06.009]
- 42 NICE guidelines [CG27]. Referral guidelines for suspected cancer. [Updated June, 2005]. Available from: URL: http://www.nice.org. uk/guidance/CG27/chapter/1-Guidance
- 43 NHS Improving quality. Available from: URL: http://www. improvement.nhs.uk/cancer/documents/CSC\_High\_Impact.pdf
- 44 NICE clinical guideline 27. Referral Guidelines for suspected

cancer 2011. [Accessed August, 2013]. Available from: URL: http://www.niceorguk/CG027

- 45 Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Diagnosis and Managemente of Colorectal Cancer, SIGN publication no. 126. Edinburgh: SIGN, 2011. Available from: URL: http://www.sign. ac.uk
- 46 Beggs AD, Bhate RD, Irukulla S, Achiek M, Abulafi AM. Straight to colonoscopy: the ideal patient pathway for the 2-week suspected cancer referrals? *Ann R Coll Surg Engl* 2011; **93**: 114-119 [PMID: 21073821 DOI: 10.1308/003588411X12851639107917]
- 47 Maruthachalam K, Stoker E, Chaudhri S, Noblett S, Horgan AF. Evolution of the two-week rule pathway--direct access colonoscopy vs outpatient appointments: one year's experience and patient satisfaction survey. *Colorectal Dis* 2005; 7: 480-485 [PMID: 16108885]
- 48 Valentín-López B, Ferrándiz-Santos J, Blasco-Amaro JA, Morillas-Sáinz JD, Ruiz-López P. Assessment of a rapid referral pathway for suspected colorectal cancer in Madrid. *Fam Pract* 2012; 29: 182-188 [PMID: 21976660 DOI: 10.1093/fampra/ cmr080]
- 49 Cubiella J, Salve M, Díaz-Ondina M, Vega P, Alves MT, Iglesias F, Sánchez E, Macía P, Blanco I, Bujanda L, Fernández-Seara J. Diagnostic accuracy of the faecal immunochemical test for colorectal cancer in symptomatic patients: comparison with NICE and SIGN referral criteria. *Colorectal Dis* 2014; 16: O273-O282 [PMID: 24456168 DOI: 10.1111/codi.12569]
- 50 Cubiella JAM, Salve M, Diaz Ondina M, Vega P, Iglesias F, Macia P, Blanco I, Sanchez E, Bujanda L, Fernandez Seara J. Desarrollo y validación de un modelo predictivopara la identificación de cáncer colorrectal en pacientes sintomáticos: estudio COLONPREDICT. *Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2014; **37**: 142
- 51 Kaminski MF, Polkowski M, Kraszewska E, Rupinski M, Butruk E, Regula J. A score to estimate the likelihood of detecting advanced colorectal neoplasia at colonoscopy. *Gut* 2014; 63: 1112-1119 [PMID: 24385598]
- 52 Law CW, Rampal S, Roslani AC, Mahadeva S. Development of a risk score to stratify symptomatic adults referred for colonoscopy. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2014; 29: 1890-1896 [PMID: 24909623]

P- Reviewer: Picchio M, Pellise M S- Editor: Ji FF L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang DN







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v7.i2.102 World J Gastrointest Endosc 2015 February 16; 7(2): 102-109 ISSN 1948-5190 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

MINIREVIEWS

# Sedation in gastrointestinal endoscopy: Where are we at in 2014?

Alexandre Oliveira Ferreira, Marília Cravo

Alexandre Oliveira Ferreira, Serviço de Gastrenterologia, Centro Hospitalar do Algarve, Unidade Hospitalar de Portimão, 8500 Portimão, Portugal

Marília Cravo, Serviço de Gastrenterologia, Hospital Beatriz Ângelo, 2674-514 Loures, Portugal

Author contributions: Ferreira AO and Cravo M contributed equally to this manuscript.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Alexandre Oliveira Ferreira, MD, Serviço de Gastrenterologia, Centro Hospitalar do Algarve, Unidade Hospitalar de Portimão, Sítio do Poço Seco, 8500 Portimão, Portugal. alex.gastrohep@gmail.com

Telephone: +351-96-5389966 Received: July 18, 2014 Peer-review started: July 18, 2014 First decision: August 28, 2014 Revised: September 10, 2014 Accepted: November 7, 2014 Article in press: November 10, 2014 Published online: February 16, 2015

## Abstract

Gastrointestinal endoscopies are invasive and unpleasant procedures that are increasingly being used worldwide. The importance of high quality procedures (especially in colorectal cancer screening), the increasing patient awareness and the expectation of painless examination, increase the need for procedural sedation. The best single sedation agent for endoscopy is propofol which, due to its' pharmacokinetic/dynamic profile allows for a higher patient satisfaction and procedural quality and lower induction and recovery times, while ma-

intaining the safety of traditional sedation. Propofol is an anesthetic agent when used in higher doses than those needed for endoscopy. Because of this important feature it may lead to cardiovascular and respiratory depression and, ultimately, to cardiac arrest and death. Fueled by this argument, concern over the safety of its administration by personnel without general anesthesia training has arisen. Propofol usage seems to be increasing but it's still underused. It is a safe alternative for simple endoscopic procedures in low risk patients even if administered by non-anesthesiologists. Evidence on propofol safety in complex procedures and high risk patients is less robust and in these cases, the presence of an anesthetist should be considered. We review the existing evidence on the topic and evaluate the regional differences on sedation practices.

Key words: Hypnotics and sedatives; Propofol; Conscious sedation; Endoscopy; Gastrointestinal

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** Sedation in endoscopy is a hot topic. There is a wide range of practices depending on the countries and even regionally at a national level. These differences range from no sedation to traditional sedation or propofol based sedation (with or without an anesthetist) and are the result of several factors which include cultural aspects, medical training, legal responsibility and societal lobbying. Herein we review the most important evidence regarding the sedation aspects in the endoscopy suite and compare practices which vary among several countries.

Ferreira AO, Cravo M. Sedation in gastrointestinal endoscopy: Where are we at in 2014? *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2015; 7(2): 102-109 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet. com/1948-5190/full/v7/i2/102.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.4253/wjge.v7.i2.102



#### INTRODUCTION

Sedation is a fundamental aspect of gastrointestinal (GI) endoscopy. Although some patients can perform diagnostic esophagogastroduodenoscopy (EGD) and colonoscopy without sedation, the use of sedation is associated with a higher patient satisfaction<sup>[1,2]</sup> and procedural quality<sup>[3]</sup>. There is also an increasing demand for sedation by the patients and all endoscopists should be in position to comply with such demand.

There are several options for sedation which range from light sedation (anxiolysis) to general anesthesia depending on the procedure being performed, the center expertise and the individual patient. Still, the most commonly used sedation is moderate-deep sedation achieved by midazolam with or without an opioid (meperidine/pethidine, fentanyl or alfentanyl), which is commonly designated as "traditional sedation", with the other option being propofol which can also be used alone or in combination with analgesic opioids or midazolam. This review revolves around the value of sedation, the most common options and the similarities and differences between them. We also aim to discuss the role of anesthesia providers in the equation.

#### SEDATION AND PHARMACOLOGY

Midazolam is a short acting, water soluble, highly lipophilic benzodiazepine that was approved in the 80's. The agents of this class act by binding to the type A  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptor and enhancing its' inhibitory actions on the central nervous system. Midazolam has anxiolytic, hypnotic, anticonvulsant, muscle relaxant and antegrade amnestic properties<sup>[4]</sup>. It's 1.5-3.5 times more potent than diazepam and it has a shorter onset (1-2 min) and duration of action (15-80 min) when compared to other benzodiazepines<sup>[5,6]</sup>. Midazolam is metabolized by the liver and its' metabolites are excreted by the kidney.

Intravenous midazolam allows for moderate (conscious) sedation with commonly used doses in endoscopy ranging from 2 mg to 6 mg<sup>[7]</sup> but frequently a state of deep sedation is inadvertently achieved, at least when used in combination with an opioid<sup>[8]</sup>.

The major side effect is respiratory depression but it may also cause cardiovascular effects (hypotension and dysrhythmias) and occasionally "paradoxical" reactions occur with hostility and aggression occurring after administration. This reaction has been described to have an incidence of 1.4% and while it usually doesn't preclude completion of the procedure it renders it more difficult. The combination of pethidine has been suggested, in an observational study, to lower the risk for such reactions<sup>[9]</sup>.

Midazolam action can be reversed by the administration of flumazenil (a benzodiazepine antagonist) which has an onset of action of 1-2 min with a duraFerreira AO et al. Sedation in gastrointestinal endoscopy

tion of 60 min, a little shorter than midazolam explaining why the sedation level may deepen again after some time.

Propofol (2, 6-diisopropofol) is a hypnotic drug with minimal analgesic properties. Propofol also exerts its effect through potentiation of the GABA by reducing the rate of GABA-receptor dissociation<sup>[10]</sup>.

It is highly lipophilic which enables it to have a quick onset, corresponding to one arm-brain circulation time (30-45 s) and a short, predictable duration of action (4-8 min)<sup>[11]</sup>. Propofol is metabolized in the liver and excreted by the kidney. Several factors significantly alter its' pharmacokinetic profile and clinical effects with the major ones being age, weight and sex, with the elderly being significantly more sensitive to low doses.

Propofol formulations vary but usually they contain soybean oil and purified egg phosphatide and it should be avoided in patients with known allergies/ hypersensitivity to egg and soy products.

Propofol induces respiratory depression in a doseresponse fashion and it has a negative cardiac inotropic effect causing a decrease in cardiac output, systemic vascular resistance and arterial pressure<sup>[7]</sup>. Transient pain on injection site is common, affecting up to 50% of patients<sup>[12]</sup>. Apart from these clinically non-significant effects, serious adverse events leading to death are very rare and the risk is estimated to be even slimmer in low risk patients (ASA I - II), ranging from 1:10000 to 1:300000<sup>[13]</sup>.

The most common agents used for sedation and their pharmacologic profile are shown in Table 1.

#### HISTORICAL AND GLOBAL PERSPECTIVE

GI endoscopies are invasive, unpleasant and sometimes painful experiences. To overcome such unpleasantness, we have been searching for ways to minimize it since the introduction of the fiberscope in the 50's.

The technological advances in endoscopy have improved the diagnostic and therapeutic capabilities throughout the GI tract but they have also allowed for faster and less painful examinations. Advances like the utilization of thinner endoscopes<sup>[14]</sup>, variable stiffness colonoscopes<sup>[15]</sup>, CO<sub>2</sub> insufflation<sup>[16]</sup> and water immersion techniques (in colonoscopy)<sup>[17]</sup> allow for less painful procedures. Although helpful, these options are probably not as effective as medical sedation has been shown to be.

There has been a continuous evolution on sedation practices for endoscopy since the early 60's when pentobarbital use was described in conjunction with a transtracheal xylocaine injection<sup>[18]</sup>. The use of meperidine as an analgesic was an initial strategy and it was followed by the widespread adoption of the combination with diazepam, which was shown to improve the rate of "satisfactory examinations" by 20% comparing to meperidine alone<sup>[19]</sup>. This set the *rationale* 

#### Ferreira AO et al. Sedation in gastrointestinal endoscopy

Table 1         Pharmacologic profile of commonly used drugs for procedural sedation					
Drugs	Onset of action (min)	Duration of action (min)	Usual doses	FDA pregnancy category	Adverse effects
Pethidine	3-6	60-180	25-100 mg	С	Respiratory depression, vomiting
Fentanyl	1-2	30-60	50-200 μg	С	Respiratory depression, vomiting
Alfentanyl	<1	30-60	0.250-2 mg	С	Respiratory and cardiovascular depression
Midazolam	1-2	15-80	1-6 mg	D	Respiratory depression, disinhibition
Propofol	<1	4-8	40-400 mg	В	Respiratory and cardiovascular depression
Flumazenil	1-2	60	0.1 <b>-</b> 1 mg	С	Agitation, withdrawal symptoms
Naloxone	1-2	30-45	0.2-1 mg	В	Narcotic withdrawal

for the so called traditional sedation.

After almost two decades there was the advent of midazolam<sup>[6]</sup>. Midazolam had a very good acceptance in the endoscopy community in virtue of its faster induction time, higher effectiveness and shorter duration of action comparing to diazepam while keeping the safety feeling provided by the existence of a reversal agent. However, there were several (71) death reports in the 80's with midazolam based sedation and the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) issued a warning on this topic. Later, a more systematic epidemiological approach, led by a joint effort from the FDA and the American Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ASGE), failed to show an increased risk of death with midazolam compared with diazepam<sup>[20]</sup>. At the present time, midazolam is considered a safe agent and is commonly used as a sedative in gastrointestinal endoscopy.

Propofol, an ultra-short acting hypnotic agent, entered the arena a few years after midazolam<sup>[12]</sup> but it had a much slower uptake due to its use mostly as an anesthetic agent and as a sedative for critically ill patients and its' product label states that it "should be administered by persons with training in general anesthesia" in the United States and by anesthetists and intensive care physicians in some European countries. Because of this, most endoscopists feel untrained to administer propofol. Still, from a pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic point of view, propofol is superior to midazolam as it has a faster onset and a shorter predictable duration of action<sup>[11]</sup>. Propofol has since been proved to be a better sedative for endoscopy when compared to traditional sedation, improving both patient and endoscopist satisfaction, procedural quality indicators (such as cecal intubation time), induction, wake up and psychomotor recovery times<sup>[1,2,21-23]</sup>. These improvements are achieved without an increased risk for adverse events as shown in several meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials (RCT)<sup>[1,2,24]</sup>. These characteristics may have significant impact in procedural quality, patients' acceptance (especially for screening procedures) and endoscopic unit productivity.

One important concern regarding sedation in colonoscopy is the theoretical increase in perforation risk. In two observational but robust population based studies in the United States it has been shown that propofol sedation is not associated with an increased perforation risk<sup>[25,26]</sup>. It may, however, be associated with a slightly higher risk for aspiration pneumonia<sup>[26]</sup>. Another recent observation study showed an increased risk for perforation but only in therapeutic colonoscopy and when adjusted for confounders the odds ratio was 1.34 with a *P* value of  $0.04^{[27]}$ . Obviously, it is hard to detect small effect sizes for rare outcomes such as colonic perforation, but so far, the available evidence suggest that sedation doesn't play a significant role in perforation rates.

Despite the advantages of propofol and the endorsement of propofol sedation by several national and international societies<sup>[28-32]</sup>, it is still underused in most settings, because of medico-legal aspects, namely the requirement of an anesthesiologist and, consequently, increased costs<sup>[33]</sup>.

The non-availability of NAAP seems to be a limiting step for the availability of propofol sedation and it significantly increases costs in a non-reasonable tradeoff. This has been shown in a recent cost-effectiveness analysis by Cesare Hassan, with a calculated cost of 1.5 million USD/life year gained<sup>[34]</sup>.

There is wide variability in sedation practice worldwide. In the United States the number of endoscopic procedures in increasing<sup>[35]</sup>, as a result of the increased uptake of colorectal cancer screening colonoscopy. The participation of an anesthesiologist in endoscopy has doubled from 14% in 2003 to 30% in 2009<sup>[36]</sup> and it's expected to pass the 50% mark by 2015<sup>[37]</sup>. On the other hand, non-anesthesiologist administration of propofol (NAAP) is becoming less common, as a result of Medicare reimbursement change in 2009<sup>[38]</sup>, although this policy has been rejected by several states.

In Europe the variability is even bigger. In most countries routine diagnostic EGDs are performed without sedation<sup>[39]</sup> with colonoscopies being more likely to receive some form of sedation<sup>[33]</sup>. The countries with highest rates of propofol sedation are probably Switzerland<sup>[40]</sup> and Germany<sup>[41]</sup> with high rates of NAAP. In the latter, over 90% of the colonoscopies are performed with sedation, 97% of them with propofol and only 2% of those with support of an anesthesiologist. These data were acquired from a German national survey in 2011 with 732 respondents and showed an increase in sedation and propofol rates

WJGE | www.wjgnet.com

comparing to the first survey, 4 years earlier.

NAAP is also a common practice in Denmark, Austria, Spain, Italy, Greece, the Netherlands and Sweden<sup>[32,42-45]</sup>.

In other countries, like France and Portugal, virtually all endoscopic sedation with propofol is performed with an anesthesiologist. Unpublished data from our group regarding a national survey performed in Portugal in 2014, showed less than 3% of endoscopists perform NAAP and that propofol is used in less than half of the colonoscopies.

#### SEDATION IN SPECIAL POPULATIONS

There are populations that require specific considerations<sup>[46]</sup>, especially the elderly, the obese, patients with cirrhosis, pregnant women, patients with pulmonary disease and acutely ill patients.

In the elderly one must be aware of the slower onset of sedation and the higher sensitivity to sedatives. These patients are at an increased risk for cardiopulmonary events and aspiration syndrome. The recovery times are also increased due to slower hepatic and renal clearance and a higher fat body mass. Sedatives should be titrated at a slower pace and smaller doses should be generally used<sup>[47]</sup>.

Obesity is a growing pandemic, especially in the United States. Obesity is frequently associated with other comorbidities and is considered an independent risk factor hypoxemia and the need for airway permeabilization maneuvers<sup>[48]</sup>. Still, even though these patients are at a higher risk for minor events, it's considered safe to perform sedation for endoscopic procedures by trained personnel<sup>[46]</sup>.

Cirrhosis is a comorbid condition with significant impact on a patient's health status. Cirrhotic patients are supposed to undergo surveillance EGDs for esophageal varices and frequently undergo endoscopic procedures for indications such as anemia, bleeding, liver transplant evaluation or adenoma surveillance. Sedation in these patients pose some concerns due to hepatic dysfunction, decreased drug clearance and risk for hepatic encephalopathy. Several studies looked into this effect. Riphaus et al[49] performed a RCT that showed that propofol sedation was superior to midazolam in terms of recovery times and cognitive impairment after EGD<sup>[49]</sup>. A larger RCT comprising 211 patients confirmed these findings<sup>[50]</sup>. In a more recent RCT, in South Korea, propofol was shown to be safe in cirrhotic patients comparing to healthy controls<sup>[51]</sup>. Propofol is, therefore, considered the best option for sedation in patients with cirrhosis.

Pregnant women seldom need endoscopic procedures and common sense dictates that elective procedures should be postponed if possible. However, in some instances endoscopy has to be performed. While sedation is considered safe for the woman, there isn't high quality evidence to confirm it and some considerations have to made because of the possible risks to the fetus and are discussed in a ASGE guideline<sup>[52]</sup>. Among narcotics, meperidine is the favored agent. Benzodiazepines are classified as FDA pregnancy class D and are best avoided. Propofol is class B and may be used during pregnancy and preferably by an anesthesiologist. All agents are best avoided during the first trimester due to higher theoretical risks to the fetus. During lactation propofol and fentanyl are considered safe options with no need to withhold breastfeeding.

Acutely ill or decompensated patients are best managed by an anesthesiologist and most guidelines recommend considering anesthesiologist support for ASA  $\geq$  III patients, since most evidence on NAAP is on low risk patients and death have been reported only in ASA  $\geq$  III patients<sup>[44]</sup>.

#### EVIDENCE

There is high quality evidence comparing propofol to traditional sedation, which includes several RCTs and five systematic reviews (4 of them with meta-analysis - Table 2)<sup>[1,2,21,23,24]</sup>. The results are very consistent in showing a similar rate of adverse events with propofol versus traditional sedation. The advantages of propofol are shorter recovery and discharge periods, higher post-anesthesia recovery scores, better sedation, and greater patient cooperation. One limitation of the majority of the RCTs included in the meta-analysis is the lack of anesthesiologist participation. This may limit the generalizability of the data but it's unlikely that there would be a decrease in the safety or quality of this sedation when performed by an anesthesiologist.

The big question is therefore who should be responsible for the administration of propofol<sup>[53]</sup>.

To address this issue there is only one RCT<sup>[54]</sup>. This study by Poincloux *et al*<sup>[54]</sup> randomized 90 low risk patients undergoing colonoscopy for sedation by anesthesiologist using a target control infusion (TCI) or by the endoscopist using a modified patient controlled sedation pedal. In this study patients who were sedated by anesthesiologists had more frequent side events (16% *vs* 3%; *P* = 0.008), had higher doses of propofol (94 mg *vs* 260 mg), less pain but similar satisfaction levels.

Currently, we are performing a non-inferiority randomized trial addressing the safety of NAAP by comparing it no anesthesiologist sedation in low risk patients (ClinicalTrials.gov - NCT02067065). The interim analysis (100 patients) did not show a significant difference in the incidence of adverse events (primary endpoint) between the two groups (ref).

Apart from randomized controlled trials, there's significant experience with NAAP and extensive prospective evaluation on the safety and effectiveness of this type of sedation, especially for low risk patients. Rex *et al*<sup>[38]</sup> published in 2009 a sum of all published evidence on NAAP and collected unpublished prospective and retrospective records from several centers all

#### Table 2 Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials of propofol vs traditional sedation in endoscopy

Ref.	Procedures	Sedation compared	No. of studies (cases)	OR (95%CI) for adverse events
Qadeer <i>et al</i> <sup>[23]</sup> , 2005	EGD/colonoscopy/ERCP/EUS	Propofol vs traditional sedation	12 (1161)	0.74 (0.44-1.24)
Singh <i>et al</i> <sup>[2]</sup> , 2008	Colonoscopy	Propofol vs traditional sedation	22	Hypoxia: 0.69 (0.25-1.89);
				Hypotension: 1.03 (0.28-3.83)
Bo <i>et al</i> <sup>[21]</sup> , 2011	ERCP	Propofol vs traditional sedation	6 (663)	1.69 (0.82-3.50)
Garewal <i>et al</i> <sup>[24]</sup> , 2012	ERCP	Propofol vs traditional sedation	4 (510)	Narrative
Wang <i>et al</i> <sup>[1]</sup> , 2013	EGD/colonoscopy/ERCP	Propofol vs traditional sedation	22 (1798)	0.90 (0.70-1.17)

EGD: Esophagogastroduodenoscopy.

#### Table 3 Existing societal guidelines for non-anesthesiologist administration of propofol

Scientific society	Limitations	Consider anethesiologist
Sociedad Española de Endoscopia Digestiva, 2014	Complex procedure; ASA Ⅲ	$ASA \ge III$ ; long/complex procedure; difficult airway
Austrian Society of Gastroenterology and Hepatology	NA	NA
(OGGH), 2007		
Canadian Association of Gastroenterology, 2008	NA	$ASA \ge III$ ; long/complex procedure; difficult airway
German S3 guidelines - DGVS/DGAI, 2008	ASA $\ge$ III; long/complex procedure;	$ASA \ge N$ ; long/complex procedure; difficult airway
	difficult airway	
European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE/	NA	$ASA \ge III$ ; long/complex procedure; difficult airway
ESGENA), 2010/2013		
American multisociety guideline - AGA/ACG/ASGE/	NA	$ASA \ge III$ ; long/complex procedure; difficult airway
AASLD, 2009/2012		

ASGE: American Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy; NA: Not available.

around the world, totaling 646080 cases out of which 4 patients died and 11 were intubated. These numbers are not very different from published mortality rates for general anesthesia which is 1:13322 (overall) and 1:200200 in ASA I -  $II^{[13]}$ . Recently, a large German experience of 24 441 cases on propofol and propofol with midazolam has been published<sup>[55]</sup>. The data was collected prospectively and severe adverse events were reported in only 4 patients, with no severe outcomes (death or permanent neurologic damage).

With such a track record it will be very difficult to design a RCT powered to detect a difference in mortality or even in the need for endotracheal intubation (EOT). If we consider a probability of 1:20000 for EOT (3 times higher than published by Rex), then we would need a sample size of 17 133802 patients to exclude a 20% difference (of the expected incidence) between the groups with a confidence of 90% and a one-sided confidence interval of 95%.

#### **COST-EFFECTIVENESS**

In the study by Hassan *et al*<sup>[34]</sup>, the authors calculated the costs of training of nurses for EDP and assuming the published mortality rate of 0.0008% for EDP-colonoscopy and 0% for anesthesiologist sedation they concluded that the incremental cost-effective-ness ratio was 1.5 million USD/life year gained in the United States, 31 times above the accepted value of \$50000 USD. This means that to make it cost effective a reduction in anesthesiologist reimbursement (for Medicare) from \$95 to \$6 would have to take place.

This study is based on the assumption that the presence of an anesthesiologist is 100% effective in avoiding death in these procedures.

#### GUIDELINES

As a consequence of the advantages provided by propofol sedation and the difficulty in adopting its use due to logistical, financial and medico-legal issues, several national and international guidelines have been published in the last decade and are shown in Table 3<sup>[28-32,45,56,57]</sup>. These guidelines help to provide the framework to allow endoscopists to perform NAAP in their countries.

Of note, the German guidelines were the result of a collaboration between the GI endoscopy and anesthesia national societies and are therefore a valuable evidence based consensus document made by the country that has the highest level of propofol sedation in endoscopy in the world.

An interesting aspect is what occurred with the ESGE/ESGENA guideline. This one was also a joint effort with the European Society of Anesthesia (ESA) and was published in the November 2010 with the ESA support in both Endoscopy<sup>[29]</sup> and the European Journal of Anesthesiology<sup>[58]</sup>. Following this guideline, several national Anesthesiology societies declared to be against such endorsement and that position as was made public in a "Special Article" in the *ESA* journal in June 2011 by Perel<sup>[59]</sup> and undersigned by 21 national societies. The argument used was the concern for patient safety based on the manufacturer's package insert that states that "DIPRIVAN Injectable


Emulsion should be administered only by persons trained in the administration of general anesthesia and not involved in the conduct of the surgical/diagnostic procedure". As a consequence of this pressure there was a vote at the ESA General Assembly to retract the support of the ESA for the guideline that had been previously evaluated and approved by the ESA guidelines committee and Board of Directors. As of April 2012, without significant new evidence to support the change, or any kind of review of the same evidence, the ESA retracted the support<sup>[60]</sup>.

### CONCLUSION

Propofol is currently considered the best candidate drug for sedation in endoscopic procedures. Still, we are in need for well-designed randomized clinical trials (with meaningful primary endpoints) to provide the definite proof of safety comparing to traditional sedation when used by non-anesthesiologists.

This kind of high quality evidence will help the different professional societies to overcome their differences and determine a robust, evidence-based, approach for safe and cost-effective sedation and monitoring in endoscopy.

### REFERENCES

- Wang D, Chen C, Chen J, Xu Y, Wang L, Zhu Z, Deng D, Chen J, Long A, Tang D, Liu J. The use of propofol as a sedative agent in gastrointestinal endoscopy: a meta-analysis. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e53311 [PMID: 23308191 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053311]
- 2 Singh H, Poluha W, Cheung M, Choptain N, Baron KI, Taback SP. Propofol for sedation during colonoscopy. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2008; (4): CD006268 [PMID: 18843709 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006268.pub2]
- 3 Bannert C, Reinhart K, Dunkler D, Trauner M, Renner F, Knoflach P, Ferlitsch A, Weiss W, Ferlitsch M. Sedation in screening colonoscopy: impact on quality indicators and complications. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2012; 107: 1837-1848 [PMID: 23147522 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2012.347]
- 4 Reves JG, Fragen RJ, Vinik HR, Greenblatt DJ. Midazolam: pharmacology and uses. *Anesthesiology* 1985; 62: 310-324 [PMID: 3156545]
- 5 Kanto JH. Midazolam: the first water-soluble benzodiazepine. Pharmacology, pharmacokinetics and efficacy in insomnia and anesthesia. *Pharmacotherapy* 1985; 5: 138-155 [PMID: 3161005]
- 6 Cole SG, Brozinsky S, Isenberg JI. Midazolam, a new more potent benzodiazepine, compared with diazepam: a randomized, doubleblind study of preendoscopic sedatives. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1983; 29: 219-222 [PMID: 6618119]
- 7 Cohen LB, Delegge MH, Aisenberg J, Brill JV, Inadomi JM, Kochman ML, Piorkowski JD. AGA Institute review of endoscopic sedation. *Gastroenterology* 2007; 133: 675-701 [PMID: 17681185 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.06.002]
- 8 Patel S, Vargo JJ, Khandwala F, Lopez R, Trolli P, Dumot JA, Conwell DL, Zuccaro G. Deep sedation occurs frequently during elective endoscopy with meperidine and midazolam. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2005; 100: 2689-2695 [PMID: 16393221 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2005.00320.x]
- 9 Tae CH, Kang KJ, Min BH, Ahn JH, Kim S, Lee JH, Rhee PL, Kim JJ. Paradoxical reaction to midazolam in patients undergoing endoscopy under sedation: Incidence, risk factors and the effect of flumazenil. *Dig Liver Dis* 2014; 46: 710-715 [PMID: 24893689

### Ferreira AO et al. Sedation in gastrointestinal endoscopy

DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2014.04.007]

- 10 Hara M, Kai Y, Ikemoto Y. Propofol activates GABAA receptorchloride ionophore complex in dissociated hippocampal pyramidal neurons of the rat. *Anesthesiology* 1993; **79**: 781-788 [PMID: 8214758]
- 11 Kanto J, Gepts E. Pharmacokinetic implications for the clinical use of propofol. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 1989; 17: 308-326 [PMID: 2684471 DOI: 10.2165/00003088-198917050-00002]
- 12 Gepts E, Claeys MA, Camu F, Smekens L. Infusion of propofol ('Diprivan') as sedative technique for colonoscopies. *Postgrad Med J* 1985; 61 Suppl 3: 120-126 [PMID: 3877279]
- 13 Lagasse RS. Anesthesia safety: model or myth? A review of the published literature and analysis of current original data. *Anesthesiology* 2002; **97**: 1609-1617 [PMID: 12459692]
- 14 Töx U, Schumacher B, Toermer T, Terheggen G, Mertens J, Holzapfel B, Lehmacher W, Goeser T, Neuhaus H. Propofol sedation for colonoscopy with a new ultrathin or a standard endoscope: a prospective randomized controlled study. *Endoscopy* 2013; 45: 439-444 [PMID: 23468196 DOI: 10.1055/ s-0032-1326270]
- 15 Othman MO, Bradley AG, Choudhary A, Hoffman RM, Roy PK. Variable stiffness colonoscope versus regular adult colonoscope: meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Endoscopy* 2009; 41: 17-24 [PMID: 19160154 DOI: 10.1055/s-0028-1103488]
- 16 Wu J, Hu B. The role of carbon dioxide insufflation in colonoscopy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Endoscopy* 2012; 44: 128-136 [PMID: 22271023 DOI: 10.1055/s-0031-1291487]
- 17 Leung FW, Amato A, Ell C, Friedland S, Harker JO, Hsieh YH, Leung JW, Mann SK, Paggi S, Pohl J, Radaelli F, Ramirez FC, Siao-Salera R, Terruzzi V. Water-aided colonoscopy: a systematic review. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **76**: 657-666 [PMID: 22898423 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2012.04.467]
- 18 Firth JD. An anesthetic technique for oral endoscopy. Anesth Analg 1960; 39: 175-179 [PMID: 13823052]
- 19 Ticktin HE, Trujillo NP. Evaluation of diazepam for preendoscopy medication. Am J Dig Dis 1965; 10: 979-984 [PMID: 5846505]
- 20 Arrowsmith JB, Gerstman BB, Fleischer DE, Benjamin SB. Results from the American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy/ U.S. Food and Drug Administration collaborative study on complication rates and drug use during gastrointestinal endoscopy. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1991; **37**: 421-427 [PMID: 1833259]
- 21 Bo LL, Bai Y, Bian JJ, Wen PS, Li JB, Deng XM. Propofol vs traditional sedative agents for endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography: a meta-analysis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2011; 17: 3538-3543 [PMID: 21941422 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v17. i30.3538]
- 22 McQuaid KR, Laine L. A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trials of moderate sedation for routine endoscopic procedures. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2008; 67: 910-923 [PMID: 18440381 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2007.12.046]
- 23 Qadeer MA, Vargo JJ, Khandwala F, Lopez R, Zuccaro G. Propofol versus traditional sedative agents for gastrointestinal endoscopy: a meta-analysis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2005; 3: 1049-1056 [PMID: 16271333]
- 24 Garewal D, Powell S, Milan SJ, Nordmeyer J, Waikar P. Sedative techniques for endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2012; 6: CD007274 [PMID: 22696368 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD007274.pub2]
- 25 Bielawska B, Day AG, Lieberman DA, Hookey LC. Risk factors for early colonoscopic perforation include non-gastroenterologist endoscopists: a multivariable analysis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2014; 12: 85-92 [PMID: 23891916 DOI: 10.1016/ j.cgh.2013.06.030]
- 26 Cooper GS, Kou TD, Rex DK. Complications following colonoscopy with anesthesia assistance: a population-based analysis. *JAMA Intern Med* 2013; 173: 551-556 [PMID: 23478904 DOI: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.2908]
- 27 Adeyemo A, Bannazadeh M, Riggs T, Shellnut J, Barkel D, Wasvary H. Does sedation type affect colonoscopy perforation

rates? *Dis Colon Rectum* 2014; **57**: 110-114 [PMID: 24316954 DOI: 10.1097/dcr.00000000000002]

- 28 Vargo JJ, DeLegge MH, Feld AD, Gerstenberger PD, Kwo PY, Lightdale JR, Nuccio S, Rex DK, Schiller LR. Multisociety sedation curriculum for gastrointestinal endoscopy. *Gastroenterology* 2012; 143: e18-e41 [PMID: 22624720 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.05.001]
- 29 Dumonceau JM, Riphaus A, Aparicio JR, Beilenhoff U, Knape JT, Ortmann M, Paspatis G, Ponsioen CY, Racz I, Schreiber F, Vilmann P, Wehrmann T, Wientjes C, Walder B. European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy, European Society of Gastroenterology and Endoscopy Nurses and Associates, and the European Society of Anaesthesiology Guideline: Non-anesthesiologist administration of propofol for GI endoscopy. *Endoscopy* 2010; **42**: 960-974 [PMID: 21072716 DOI: 10.1055/s-0030-1255728]
- 30 Riphaus A, Wehrmann T, Weber B, Arnold J, Beilenhoff U, Bitter H, von Delius S, Domagk D, Ehlers AF, Faiss S, Hartmann D, Heinrichs W, Hermans ML, Hofmann C, In der Smitten S, Jung M, Kähler G, Kraus M, Martin J, Meining A, Radke J, Rösch T, Seifert H, Sieg A, Wigginghaus B, Kopp I. [S3-guidelines--sedation in gastrointestinal endoscopy]. *Z Gastroenterol* 2008; **46**: 1298-1330 [PMID: 19012203 DOI: 10.1055/s-2008-1027850]
- 31 Byrne MF, Chiba N, Singh H, Sadowski DC. Propofol use for sedation during endoscopy in adults: a Canadian Association of Gastroenterology position statement. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2008; 22: 457-459 [PMID: 18478130]
- 32 Schreiber F. Austrian Society of Gastroenterology and Hepatology (OGGH)--guidelines on sedation and monitoring during gastrointestinal endoscopy. *Endoscopy* 2007; 39: 259-262 [PMID: 17385114 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-966254]
- 33 Riphaus A, Macias-Gomez C, Devière J, Dumonceau JM. Propofol, the preferred sedation for screening colonoscopy, is underused. Results of an international survey. *Dig Liver Dis* 2012; 44: 389-392 [PMID: 22119619 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2011.10.019]
- 34 Hassan C, Rex DK, Cooper GS, Benamouzig R. Endoscopistdirected propofol administration versus anesthesiologist assistance for colorectal cancer screening: a cost-effectiveness analysis. *Endoscopy* 2012; 44: 456-464 [PMID: 22531982 DOI: 10.1055/ s-0032-1308936]
- 35 Cohen LB, Wecsler JS, Gaetano JN, Benson AA, Miller KM, Durkalski V, Aisenberg J. Endoscopic sedation in the United States: results from a nationwide survey. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2006; 101: 967-974 [PMID: 16573781 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2006.00500. x]
- 36 Liu H, Waxman DA, Main R, Mattke S. Utilization of anesthesia services during outpatient endoscopies and colonoscopies and associated spending in 2003-2009. *JAMA* 2012; 307: 1178-1184 [PMID: 22436958 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2012.270]
- 37 Inadomi JM, Gunnarsson CL, Rizzo JA, Fang H. Projected increased growth rate of anesthesia professional-delivered sedation for colonoscopy and EGD in the United States: 2009 to 2015. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010; 72: 580-586 [PMID: 20630511 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.04.040]
- 38 Rex DK. Effect of the Centers for Medicare & amp; Medicaid Services policy about deep sedation on use of propofol. *Ann Intern Med* 2011; 154: 622-626 [PMID: 21536938 DOI: 10.7326/0003-48 19-154-9-201105030-00007]
- 39 Ladas SD, Aabakken L, Rey JF, Nowak A, Zakaria S, Adamonis K, Amrani N, Bergman JJ, Boix Valverde J, Boyacioglu S, Cremers I, Crowe J, Deprez P, Díte P, Eisen M, Eliakim R, Fedorov ED, Galkova Z, Gyokeres T, Heuss LT, Husic-Selimovic A, Khediri F, Kuznetsov K, Marek T, Munoz-Navas M, Napoleon B, Niemela S, Pascu O, Perisic N, Pulanic R, Ricci E, Schreiber F, Svendsen LB, Sweidan W, Sylvan A, Teague R, Tryfonos M, Urbain D, Weber J, Zavoral M. Use of sedation for routine diagnostic upper gastrointestinal endoscopy: a European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy Survey of National Endoscopy Society Members. *Digestion* 2006; 74: 69-77 [PMID: 17135728 DOI: 10.1159/000097466]
- 40 **Heuss LT**, Froehlich F, Beglinger C. Nonanesthesiologistadministered propofol sedation: from the exception to standard

practice. Sedation and monitoring trends over 20 years. *Endoscopy* 2012; **44**: 504-511 [PMID: 22389232 DOI: 10.1055/s-0031-1291668]

- 41 Riphaus A, Geist F, Wehrmann T. Endoscopic sedation and monitoring practice in Germany: re-evaluation from the first nationwide survey 3 years after the implementation of an evidence and consent based national guideline. *Z Gastroenterol* 2013; 51: 1082-1088 [PMID: 24022202 DOI: 10.1055/s-0033-1335104]
- 42 Slagelse C, Vilmann P, Hornslet P, Hammering A, Mantoni T. Nurse-administered propofol sedation for gastrointestinal endoscopic procedures: first Nordic results from implementation of a structured training program. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2011; 46: 1503-1509 [PMID: 22050137 DOI: 10.3109/00365521.2011.6192 74]
- 43 Paspatis GA, Manolaraki MM, Tribonias G, Theodoropoulou A, Vardas E, Konstantinidis K, Chlouverakis G, Karamanolis DG. Endoscopic sedation in Greece: results from a nationwide survey for the Hellenic Foundation of gastroenterology and nutrition. *Dig Liver Dis* 2009; **41**: 807-811 [PMID: 19410522 DOI: 10.1016/ j.dld.2009.03.003]
- 44 Rex DK, Deenadayalu VP, Eid E, Imperiale TF, Walker JA, Sandhu K, Clarke AC, Hillman LC, Horiuchi A, Cohen LB, Heuss LT, Peter S, Beglinger C, Sinnott JA, Welton T, Rofail M, Subei I, Sleven R, Jordan P, Goff J, Gerstenberger PD, Munnings H, Tagle M, Sipe BW, Wehrmann T, Di Palma JA, Occhipinti KE, Barbi E, Riphaus A, Amann ST, Tohda G, McClellan T, Thueson C, Morse J, Meah N. Endoscopist-directed administration of propofol: a worldwide safety experience. *Gastroenterology* 2009; 137: 1229-1237; quiz 1229-1237 [PMID: 19549528 DOI: 10.1053/ j.gastro.2009.06.042]
- 45 Dumonceau JM, Riphaus A, Beilenhoff U, Vilmann P, Hornslet P, Aparicio JR, Dinis-Ribeiro M, Giostra E, Ortmann M, Knape JT, Ladas S, Paspatis G, Ponsioen CY, Racz I, Wehrmann T, Walder B. European curriculum for sedation training in gastrointestinal endoscopy: position statement of the European Society of Gastroenterology and Endoscopy Nurses and Associates (ESGENA). *Endoscopy* 2013; **45**: 496-504 [PMID: 23702777 DOI: 10.1055/s-0033-1344142]
- 46 Triantafillidis JK, Merikas E, Nikolakis D, Papalois AE. Sedation in gastrointestinal endoscopy: current issues. *World J Gastroenterol* 2013; 19: 463-481 [PMID: 23382625 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19. i4.463]
- 47 Chandrasekhara V, Early DS, Acosta RD, Chathadi KV, Decker GA, Evans JA, Fanelli RD, Fisher DA, Foley KQ, Fonkalsrud L, Hwang JH, Jue T, Khashab MA, Lightdale JR, Muthusamy VR, Pasha SF, Saltzman JR, Sharaf R, Shergill AK, Cash BD. Modifications in endoscopic practice for the elderly. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; **78**: 1-7 [PMID: 23664042 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.04.161]
- 48 Wani S, Azar R, Hovis CE, Hovis RM, Cote GA, Hall M, Waldbaum L, Kushnir V, Early D, Mullady DK, Murad F, Edmundowicz SA, Jonnalagadda SS. Obesity as a risk factor for sedationrelated complications during propofol-mediated sedation for advanced endoscopic procedures. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 74: 1238-1247 [PMID: 22136773 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.09.006]
- 49 Riphaus A, Lechowicz I, Frenz MB, Wehrmann T. Propofol sedation for upper gastrointestinal endoscopy in patients with liver cirrhosis as an alternative to midazolam to avoid acute deterioration of minimal encephalopathy: a randomized, controlled study. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2009; 44: 1244-1251 [PMID: 19811337 DOI: 10.1080/00365520903194591]
- 50 Correia LM, Bonilha DQ, Gomes GF, Brito JR, Nakao FS, Lenz L, Rohr MR, Ferrari AP, Libera ED. Sedation during upper GI endoscopy in cirrhotic outpatients: a randomized, controlled trial comparing propofol and fentanyl with midazolam and fentanyl. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; **73**: 45-51, 51.e1 [PMID: 21184869 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.09.025]
- 51 Suh SJ, Yim HJ, Yoon EL, Lee BJ, Hyun JJ, Jung SW, Koo JS, Kim JH, Kim KJ, Choung RS, Seo YS, Yeon JE, Um SH, Byun KS, Lee SW, Choi JH, Ryu HS. Is propofol safe when administered to cirrhotic patients during sedative endoscopy? *Korean J*

### Ferreira AO et al. Sedation in gastrointestinal endoscopy

Intern Med 2014; **29**: 57-65 [PMID: 24574834 DOI: 10.3904/ kjim.2014.29.1.57]

- 52 Shergill AK, Ben-Menachem T, Chandrasekhara V, Chathadi K, Decker GA, Evans JA, Early DS, Fanelli RD, Fisher DA, Foley KQ, Fukami N, Hwang JH, Jain R, Jue TL, Khan KM, Lightdale J, Pasha SF, Sharaf RN, Dominitz JA, Cash BD. Guidelines for endoscopy in pregnant and lactating women. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **76**: 18-24 [PMID: 22579258 DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2012.02.029]
- 53 Ferreira AO, Riphaus A. Patient-controlled sedation in endoscopy: are patients leading us? *Endoscopy* 2013; 45: 920-921 [PMID: 24165818 DOI: 10.1055/s-0033-1344953]
- 54 Poincloux L, Laquière A, Bazin JE, Monzy F, Artigues F, Bonny C, Abergel A, Dapoigny M, Bommelaer G. A randomized controlled trial of endoscopist vs. anaesthetist-administered sedation for colonoscopy. *Dig Liver Dis* 2011; **43**: 553-558 [PMID: 21450542 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2011.02.007]
- 55 Sieg A, Beck S, Scholl SG, Heil FJ, Gotthardt DN, Stremmel W, Rex DK, Friedrich K. Safety analysis of endoscopist-directed propofol sedation: a prospective, national multicenter study of 24441 patients in German outpatient practices. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014; 29: 517-523 [PMID: 24716213]
- 56 Simón MA, Bordas JM, Campo R, González-Huix F, Igea F, Monés J. [Consensus document of the Spanish Association of Gastroenterology on sedoanalgesia in digestive endoscopy]. *Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2006; 29: 131-149 [PMID: 16507280]

- 57 Igea F, Casellas JA, González-Huix F, Gómez-Oliva C, Baudet JS, Cacho G, Simon MÁ, de la Morena E, Lucendo A, Vida F, López-Rosés L. Sedation for gastrointestinal endoscopy. Clinical practice guidelines of the Sociedad Española de Endoscopia Digestiva. *Rev Esp Enferm Dig* 2014; 106: 195-211 [PMID: 25007017]
- 58 Dumonceau JM, Riphaus A, Aparicio JR, Beilenhoff U, Knape JT, Ortmann M, Paspatis G, Ponsioen CY, Racz I, Schreiber F, Vilmann P, Wehrmann T, Wientjes C, Walder B. European Society of Gastroenterology and Endoscopy Nurses and Associates, and the European Society of Anaesthesiology Guideline: Non-anaesthesiologist administration of propofol for GI endoscopy. *Eur J Anaesthesiol* 2010; 27: 1016-1030 [PMID: 21068575 DOI: 10.1097/EJA.0b013e32834136bf]
- 59 Perel A. Non-anaesthesiologists should not be allowed to administer propofol for procedural sedation: a Consensus Statement of 21 European National Societies of Anaesthesia. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2011; 28: 580-584 [PMID: 21705907 DOI: 10.1097/ EJA.0b013e328348a977]
- 60 Pelosi P. Retraction of endorsement: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy, European Society of Gastroenterology and Endoscopy Nurses and Associates and the European Society of Anaesthesiology Guideline--non-anaesthesiologist administration of propofol for gastrointestinal endoscopy. *Eur J Anaesthesiol* 2012; 29: 208; author reply 208-209 [PMID: 22273832 DOI: 10.1097/EJA.0b013e32834f5e5a]

P- Reviewer: Triantafillidis JK S- Editor: Ji FF L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang DN







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v7.i2.110 World J Gastrointest Endosc 2015 February 16; 7(2): 110-120 ISSN 1948-5190 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

MINIREVIEWS

# Narrow-band imaging with magnifying endoscopy for the evaluation of gastrointestinal lesions

Alina Boeriu, Cristian Boeriu, Silvia Drasovean, Ofelia Pascarenco, Simona Mocan, Mircea Stoian, Daniela Dobru

Alina Boeriu, Silvia Drasovean, Ofelia Pascarenco, Daniela Dobru, Department of Gastroenterology, University of Medicine and Pharmacy Tirgu Mures, 540139 Tirgu Mures, Romania

**Cristian Boeriu,** University of Medicine and Pharmacy Tirgu Mures, Tirgu Mures County Emergency Hospital, 540136 Tirgu Mures, Romania

Simona Mocan, Department of Pathology, Tirgu Mures County Emergency Hospital, 540136 Tirgu Mures, Romania

Mircea Stoian, Department of Anesthesia and Intensive Care, Mures County Hospital, 540000 Tirgu Mures, Romania

Author contributions: Boeriu A, Boeriu C, Pascarenco O and Dobru D contributed equally to this work; Boeriu A, Pascarenco O and Dobru D performed the endoscopies; Boeriu A and Boeriu C performed the literature search; Mocan S performed the histopathological examinations; Stoian M performed the anesthesia for endoscopies; Boeriu A and Drasovean S analyzed the data; Boeriu A and Boeriu C wrote the manuscript.

**Conflict-of-interest:** The authors attest that there is no conflict of interest such as fees for serving as a speaker, employment, consultancies, research funding, stock ownership, equity interests or patent-licensing arrangements with any organization regarding the material discussed in the manuscript.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Cristian Boeriu, MD, PhD, Department of Anesthesia Intensive Care and Emergency Medicine, University of Medicine and Pharmacy Tirgu Mures, Tirgu Mures County Emergency Hospital, No.50 Gheorghe Marinescu St., 540136 Tirgu Mures, Romania. cboeriu@gmail.com

Telephone: +40-723-388810 Fax: +40-265-219102 Received: August 26, 2014 Peer-review started: August 26, 2014 First decision: October 14, 2014 Revised: October 29, 2014 Accepted: December 3, 2014 Article in press: December 3, 2014 Published online: February 16, 2015

### Abstract

Narrow band imaging (NBI) endoscopy is an optical image enhancing technology that allows a detailed inspection of vascular and mucosal patterns, providing the ability to predict histology during real-time endoscopy. By combining NBI with magnification endoscopy (NBI-ME), the accurate assessment of lesions in the gastrointestinal tract can be achieved, as well as the early detection of neoplasia by emphasizing neovascularization. Promising results of the method in the diagnosis of premalignant and malignant lesions of gastrointestinal tract have been reported in clinical studies. The usefulness of NBI-ME as an adjunct to endoscopic therapy in clinical practice, the potential to improve diagnostic accuracy, surveillance strategies and cost-saving strategies based on this method are summarized in this review. Various classification systems of mucosal and vascular patterns used to differentiate preneoplastic and neoplastic lesions have been reviewed. We concluded that the clinical applicability of NBI-ME has increased, but standardization of endoscopic criteria and classification systems, validation in randomized multicenter trials and training programs to improve the diagnostic performance are all needed before the widespread acceptance of the method in routine practice. However, published data regarding the usefulness of NBI endoscopy are relevant in order to recommend the method as a reliable tool in diagnostic and therapy, even for less experienced endoscopists.

Key words: Narrow band imaging magnifying endoscopy; Premalignant; Early cancer; Mucosal patterns; Vascular patterns

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



**Core tip:** The article summarizes recent data regarding the potentials of one of the most advanced endoscopic technique used in clinical practice. There are many classification systems of mucosal and vascular patterns already reported in literature, therefore a review could be useful for a better systematization of data. Strategies and challenges in the application of the method in routine practice represent another issue of interest in this article. The picture selection actually reflects the work in the endoscopy department and could serve as a tool in the learning process.

Boeriu A, Boeriu C, Drasovean S, Pascarenco O, Mocan S, Stoian M, Dobru D. Narrow-band imaging with magnifying endoscopy for the evaluation of gastrointestinal lesions. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2015; 7(2): 110-120 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v7/i2/110.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v7.i2.110

### INTRODUCTION

Narrow band imaging (NBI) represents an advanced endoscopic technique consistings in the assessment of surface patterns and microvascular architecture by utilization of a narrowed spectrum light. Blue and green wavelengths are selected by optical filters, with the elimination of red light<sup>[1]</sup>. These lights with narrowed bandwidths penetrate the superficial mucosal structures and are better absorbed by hemoglobin, providing an enhancement of mucosal features and blood vessels (capillaries from superficial mucosal layer, deeper mucosal and submucosal vessels)<sup>[2,3]</sup>.

Clinical studies have shown the ability of NBI method to evaluate lesions and to estimate their histology in real time. The combination between NBI and magnification endoscopy (NBI-ME) enables an accurate assessment of lesions in the gastrointestinal (GI) tract, the differentiation between premalignant and malignant lesions, and the detection of early neoplasia by emphasizing neovascularization. The visualization of vascular details by magnification allows the early detection of changes associated with malignant transformation. Different classification systems including mucosal and vascular patterns were proposed to differentiate preneoplastic and neoplastic lesions and also to predict the depth of invasion in superficial cancer.

### APPLICATIONS OF NBI-ME IN ESOPHAGEAL LESIONS

Magnifying endoscopy with NBI of normal esophagus enables visualization of capillary vessels of mucosa (intra-epithelial papillary capillary loop, IPCL) and submucosal vascularity (branching vessels) (Figure 1A). In reflux esophagitis, dilated, elongated IPCLs have been detected on NBI endoscopy<sup>[4]</sup>. The examination of the gastroesophageal (GE) junction and lower esophagus using NBI and magnification in patients with symptomatic GERD has allowed the detection of modified mucosa and vascularity: microerosions, an increased vascularity at the GE junction, an increased number, and dilatation and tortuosity of IPCLs<sup>[5]</sup>.

Five different IPCL patterns have been described in association with different esophageal features, from normal mucosa to modified mucosa due to inflammation, dysplasia or cancer: type I corresponds to normal mucosa (Figure 1A), type II to inflammation, type III corresponds to borderline lesions, often related to low-grade intraepithelial neoplasia, type IV (Figure 2A) and V corresponds to high-grade intraepithelial neoplasia (HGIN) or carcinoma<sup>[6]</sup>. Dilation, tortuosity, irregularity in vessels caliber and form, destruction of IPCLs and replacement with tumor vessels are vascular features associated with esophageal carcinoma. The assessment of IPCLs and submucosal vascularity allows the detection of superficial squamous carcinoma and also the prediction of the depth of invasion<sup>[7]</sup>. The utility of the estimation of submucosal invasion in clinical practice influences the decision of performing endoscopic therapy.

### Magnifying NBI endoscopic diagnosis of Barrett's esophagus

The surveillance of Barrett's esophagus (BE) for early detection of adenocarcinoma continues to represent a challenge in clinical practice due to the large number of random biopsies required and to sampling errors. New endoscopic techniques improve the visualization of Barrett mucosa and improve the detection of dysplasia and early cancer by targeting biopsies from areas with modified pattern. Numerous reports have described mucosal and vascular features displayed in BE.

Chromoendoscopy and magnifying endoscopy has been used for better detection of specialized intestinal metaplasia (SIM) and early neoplasia in BE<sup>[8-10]</sup>. However, the dye application alters the visualization of vascular patterns. Additional time is required for better fixation of the dye on the tissue surface, followed by repeated water rinses and suctions to remove excess dye. NBI technique has the advantage of identification of both vascular and mucosal patterns without dye application, is easier to perform, and adds useful information about the mucosal morphology.

Different mucosal patterns have been described that can be detected at the GE junction during magnifying NBI endoscopy: rounded, circular (Figure 1C) or oval crypts (columnar mucosa), flat (Figure 1D), villous (Figure 1E), and gyrus-shaped patterns [intestinal metaplasia (IM)]<sup>[11]</sup>. Apart from these regular Boeriu A et al. Narrow-band imaging in gastrointestinal lesions



Figure 1 Narrow band imaging with magnification endoscopy images of the esophagus. A: Normal esophageal mucosa: branching vessel network and intraepithelial papillary capillary loop (IPCL) surrounding an island of Barrett's esophagus (BE); B: IPCL type V1: dilatation of intra-epithelial papillary capillary capill

patterns, the identification of an irregular, disrupted mucosal pattern raises the suspicion of a dysplastic/ cancerous lesion. The second element that should be evaluated is the vascular pattern: the presence of a regular pattern with normal-appearing vessels or an irregular pattern with abnormal blood vessels. In non-dysplastic BE a regular vascular pattern is associated with the regular villous/gyrus-like pattern or with flat-type mucosa (Figure 1D, E). Areas presenting an irregular mucosal pattern or abnormal blood vessels (irregular, dilated, corkscrew type vessels) are suspicious for the presence of high-grade dysplasia (HGD) or cancer (Figure 1F).

The significance of the detection of irregular mucosal and vascular patterns and abnormal blood vessels for the diagnosis of HGIN by using NBI-ME was previous outlined by Kara *et al*<sup>[12]</sup> (94% sensitivity, 76% specificity, 64% PPV and 98% NPV for HGIN). Other studies have reported the sensitivity, specificity and positive predictive value (PPV) of ridge/villous pattern for diagnosis of IM (93.5%, 86.7% and 94.7% respectively) and the sensitivity, specificity and PPV of irregular/distorted pattern for HGD (100%, 98.7% and 95.3% respectively), but also have emphasized the inability to differentiate areas of IM from areas with low-grade dysplasia<sup>[13]</sup>.

The reproducibility and repeatability of a simplified classification of mucosal and vascular patterns visualized in BE by experts and non-NBI-experts endoscopists was reported by Singh *et al*<sup>[14]</sup>. They have



Figure 2 Narrow band imaging with magnification endoscopy images of normal gastric mucosa. A: Round pits surrounded by the subepithelial capillary network (SECN) and collecting venules (CVs) in normal corporeal mucosa; B: Coil-shaped appearance of SECN, without the visualization of the CVs in normal antral mucosa.

described four different patterns on NBI-ME: type Around pits with regular microvasculature (Figure 1C) corresponded with columnar mucosa without IM (PPV and NPV were 100% and 97% respectively); type Bvillous/ridge pits with regular microvasculature and type C-absent pits with regular microvasculature (Figure 1D, E) corresponded with IM (PPV and NPV were 88% and 91% respectively); type D-distorted pits with irregular microvasculature (Figure 1F) was associated with HGD (PPV and NPV were 81% and 99% respectively)<sup>[14]</sup>.

Due to the multiplicity of classification systems, the clinical utility of NBI-ME in the assessment of BE is still under evaluation. In a study performed by Alvarez Herrero et al<sup>[15]</sup>, a simplified classification of mucosal and vascular patterns (regular patterns in nondysplastic BE, irregular patterns in dysplastic BE) has shown a moderate interobserver agreement and a disappointing rate for correctly identifying HGIN/early cancer (67% and 71% of the images with HGIN/early cancer were correctly identified). The limitations of the available classification systems concerning accuracy in identification of SIM and dysplasia, as well as limited interobserver agreement, are arguments that the surveillance protocol of BE based on random 4-quadrant biopsies and biopsies from suspicious areas, cannot be yet replaced<sup>[16]</sup>. A targeted NBI-ME examination of suspicious areas previously identified on white light endoscopy (WLE), such as mucosal irregularities, depressed areas, ulcerations, or nodules, is useful for the delineation of modified mucosal or vascular patterns and for the guidance of directed biopsies.

NBI-ME has also successfully been used as an adjunct for therapeutic procedures. The method has proved to be helpful in targeting and delineating areas with early Barrett's neoplasia, previously identified by high-resolution endoscopy and autofluorescence imaging, for endoscopic mucosal resection<sup>[17]</sup>. The trimodal imaging evaluation, which combines high-resolution WLE, autofluorescence, and NBI could be

an alternative to dye-spraying techniques for the detection and the lateral spread assessment of early cancer before endoscopic therapy.

### Applications of NBI-ME in gastric lesions

The normal gastric mucosa displays particular features in the corpus and antrum on NBI-ME. A regular arrangement of small, round pits surrounded by the subepithelial capillary network (SECN) with a honeycomb appearance and the collecting venules (CVs) are detected in the gastric body (Figure 2A). A coilshaped appearance of SECN, without the detection of the CVs are specific features associated with normal antral mucosa (Figure 2B). Modified patterns should be evaluated by comparison with these normal mucosal and vascular features. The detection of modified patterns due to inflammatory and atrophic changes of the corporeal mucosa and the interpretation of such endoscopic features could represent a challenge in clinical practice: the enlargement of pits with irregular SECNs in Helicobacter pylori gastritis (Figure 3A), or the detection of oval or tubulovillous pits with coiled or wavy vessels in IM (Figure 3B) and atrophic gastritis (AG)<sup>[18]</sup>. Targeted biopsies from areas with modified patterns are mandatory for a proper evaluation of the lesions.

The detection of blue whitish slightly raised areas, described as the "light blue crest sign" (Figure 3C) was reported to have a good sensitivity (89%), specificity (93%) and accuracy (91%) for the diagnosis of IM<sup>[19]</sup>. This sign could represent a marker for global gastric atrophy<sup>[20]</sup>. The detection of extensive and severe atrophy and IM and the detection of dysplasia are important steps in the identification of patients at risk for gastric neoplasia. According to European guidelines, these patients should be included in a surveillance program<sup>[21]</sup>. Targeted surveillance and directed biopsies guided by NBI-ME for IM and AG mapping could represent a better alternative to a surveillance protocol based on randomly taken biopsies.

Different mucosal and vascular patterns have been

Baishideng®

Boeriu A et al. Narrow-band imaging in gastrointestinal lesions



Figure 3 Narrow band imaging with magnification endoscopy images of gastric lesions. A: Helicobacter pylori gastritis: enlargement of pits, variable vascular density (alternation of lighter and darker areas); B: Extensive areas of intestinal metaplasia (tubulovillous mucosal pattern) and remnant normal gastric body mucosa (small regular and circular pits); C: Areas of intestinal metaplasia: blue whitish slightly raised areas (the light blue crest sign) with regular, tubulovillous mucosal pattern; D: Dysplasia: area with architectural loss of mucosal pattern and irregular vascular pattern.

reported in association with normal gastric mucosa, preneoplastic and neoplastic gastric lesions. Pimentel-Nunes *et al* have proposed a classification system for the diagnosis of gastric preneoplastic lesions: pattern A (regular and circular mucosal patterns with regular vascular patterns - Figure 2A) corresponds with normal mucosa (accuracy 83%; 95%CI: 75%-90%), pattern B (regular, ridge or tubulovillous mucosal patterns with regular vessels - Figure 3C) corresponds with IM (accuracy 84%; 95%CI: 77%-91%), and pattern C (absent or irregular mucosal patterns with irregular vascular patterns - Figure 3D) corresponds with dysplasia (accuracy 95%; 95%CI: 90%-99%)<sup>[22]</sup>.

# Magnifying NBI endoscopic diagnosis of early gastric cancer

Diagnostic accuracy for early gastric cancer was improved by the development of NBI-ME, which allows the detection of subtle mucosal changes. The estimation of the histology and the delineation of the lateral spread of gastric cancer are possible during endoscopic examination<sup>[23-25]</sup>. An estimation of the deep of invasion of early gastric cancer was also achieved by NBI endoscopy. The superiority of NBI-ME over WLE for the diagnosis of superficial gastric lesions in a population at high risk of gastric cancer was demonstrated in clinical studies<sup>[26]</sup>.

Three criteria have been use by Kaise *et al*<sup>[27]</sup> for the detection of superficial gastric cancer: the disappearance of fine mucosal structure, microvascular dilation and heterogeneity in shape of vessels. The sensitivity of these criteria for the diagnosis of cancer was 92.9%, with 94.7% specificity<sup>[26]</sup>. Yao *et al*<sup>[28]</sup> have used a "VS classification", based on the assessment of microvascular pattern (V) and microsurface pattern (S). They have identified the irregular microvascular pattern and/or the irregular microsurface pattern and the demarcation line as hallmarks of early gastric cancer (Figure 4). The delineation of the lateral margins of differentiated carcinoma prior to endoscopic resection has been performed using NBI-ME<sup>[28]</sup>.

Yamada *et al*<sup>[29]</sup> have recently reported that the demarcation (DL) line and an irregular microvascular pattern (IMVP) on NBI-ME represent reliable criteria for the diagnosis of small, depressed, early gastric cancer. An irregular margin and a spiny depressed area on conventional WLE represent diagnostic criteria for depressed cancer. The diagnostic accuracy increases by using both methods: the initial detection of a depressed lesion on conventional WLE, followed by magnifying NBI assessment for the presence of DL and IMVP<sup>[29]</sup>. The combination of conventional WLE with NBI-ME in clinical practice has proved to enhance diagnosis accuracy of small, depressed gastric mucosal cancer (96.6% accuracy, 95.0% sensitivity, and



Figure 4 Superficial gastric cancer: Disappearance of microsurface pattern, irregular microvascular pattern with a demarcation line.

### 96.8% specificity)<sup>[30]</sup>.

Regarding the application of NBI-ME in the assessment of elevated gastric lesions, a regular microsurface and microvasculature was detected in adenomas, while the microvascular changes (irregular caliber, meandering, heterogeneity) and the line of demarcation were associated with carcinoma<sup>[31]</sup>. There are situations when an estimation of the microvascular pattern is difficult, due to a white opaque substance (WOS) within the neoplastic epithelium, which obscures the microvessels (Figure 5). Yao et  $al^{[32]}$  have identified the WOS in 0-II a type neoplasms, and more frequently in adenomas (78%) than in carcinomas (43%). A regular distribution of WOS was detected within adenomas, whereas an irregular distribution was found in carcinomas. Besides the assessment of the microvascular pattern, morphologic analysis of the WOS could represent a valuable optical sign discriminating between adenoma and carcinoma<sup>[32]</sup>.

The demarcation line could also be identified in focal gastritis, but in this situation the regular mucosal and vascular patterns differentiate the lesion from early cancer. Doubtful lesions are better sent for pathologic assessment after endoscopic submucosal dissection.

Distinct vascular patterns are related to different histologic types of cancer. The fine network pattern, appearing as mesh microvessels, correlates with welldifferentiated adenocarcinoma, whereas the corkscrew pattern, with isolated and tortuous microvessels, corresponds with undifferentiated adenocarcinoma<sup>[33]</sup>. Li *et al*<sup>[34]</sup> have reported a good sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy of NBI-ME in distinguishing between differentiated from undifferentiated adenocarcinoma (92.3%, 89.7%, and 90.4%, respectively) and in differentiation between cancerous and noncancerous lesions (97.3%, 84.4% and 90.2% respectively). The authors have described three distinct patterns associated with different type of gastric lesions and with the depth of cancer invasion. A regular surface and mi-



Figure 5 Gastric adenoma: White opaque substance with regular distribution obscures the subepithelial microvascular pattern.

crovascular pattern (type A pattern) corresponds with noncancerous lesions. The type B pattern, consisting of thickened, dilated, irregular vessels, with an asymmetrical distribution, and an irregular surface pattern, corresponds with differentiated adenocarcinoma and intramucosal/superficially invasive cancers. The type C pattern, consisting of the disappearance of the surface pattern, with markedly distorted, sparse, isolated microvessels, or with avascular areas, is indicative of undifferentiated adenocarcinoma or differentiated cancer with deep submucosal invasion<sup>[34]</sup>.

In a recent report, Yagi et al<sup>[35]</sup> have also emphasized the usefulness of NBI-ME in the evaluation of the depth of submucosal invasion of the carcinoma. They have described the blurry mucosal pattern (BMP) and the irregular mesh vascular pattern (IMP) as endoscopic features suggestive of submucosal invasion of gastric differentiated adenocarcinoma (Figure 6). A mucosal cancer could be estimated by correlating the absence of these NBI-ME criteria (BMP, IMP) with the absence of conventional endoscopic criteria for invasion (extremely uneven or depression, nodularity at the verge, obvious hardening of the wall and unusual elevated non-cancerous mucosa on the verge)<sup>[35]</sup>. When the margins of early gastric cancer are difficult to identify using chromoendoscopy, NBI-ME represents a reliable alternative to delineate the horizontal extent of the differentiated carcinoma. The difficulty in determining the real extent of undifferentiated cancer still remains a problem, and a proper evaluation by biopsies from the apparently normal mucosa around the lesion is recommended in these situations<sup>[36]</sup>.

### Applications of NBI-ME in colonic lesions

The ability of NBI for the prediction of a polyp's histology has been reported in different studies. Kudo's classification system of mucosal pit pattern detected on magnification has included 5 different types: type I - round pits, type II - stellar or papillary pits, type III L- large tubular or roundish pits, type III s-



Boeriu A et al. Narrow-band imaging in gastrointestinal lesions



Figure 6 Gastric cancer with submucosal invasion: Blurry mucosal pattern and irregular mesh vascular pattern.

small tubular or roundish pits, type IV- branch-like or gyrus-like pits and type V- non-structural pits<sup>[37]</sup>. A proper evaluation of a colonic lesion consists in the assessment of mucosal pattern and also of vascular pattern. Sano *et al*<sup>[38]</sup> have proposed an evaluation of "capillary pattern" by using NBI colonoscopy with magnification for the differential diagnosis of colorectal lesions: type I - absent meshed brown capillary network (MBCN) in hyperplastic polyps (Figure 7A), type II - regular pattern in adenomatous polyps (Figure 7B), and type III- irregular pattern in cancerous lesions (Figure 7C).

According to these diagnostic criteria for mucosal and vascular patterns, specific features on NBI-ME have been described, corresponding with different colonic lesions: type I or II mucosal pattern (round, stellar or papillary pits) and type I vascular pattern (absence of vascular structure) in hyperplastic polyps (Figure 7A); type III or type IV mucosal pattern (tubular or branching pits) and type II vascular pattern (regular vessels) in adenoma (Figure 7B); type V mucosal pattern (disappeared pits) and type III vascular pattern (irregular vessels) in adenocarcinoma (Figure 7C). This combined classification system, based on mucosal and vascular patterns assessment, was used for the prediction of polyp histology. The accuracy of the NBI-ME method has proven to be superior to high-resolution WLE for the prediction of polyp histology<sup>[39]</sup>.

The NBI International Colorectal Endoscopic (NICE) classification has been proposed by an international expert group for the diagnosis of colonic lesions<sup>[40]</sup>. The classification is based upon the evaluation of lesion color, microvascular architecture, and surface pattern, and can be applied for NBI observation either with or without use of magnification. The similar or lighter color of the polyp compared with the back-ground mucosa, with no vessels or isolated vessels coursing across the polyp surface, the homogenous lack of mucosal pattern, the detection of dark or white spots of uniform size, are features correspond-



Figure 7 Assessment of colonic lesions by narrow band imaging with magnification endoscopy according to different classification systems. A: Hyperplastic polyp: absent mesh brown capillary network (Type I MBCN) (Sano classification); a lighter color of the polyp than the background, isolated vessels coursing across the lesion (NICE criteria); B: Adenomatous polyp: regular mesh brown capillary network (Type II MBCN) and Kudo's Type IV mucosal pattern; the brown color relative to background, thick brown vessels surrounding white structures (NICE criteria); C: Cancerous colonic lesion: irregular mucosal and vascular patterns (Type III MBCN); D: Deep submucosal invasive colorectal cancer: amorphous surface pattern and disrupted vessels (NICE criteria).

ing with hyperplastic polyps (Figure 7A). A browner color of the polyp relative to the background mucosa, the visualization of brown vessels surrounding oval, tubular or branched white structures are features mainly associated with colonic adenomas (Figure 7B). A brown color of the lesion relative to background, sometimes with patchy whiter areas, an absent or amorphous mucosal pattern, and a vascular pattern with disrupted or missing vessels, all represent endoscopic criteria for the diagnosis of deep submucosal invasive colorectal carcinomas according to NICE classification (Figure 7D)<sup>[41]</sup>.

The real time estimation of polyp histology could play an important role in clinical decisions regarding the therapeutic strategy for polyps  $\leq$  5 mm in size and for the duration of post-polypectomy surveillance intervals. Different cost-saving strategies were previously proposed in this setting. A "resect-and discard" policy was proposed for polyps  $\leq$  5 mm, which consists in a real-time estimation of polyp histology by NBI, followed by resection without pathologic as-



sessment<sup>[42]</sup>. The "resect and discard" strategy for diminutive adenomatous polyps could decrease the cost of colonoscopy. The post-polypectomy surveillance intervals could be recommended on the basis of the estimation of polyp histology by NBI and of the pathologic assessment of the larger polyps submitted to histology<sup>[43]</sup>.

The accurate estimation of the histology of the polyps (real-time optical biopsy) could prevent unnecessary polypectomies in cases of diminutive rectosig-moid hyperplastic polyps ("do-not-resect" strategy). On the basis of the evaluation of polyp histology by NBI criteria (color, vessels, pit pattern), experts have demonstrated that leaving diminutive distal hyper-plastic polyps in place without pathologic assessment could be a reliable approach in clinical practice<sup>[44]</sup>.

According to the Preservation and Incorporation of Valuable Endoscopic Innovations (PIVI) statement, developed by The American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ASGE), the thresholds of endoscopic technology for the assessment of polyps histology are: optical diagnosis for diminutive colorectal polyps combined with pathologic assessment of all other polyps should provide  $\geq$  90% agreement in determining post-polipectomy surveillance intervals when compared with decisions based on pathology assessment of all polyps, and the recommended NPV for adenomatous histology in diminutive rectosigmoid polyps should be  $\geq$  90%. After the achievement of PIVI thresholds, the NBI technology could be used to guide the "characterize, resect and discard" strategy in clinical practice<sup>[45]</sup>. Recent studies have focused on the ability of NBI diagnosis to meet these ASGE thresholds<sup>[46,47]</sup>. The incorporation of real-time histology in clinical practice still represents a matter of debate<sup>[48]</sup>.

Regarding the widespread use of the aforementioned strategies in clinical practice, the lack of accurate criteria for the differentiation between sessile serrated adenomas (SSAs) and hyperplastic polyps on NBI could represent a real challenge. A type IIopen-pit pattern (Type II-O), characterized by wider and rounded pits, was identified on magnification to be specific to SSAs<sup>[49]</sup>. Recent reports from community gastroenterologists have showed that endoscopic features of SSAs under NBI according to NICE classification were intermediate to the patterns observed in hyperplastic polyps and adenomas<sup>[50]</sup>. The misclassification of SSAs could affect clinical decisions regarding therapeutic strategy and surveillance intervals. The approach to serrated polyps in clinical practice should take into account their malignant potential<sup>[51]</sup>.

Another problem regarding the global use of optical biopsy in practice is related to the level of training and expertise. A high performance level of the optical diagnosis of the polyps using NBI-ME was reported by the experts<sup>[47]</sup>, but these studies were mainly performed in academic centers. Recent studies investigating optical biopsy performance in community practice have shown that the results are not as good as those obtained in the academic setting: only 25% of gastroenterologists assessed polyps with  $\geq$  90% accuracy. The thresholds for optical biopsy recommended by ASGE were achieved for identification of adenoma (NPV  $\geq$  90%), but not for the surveillance interval agreement<sup>[46]</sup>. The level of performance in clinical practice might be improved by training programs including the evaluation of frozen images or videos, real-time optical diagnosis during NBI colonoscopy, as well as creation of computer-aided diagnostic tools<sup>[52]</sup>.

### CONCLUSION

A tremendous development in the applications of NBI endoscopy with magnification has been reported in recent years. The method has made significant contributions to diagnostic accuracy, screening, surveillance, and cost-saving strategies. The method is used for better characterization of GI tract lesions by focusing the endoscopic examination on modified areas in which to perform targeted biopsies from suspicious lesions. The distinction between neoplastic and nonneoplastic lesions in vivo represents an important tool in clinical decisions regarding surveillance or therapy. Looking for the best therapeutic strategy in early cancer, the estimation of the depth of invasion and the delineation of the horizontal extent of carcinoma are mandatory before a therapeutic procedure such endoscopic therapy or surgical resection can be recommended. NBI-ME has been successfully applied in practice to select the optimum therapy and to guide endoscopic resections.

The good results already reported regarding clinical applicability of NBI represent arguments that the method could become an increasingly reliable tool in diagnostic and therapy, even for inexperienced endoscopists. Whether or not NBI will become a standard in endoscopy practice, it entirely depends on the widespread use of the technique in current practice by endoscopists with varying levels of experience, after a proper training.

Despite all these advances, there are still challenges in application in clinical practice, particularly regarding the standardization of endoscopic criteria in order to achieve a simplified and accurate descriptive system of mucosal and vascular patterns. The validity of the different classification systems is still under evaluation and further randomized multicenter studies are needed to confirm their clinical utility. The adoption of real-time optical diagnosis in routine practice requires training and expertise in the recognition of endoscopic features on the basis of standardized NBI-ME criteria.

Baishideng®

### REFERENCES

- Song LM, Adler DG, Conway JD, Diehl DL, Farraye FA, Kantsevoy SV, Kwon R, Mamula P, Rodriguez B, Shah RJ, Tierney WM. Narrow band imaging and multiband imaging. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2008; 67: 581-589 [PMID: 18374021 DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2008.01.013]
- 2 Gono K, Obi T, Yamaguchi M, Ohyama N, Machida H, Sano Y, Yoshida S, Hamamoto Y, Endo T. Appearance of enhanced tissue features in narrow-band endoscopic imaging. *J Biomed Opt* 2004; 9: 568-577 [PMID: 15189095 DOI: 10.1117/1.1695563]
- 3 Kuznetsov K, Lambert R, Rey JF. Narrow-band imaging: potential and limitations. *Endoscopy* 2006; **38**: 76-81 [PMID: 16429359 DOI: 10.1055/s-2005-921114]
- 4 Sharma P, Wani S, Bansal A, Hall S, Puli S, Mathur S, Rastogi A. A feasibility trial of narrow band imaging endoscopy in patients with gastroesophageal reflux disease. *Gastroenterology* 2007; 133: 454-464; quiz 674 [PMID: 17681166 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.06.006]
- 5 Fock KM, Teo EK, Ang TL, Tan JY, Law NM. The utility of narrow band imaging in improving the endoscopic diagnosis of gastroesophageal reflux disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2009; 7: 54-59 [PMID: 18852068 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2008.08.030]
- 6 Yoshida T, Inoue H, Usui S, Satodate H, Fukami N, Kudo SE. Narrow-band imaging system with magnifying endoscopy for superficial esophageal lesions. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2004; 59: 288-295 [PMID: 14745410 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5107(03)02532-X]
- 7 Arima M, Tada M, Arima H. Evaluation of microvascular patterns of superficial esophageal cancers by magnifying endoscopy. *Esophagus* 2005; 2: 191-197 [DOI: 10.1007/s10388-005-0060-6]
- 8 Endo T, Awakawa T, Takahashi H, Arimura Y, Itoh F, Yamashita K, Sasaki S, Yamamoto H, Tang X, Imai K. Classification of Barrett's epithelium by magnifying endoscopy. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2002; 55: 641-647 [PMID: 11979244 DOI: 10.1067/mge.2002.123420]
- 9 Guelrud M, Herrera I, Essenfeld H, Castro J. Enhanced magnification endoscopy: a new technique to identify specialized intestinal metaplasia in Barrett's esophagus. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2001; **53**: 559-565 [PMID: 11323579 DOI: 10.1067/ mge.2001.114059]
- 10 Sharma P, Weston AP, Topalovski M, Cherian R, Bhattacharyya A, Sampliner RE. Magnification chromoendoscopy for the detection of intestinal metaplasia and dysplasia in Barrett's oesophagus. *Gut* 2003; 52: 24-27 [PMID: 12477754 DOI: 10.1136/gut.52.1.24]
- 11 Kara MA, Peters FP, Rosmolen WD, Krishnadath KK, ten Kate FJ, Fockens P, Bergman JJ. High-resolution endoscopy plus chromoendoscopy or narrow-band imaging in Barrett's esophagus: a prospective randomized crossover study. *Endoscopy* 2005; 37: 929-936 [PMID: 16189764 DOI: 10.1055/s-2005-870433]
- 12 Kara MA, Ennahachi M, Fockens P, ten Kate FJ, Bergman JJ. Detection and classification of the mucosal and vascular patterns (mucosal morphology) in Barrett's esophagus by using narrow band imaging. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2006; 64: 155-166 [PMID: 16860062 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2005.11.049]
- 13 Sharma P, Bansal A, Mathur S, Wani S, Cherian R, McGregor D, Higbee A, Hall S, Weston A. The utility of a novel narrow band imaging endoscopy system in patients with Barrett's esophagus. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2006; 64: 167-175 [PMID: 16860063 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2005.10.044]
- 14 Singh R, Anagnostopoulos GK, Yao K, Karageorgiou H, Fortun PJ, Shonde A, Garsed K, Kaye PV, Hawkey CJ, Ragunath K. Narrow-band imaging with magnification in Barrett's esophagus: validation of a simplified grading system of mucosal morphology patterns against histology. *Endoscopy* 2008; 40: 457-463 [PMID: 18459090 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-995741]
- 15 Alvarez Herrero L, Curvers WL, Bansal A, Wani S, Kara M, Schenk E, Schoon EJ, Lynch CR, Rastogi A, Pondugula K, Weusten B, Sharma P, Bergman JJ. Zooming in on Barrett

oesophagus using narrow-band imaging: an international observer agreement study. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2009; **21**: 1068-1075 [PMID: 19318970 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.0b013e3283271e87]

- 16 Silva FB, Dinis-Ribeiro M, Vieth M, Rabenstein T, Goda K, Kiesslich R, Haringsma J, Edebo A, Toth E, Soares J, Areia M, Lundell L, Marschall HU. Endoscopic assessment and grading of Barrett's esophagus using magnification endoscopy and narrowband imaging: accuracy and interobserver agreement of different classification systems (with videos). *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 73: 7-14 [PMID: 21184868 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.09.023]
- 17 Thomas T, Singh R, Ragunath K. Trimodal imaging-assisted endoscopic mucosal resection of early Barrett's neoplasia. *Surg Endosc* 2009; 23: 1609-1613 [PMID: 19296171 DOI: 10.1007/ s00464-009-0429-z]
- 18 Tahara T, Shibata T, Nakamura M, Yoshioka D, Okubo M, Arisawa T, Hirata I. Gastric mucosal pattern by using magnifying narrow-band imaging endoscopy clearly distinguishes histological and serological severity of chronic gastritis. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2009; 70: 246-253 [PMID: 19386303 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2008.11.046]
- 19 Uedo N, Ishihara R, Iishi H, Yamamoto S, Yamamoto S, Yamada T, Imanaka K, Takeuchi Y, Higashino K, Ishiguro S, Tatsuta M. A new method of diagnosing gastric intestinal metaplasia: narrow-band imaging with magnifying endoscopy. *Endoscopy* 2006; 38: 819-824 [PMID: 17001572 DOI: 10.1055/s-2006-944632]
- 20 Tahara T, Shibata T, Nakamura M, Yoshioka D, Arisawa T, Hirata I. Light blue crest sign, a favorable marker for predicting the severity of gastric atrophy in the entire stomach. *Endoscopy* 2008; 40: 880; author reply 881 [PMID: 18828092 DOI: 10.1055/ s-2008-1077582]
- 21 Dinis-Ribeiro M, Areia M, de Vries AC, Marcos-Pinto R, Monteiro-Soares M, O'Connor A, Pereira C, Pimentel-Nunes P, Correia R, Ensari A, Dumonceau JM, Machado JC, Macedo G, Malfertheiner P, Matysiak-Budnik T, Megraud F, Miki K, O' Morain C, Peek RM, Ponchon T, Ristimaki A, Rembacken B, Carneiro F, Kuipers EJ. Management of precancerous conditions and lesions in the stomach (MAPS): guideline from the European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE), European Helicobacter Study Group (EHSG), European Society of Pathology (ESP), and the Sociedade Portuguesa de Endoscopia Digestiva (SPED). *Endoscopy* 2012; 44: 74-94 [PMID: 22198778 DOI: 10.1055/s-0031-1291491]
- 22 Pimentel-Nunes P, Dinis-Ribeiro M, Soares JB, Marcos-Pinto R, Santos C, Rolanda C, Bastos RP, Areia M, Afonso L, Bergman J, Sharma P, Gotoda T, Henrique R, Moreira-Dias L. A multicenter validation of an endoscopic classification with narrow band imaging for gastric precancerous and cancerous lesions. *Endoscopy* 2012; 44: 236-246 [PMID: 22294194 DOI: 10.1055/ s-0031-1291537]
- 23 Okada K, Fujisaki J, Kasuga A, Omae M, Hirasawa T, Ishiyama A, Inamori M, Chino A, Yamamoto Y, Tsuchida T, Nakajima A, Hoshino E, Igarashi M. Diagnosis of undifferentiated type early gastric cancers by magnification endoscopy with narrow-band imaging. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011; 26: 1262-1269 [PMID: 21443667 DOI: 10.1111/j.]
- Kawamura M, Abe S, Oikawa K, Terai S, Saito M, Shibuya D, Kato K, Shimada T, Uedo N, Masuda T. Topographic differences in gastric micromucosal patterns observed by magnifying endoscopy with narrow band imaging. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011; 26: 477-483 [PMID: 21155881 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2010.06527. x]
- 25 Kobayashi M, Takeuchi M, Ajioka Y, Hashimoto S, Sato A, Narisawa R, Aoyagi Y. Mucin phenotype and narrow-band imaging with magnifying endoscopy for differentiated-type mucosal gastric cancer. J Gastroenterol 2011; 46: 1064-1070 [PMID: 21667151 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-011-0418-6]
- 26 Kato M, Kaise M, Yonezawa J, Toyoizumi H, Yoshimura N, Yoshida Y, Kawamura M, Tajiri H. Magnifying endoscopy with

### Boeriu A et al. Narrow-band imaging in gastrointestinal lesions

narrow-band imaging achieves superior accuracy in the differential diagnosis of superficial gastric lesions identified with white-light endoscopy: a prospective study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010; **72**: 523-529 [PMID: 20598685 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.04.041]

- 27 Kaise M, Kato M, Urashima M, Arai Y, Kaneyama H, Kanzazawa Y, Yonezawa J, Yoshida Y, Yoshimura N, Yamasaki T, Goda K, Imazu H, Arakawa H, Mochizuki K, Tajiri H. Magnifying endoscopy combined with narrow-band imaging for differential diagnosis of superficial depressed gastric lesions. *Endoscopy* 2009; 41: 310-315 [PMID: 19340733 DOI: 10.1055/s-0028-1119639]
- 28 Yao K, Anagnostopoulos GK, Ragunath K. Magnifying endoscopy for diagnosing and delineating early gastric cancer. *Endoscopy* 2009; 41: 462-467 [PMID: 19418401 DOI: 10.1055/ s-0029-1214594]
- 29 Yamada S, Doyama H, Yao K, Uedo N, Ezoe Y, Oda I, Kaneko K, Kawahara Y, Yokoi C, Sugiura Y, Ishikawa H, Takeuchi Y, Saito Y, Muto M. An efficient diagnostic strategy for small, depressed early gastric cancer with magnifying narrow-band imaging: a post-hoc analysis of a prospective randomized controlled trial. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2014; **79**: 55-63 [PMID: 23932092 DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2013.07.008]
- 30 Ezoe Y, Muto M, Uedo N, Doyama H, Yao K, Oda I, Kaneko K, Kawahara Y, Yokoi C, Sugiura Y, Ishikawa H, Takeuchi Y, Kaneko Y, Saito Y. Magnifying narrowband imaging is more accurate than conventional white-light imaging in diagnosis of gastric mucosal cancer. *Gastroenterology* 2011; **141**: 2017-2025.e3 [PMID: 21856268 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.08.007]
- 31 Hayee B, Inoue H, Sato H, Santi EG, Yoshida A, Onimaru M, Ikeda H, Kudo SE. Magnification narrow-band imaging for the diagnosis of early gastric cancer: a review of the Japanese literature for the Western endoscopist. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; **78**: 452-461 [PMID: 23632326 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.03.1333]
- 32 Yao K, Iwashita A, Tanabe H, Nishimata N, Nagahama T, Maki S, Takaki Y, Hirai F, Hisabe T, Nishimura T, Matsui T. White opaque substance within superficial elevated gastric neoplasia as visualized by magnification endoscopy with narrow-band imaging: a new optical sign for differentiating between adenoma and carcinoma. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2008; 68: 574-580 [PMID: 18656862 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2008.04.011]
- 33 Nakayoshi T, Tajiri H, Matsuda K, Kaise M, Ikegami M, Sasaki H. Magnifying endoscopy combined with narrow band imaging system for early gastric cancer: correlation of vascular pattern with histopathology (including video). *Endoscopy* 2004; **36**: 1080-1084 [PMID: 15578298 DOI: 10.1055/s-2004-825961]
- 34 Li HY, Dai J, Xue HB, Zhao YJ, Chen XY, Gao YJ, Song Y, Ge ZZ, Li XB. Application of magnifying endoscopy with narrowband imaging in diagnosing gastric lesions: a prospective study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **76**: 1124-1132 [PMID: 23025977 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2012.08.015]
- 35 Yagi K, Saka A, Nozawa Y, Nakamura A, Umezu H. Prediction of submucosal gastric cancer by narrow-band imaging magnifying endoscopy. *Dig Liver Dis* 2014; 46: 187-190 [PMID: 24157380 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2013.09.003]
- 36 Nagahama T, Yao K, Maki S, Yasaka M, Takaki Y, Matsui T, Tanabe H, Iwashita A, Ota A. Usefulness of magnifying endoscopy with narrow-band imaging for determining the horizontal extent of early gastric cancer when there is an unclear margin by chromoendoscopy (with video). *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 74: 1259-1267 [PMID: 22136775 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.09.005]
- 37 Kudo S, Tamura S, Nakajima T, Yamano H, Kusaka H, Watanabe H. Diagnosis of colorectal tumorous lesions by magnifying endoscopy. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1996; 44: 8-14 [PMID: 8836710 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5107(96)70222-5]
- 38 Sano Y, Horimatsu T, Fu IK, Katagiri A, Muto M, Ishikawa H. Magnifying observation of microvascular architecture of colorectal lesions using a narrow band imaging system. *Dig Endosc* 2006; 18 Suppl 1: S44-51 [DOI: 10.1111/j.1443-1661.2006.00621.x]

- 39 Singh R, Owen V, Shonde A, Kaye P, Hawkey C, Ragunath K. White light endoscopy, narrow band imaging and chromoendoscopy with magnification in diagnosing colorectal neoplasia. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2009; 1: 45-50 [PMID: 21160650 DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v1.i1.45]
- 40 Hewett DG, Kaltenbach T, Sano Y, Tanaka S, Saunders BP, Ponchon T, Soetikno R, Rex DK. Validation of a simple classification system for endoscopic diagnosis of small colorectal polyps using narrow-band imaging. *Gastroenterology* 2012; 143: 599-607.e1 [PMID: 22609383 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.05.006]
- 41 Hayashi N, Tanaka S, Hewett DG, Kaltenbach TR, Sano Y, Ponchon T, Saunders BP, Rex DK, Soetikno RM. Endoscopic prediction of deep submucosal invasive carcinoma: validation of the narrow-band imaging international colorectal endoscopic (NICE) classification. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; **78**: 625-632 [PMID: 23910062 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.04.185]
- 42 Ignjatovic A, East JE, Suzuki N, Vance M, Guenther T, Saunders BP. Optical diagnosis of small colorectal polyps at routine colonoscopy (Detect InSpect ChAracterise Resect and Discard; Discard trial): a prospective cohort study. *Lancet Oncol* 2009; 10: 1171-1178 [DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70329-8]
- 43 Gupta N, Bansal A, Rao D, Early DS, Jonnalagadda S, Edmundowicz SA, Sharma P, Rastogi A. Accuracy of in vivo optical diagnosis of colon polyp histology by narrow-band imaging in predicting colonoscopy surveillance intervals. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **75**: 494-502 [PMID: 22032847 DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2011.08.002]
- 44 Hewett DG, Huffman ME, Rex DK. Leaving distal colorectal hyperplastic polyps in place can be achieved with high accuracy by using narrow-band imaging: an observational study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **76**: 374-380 [PMID: 22695207 DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2012.04.446]
- 45 Rex DK, Kahi C, O'Brien M, Levin TR, Pohl H, Rastogi A, Burgart L, Imperiale T, Ladabaum U, Cohen J, Lieberman DA. The American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy PIVI (Preservation and Incorporation of Valuable Endoscopic Innovations) on real-time endoscopic assessment of the histology of diminutive colorectal polyps. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 73: 419-422 [PMID: 21353837 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.01.023]
- 46 Ladabaum U, Fioritto A, Mitani A, Desai M, Kim JP, Rex DK, Imperiale T, Gunaratnam N. Real-time optical biopsy of colon polyps with narrow band imaging in community practice does not yet meet key thresholds for clinical decisions. *Gastroenterology* 2013; 144: 81-91 [PMID: 23041328 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.09.054]
- 47 Repici A, Hassan C, Radaelli F, Occhipinti P, De Angelis C, Romeo F, Paggi S, Saettone S, Cisarò F, Spaander M, Sharma P, Kuipers EJ. Accuracy of narrow-band imaging in predicting colonoscopy surveillance intervals and histology of distal diminutive polyps: results from a multicenter, prospective trial. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; **78**: 106-114 [PMID: 23582472 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.01.035]
- 48 Rastogi A. Real-time histology of colon polyps--is it ready for prime time? *Endoscopy* 2012; 44: 889-891 [PMID: 22987213 DOI: 10.1055/s-0032-1325696]
- 49 Kimura T, Yamamoto E, Yamano HO, Suzuki H, Kamimae S, Nojima M, Sawada T, Ashida M, Yoshikawa K, Takagi R, Kato R, Harada T, Suzuki R, Maruyama R, Kai M, Imai K, Shinomura Y, Sugai T, Toyota M. A novel pit pattern identifies the precursor of colorectal cancer derived from sessile serrated adenoma. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2012; **107**: 460-469 [PMID: 22233696 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2011.457]
- 50 Kumar S, Fioritto A, Mitani A, Desai M, Gunaratnam N, Ladabaum U. Optical biopsy of sessile serrated adenomas: do these lesions resemble hyperplastic polyps under narrow-band imaging? *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; **78**: 902-909 [PMID: 23849819 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.06.004]

Boeriu A et al. Narrow-band imaging in gastrointestinal lesions

- 51 **Terdiman JP**, McQuaid KR. Surveillance guidelines should be updated to recognize the importance of serrated polyps. *Gastroenterology* 2010; **139**: 1444-1447 [PMID: 20875785 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.09.024]
- 52 Patel SG, Rastogi A, Austin G, Hall M, Siller BA, Berman K,

Yen R, Bansal A, Ahnen DJ, Wani S. Gastroenterology trainees can easily learn histologic characterization of diminutive colorectal polyps with narrow band imaging. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2013; **11**: 997-1003.e1 [PMID: 23466714 DOI: 10.1016/ j.cgh.2013.02.020]

P- Reviewer: Amornyotin S, Rabago L, Shah OJ, Yokoyama Y S- Editor: Song XX L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang DN







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v7.i2.121 World J Gastrointest Endosc 2015 February 16; 7(2): 121-127 ISSN 1948-5190 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

MINIREVIEWS

# Circumstance of endoscopic and laparoscopic treatments for gastric cancer in Japan: A review of epidemiological studies using a national administrative database

### Atsuhiko Murata, Shinya Matsuda

Atsuhiko Murata, Shinya Matsuda, Department of Preventive Medicine and Community Health, School of Medicine, University of Occupational and Environmental Health, Yahatanishi-ku, Kitakyushu 807-8555, Japan

Author contributions: Murata A and Matsuda S contributed to this paper.

Conflict-of-interest: All authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Atsuhiko Murata, MD, PhD, Department of Preventive Medicine and Community Health, School of Medicine, University of Occupational and Environmental Health, 1-1 Iseigaoka, Yahatanishi-ku, Kitakyushu 807-8555,

Japan. amurata@med.uoeh-u.ac.jp Telephone: +81-93-6917244 Fax: +81-93-6034307 Received: June 16, 2014 Peer-review started: June 16, 2014 First decision: July 17, 2014 Revised: November 10, 2014 Accepted: November 27, 2014 Article in press: December 1, 2014 Published online: February 16, 2015

### Abstract

Currently, endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) and laparoscopic gastrectomy (LG) have become widely accepted and increasingly play important roles in the treatment of gastric cancer. Data from an administrative database associated with the diagnosis procedure combination (DPC) system have revealed some circumstances of ESD and LG in Japan. Some studies demonstrated that medical costs or length of stay of patients receiving ESD for gastric cancer had become significantly reduced while length of hospitalization and costs were significantly increased in older patients. With respect to LG, some recent reports have shown that this has been a cost-beneficial treatment for patients compared with open gastrectomy while simultaneous LG and cholecystectomy is a safe procedure for patients with both gastric cancer and gallbladder stones. These epidemiological studies using the administrative database in the DPC system closely reflect clinical circumstances of endoscopic and surgical treatment for gastric cancer in Japan. However, DPC database does not contain detailed clinical data such as histological types and lesion size of gastric cancer. The link between the DPC database and another detailed clinical database may be vital for future research into endoscopic and laparoscopic treatments for gastric cancer.

Key words: Gastric cancer; Endoscopic submucosal dissection; Laparoscopic gastrectomy; Diagnosis Procedure Combination; Administrative database; Epidemiological studies

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** Currently, endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) and laparoscopic gastrectomy (LG) have become accepted for treatment of gastric cancer and increasingly played important roles on the treatments of gastric cancer in Japan. Using the database on national administrative database associated with the diagnosis procedure combination (DPC) system, the various studies with regards to ESD and LG for gastric cancer have been revealed. We herein describe the circumstance of ESD and LG for gastric cancer of ESD and LG for gastric cancer of ESD and LG for gastric cancer in Japan based on reports using Japanese administrative database associated in the DPC system in this review.

Murata A, Matsuda S. Circumstance of endoscopic and laparoscopic treatments for gastric cancer in Japan: A review of epidemiological studies using a national administrative database. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2015; 7(2): 121-127 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v7/i2/121. htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v7.i2.121

### INTRODUCTION

Gastric cancer is one of the most frequent cancers and causes of cancer-related deaths<sup>[1,2]</sup>. Although a trend of declining incidence has been observed, gastric cancer still causes a great health care burden<sup>[3]</sup>. According to the report by the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare of Japan (MHLW), roughly 50000 Japanese people die due to gastric cancer annually, representing 15% of cancer-related deaths<sup>[2]</sup>. Therefore, health care policies for gastric cancer are increasingly focused on detection and treatment in the early stage because the 5-year cancer survival in the early stage of gastric cancer has been reported to be greater than 90%<sup>[4,5]</sup>. Almost half of gastric cancers have been discovered at an early stage because of early detection measures<sup>[6]</sup>.

Regarding the endoscopic treatments for early gastric cancer, endoscopic mucosal resection (EMR) was standard practice<sup>[6]</sup>. However, significant progress in endoscopic treatment has contributed to more effective resection of early gastric cancer. Endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) has achieved a high rate of histologically curative en bloc resection for early gastric cancer regardless of size, permitting the resection of previously non-resectable tumors. The ESD technique has spread rapidly owing to its excellent eradication rate compared with EMR<sup>[6-8]</sup>. ESD is recognized as an established endoscopic therapy for the treatment of early gastric cancer<sup>[8-10]</sup>.

Although almost early gastric cancers can be treated by ESD, the number of surgical operation for gastric cancer still remains high. Also in the field of surgical treatments, recent advances have allowed more effective and safe procedure for gastric cancer. Laparoscopic gastrectomy (LG) is significantly less invasive than open gastrectomy (OG), with lower mortality and morbidity rates<sup>[11-13]</sup>. Furthermore, LG is now performed not only as distal gastrectomy but also as proximal and total gastrectomy<sup>[11-13]</sup>. Currently, LG has been accepted for the treatment of gastric cancer, with the number of patients requiring this surgical procedure increasing in Japan, as well as other developed countries<sup>[13-15]</sup>.

Currently, endoscopic and laparoscopic treatments such as ESD and LG are increasingly playing important roles for the treatment of gastric cancer. In this review, we report the circumstances of ESD and LG for gastric cancer in Japan, based on reports using Japanese administrative database associated with the diagnosis procedure combination (DPC) system.

### ADMINISTRATIVE DATABASE ASSOCIATED WITH THE DPC SYSTEM

### History of the DPC system

The health care system of Japan has severe problems owing to the expense of new medical technology and extended hospitalizations of patients<sup>[16]</sup>. To solve these problems, the MHLW started to investigate whether the case-mix classification system can be adopted to standardize medical profiling and payment<sup>[16-20]</sup>. In 2003, Japanese case-mix projects based on the DPC system were introduced to 80 university and 2 national hospitals.

DPC participating hospitals have adopted a unique reimbursement system, whereby the paid medical treatment fees become proportionally higher as the length of stay (LOS) becomes shorter. Therefore, a shorter hospitalization leads to an increase in income for the hospitals. Furthermore, payment per hospitalization is strictly determined by the DPC payment system. Currently, the number of DPC-participating hospitals has been increasing. Enormous amounts of data on hospitalization of patients have been collected annually, covering roughly 55% of the total hospitalizations, according to the report from the MHLW in 2014<sup>[21]</sup>.

### Component of data in the DPC system

This system collects important data during hospitalization in addition to the characteristics of the unique reimbursement system. Each patient's background information or discharge summary, which includes principal diagnosis, complications, comorbidities, and outcomes are recorded in the administrative database associated with the DPC system. These patient data are coded using the International Classification of Diseases and Injuries 10<sup>th</sup> Revision (ICD-10<sup>th</sup>) code. Also, this database includes the hospital information, number and date of clinical procedures, such as operations or drug therapies that are indexed in the original code determined by the MHLW<sup>[16-20]</sup>. Detailed contents of data in the database of the DPC system are shown in Table 1<sup>[22]</sup>.

### Collection and use of DPC data

Comprehensive surveys of DPC-participating hospitals are conducted by the DPC research group that has worked on the DPC data utilization project for research purposes, independently of the MHLW. DPCparticipating hospitals sent the anonymized and provided detailed data to the DPC research group, which then sent to the server in the DPC research group. Using the sent data from DPC-participating hospitals, many studies have been reported in the various fields of medical research<sup>[16-20,23-26]</sup>.

Table 1 Contents of data in the national administrative database <sup>[22]</sup>
Hospital information
Location of hospital
Number of beds
Patient background information
Age
Sex
Zip code
Diagnoses
Main diagnoses (coded with International Classification of Diseases
and Injuries 10 <sup>th</sup> Revision
(ICD-10 <sup>an</sup> ) code)
Main diagnoses (coded with the ICD-10 <sup>th</sup> codes)
Complications after admission (coded with the ICD-10 <sup>th</sup> codes)
Procedures for patients
Surgery, anesthesia and other procedures (coded with the Japanese
original codes)
Drugs and devices (coded with the Japanese original codes)
Dates of each procedure
Dates of use for each drug and device
Admission and discharge data
Dates of admission and discharges length of stay
Discharge status (discharge to home, rehabilitation hospital or other
facility or death)
Claim data
Total charge
Itemized charges for hospitalization, medication, examination,
surgery and others
Other clinical data
Height/body weight
Smoking index
Pregnancy
Japan Coma Scale at admission
TNM classification of malignant tumors
Activity of Daily Living scale
Modified Rankin scale
Hugh-Jones classification of respiratory status
New York Heart Association classification of heart failure symptoms
Canadian Cardiovascular Society classification of angina pectoris
Killip classification of acute myocardial infarction
Severity classification of community-acquired pneumonia
Child-Pugh classification of liver cirrhosis
Severity classification of acute pancreatitis
Burn index
Global Assessment of Functioning scale

### EPIDEMIOLOGICAL STUDIES ON ESD FOR GASTRIC CANCER USING DPC DATABASE

### ESD for gastric cancer (Table 2)

**Time trend of outcomes of ESD in Japan:** According to the report about the time trend of outcomes of ESD in Japan, the rate of ESD-related complications was stable (3.2% in 2009 *vs* 3.5% in 2010 *vs* 3.3% in 2011, P = 0.496) between 2009 and  $2011^{[27]}$ . In the early 2000s, some clinical studies in single centers reported that the complication rate of ESD was from 5% to  $8\%^{[28,29]}$ . However, the complication rate of ESD based on an administrative database was approximately 3% between 2009 and 2011, which

indicated that complications of ESD remained low. Therefore, the decrease in complication rates may suggest that the number of experienced endoscopists has been increasing between the early and late 2000s, and their technical skill level in ESD has been favorably stable from 2009 to 2011. In addition, the LOS and medical costs of patients had become significantly reduced in Japan (10.5 d in 2009 *vs* 9.8 d in 2010 *vs* 9.5 d in 2011 and 6768.4 US dollars in 2009 *vs* 6507.7 US dollars in 2010 *vs* 6427.6 US dollars in 2011; *P* < 0.001, respectively)<sup>[27]</sup>. The efficiency of ESD for gastric cancer as well as stable technical skills has been progressing in Japan.

Outcomes of ESD in high-volume hospitals: With respect to the report about hospital characteristics such as hospital volume, ESD-related complications were significantly lower in higher-volume hospitals (> 100 cases between 2009 and 2011) than lower-(< 50 cases) or medium-volume hospitals (50-100 cases) in upper gastric cancer (6.5% in lower-volume hospitals vs 5.2% in medium-volume hospitals vs 3.4% in higher-volume hospitals; P = 0.017)<sup>[30]</sup>. Multivariate logistic regression analysis also revealed that high-volume hospitals were significantly associated with a decrease of relative risk of ESD-related complications in upper gastric cancer [odds ratio (OR) for higher-volume hospitals 0.51; 95% confidence interval (CI), 0.32-0.81, P = 0.005]. Meanwhile, no significant differences for ESD-related complications were seen for middle and lower gastric cancers among the different hospital volume categories (P  $> 0.05)^{[30]}$ . Some previous studies also pointed out that a higher skill level with ESD is required for upper gastric cancers than for middle or lower gastric cancers<sup>[31-33]</sup>. Higher volume hospitals were more likely to have experienced endoscopists can provide sufficient treatment, which significantly contributed to fewer complications or shorter LOS<sup>[34,35]</sup>. Thus, it is reasonable that the decreases in ESD-related complications and in LOS of patients with upper gastric cancer were observed at higher-volume hospitals.

Comparison between non-elderly and elderly patients treated by ESD: A comparison between elderly (80 years or more) and non-elderly patients (less than 80 years) regarding outcome of ESD was also reported<sup>[36]</sup>. A recent study revealed that there was no statistically difference with regard to ESDrelated complications (3.9% vs 4.3%, P = 0.152)<sup>[36]</sup>. The findings about complications of ESD has been consistent with those of some previous studies in Japan<sup>[37,38]</sup>. Kakushima *et al*<sup>[37]</sup> showed that the complication rate of ESD in elderly patients was not significantly different from that in non-elderly patients, while Tokioka et al<sup>[38]</sup> also reported that the occurrences of perforations during ESD were similar in non-elderly and elderly patients. However, length of hospitalization and direct costs during hospitalization

	No. of patients	No. of hospitals	Study period	Investigated outcomes		
Endoscopic submucosal dissection						
Murata <i>et al</i> <sup>[27]</sup>	32943	907	2009-2011	Complications, length of stay, and medical costs		
Murata <i>et al</i> <sup>[30]</sup>	27385	867	2009-2011	Complications and length of stay		
Murata <i>et al</i> <sup>[36]</sup>	27385	867	2009-2011	Complications, length of stay, and medical costs		
Laparoscopic gastrectomy						
Yasunaga <i>et al</i> <sup>[40]</sup>	9388	805	2010	Complications, length of stay, medical costs, in-hospital mortality		
				and 30-d readmission rates		
Kuwabara <i>et al</i> <sup>[41]</sup>	17761	258	2006-2008	Length of hospital stay, medical costs and operative time		
Murata <i>et al</i> <sup>[42]</sup>	14006	744	2009-2011	Complications, length of stay, medical costs and in-hospital		
				mortality		
Kuwabara <i>et al</i> <sup>[46]</sup>	3054	420	2007	Complications and operative time		
Kuwabara <i>et al</i> <sup>[47]</sup>	3914	258	2006-2008	Complications, length of stay, medical costs, in-hospital mortality		
				and blood transfusions		
Ryu et al <sup>[48]</sup>	209	5	2007-2008	Length of hospital stay (pre and post operative) and duration of		
				antibiotic administration and post operative fasting		

were significantly increased in elderly patients requiring ESD for gastric cancer, compared with non-elderly patients (12.2 d vs 9.3 d and 7346.3 US dollars vs 6295.6 US dollars; P < 0.001, respectively). The growing life expectancy and an aging population will unavoidably lead to an increasing number of elderly patients in Japan<sup>[39]</sup>. Therefore, providing appropriate care in endoscopic treatments for elderly patients is becoming significantly important in Japan. More efficient medical implementation for elderly patients with gastric cancer treated with ESD will be required in the future.

### LG for gastric cancer

Comparison between LG and OG for gastric cancer: Using the data in 2010, Yasunaga et al<sup>[40]</sup> reported that patients treated by LG had shorter LOS compared with those with OG (13 d vs 15 d, P < 0.001) while no significant difference was observed in mortality and occurrence of postoperative complications (LG vs OG, 0.36% vs 0.28%, P = 0.80 and 12.9% *vs* 12.6%, P = 0.73, respectively). Kuwabara *et al*<sup>[41]</sup> also reported that LG offered a significant economic advantage over OG (14405 US dollars vs 17260 US dollars, P < 0.001). These results show that LG has been a beneficial treatment for patients who require surgical resection for gastric cancer.

Influence of additional laparoscopic cho-lecystectomy on outcomes of LG for gastric cancer: A recent report revealed that adding laparoscopic cholecystectomy did not influence to outcomes of patients undergoing LG for gastric cancer (OR for laparoscopyrelated complications 1.02, 95%CI: 0.84-1.24, P = 0.788 and OR for in-hospital mortality 1.16, 95%CI:  $0.49-2.76, P = 0.727)^{[42]}$ . These results have been consistent with previous studies in other developed countries<sup>[43,44]</sup>. The greater surgeon's experience and continuing technical progress for laparoscopic resection has resulted in expanded indications in Japan<sup>[42]</sup>. Besides, there has been an increase in the types of surgical operations together with laparoscopic procedure, and the number of surgeons interested in simultaneous laparoscopic procedures has increased<sup>[45]</sup>. Thus these results indicate that the combined LG and cholecystectomy is safe procedure for patients with both gastric cancer and gallbladder stones.

Impact of hospitals and regional differences for outcomes of LG for gastric cancer in Japan: With regard to hospital characteristics in LG for gastric cancer, several studies reported that higher-volume hospitals had shorter operation times and postoperative LOS of patients compared with low case-volume hospitals<sup>[46,47]</sup>. In an analysis of regional differences in LG for gastric cancer, Ryu et al<sup>[48]</sup> reported that there were significant differences with respect to rate of laparoscopic resection or duration of antibiotic administration between cancer centers of different regions. In addition, their report revealed that significant variation in pre- or postoperative LOS was observed between hospitals. Such reports could contribute to the quality of medical care for patients, which could have significant implications for decision making of health care policy in Japan.

### ADVANTAGE OF EPIDEMIOLOGICAL STUDIES USING DPC DATABASE

Unlike the single center study, these studies have been conducted based on a nationally representative sample of patients in a community setting. One of the advantages of the clinical epidemiological studies using DPC data is that they facilitated evaluation of a large sample of patients in unbiased manner<sup>[16-20]</sup>. Usually, ESD and LG are performed in hospitals that have more experienced endoscopists or surgeons as well as more resources or availa-ble facilities. The DPC participating hospitals play important roles in providing advanced care or me-dical studies, as well as educating students and medical residents<sup>[16-20]</sup>. Furthermore, medical data with regards to proce-



Figure 1 Framework for future clinical epidemiological studies. DPC: Diagnosis procedure combination.

dures or medications have been extensively indexed with original codes<sup>[16-20]</sup>. These data are recorded on a daily basis for each patient<sup>[16-20]</sup>. Therefore, this administrative database also enables to evaluate the clinical outcomes with detailed medical treatments, in particular for medical economic outcomes. The epidemiological studies using the DPC database directly reflect the present circumstances of endoscopic or surgical treatment for gastric cancer in Japan.

### LIMITATIONS OF EPIDEMIOLOGICAL STUDIES USING DPC DATABASE

Some potential limitations of clinical epidemiological studies using DPC data also should be acknowledged. This database does not contain patient data such as lesion size, histological type and staging of gastric cancer. It is reasonable that the lack of these data may influence the results of the studies using the DPC database. In addition, the types of devices for ESD or the kinds of stapling devices used for laparoscopic resection have not been included in the DPC database. Therefore, DPC data may be currently unsuitable to the detailed clinical investigation of ESD and LG for gastric cancer.

### **FUTURE IMPLEMENTATION**

To resolve the lack of detailed clinical data, a link between our database and the other database may be vital for future research about ESD and LG for gastric cancer in Japan. The Japanese Gastric Cancer Association (JGCA) began a project to register patients who were treated by ESD since 2011<sup>[49]</sup>. In addition, some studies has been reported using the data of the National Clinical Database (NCD)<sup>[50,51]</sup>. The results from the database of this project will be useful information for the quality of ESD and LG for gastric cancer in the near future. However, we consider that more valuable information can be produced by a link between our administrative database and the database in this project. For example, the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results program of cancer registries, which is a cancer registry database in the United States, has been linked to the Medicare Claim Database, a payment system for medical services. As a result, many clinical studies have reported using these linked databases<sup>[52]</sup>. Therefore, we believe that a link between our database and the database of the JGCA or NCD may be vital for future research for ESD and LG for gastric cancer in Japan. If this is carried out, more valuable information showing the favorable quality of ESD for gastric cancer can be expected in patients who undergo ESD and LG for gastric cancer (Figure 1).

### CONCLUSION

From recent studies using the national administrat-ive database, the various circumstances of endosco-pic and laparoscopic treatments for gastric cancer are revealed. These findings are useful for future studies of the treatments of gastric cancer, which could in turn have important implications for care of patients with gastric cancer in Japan. However, this administrative database is still lacking detailed clinical data of gastric cancer. The link between the administrative database and the other detailed clinical database may be vital for future research into endoscopic and laparoscopic treatments for gastric cancer in Japan.

### REFERENCES

- Catalano V, Labianca R, Beretta GD, Gatta G, de Braud F, Van Cutsem E. Gastric cancer. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* 2009; 71: 127-164 [PMID: 19230702 DOI: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2009.01.004]
- 2 Lin Y, Ueda J, Kikuchi S, Totsuka Y, Wei WQ, Qiao YL, Inoue M. Comparative epidemiology of gastric cancer between Japan and China. *World J Gastroenterol* 2011; 17: 4421-4428 [PMID: 22110269 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v17.i39.4421]
- 3 Inoue M, Tsugane S. Epidemiology of gastric cancer in Japan. Postgrad Med J 2005; 81: 419-424 [PMID: 15998815 DOI: 10.1136/pgmj.2004.029330]
- 4 Kitano S, Shiraishi N, Uyama I, Sugihara K, Tanigawa N. A multicenter study on oncologic outcome of laparoscopic gastrectomy for early cancer in Japan. *Ann Surg* 2007; 245: 68-72 [PMID: 17197967]
- 5 Uedo N, Takeuchi Y, Ishihara R. Endoscopic management of early gastric cancer: endoscopic mucosal resection or endoscopic submucosal dissection: data from a Japanese high-volume center and literature review. *Ann Gastroenterol* 2012; 25: 281-290 [PMID: 24714247]
- 6 Oka S, Tanaka S, Kaneko I, Mouri R, Hirata M, Kawamura T, Yoshihara M, Chayama K. Advantage of endoscopic submucosal dissection compared with EMR for early gastric cancer. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2006; 64: 877-883 [PMID: 17140890]
- 7 Akahoshi K, Akahane H. A new breakthrough: ESD using a newly developed grasping type scissor forceps for early gastrointestinal tract neoplasms. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2010; 2: 90-96 [PMID: 21160708 DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v2.i3.90]
- 8 Akahoshi K, Akahane H, Motomura Y, Kubokawa M, Itaba S, Komori K, Nakama N, Oya M, Nakamura K. A new approach: endoscopic submucosal dissection using the Clutch Cutter® for early stage digestive tract tumors. *Digestion* 2012; 85: 80-84 [PMID: 22269283 DOI: 10.1159/000334647]
- 9 Białek A, Wiechowska-Kozłowska A, Pertkiewicz J, Karpińska K, Marlicz W, Milkiewicz P, Starzyńska T. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for the treatment of neoplastic lesions in the gastrointestinal tract. *World J Gastroenterol* 2013; 19: 1953-1961 [PMID: 23569341 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i12.1953]
- 10 Herreros de Tejada A. ESD training: A challenging path to excellence. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2014; 6: 112-120 [PMID: 24748918]
- 11 Choi YY, Bae JM, An JY, Hyung WJ, Noh SH. Laparoscopic gastrectomy for advanced gastric cancer: are the long-term results comparable with conventional open gastrectomy? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Surg Oncol* 2013; **108**: 550-556 [PMID: 24115104 DOI: 10.1002/jso.23438]
- Chen K, Xu XW, Mou YP, Pan Y, Zhou YC, Zhang RC, Wu D. Systematic review and meta-analysis of laparoscopic and open gastrectomy for advanced gastric cancer. *World J Surg Oncol* 2013; 11: 182 [PMID: 23927773 DOI: 10.1186/1477-7819-11-182]
- 13 Bencini L, Bernini M, Farsi M. Laparoscopic approach to gastrointestinal malignancies: toward the future with caution. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 1777-1789 [PMID: 24587655 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i7.1777]
- 14 Kodera Y, Fujiwara M, Ohashi N, Nakayama G, Koike M, Morita S, Nakao A. Laparoscopic surgery for gastric cancer: a collective review with meta-analysis of randomized trials. *J Am Coll Surg* 2010; 211: 677-686 [PMID: 20869270 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg .2010.07.013]
- 15 Mamidanna R, Almoudaris AM, Bottle A, Aylin P, Faiz O, Hanna GB. National outcomes and uptake of laparoscopic gastrectomy for cancer in England. *Surg Endosc* 2013; 27: 3348-3358 [PMID: 23612763 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-013-2916-5]
- 16 Murata A, Matsuda S, Mayumi T, Yokoe M, Kuwabara K, Ichimiya Y, Fujino Y, Kubo T, Fujimori K, Horiguchi H. A descriptive study evaluating the circumstances of medical treatment for acute pancreatitis before publication of the new JPN guidelines based on the Japanese administrative database associated with the Diagnosis Procedure Combination system. J Hepatobiliary

Pancreat Sci 2011; 18: 678-683 [PMID: 21431888 DOI: 10.1007/ s00534-011-0375-8]

- Murata A, Matsuda S. Association between ambulance distance to hospitals and mortality from acute diseases in Japan: national database analysis. *J Public Health Manag Pract* 2013; 19: E23-E28 [PMID: 23892384 DOI: 10.1097/PHH.0b013e31828b7150]
- 18 Murata A, Matsuda S, Kuwabara K, Ichimiya Y, Matsuda Y, Kubo T, Fujino Y, Fujimori K, Horiguchi H. Association between hospital volume and outcomes of elderly and non-elderly patients with acute biliary diseases: a national administrative database analysis. *Geriatr Gerontol Int* 2013; 13: 731-740 [PMID: 22985177 DOI: 10.1111/j.1447-0594.2012.00938.x]
- 19 Murata A, Okamoto K, Matsuda S, Kuwabara K, Ichimiya Y, Matsuda Y, Kubo T, Fujino Y. Multivariate analysis of factors influencing length of hospitalization and medical costs of cholecystectomy for acute cholecystitis in Japan: a national database analysis. *Keio J Med* 2013; 62: 83-94 [PMID: 23912168]
- 20 Murata A, Okamoto K, Mayumi T, Maramatsu K, Matsuda S. Age-related differences in outcomes and etiologies of acute abdominal pain based on a national administrative database. *Tohoku J Exp Med* 2014; 233: 9-15 [PMID: 24739505]
- 21 Ministry of Health, Welfare and Labor of Japan. [Accessed May 1, 2014]. Available from: URL: http://www.mhlw.go.jp/file/05-Shingikai-12404000-Hokenkyoku-Iryouka/0000041708.pdf
- 22 The Diagnosis Procedure Combination (DPC) Database. [Accessed May 1, 2014]. Available from: URL: http://plaza.umin.ac.jp/~hmp/ cgi-bin/wiki/wiki.cgi?page=DPCDatabase
- 23 Yamashita K, Ikai H, Nishimura M, Fushimi K, Imanaka Y. Effect of certified training facilities for intensive care specialists on mortality in Japan. *Crit Care Resusc* 2013; 15: 28-32 [PMID: 23432498]
- 24 Fukuda T, Yasunaga H, Horiguchi H, Ohe K, Fushimi K, Matsubara T, Yahagi N. Health care costs related to out-of-hospital cardiopulmonary arrest in Japan. *Resuscitation* 2013; 84: 964-969 [PMID: 23470473 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2013.02.019]
- 25 Nakamura M, Yasunaga H, Haraguchi T, Ando S, Sugihara T, Horiguchi H, Ohe K, Matsuda S, Fushimi K. Length of mechanical restraint following haloperidol injections versus oral atypical antipsychotics for the initial treatment of acute schizophrenia: a propensity-matched analysis from the Japanese diagnosis procedure combination database. *Psychiatry Res* 2013; 209: 412-416 [PMID: 23489593 DOI: 10.1016/j.psychres.2013.02.005]
- 26 Hamada T, Yasunaga H, Nakai Y, Isayama H, Horiguchi H, Matsuda S, Fushimi K, Koike K. Severe bleeding and perforation are rare complications of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration for pancreatic masses: an analysis of 3,090 patients from 212 hospitals. *Gut Liver* 2014; 8: 215-218 [PMID: 24672664 DOI: 10.5009/gnl.2014.8.2.215]
- 27 Murata A, Okamoto K, Muramatsu K, Matsuda S. Time trend of medical economic outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for gastric cancer in Japan: a national database analysis. *Gastric Cancer* 2014; **17**: 294-301 [PMID: 23801338 DOI: 10.1007/ s10120-013-0282-6]
- 28 Saito Y, Uraoka T, Matsuda T, Emura F, Ikehara H, Mashimo Y, Kikuchi T, Fu KI, Sano Y, Saito D. Endoscopic treatment of large superficial colorectal tumors: a case series of 200 endoscopic submucosal dissections (with video). *Gastrointest Endosc* 2007; 66: 966-973 [PMID: 17524403 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2007.02.053]
- 29 Ono H, Hasuike N, Inui T, Takizawa K, Ikehara H, Yamaguchi Y, Otake Y, Matsubayashi H. Usefulness of a novel electrosurgical knife, the insulation-tipped diathermic knife-2, for endoscopic submucosal dissection of early gastric cancer. *Gastric Cancer* 2008; 11: 47-52 [PMID: 18373177 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-008-0452-0]
- 30 Murata A, Okamoto K, Muramatsu K, Matsuda S. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for gastric cancer: the influence of hospital volume on complications and length of stay. *Surg Endosc* 2014; 28: 1298-1306 [PMID: 24337914 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-013-3326-4]
- 31 Yoshinaga S, Gotoda T, Kusano C, Oda I, Nakamura K, Takayanagi R. Clinical impact of endoscopic submucosal dissection for superficial adenocarcinoma located at the esophagogastric junction.

*Gastrointest Endosc* 2008; **67**: 202-209 [PMID: 18226681 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2007.09.054]

- 32 Teoh AY, Chiu PW, Wong SK, Sung JJ, Lau JY, Ng EK. Difficulties and outcomes in starting endoscopic submucosal dissection. *Surg Endosc* 2010; 24: 1049-1054 [PMID: 19911227 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-009-0724-8]
- 33 Sugimoto T, Okamoto M, Mitsuno Y, Kondo S, Ogura K, Ohmae T, Mizuno H, Yoshida S, Isomura Y, Yamaji Y, Kawabe T, Omata M, Koike K. Endoscopic submucosal dissection is an effective and safe therapy for early gastric neoplasms: a multicenter feasible study. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2012; 46: 124-129 [PMID: 21959325 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.0b013e31822f3988]
- 34 Provenzale D, Ofman J, Gralnek I, Rabeneck L, Koff R, McCrory D. Gastroenterologist specialist care and care provided by generalists--an evaluation of effectiveness and efficiency. Am J Gastroenterol 2003; 98: 21-28 [PMID: 12526931]
- 35 Murata A, Matsuda S, Kuwabara K, Fujino Y, Kubo T, Fujimori K, Horiguchi H. Impact of hospital volume on clinical outcomes of endoscopic biliary drainage for acute cholangitis based on the Japanese administrative database associated with the diagnosis procedure combination system. *J Gastroenterol* 2010; **45**: 1090-1096 [PMID: 20502923 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-010-0257-x]
- 36 Murata A, Muramatsu K, Ichimiya Y, Kubo T, Fujino Y, Matsuda S. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for gastric cancer in elderly Japanese patients: an observational study of financial costs of treatment based on a national administrative database. J Dig Dis 2014; 15: 62-70 [PMID: 24127880 DOI: 10.1111/1751-2980.12106]
- 37 Kakushima N, Fujishiro M, Kodashima S, Muraki Y, Tateishi A, Yahagi N, Omata M. Technical feasibility of endoscopic submucosal dissection for gastric neoplasms in the elderly Japanese population. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2007; 22: 311-314 [PMID: 17295759 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2006.04563.x]
- 38 Tokioka S, Umegaki E, Murano M, Takeuchi N, Takeuchi T, Kawakami K, Yoda Y, Kojima Y, Higuchi K. Utility and problems of endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer in elderly patients. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; 27 Suppl 3: 63-69 [PMID: 22486874 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2012.07075.x]
- 39 Yang L, Fujimoto J, Qiu D, Sakamoto N. Trends in cancer mortality in the elderly in Japan, 1970-2007. *Ann Oncol* 2010; 21: 389-396 [PMID: 19622594 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdp303]
- 40 Yasunaga H, Horiguchi H, Kuwabara K, Matsuda S, Fushimi K, Hashimoto H, Ayanian JZ. Outcomes after laparoscopic or open distal gastrectomy for early-stage gastric cancer: a propensitymatched analysis. *Ann Surg* 2013; 257: 640-646 [PMID: 23023204 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e31826fd541]
- 41 Kuwabara K, Matsuda S, Fushimi K, Ishikawa KB, Horiguchi H, Fujimori K, Yasunaga H, Miyata H. Quantitative assessment of the advantages of laparoscopic gastrectomy and the impact of volumerelated hospital characteristics on resource use and outcomes of gastrectomy patients in Japan. *Ann Surg* 2011; 253: 64-70 [PMID: 21116173 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e318204e524]
- 42 Murata A, Okamoto K, Muramatsu K, Kubo T, Fujino Y, Matsuda S. Effects of additional laparoscopic cholecystectomy on outcomes of laparoscopic gastrectomy in patients with gastric cancer based

on a national administrative database. *J Surg Res* 2014; **186**: 157-163 [PMID: 24135376 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2013.09.015]

- 43 Bernini M, Bencini L, Sacchetti R, Marchet A, Cristadoro L, Pacelli F, Berardi S, Doglietto GB, Rosa F, Verlato G, Cozzaglio L, Bechi P, Marrelli D, Roviello F, Farsi M. The Cholegas Study: safety of prophylactic cholecystectomy during gastrectomy for cancer: preliminary results of a multicentric randomized clinical trial. *Gastric Cancer* 2013; 16: 370-376 [PMID: 22948317 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-012-0195-9]
- 44 Lai SL, Yang JC, Wu JM, Lai IR, Chen CN, Lin MT, Lai HS. Combined cholecystectomy in gastric cancer surgery. *Int J Surg* 2013; 11: 305-308 [PMID: 23434939 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2013.02.006]
- 45 Jeong IH, Choi SU, Lee SR, Kim JH, Park JM, Jin SH, Choi EK, Cho YK, Han SU. Outcomes after combined laparoscopic gastrectomy and laparoscopic cholecystectomy in gastric cancer patients. *Eur Surg Res* 2009; 42: 203-208 [PMID: 19270458 DOI: 10.1159/000205974]
- 46 Kuwabara K, Matsuda S, Fushimi K, Ishikawa KB, Horiguchi H, Fujimori K. Hospital volume and quality of laparoscopic gastrectomy in Japan. *Dig Surg* 2009; 26: 422-429 [PMID: 19923832 DOI: 10.1159/000236904]
- 47 Kuwabara K, Matsuda S, Fushimi K, Ishikawa KB, Horiguchi H, Fujimori K. Effect of hospital characteristics on the quality of laparoscopic gastrectomy in Japan. *Gastroenterol Res* 2010; 3: 65-73 [DOI: 10.4021/gr2010.04.189w]
- 48 Ryu M, Hamano M, Nakagawara A, Shinoda M, Shimizu H, Miura T, Yoshida I, Nemoto A, Yoshikawa A. The benchmark analysis of gastric, colorectal and rectal cancer pathways: toward establishing standardized clinical pathway in the cancer care. *Jpn J Clin Oncol* 2011; **41**: 2-9 [PMID: 21196453 DOI: 10.1093/jjco/hyq211]
- 49 Nashimoto A, Akazawa K, Isobe Y, Miyashiro I, Katai H, Kodera Y, Tsujitani S, Seto Y, Furukawa H, Oda I, Ono H, Tanabe S, Kaminishi M. Gastric cancer treated in 2002 in Japan: 2009 annual report of the JGCA nationwide registry. *Gastric Cancer* 2013; 16: 1-27 [PMID: 22729699 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-012-0163-4]
- 50 Kenjo A, Miyata H, Gotoh M, Kitagawa Y, Shimada M, Baba H, Tomita N, Kimura W, Sugihara K, Mori M. Risk stratification of 7,732 hepatectomy cases in 2011 from the National Clinical Database for Japan. *J Am Coll Surg* 2014; 218: 412-422 [PMID: 24468222 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2013.11.007]
- 51 Kimura W, Miyata H, Gotoh M, Hirai I, Kenjo A, Kitagawa Y, Shimada M, Baba H, Tomita N, Nakagoe T, Sugihara K, Mori M. A pancreaticoduodenectomy risk model derived from 8575 cases from a national single-race population (Japanese) using a web-based data entry system: the 30-day and in-hospital mortality rates for pancreaticoduodenectomy. *Ann Surg* 2014; 259: 773-780 [PMID: 24253151 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0000000000263]
- 52 Feuer EJ, Lee M, Mariotto AB, Cronin KA, Scoppa S, Penson DF, Hachey M, Cynkin L, Carter GA, Campbell D, Percy-Laurry A, Zou Z, Schrag D, Hankey BF. The Cancer Survival Query System: making survival estimates from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results program more timely and relevant for recently diagnosed patients. *Cancer* 2012; **118**: 5652-5662 [PMID: 22569947 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.27615]

P- Reviewer: Ding SZ, Sonoda H S- Editor: Ji FF L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang DN







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v7.i2.128 World J Gastrointest Endosc 2015 February 16; 7(2): 128-134 ISSN 1948-5190 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

### **Retrospective Study**

# Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography for suspected choledocholithiasis: From guidelines to clinical practice

### Joana Magalhães, Bruno Rosa, José Cotter

Joana Magalhães, Bruno Rosa, José Cotter, Gastroenterology Department, Centro Hospitalar do Alto Ave, 4835-044 Guimarães, Portugal

José Cotter, Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, 4710-057 Braga, Guimarães, Portugal

José Cotter, ICVS/3B's, PT Government Associate Laboratory, 4710-057 Braga, Guimarães, Portugal

Author contributions: Magalhães J participated in the design of the study, performed data analysis and literature research and drafted the manuscript; Rosa B performed literature research and critically revised the manuscript; Cotter J critically revised the manuscript and approved the final version to be submitted; all the authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Ethics approval: This study was approved by the institutional review board of Centro Hospitalar do Alto Ave, Guimarães, Portugal.

**Informed consent:** All patients provided written consent to undergo endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography and were informed of the risks and potential benefits of the procedure. **Conflict-of-interest:** The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Data sharing: Technical appendix, statistical code, and dataset available from the corresponding author at jmagalhaes@chaa. min-saude.pt. The consent of the participants was not obtained but the presented data are anonymized and risk of identification is low.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Joana Magalhães, MD, Gastroenterology Department, Centro Hospitalar do Alto Ave, Rua dos Cutileiros, Creixomil, 4835-044 Guimarães,

Portugal. jmagalhaes@chaa.min-saude.pt Telephone: +351-253-540330 Fax: +351-253-421308 Received: September 17, 2014 Peer-review started: September 20, 2014 First decision: October 14, 2014 Revised: December 14, 2014 Accepted: December 29, 2014 Article in press: December 31, 2014 Published online: February 16, 2015

### Abstract

**AIM:** To study the practical applicability of the American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy guidelines in suspected cases of choledocholithiasis.

METHODS: This was a retrospective single center study, covering a 4-year period, from January 2010 to December 2013. All patients who underwent endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) for suspected choledocholithiasis were included. Based on the presence or absence of predictors of choledocholithiasis (clinical ascending cholangitis, common bile duct (CBD) stones on ultrasonography (US), total bilirubin > 4 mg/dL, dilated CBD on US, total bilirubin 1.8-4 mg/dL, abnormal liver function test, age > 55 years and gallstone pancreatitis), patients were stratified in low, intermediate or high risk for choledocholithiasis. For each predictor and risk group we used the  $\chi^2$  to evaluate the statistical associations with the presence of choledocolithiasis at ERCP. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 21.0. A P value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

**RESULTS:** A total of 268 ERCPs were performed for suspected choledocholithiasis. Except for gallstone pancreatitis (P = 0.063), all other predictors of cho-



ledocholitiasis (clinical ascending cholangitis, P = 0.001; CBD stones on US,  $P \leq 0.001$ ; total bilirubin > 4 mg/ dL, P = 0.035; total bilirubin 1.8-4 mg/dL, P = 0.001; dilated CBD on US,  $P \leq 0.001$ ; abnormal liver function test, P = 0.012; age > 55 years, P = 0.002) showed a statistically significant association with the presence of choledocholithiasis at ERCP. Approximately four fifths of patients in the high risk group (79.8%, 154/193 patients) had confirmed choledocholithiasis on ERCP, *vs* 34.2% (25/73 patients) and 0 (0/2 patients) in the intermediate and low risk groups, respectively. The definition of "high risk group" had a sensitivity of 86%, positive predictive value 79.8% and specificity 56.2% for the presence of choledocholithiasis at ERCP.

**CONCLUSION:** The guidelines should be considered to optimize patients' selection for ERCP. For high risk patients specificity is still low, meaning that some patients perform ERCP unnecessarily.

**Key words:** Choledocholithiasis; Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography; Cholangitis; Common bile duct stones; Dilated common bile duct

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** The American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ASGE) proposes a stratification of patients according to the risk for choledocholithiasis, influencing subsequent management. Our study shown that the risk stratification, according to ASGE guidelines, may improve risk estimation of choledocholithiasis and should be considered to optimize patients' selection for endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP). However, even in the "high risk group" the specificity was low. Thus, at this point, it seems advisable that also "high risk" patients undergo further testing before being submitted to ERCP, similarly to those patients with "intermediate risk", while for patients with "low-risk" of choledocholithiasis a watchful waiting strategy seems adequate.

Magalhães J, Rosa B, Cotter J. Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography for suspected choledocholithiasis: From guidelines to clinical practice. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2015; 7(2): 128-134 Available from: URL: http://www. wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v7/i2/128.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.4253/wjge.v7.i2.128

### INTRODUCTION

Choledocholithiasis is the most common cause of biliary obstruction. Approximately 5% to 22% of the Western population has gallstones<sup>[1]</sup> and common bile duct stones occur in 8%-20%<sup>[2,3]</sup> of those patients. Patients suspected of having choledocholithiasis are

diagnosed with a combination of laboratory tests and imaging studies<sup>[4]</sup>. The first imaging study obtained is typically a transabdominal ultrasonography (US). When the ultrasound findings are not enough for a diagnosis a magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography (MRCP) or an endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) should be considered.

The diagnosis of choledocholithiasis usually should be followed by some therapeutic intervention to remove the stones<sup>[4-7]</sup>. Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) is the standard method for the diagnosis and therapy of bile duct stones, however it is an invasive procedure not free of complications<sup>[8-11]</sup>.

According to the results of laboratory tests and US, the American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ASGE) proposes to stratify a patient in low, intermediate or high risk for choledocholithiasis. Subsequent management will vary depending on the patient's level of risk<sup>[12]</sup>. The purpose of this study was to evaluate the practical applicability of the American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy guidelines in a population of patients undergoing ERCP for suspected choledocholithiasis.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Patients

We performed a retrospective single center study, covering a 4-year period, from January 2010 to December 2013. Patients referred for ERCP for suspected bile duct lithiasis were consecutively included. Patients presenting for stent exchange or follow-up of known and incompletely removed stones on previous ERCP were excluded.

Clinical data recorded from disease onset (age, gender, symptoms at presentation, laboratorial values) to the time of the ERCP (therapeutic procedures and related complications) were collected.

### Predictors of choledocholithiasis

According to ASGE guidelines<sup>[12]</sup>, cholangitis, total bilirubin > 4 mg/dL and common bile duct (CBD) stone on US were considered very strong predictors. Total bilirubin 1.8-4 mg/dL and dilated CBD on US were considered strong predictors and abnormal liver biochemical tests, age > 55 years and gallstone pancreatitis were considered moderate predictors. Patients with strong predictors or any very strong predictor were considered at high risk for choledocholithiasis. Patients without any predictor and all other patients were considered low and intermediate risk for choledocholithiasis, respectively. The diagnosis of cholangitis was established by the presence of Charcot's triad (fever, abdominal pain and jaundice). The diagnosis of CBD stone on US was considered when an intraductal echogenic focus with distal acoustic

Baishideng®

Magalhães J et al. Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography for suspected choledocholithiasis

Table 1	Baseline c	haracteristics of	the stud	y populatio	n <i>n</i> (%)
---------	------------	-------------------	----------	-------------	----------------

Variable	Total ( $n = 268$ )
Gender, female	161 (60.1)
Age, mean ± SD	$66.8 \pm 16.8$
Very strong predictors	
Clinical ascending cholangitis	36 (13.4)
Common bile duct stone on US	109 (40.7)
Total bilirubin > 4 mg/dL	102 (38.1)
Strong predictors	
Total bilirubin 1.8-4 mg/dL	84 (31.3)
Dilated common bile duct on US	195 (72.8)
Moderate predictors	
Abnormal liver function test	231 (86.2)
Age > 55 yr	197 (73.5)
Gallstone pancreatitis	63 (23.5)

US: Ultrasonography.

shadow was identified. Dilated CBD on US was considered when bile duct diameter was > 6 mm in a patient without cholecystectomy. Abnormal liver biochemical tests were considered when aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and alkaline phosphatase (AP) presented elevated laboratory values, considering the reference lab values in our institution. Gallstone pancreatitis was considered when patients presented with abdominal pain (epigastric pain often radiating to the back), lipase (or amylase activity) at least 3 times higher than the upper limit of normal, stones or biliary sludge within gallbladder and no history of alcohol abuse.

# Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography procedure

Every ERCP was performed using Olympus<sup>®</sup> TJF 160 VR or TJF 145 side-viewing endoscopes. All patients provided written consent to undergo ERCP and were informed of the risks and benefits of the procedure. Patients were under propofol sedation assisted by an anaesthesiologist. Stone size and number were documented on the initial diagnostic cholangiogram at ERCP. Endoscopic sphincterotomy was performed over a guide wire. Some patients underwent papillary balloon dilation using a through-the-scope balloon catheter for oesophageal/pyloric dilation, gradually inflated to 12-18 mm according to the size of the largest stone and the maximal diameter of the distal bile duct on the cholangiogram. Stones were removed using a retrieval balloon catheter and/or a Dormia basket. When necessary, mechanical lithotripsy was performed to fragment the stones prior to removal. Complete clearance of the bile duct was documented with a balloon catheter cholangiogram at the end of the procedure. In the case of residual lithiasis, a biliary 7 Fr double pigtail plastic stent was placed and a second ERCP was planned within 10-12 wk. At the end of each ERCP, 100 mg rectal indomethacin was routinely given, to prevent post-ERCP pancreatitis. Prophylactic antibiotics were not routinely administered.

### Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 21.0 (SPSS<sup>®</sup> Inc., Chicago, IL, United States).

Quantitative data were described as mean  $\pm$  SD and qualitative data as proportions. For each predictor and risk group the  $\chi^2$  was used to access differences between presence *vs* absence of choledocolithiasis on ERCP. A *P* value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

For each risk group and their predictors the sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive values (PPV) and negative predictive value (NPV) were assessed.

### RESULTS

From January 2010 to December 2013, a total of 268 patients were referred for ERCP for suspected choledocholithiasis. Patients included in our study were predominantly female (60.1%), with a mean age of  $66.8 \pm 16.8$  years. Choledocholithiasis was present in 179 ERCPs (66.8%). The predictors more often seen in our patients were the presence of abnormal liver biochemical tests (86.2%), age > 55 years (73.5%) and dilated CBD on US (72.8%). Main clinical features of the study population are shown in Table 1.

### Predictors of choledocholithiasis

Except for gallstone pancreatitis (P = 0.063), all other predictors showed a statistically significant difference between presence vs absence of choledocholithiasis on ERCP (cholangitis, P = 0.001; CBD stone on US, P < 0.001; total bilirubin > 4 mg/dL, P = 0.035; total bilirubin 1.8-4 mg/dL, P = 0.001; dilated CBD on US, P < 0.001; abnormal liver function test, P = 0.012; age > 55 years, P = 0.002) (Table 2).

The risk of choledocholithiasis, as shown by *odds ratio*, was increased for patients who presented with cholangitis (OR: 6.48, 95%CI: 1.93-21.80), common bile duct stone on US (OR: 11.25, 95%CI: 5.32-23.81), total bilirubin > 4 mg/dL (OR: 1.79, 95%CI: 1.04-3.08), total bilirubin 1.8-4 mg/dL (OR:3.15, 95%CI: 1.63-6.08), dilated common bile duct on US (OR:5.06, 95%CI: 2.85-8.99), abnormal liver function test (OR:2.43, 95%CI: 1.20-4.90) and age > 55 years (OR:2.37, 95%CI: 1.36-4.15) (Table 2).

### Risk group for choledocholithiasis

Of the 268 patients included in this study, 72% were stratified into the high risk group. Of the remaining patients, 27.2% e 0.8% were stratified into the intermediate and low risk groups, respectively. Approximately four fifths of patients in the high risk group (79.8%, 154/193 patients) had confirmed choledocholithiasis on ERCP. The presence of choledocholithiasis was identified in 34.2% (25/73) of intermediate risk patients. Any patient into the low risk group had choledocholithiasis on ERCP. There was a statistically significant association between



Table 2       Predictors of choledocholithiasis - univariate analysis n (%)							
Variable	Choledocholithiasis on ERCP	No Choledocholithiasis on ERCP	OR	95%CI	P value		
Very strong predictors							
Clinical ascending cholangitis	33 (91.7)	3 (8.3)	6.48	1.93-21.80	0.001		
Common bile duct stone on US	100 (91.7)	9 (8.3)	11.25	5.32-23.81	< 0.001		
Total bilirubin > 4 mg/dL	76 (74.5)	26 (25.5)	1.79	1.04-3.08	0.035		
Strong predictors							
Total bilirubin 1.8-4 mg/dL	63 (75.0)	21 (25.0)	3.15	1.63-6.08	0.001		
Dilated common bile duct on US	150 (76.9)	45 (23.1)	5.06	2.85-8.99	< 0.001		
Moderate predictors							
Abnormal liver function test	161 (69.7)	70 (30.3)	2.43	1.20-4.90	0.012		
Age > 55 yr	142 (72.1)	55 (27.9)	2.37	1.36-4.15	0.002		
Gallstone pancreatitis	36 (57.2)	27 (42.8)	0.58	0.32-1.03	0.063		

ERCP: Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography; US: Ultrasonography.

Table 3 Risk group for choledocholithiasis - univariate analysis $n$ (%)							
Variable	Total	Choledocholithiasis on ERCP	No Choledocholithiasis on ERCP	<b>P</b> value			
High risk group	193 (72.0)	154 (79.8)	39 (20.2)	< 0.001			
Intermediate risk group	73 (27.2)	25 (34.2)	48 (65.8)				
Low risk group	2 (0.8)	0 (0)	2 (100)				
Very strong predictors							
None	97 (36.2)	39 (40.2)	58 (59.8)	< 0.001			
One	104 (38.8)	80 (76.9)	24 (23.1)				
Two	58 (21.6)	51 (87.9)	7 (12.1)				
Three	9 (3.4)	9 (100)	0 (0)				
Strong predictors							
None	27 (16.4)	3 (11.1)	24 (88.9)	< 0.001			
One	78 (47.3)	50 (64.1)	28 (35.9)				
Two	60 (36.4)	50 (83.3)	10 (16.7)				

ERCP: Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography.

the presence of choledocholithiasis on ERCP and the risk group (P < 0.001) (Table 3). The odds ratio (OR) for choledocholithiasis in high risk patients was 7.89 (95%CI: 4.36-14.32). The combination of any two or all very strong predictors elevated the probability of choledocholithiasis for 87.9% (51/58) and 100% (9/9), respectively. The combination of both strong predictors presented 83.3% (50/60) of probability of choledocolithiasis.

# Sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive values and negative predictive values for choledocolithiasis

Cholangitis was the parameter that had the higher specificity (96.6%), however for the same parameter the sensitivity was low. Total bilirubin > 4 mg/dL or the presence of CBD stones on US also presented a good specificity (89.9% and 70.8%, respectively). The PPV was high for very strong predictors, mainly clinical ascending cholangitis (PPV 91.7%) and CBD stones on US (PPV 91.7%). The high risk group had a high sensitivity (86%) and PPV (79.8%), but low specificity (56.2%) for the presence of CBD stones (Table 4).

### DISCUSSION

According to ASGE guidelines, a patient stratified as

high risk has > 50% of probability of choledocholithiasis<sup>[12]</sup>. In our study, patients stratified as high risk following ASGE criteria had 79.8% probability of choledocholithiasis. These results are consistent with those presented in the study by Rubin *et al*<sup>[13]</sup>. All the very strong predictors (clinical ascending cholangitis, CBD stones on US or total bilirubin > 4 mg/dL) presented a statistically significant association with the presence of choledocholithiasis. The combination of any of two or three very strong predictors increased the probability of choledocholithiasis for 87.9% and 100%, respectively.

Transabdominal ultrasound is the most commonly used initial imaging modality for suspected biliary stones. In our study, the presence of CBD stones detected during the US evaluation presented an OR of 11.25 for choledocholithisis. The diagnosis of choledocholithiasis is often difficult, with the sensitivity for the detection of CBD stones by US ranging from 20% to 80%<sup>[14]</sup>. The diagnostic accuracy of US is operator dependent but it is also influenced by some clinical features of patients (shadowing from bowel gas, overweight and stone size)<sup>[14]</sup>.

In our study, the combination of strong predictors (dilated CBD on US, total bilirubin 1.8-4 mg/dL) presented 83.3% of probability of choledocholithiasis confirmed at ERCP. Strong predictors presented a sta-

Table 4 Sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive values and negative predictive values for choledocolithiasis							
Variable	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV			
Very strong predictors							
Clinical ascending cholangitis	18.4	96.6	91.7	37.0			
Common bile duct stone on US	55.9	89.9	91.7	50.3			
Total bilirubin > 4 mg/dL	42.5	70.8	74.5	37.8			
Strong predictors							
Total bilirubin 1.8-4 mg/dL	61.1	66.6	75	51.2			
Dilated common bile duct on US	83.8	49.4	76.9	60.3			
Moderate predictors							
Abnormal liver function test	89.9	21.3	69.7	51.3			
Age > 55 yr	79.3	38.2	72.1	47.9			
Gallstone pancreatitis	20.1	69.7	57.1	30.2			
High risk group	86	56.2	79.8	66.7			
Intermediate risk group	13.9	46	34,2	21			

PPV: Positive predictive values; NPV: Negative predictive values; US: Ultrasonography.

tistically significant association with the presence of choledocholithiasis, which is in line with other previously published data<sup>[15-18]</sup>. The OR for choledocholithiasis in a patient with a CBD dilation was 5.06. However, the CBD dilation should always be interpreted according to patient characteristics, particularly previous cholecystectomy and age<sup>[19-21]</sup>. Previous studies<sup>[15-17,22,23]</sup> have reported some utility of serum bilirubin levels as a predictor of CBD stones. In this study, a bilirubin value between 1.8-4 g/dL had an OR of 3.15 and a specificity of 66.6% for choledocolithiasis. The specificity increased to 70% when the bilirrubin value was > 4 mg/dL. These results are in agreement with those previously reported by ASGE guidelines<sup>[12]</sup>.

Individually, moderate predictors, such as abnormal liver function test and age > 55 years, presented a statistically significant association with the presence of choledocholithiasis in our series and a sensitivity of 89.9% and 79.3% for the prediction of choledocholithiasis on ERCP. In a study by Barkun *et al*<sup>[16]</sup>, abnormal liver function tests, such as alkaline phosphatase > 300 units/L and AST > 120 units/L present a sensitivity of 79% and 81% to predict choledocholithiasis, respectively. At the same study, age > 55 years, only presented a sensitivity of 57%, however, when combined with other predictors (elevated bilirubin and CBD dilation on US) the model predicted with 94% of probability the presence of choledocholithiasis.

As previously reported by other authors<sup>[13,24]</sup>, also in our results the diagnosis of gallstone pancreatitis was not related with the presence of choledocholithiasis at ERCP (P > 0.05). Stone size may be an explanation, as larger stones are less likely to migrate<sup>[24]</sup> and the small gallstones, that most commonly are the source of pancreatitis<sup>[25]</sup>, frequently pass spontaneously. Some studies have reported that in the absence of cholangitis, patients with gallstone pancreatitis do not benefit from early ERCP<sup>[26,27]</sup>.

In patients stratified into the intermediate and low risk group, the probability of choledocholithiasis is 10%-50% and < 10%, respectively<sup>[12]</sup>. In this study, the probability of choledocholithiasis was 34.2% (25/73) and 0 (0/2) for intermediate and low risk groups, respectively. For these risk groups the sensitivity, specificity, PPV and NPV did not show values with clinical interest. In the intermediate risk group, ASGE guidelines<sup>[12]</sup> recommended less invasive options for detecting choledocholithiasis, such as MRCP or EUS. The two techniques showed a good sensitivity and specificity for choledocholithiasis<sup>[28,29]</sup>, so deciding which test should be performed first depends on various factors such as availability, cost, patient-related factors and the suspicion for a small stone. Because it is noninvasive, MRCP is the first test performed to look for CBD stones. However, for small CBD stones (< 5 mm) the sensitivity of MRCP is lower<sup>[30]</sup>, so, if the MRCP is negative, but the suspicion for a common bile duct stone remains moderate to high, EUS is an appropriate next step.

In conclusion, our study confirms that the combination of choledocolithiasis predictors, according to ASGE guidelines<sup>[12]</sup>, enables risk stratification of patients based on the likelihood for the presence of choledocholithiasis. However, for high risk patients the specificity was still low (56.2%), with 39 patients (20%) false positive, meaning that a significant proportion of patients will be submitted to ERCP unnecessarily. In the future, the inclusion of new predictors or different combinations of previous predictors will be essential to improve the classification of patients as high risk, obviating the need of other imaging tests (MRCP/EUS) before ERCP. However, at this point, it seems advisable that also "high risk" patients undergo further testing with MRCP and/or EUS before being submitted to ERCP, similarly to those patients with "intermediate risk", while for patients with "lowrisk" of choledocholithiasis a watchful waiting strategy seems adequate.

### COMMENTS

### Background

Patients suspected of having choledocholithiasis are diagnosed with a combination of laboratory tests and/or imaging studies. Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) has been established as the standard method for the management of bile duct stones, but it may be associated with substantial morbidity and mortality. In the evaluation of suspected choledocolithiasis, the American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ASGE) proposes to stratify a patient as high risk, intermediate risk or low risk for having choledocholithiasis. Subsequent management will vary depending on the patient's level of risk.

### **Research frontiers**

In this study, the authors aimed to assess the practical applicability and to validate the current ASGE guidelines in a population of patients undergoing ERCP for suspected choledocholithiasis.

### Innovations and breakthroughs

The study confirms that the combination of choledocolithiasis predictors, according to ASGE guidelines may improve risk estimation of choledocholithiasis and should be considered to optimize patients' selection for ERCP. However, even in the "high risk group" the specificity was low (56.2%), meaning that a significant proportion of patients will still perform ERCP unnecessarily.



### Applications

The results of this study suggest that the inclusion of new predictors of choledocholithisis or different combinations of previous predictors will be essential to improve the classification of patients as high risk, obviating the need of other imaging tests before endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. Thus, at this point, it seems advisable that also "high risk" patients undergo further testing before being submitted to ERCP, similarly to those patients with "intermediate risk", while for patients with "low-risk" of choledocholithiasis a watchful waiting strategy seems adequate.

### Terminology

Choledocholithiasis is defined as the occurrence of stones in the bile duct and has a propensity for life-threatening complications such as cholangitis and acute pancreatitis. Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography is a technique that combines the use of endoscopy and fluoroscopy to diagnose and treat problems of the biliary or pancreatic ductal systems. It has evolved from a diagnostic procedure to an almost exclusively therapeutic technique.

### Peer-review

Title and running title accurately reflects the topic and contents of the paper key words.

### REFERENCES

- Kaltenthaler E, Vergel YB, Chilcott J, Thomas S, Blakeborough T, Walters SJ, Bouchier H. A systematic review and economic evaluation of magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography compared with diagnostic endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. *Health Technol Assess* 2004; 8: iii, 1-89 [PMID: 14982656]
- Ko CW, Lee SP. Epidemiology and natural history of common bile duct stones and prediction of disease. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2002; 56: S165-S169 [PMID: 12447261]
- 3 Tazuma S. Gallstone disease: Epidemiology, pathogenesis, and classification of biliary stones (common bile duct and intrahepatic). Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2006; 20: 1075-1083 [PMID: 17127189]
- 4 **Caddy GR**, Tham TC. Gallstone disease: Symptoms, diagnosis and endoscopic management of common bile duct stones. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol* 2006; **20**: 1085-1101 [PMID: 17127190]
- 5 Williams EJ, Green J, Beckingham I, Parks R, Martin D, Lombard M. Guidelines on the management of common bile duct stones (CBDS). *Gut* 2008; 57: 1004-1021 [PMID: 18321943]
- 6 Scientific Committee of the European Association for Endoscopic Surgery (E.A.E.S.). Diagnosis and treatment of common bile duct stones (CBDS). Results of a consensus development conference. Surg Endosc 1998; 12: 856-864 [PMID: 9602006]
- 7 Maple JT, Ikenberry SO, Anderson MA, Appalaneni V, Decker GA, Early D, Evans JA, Fanelli RD, Fisher D, Fisher L, Fukami N, Hwang JH, Jain R, Jue T, Khan K, Krinsky ML, Malpas P, Ben-Menachem T, Sharaf RN, Dominitz JA. The role of endoscopy in the management of choledocholithiasis. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 74: 731-744 [PMID: 21951472]
- 8 Loperfido S, Angelini G, Benedetti G, Chilovi F, Costan F, De Berardinis F, De Bernardin M, Ederle A, Fina P, Fratton A. Major early complications from diagnostic and therapeutic ERCP: a prospective multicenter study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1998; **48**: 1-10 [PMID: 9684657]
- 9 Masci E, Toti G, Mariani A, Curioni S, Lomazzi A, Dinelli M, Minoli G, Crosta C, Comin U, Fertitta A, Prada A, Passoni GR, Testoni PA. Complications of diagnostic and therapeutic ERCP: a prospective multicenter study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2001; 96: 417-423 [PMID: 11232684]
- 10 Christensen M, Matzen P, Schulze S, Rosenberg J. Complications of ERCP: a prospective study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2004; 60: 721-731 [PMID: 15557948]
- 11 Anderson MA, Fisher L, Jain R, Evans JA, Appalaneni V, Ben-Menachem T, Cash BD, Decker GA, Early DS, Fanelli RD, Fisher DA, Fukami N, Hwang JH, Ikenberry SO, Jue TL, Khan KM, Krinsky ML, Malpas PM, Maple JT, Sharaf RN, Shergill AK,

Dominitz JA. Complications of ERCP. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **75**: 467-473 [PMID: 22341094]

- 12 Maple JT, Ben-Menachem T, Anderson MA, Appalaneni V, Banerjee S, Cash BD, Fisher L, Harrison ME, Fanelli RD, Fukami N, Ikenberry SO, Jain R, Khan K, Krinsky ML, Strohmeyer L, Dominitz JA. The role of endoscopy in the evaluation of suspected choledocholithiasis. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010; **71**: 1-9 [PMID: 20105473]
- 13 Rubin MI, Thosani NC, Tanikella R, Wolf DS, Fallon MB, Lukens FJ. Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography for suspected choledocholithiasis: testing the current guidelines. *Dig Liver Dis* 2013; 45: 744-749 [PMID: 23540659]
- 14 Mandelia A, Gupta AK, Verma DK, Sharma S. The Value of Magnetic Resonance Cholangio-Pancreatography (MRCP) in the Detection of Choledocholithiasis. *J Clin Diagn Res* 2013; 7: 1941-1945 [PMID: 24179904]
- 15 Abboud PA, Malet PF, Berlin JA, Staroscik R, Cabana MD, Clarke JR, Shea JA, Schwartz JS, Williams SV. Predictors of common bile duct stones prior to cholecystectomy: a meta-analysis. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1996; 44: 450-455 [PMID: 8905367]
- 16 Barkun AN, Barkun JS, Fried GM, Ghitulescu G, Steinmetz O, Pham C, Meakins JL, Goresky CA. Useful predictors of bile duct stones in patients undergoing laparoscopic cholecystectomy. McGill Gallstone Treatment Group. *Ann Surg* 1994; 220: 32-39 [PMID: 7517657]
- 17 Yang MH, Chen TH, Wang SE, Tsai YF, Su CH, Wu CW, Lui WY, Shyr YM. Biochemical predictors for absence of common bile duct stones in patients undergoing laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *Surg Endosc* 2008; 22: 1620-1624 [PMID: 18000708]
- 18 Prat F, Meduri B, Ducot B, Chiche R, Salimbeni-Bartolini R, Pelletier G. Prediction of common bile duct stones by noninvasive tests. *Ann Surg* 1999; 229: 362-368 [PMID: 10077048]
- 19 Daradkeh S, Tarawneh E, Al-Hadidy A. Factors affecting common bile duct diameter. *Hepatogastroenterology* 2005; 52: 1659-1661 [PMID: 16334751]
- 20 Park SM, Kim WS, Bae IH, Kim JH, Ryu DH, Jang LC, Choi JW. Common bile duct dilatation after cholecystectomy: a one-year prospective study. *J Korean Surg Soc* 2012; 83: 97-101 [PMID: 22880184]
- 21 Kaim A, Steinke K, Frank M, Enriquez R, Kirsch E, Bongartz G, Steinbrich W. Diameter of the common bile duct in the elderly patient: measurement by ultrasound. *Eur Radiol* 1998; 8: 1413-1415 [PMID: 9853225]
- 22 **Onken JE**, Brazer SR, Eisen GM, Williams DM, Bouras EP, DeLong ER, Long TT, Pancotto FS, Rhodes DL, Cotton PB. Predicting the presence of choledocholithiasis in patients with symptomatic cholelithiasis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1996; **91**: 762-767 [PMID: 8677945]
- 23 Peng WK, Sheikh Z, Paterson-Brown S, Nixon SJ. Role of liver function tests in predicting common bile duct stones in acute calculous cholecystitis. *Br J Surg* 2005; 92: 1241-1247 [PMID: 16078299]
- 24 Tranter SE, Thompson MH. Spontaneous passage of bile duct stones: frequency of occurrence and relation to clinical presentation. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 2003; 85: 174-177 [PMID: 12831489]
- 25 Venneman NG, Buskens E, Besselink MG, Stads S, Go PM, Bosscha K, van Berge-Henegouwen GP, van Erpecum KJ. Small gallstones are associated with increased risk of acute pancreatitis: potential benefits of prophylactic cholecystectomy? *Am J Gastroenterol* 2005; 100: 2540-2550 [PMID: 16279912]
- 26 Chang L, Lo SK, Stabile BE, Lewis RJ, de Virgilio C. Gallstone pancreatitis: a prospective study on the incidence of cholangitis and clinical predictors of retained common bile duct stones. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1998; 93: 527-531 [PMID: 9576442]
- 27 Sakai Y, Tsuyuguchi T, Ishihara T, Yukisawa S, Ohara T, Tsuboi M, Ooka Y, Kato K, Katsuura K, Kimura M, Takahashi M, Nemoto K, Miyazaki M, Yokosuka O. Is ERCP really necessary in case of suspected spontaneous passage of bile duct stones? *World J Gastroenterol* 2009; 15: 3283-3287 [PMID: 19598305]

Magalhães J et al. Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography for suspected choledocholithiasis

- 28 Verma D, Kapadia A, Eisen GM, Adler DG. EUS vs MRCP for detection of choledocholithiasis. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2006; 64: 248-254 [PMID: 16860077]
- 29 Ledro-Cano D. Suspected choledocholithiasis: endoscopic ultrasound or magnetic resonance cholangio-pancreatography? A systematic review. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2007; 19: 1007-1011 [PMID: 18049172]
- 30 Kondo S, Isayama H, Akahane M, Toda N, Sasahira N, Nakai Y, Yamamoto N, Hirano K, Komatsu Y, Tada M, Yoshida H, Kawabe T, Ohtomo K, Omata M. Detection of common bile duct stones: comparison between endoscopic ultrasonography, magnetic resonance cholangiography, and helical-computed-tomographic cholangiography. *Eur J Radiol* 2005; 54: 271-275 [PMID: 15837409]

P- Reviewer: Lee CL, Muguruma N, Skok P, Yu B S- Editor: Ji FF L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang DN







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v7.i2.135 World J Gastrointest Endosc 2015 February 16; 7(2): 135-153 ISSN 1948-5190 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

# Clinical outcomes of self-expandable stent placement for benign esophageal diseases: A pooled analysis of the literature

Emo E van Halsema, Jeanin E van Hooft

Emo E van Halsema, Jeanin E van Hooft, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Academic Medical Center, 1105 AZ Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Author contributions: van Halsema EE and van Hooft JE contributed to conception and design, analysis and interpretation of the data, drafting of the article and final approval of the article; van Hooft JE contributed to critical revision of the article.

**Conflict-of-interest:** Emo van Halsema had no conflict of interest. Jeanin van Hooft: consultancy work for Cook Medical, Boston Scientific, Abbott and Covidien.

**Data sharing:** All data in this systematic review were extracted from the original articles and are presented in the literature Tables 1 and 4. No additional data are available.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Jeanin E van Hooft, MD, PhD, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, C2-116, Academic Medical Center, Meibergdreef 9, 1105 AZ Amsterdam, The Netherlands. j.e.vanhooft@amc.uva.nl

The Netherlands. J.e. vannoort@amc.uva.n Telephone: +31-20-5667918 Fax: +31-20-6917033 Received: August 28, 2014 Peer-review started: September 3, 2014 First decision: November 19, 2014 Revised: December 4, 2014 Accepted: December 16, 2014 Article in press: December 17, 2014 Published online: February 16, 2015

### Abstract

**AIM:** To analyze the outcomes of self-expandable stent placement for benign esophageal strictures and benign esophageal leaks in the literature.

**METHODS:** The PubMed, Embase and Cochrane databases were searched for relevant articles published between January 2000 and July 2014. Eight prospective studies were identified that analyzed the outcomes of stent placement for refractory benign esophageal strictures. The outcomes of stent placement for benign esophageal leaks, perforations and fistulae were extracted from 20 retrospective studies that were published after the inclusion period of a recent systematic review. Data were pooled and analyzed using descriptive statistics.

**RESULTS:** Fully covered self-expandable metal stents (FC SEMS) (n = 85), biodegradable (BD) stents (n =77) and self-expandable plastic stents (SEPS) (n = 70) were inserted in 232 patients with refractory benign esophageal strictures. The overall clinical success rate was 24.2% and according to stent type 14.1% for FC SEMS, 32.9% for BD stents and 27.1% for SEPS. Stent migration occurred in 24.6% of cases. The overall complication rate was 31.0%, including major (17.7%) and minor (13.4%) complications. A total of 643 patients were treated with self-expandable stents mainly for postsurgical leaks (64.5%), iatrogenic perforations (19.6%), Boerhaave's syndrome (7.8%) and fistulae (3.7%). FC SEMS and partially covered SEMS were used in the majority of patients. Successful closure of the defect was achieved in 76.8% of patients and according to etiology in 81.4% for postsurgical leaks, 86.0% for perforations and 64.7% for fistulae. The pooled stent migration rate was 16.5%. Stent-related complications occurred in 13.4% of patients, including major (7.8%) and minor (5.5%) complications.

**CONCLUSION:** The outcomes of stent placement for refractory benign esophageal strictures were poor. However, randomized trials are needed to put this into perspective. The evidence on successful stent placement for benign esophageal leaks, perforations



and fistulae is promising.

Key words: Self-expandable stents; Benign esophageal strictures; Esophageal perforation; Esophageal fistula; Anastomotic leak; Systematic review

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** After a systematic search of the literature, we performed a pooled analysis on the clinical outcomes of self-expandable stent placement for benign esophageal diseases. We analyzed the clinical success, adverse events and removal outcome of stent placement in 232 patients with refractory benign esophageal strictures and 643 patients with benign esophageal leaks, perforations and fistulae. Additional analyses were performed for clinical outcomes according to stent type and etiology.

van Halsema EE, van Hooft JE. Clinical outcomes of selfexpandable stent placement for benign esophageal diseases: A pooled analysis of the literature. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2015; 7(2): 135-153 Available from: URL: http://www. wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v7/i2/135.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.4253/wjge.v7.i2.135

### INTRODUCTION

Esophageal self-expandable stent placement is a wellestablished, evidence-based treatment for the palliation of malignant dysphagia. By the end of the 90's self-expandable metal stents have replaced the traditional rigid plastic tubes, because of their superiority in safety and cost-effectiveness<sup>[1-6]</sup>. Ever since the stent designs have evolved in order to improve their efficacy, durability and safety, and to expand their use for different clinical indications.

Besides malignant indications, esophageal selfexpandable stents are nowadays used for refractory benign strictures, benign perforations, postoperative anastomotic leaks and benign fistulae<sup>[1,7]</sup>. To define the heterogeneous group of patients with refractory benign esophageal strictures Kochman et al<sup>[8]</sup> have proposed a uniform definition that has been widely accepted. According to Kochman's criteria an esophageal stricture is refractory or recurrent when it cannot be remediated to a diameter of 14 mm over 5 dilatation sessions at 2-wk intervals, or when a satisfactory luminal diameter cannot be maintained for 4 wk once the target diameter of 14 mm has been achieved<sup>[8]</sup>. The definition only applies in the absence of active inflammation and neuromuscular dysfunction. In this subgroup of patients with refractory strictures self-expandable stent placement is performed to extend the dysphagia-free period and to reduce the number of dilatations (Figure 1A and B).

There is a varied offer of esophageal self-ex-

pandable stents, that can be divided into four main groups: (1) removable fully covered metal stents (FC SEMS); (2) removable partially covered metal stents (PC SEMS); (3) removable covered plastic stents (SEPS); and (4) biodegradable stents (BD stents). In this literature review we aim to provide an overview of the clinical outcomes of self-expandable stent placement for benign esophageal diseases including a by clinical indication and by stent design breakdown.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

The PubMed, Embase and Cochrane databases were searched for publications from January 2000 to July 2014. Key words that were used included esophagus, stent and benign. Articles were screened by title and abstract for their relevance. Studies were considered for inclusion when they reported on the clinical outcomes of esophageal self-expandable stent placement for benign strictures, benign perforations, anastomotic leaks and/or benign fistulae. The exclusion criteria and search results are shown in Figure 2. The primary endpoint was clinical success, which was defined as the absence of dysphagia at end of follow-up after single stent placement in case of esophageal strictures and successful closure of the defect after single or multiple stent placements in case of an esophageal leak, perforation or fistula. Clinical failures were defined as recurrent dysphagia in case of esophageal strictures and persistent leak or death during stent therapy in case of esophageal leaks, perforations and fistulae. Secondary endpoints were the technical success rates of esophageal stent placement, morbidity rates, mortality rates and stent removal outcome. Technical success was defined as stent placement across the lesion at the end of the procedure, including successful stent repositioning after immediate migration. Successful stent removal was defined as uneventful endoscopic stent extraction without the need for additional interventions or procedures. So stent removal by the stent-in-stent procedure, which is used to induce pressure-necrosis of granulation tissue to facilitate the removal of an embedded stent, was considered an adverse event.

### Statistical analysis

This manuscript contains descriptive statistics. Data were pooled and presented as frequency and percentage, so no biostatistical tests were used.

### RESULTS

### Refractory benign esophageal strictures

After searching the literature no randomized controlled trials (RCTs) were found that studied the outcomes of stent placement for refractory benign esophageal strictures. Twelve prospective, nonrandomized studies were identified that reported on the outcomes of esophageal stent placement for benign strictures



Figure 1 Refractory benign anastomotic stricture after esophagectomy (A) and fully covered self-expandable metal stent placement for a refractory benign esophageal anastomotic stricture (B).



### Figure 2 Literature search.

(Table 1)<sup>[9-20]</sup>. One was excluded because of a duplicate publication<sup>[20]</sup>. To create a homogeneous population only the studies were analyzed that included patients with refractory benign esophageal strictures according to Kochman's criteria<sup>[8]</sup>. A total of eight prospective cohort series were included that reported on 232 patients with refractory benign esophageal strictures<sup>[9-16]</sup>. In 85 patients a FC SEMS was placed, 77 patients received a BD stent and a SEPS was inserted in 70 patients. No PC SEMS were used in any of the included articles. The overall pooled technical success rate of esophageal stent placement was 98.7%. De-

tails on stricture etiology, stent type and clinical outcomes are summarized in Table 2. Analyses by stricture etiology were not possible due to lacking data.

**Clinical success:** The overall clinical success rate after single stent placement was 24.2%. The clinical success rates per type of stent are presented in Table 2. The time to recurrence of dysphagia after failed stent therapy varied widely. Stricture recurrence after FC SEMS removal was reported by three studies after median periods ranging from 15 d to 1.7 mo<sup>[9,10,12]</sup>. Recurrence of dysphagia after SEPS removal was re-



	Clinical success (dysphagia-free)	Overall clinical success: 9.8% (4/41)	Overall: 27% $(8/30)$ (8/30) Stent type $(P = 0.27)$ : 1 BD stent: 30% $(3/10)$ (3/10) 2 SEPS: 10% $(1/10)3$ FCSEMS: 40% $(4/10)$	At 6 mo after: First stent: 25% (7/28) Second stent: 15% (2/13) Third stent: 0% (0/7)
	Successful stent removal	FC SEMS: 100% (41/41)	SEPS: 100% (10/10) 5 FC SEMS: 100% (10/10)	Not applicable
	Complications	Overall complications: Stent migration: 29.3% (12/41) Chest pain requiring stent removal or repositioning: 9.8% (4/41) Chest pain resolved with conservative management: 2.4% (1/41) Vomiting: 2.4% (1/41) Pneumonia: 2.4% (1/41)	Patients with complications ( $P = 0.38$ ): BD stent 50%, SEPS 70%, FC SEMS 60% Stent migration ( $P = 0.16$ ): BD stent 20%, SEPS 60%, FC SEMS 30% Tissue hyperplasia ( $P = 0.09$ ): BD stent 30%, SEPS 0%, FC SEMS 0% Associated with one major bleeding and recurrent dysphagia in two patients Minor complications in 17% (5/30) of patients: 1 Globus sensation: BD stent 0%, SEPS 0%, FC SEMS 10% 3 Reflux: BD stent 0%, SEPS 0%, FC SEMS 10% 3 Reflux: BD stent 0%, SEPS 10%, FC SEMS 10% Major complications in 7% (2/30) of patients:	<ol> <li>Major bleeding: BD stent 10%, SEPS 0%, FC SEMS 0%</li> <li>Severe chest pain: BD stent 10%, SEPS 0%, FC SEMS 0%</li> <li>Stent migration: 10.7% (3/28)</li> <li>Food impaction: 10.7% (3/28)</li> <li>Major complications of 59 stent placements in 28 patients: 29%</li> <li>(8/28) of patients</li> <li>1 Retrosternal pain and vomiting: 7.1% (2/28)</li> <li>3 Bleeding: 7.1% (2/28)</li> <li>3 Bleeding: 7.1% (2/28)</li> <li>5 Aspiration pneumonia: 3.6% (1/28)</li> <li>Minor complications of 59 stent placements in 28 patients: 14%</li> <li>4 Fever and vomiting: 3.6% (1/28)</li> <li>5 Aspiration pneumonia: 3.6% (1/28)</li> <li>6 Arguints</li> <li>7.1% (2/28)</li> <li>7.1% (2/28)</li> <li>7.1% (2/28)</li> <li>7.1% (2/28)</li> <li>7.1% (2/28)</li> <li>7.1% (1/28)</li> <li>6 Arguints</li> <li>7.1% (2/28)</li> <li>7.1% (2/28)</li> <li>7.1% (1/28)</li> </ol>
ures	Follow-up median (range)	24 mo	23.4 (8-66) mo	630 (21-1121) d
ry benign esophageal strictu	Stent type, technical success rate, scheduled removal	aan's criteria Standard FC SEMS: 100% (24/24) - 4 wk Multilayer silicone FC SEMS: 100% (17/17) - 3 mo	BD stent: 100% (10/10) SEPS: 100% (10/10) - 12 wk FC SEMS: 100% (10/10) - 12 wk	Single BD stent: $n = 15$ Sequential BD stent: $n = 13$ Technical success: 100% (28/28) In total 59 BD stent placed
self-expandable stent placement for refracto	Patients, indications	including patients with RBES according to Kochn Patients with recurrent benign strictures after more than 3 dilatations to more than 15 mm during the previous 12 mo: $n = 41$ 1 Anastomotic stricture: 29% (12/41) 2 Peptic stricture: 29% (16/41) 3 Caustic stricture: 7% (3/41) 4 Radiation stricture: 20% (8/41)	5 Others: 5% (2/ 41) Patients with RBES according to Kochman criteria: $n = 30$ 1 Anastomotic stricture: 43% (13/30) 2 Peptic stricture: 23% (7/30) 3 Caustic stricture: 10% (3/10) 4 Radiation stricture: 17% (5/30) 5 Idiopathic stricture: 17% (5/30)	Patients with RBES according to Kochman criteria: <i>n</i> = 28 1 Peptic stricture: 32% (9/28) 2 Anastomotic stricture: 25% (7/28) 3 Radiation stricture: 11% (3/28) 4 Caustic stricture: 7% (2/28) 5 Others: 11% (3/28) 6 Unknown origin: 14% (4/28)
iterature on s	Study design	cohort studies (9) Prospect	( <sup>lul)</sup> Prospect	<sup>11]</sup> Prospect
Table 1 L	Ref.	Prospective Chaput <i>et a</i> 2013	Canena <i>et a</i> 2012	Hirdes <i>et al</i> 2012



Hirdes et al <sup>[12]</sup> Pro 2012	ospect	Patients with RBES according to Kochman	FC SEMS: 100% (15/15)	After stent removal: 86	Stent migration: 33% (5/15) Tissue overcrowth: 30% (2/15)	93% (14/15) Stent-in-stent:	0% (0/15)
		1 Peptic stricture: 40% (6/15) 1 Peptic stricture: 20% (6/15) 3 Radiation stricture: 13% (2/15) 4 Other: 7% (1/15) 5 Unknown cause: 20% (3/15)	109 d (87-222)	(14-330) d	Major complications in 20% (3/15) of patients: Major complications in 20% (3/15) of patients: 1 Severe pain requiring stent removal: 7% (1/15) 2 Severe persistent odynophagia: 7% (1/15) 3 Nausea/vomiting: 13% (2/15) 4 Aspiration pneumonia: 7% (1/15) Minor complications: 1 Pain: 20% (3/15)	7%	
Eloubeidi et Pro al <sup>[13]</sup> rett 2011	o- and trospect	Patients with benign esophageal lesions treated with Alimax-E stent: $n = 35$ Leaks/fistulae: $n = 12$ Perforations: $n = 4$ RBES: $n = 19$ 1 Anastomotic stricture: $37\%$ (7/19) 2 Peptic stricture: $11\%$ (2/19) 3 Caustic stricture: $11\%$ (2/19) 5 Others: $21\%$ (4/19) 5 Others: $21\%$ (4/19)	FC SEMS: 100% (19/19) In situ for: 64 ± 74 d (range 6-300)	161 ± 111 (range 24-360) d	Stent migration: 36.8% (7/19) Minor complications in patients with RBES: 1 Stent infolding/invagination: 16% (3/19) 2 Chest pain: 5% (1/19) 3 Abdominal pain: 11% (2/19) 4 Globus sensation: 5% (1/19) 5 Fever: 5% (1/19) Major complications in patients with RBES: 1 Arrhythmia: 5% (1/19)	97% (34/35) Stent fracture: 3%	21% (4/19)
Van Boeckel <i>et</i> Pro al <sup>[14]</sup> 2011	ospect	Patients with RBES according to Kochman criteria: <i>n</i> = 38 1 Anastomotic stricture: 34% (13/38) 2 Peptic stricture: 18% (7/38) 3 Radiation stricture: 16% (6/38) 4 Caustic stricture: 16% (6/38) 5 Others: 11% (4/38) 6 Unknown etiology: 3% (1/38)	BD stent: 100% (18/18) SEPS: 95% (19/20) - 6 wk	BD stent: 166 (21-559) d SEPS: 385 (77-924) d	Major complications: 15.8% (6/38) 1 Hemorrhage: SEPS 5%, BD stent 11% 2 Perforation: SEPS 5%, BD stent 11% 3 Severe pain requiring opiates: SEPS 0%, BD stent 11% Minor complications: 10.5% (4/38) 1 Reflux: SEPS 0%, BD stent 6% 2 Nausea/vomiting: SEPS 5%, BD stent 11% 2 Nausea/vomiting: SEPS 5%, BD stent 11% 5 Food impaction: SEPS 0%, BD stent 11% (2/18) 7 Food impaction: SEPS 0%, BD stent 11% (2/18) A FC SEMS was placed in both patients	SEPS: 100% (16/16)	Stent type ( <i>P</i> = 0.83): 1 SEPS: 30% (6/20) 2 BD stent: 33% (6/18)
Repici <i>et a</i> l <sup>15]</sup> Prc 2010	ospect	Patients with RBES according to Kochman criteria: <i>n</i> = 21 1 Peptic stricture: 33% (7/21) 2 Anastomotic stricture: 24% (5/21) 3 Radiation stricture: 24% (5/21) 4 Caustic stricture: 10% (2/21) 5 Other: 5% (1/21) 6 Idiopathic stricture: 5% (1/21)	BD stent: 100% (21/21)	53 (25-88) wk	Stent migration: 9.5% (2/21) Severe thoracic pain requiring analgesics: 14.3% (3/21) Minor bleeding: 4.8% (1/21) Dysphagia caused by hyperplastic tissue: 4.8% (1/21)	Not applicable	45% (9/20)
Dua <i>et al<sup>li6]</sup></i> Pro 2008 Remaining proceed	ospect	Patients with RBES according to Kochman criteria: $n = 40$ 1 Anastomotic stricture: 30% (12/40) 2 Caustic stricture: 20% (8/40) 3 Radiation stricture: 18% (7/40) 4 Peptic stricture: 5% (2/40) 5 Others: 28% (11/40)	SEPS: 95% (38/40) 4 wk	53 (11-156) wk	Stent migration: 22.2% (8/36) Severe chest pain requiring medication: 11.1% (4/36) Fistula: 2.8% (1/36) Perforation: 5.6% (2/36) Gastroesophageal reflux: 5.6% (2/36) Bleeding: 8.3% (3/36) Stent-related mortality: 2.8% (1/36) Massive bleeding probably due to stent eroding into major vesse	94% (31/33) Inability to remove stent: 6% (2/33)	30% (12/40)

Baishideng®

gogastric anastomotic BD stent: 100% (10/10) 6 mo Food impaction: 10% (1/10) Not 60% (6/10) ve had any endoscopic Hyperplasia-induced obstruction: 20% (2/10) applicable	n = 5  SEPS: 100% (21/21) After stent Stent migration: 57.1% (12/21) 100% (21/21) 76% (13/17) motic stricture: $n = 4$ Range 2 d-18 mo removal: 21 Stridor due to tracheal compression: 4.8% (1/21) removal: 21 Stridor due to tracheal compression: 4.8% (1/21) (8-39) mo (8-39) mo (8-39) mo Inflammatory epiglottic stenosis: 4.8% (1/21) (8-39) mo removal: 21 Inflammatory epiglottic stenosis: 4.8% (1/21) (8-39) mo removal: 21 Inflammatory epiglottic stenosis: 4.8% (1/21) (1/2	benign esophagealSEPS: 100% (15/15)Mean: 22.7Severe chest pain requiring analgesics: 33% (5/15)100% (15/15)80% (12/15)dilation sessions: $n = 15$ 6 wk(19-27) moMild/moderate mucosal hyperproliferation: 27% (4/15)80% (12/15)80% (12/15)27%
V an Hooft <i>et</i> Prospect Patients with an esophagogastric anastomotic BD stent: 100% $al^{1/7}$ stricture who did not have had any endoscopic treatment: $n = 10$	Evrard $et al^{[15]}$ Prospect       SEMS-induced stricture: $n = 5$ SEPS: 100% (21)         2004       Esophagocolonic anastomotic stricture: $n = 4$ Range 2 d-18 m         Refractory benign strictures after a median of 6       (range 1-12) dilation sessions per year: $n = 8$ Anastomotic leak: $n = 4$ Anastomotic leak: $n = 4$	Repici et al <sup>[19]</sup> Prospect       Patients with persisting benign esophageal       SEPS: 100% (15, 2004)         2004       1       Custic strictures after at least 6 dilation sessions: $n = 15$ 6 wk         1       Custic stricture: 33 %         2       Anastomotic stricture: 27%

RBES: Refractory benign esophageal strictures; SEPS: Self-expandable plastic stent; BD stent: Biodegradable stent; FC SEMS: Fully covered self-expandable metal stent

ported by one study after a mean of 4 (range 2-9) wk<sup>[10]</sup>. After BD stent placement dysphagia recurred after mean periods ranging from 4 wk to 19 wk<sup>[10,15]</sup>.

Stent migration, reactive tissue formation and food impaction: The overall pooled stent migration rate was 24.6% (57/232). By stent type migration rates were 31.8% (27/85) for FC SEMS, 14.3% (11/77) for BD stents and 27.1% (19/70) for SEPS.

lissue hyperplasia was reported in 4.3% (10/232) of patients, causing recurrent dysphagia in 5 patients (2.2%) who all had received a BD stent. Hyperplastic issue growth according to stent type was 3.5% (3/85) for FC SEMS, 7.8% (6/77) for BD stents and 1.4% (1/70) for SEPS. Food impaction was reported in 2.2% (5/232) of patients and occurred only in patients with a BD stent (6.5%, 5/77).

Ъ 77 complications due to stent placement. Major complications were reported in 17.7% of patients and minor complications in 13.4%. Major and minor complication rates per stent design are presented in Table 3. There was one (0.4%) stent-related death from a massive bleeding probably due to SEPS erosion into a major ves-Adverse events: Excluding stent migration, reactive tissue formation and food impaction which were analyzed separately, 72 (31.0%) patients suffered a total sel<sup>[16]</sup>. Another patient with a BD stent died of aspiration pneumonia, which may have been caused by stricture recurrence<sup>[11]</sup>

valve - terminal ileum interposition, and one was partially embedded by granulation tissue above the stent<sup>[16]</sup>. One FC SEMS had to be removed by a stent-in-stent procedure due to severe reactive tissue growth through the disrupted cover of the stent<sup>112</sup>. Another FC SEMS fractured during removal and was retrieved in two Stent removal: Removal of SEPS or FC SEMS was scheduled after 4 to 12 wk and BD stents were left in place to dissolve. Stent removal was attempted in 92.9% 57/59). Two SEPS were removed during surgery, because one migrated SEPS could not be pulled through the ileocecal valve in a patient with a colon – ileocecal (144/155) of patients with a SEPS or FC SEMS. Successful stent removal was achieved in 97.2% (140/144) of patients; FC SEMS (97.6%, 83/85) and SEPS (96.6%, bieces<sup>[13]</sup>.

# Benign esophageal leaks, perforations and fistulae

or analysis. No RCTs that focused on the outcomes of stent placement for benign esophageal leaks, perforations or fistulae were identified. A total of 28 studies eaks and perforations in the literature published from 1990 to 2012<sup>[1]</sup>. Therefore, the studies published after the systematic review of Dasari et al<sup>[1]</sup> were considered The literature search revealed a recently published systematic review that analyzed the clinical outcomes of self-expandable stent placement for benign esophageal were selected from the literature, but after more careful reading of the articles eight more studies were excluded because they analyzed patients with active malig-

Table 2 Pooled analysis of 232 patients with refractory benign esophageal strictures according to Kochman's criteria treated with self-expandable stent placement n (%)

Stricture etiology	
Anastomotic strictures	69 (29.7)
Peptic strictures	58 (25.0)
Radiation strictures	36 (15.5)
Caustic strictures	29 (12.5)
Others	26 (11.2)
Unknown	14 (6.0)
Stent type	
FC SEMS	85 (36.6)
BD stent	77 (33.2)
SEPS	70 (30.2)
PC SEMS	0 (0)
Technical success	
Overall	229 (98.7)
FC SEMS	85 (100)
BD stent	77 (100)
SEPS	67 (95.7)
Clinical success	
Overall $(n = 231)$	56 (24.2)
FC SEMS $(n = 85)$	12 (14.1)
BD stent ( $n = 76$ )	25 (32.9)
SEPS $(n = 70)$	19 (27.1)

FC SEMS: Fully covered self-expandable metal stent; BD stent: Biodegradable stent; SEPS: Self-expandable plastic stent; PC SEMS: Partially covered self-expandable metal stent.

 $\mathsf{nancy}^{\scriptscriptstyle[21]}$  , performed a double stent strategy including airway stenting<sup>[22-24]</sup>, included only postsurgical foregut leaks<sup>[25]</sup>, did not perform subgroup analyses for patients with benign esophageal leaks, perforations or fistulae<sup>[26,27]</sup>, or because of duplicate publication<sup>[28]</sup>. Ultimately, 20 studies were included for analysis, all with a retrospective study design (Table 4)<sup>[13,29-47]</sup>. A total of 643 patients with benign esophageal leaks, perforations and fistulae were considered for analysis. A total of 852 stents were inserted in 573 patients. In the remaining 70 patients the number of stents used was not reported. The main indications for self-expandable stent placement were postsurgical leaks (64.5%), iatrogenic perforations (19.6%), Boerhaave's syndrome (7.8%) and fistulae (3.7%). The majority of inserted stents were FC SEMS (41.0%) and PC SEMS (37.7%). Stent placement was technically successful in 99.9% of cases. Further details are summarized in Table 5. Data on concurrent drainage of fluid collections were available for 425 patients, of whom 57.4% (244/425) underwent drainage procedures.

**Clinical success**: The overall clinical success rate of esophageal stent placement for benign leaks, perforations and fistulae was 76.8% (480/625). Subgroup analysis according to etiology was possible for 358 patients. The highest clinical success rate was achieved in patients with perforations (86.0%), followed by postsurgical leaks (81.4%) and fistulae (64.7%) (Table 5). When solely FC SEMS were used, clinical success was achieved in 73.0% (135/185) of

# Table 3 Pooled analysis of adverse events in patients with refractory benign esophageal strictures n (%)

Overall complications	72 (31.0)
Overall major complications	41 (17.7)
FC SEMS $(n = 85)$	$9(10.6)^{1}$
Severe retrosternal pain	5 (5.9)
Severe nausea and vomiting	2 (2.4)
Aspiration pneumonia	2 (2.4)
Arrhythmia	1 (1.2)
Percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy because	1 (1.2)
of impaired intake caused by severe, persistent	
odynophagia	
BD stents ( $n = 77$ )	$22(28.6)^{1}$
Severe retrosternal pain	10 (13.0)
Hyperplasia-induced stenosis	5 (6.5)
Bleeding, hematemesis	5 (6.5)
Severe nausea and vomiting	3 (3.9)
Aspiration pneumonia	1 (1.3)
SEPS $(n = 70)$	10 (14.3)
Severe retrosternal pain	4 (5.7)
Perforation	3 (4.3)
Bleeding, hematemesis <sup>2</sup>	2 (2.9)
Stent-induced fistula	1 (1.4)
Overall minor complications	31 (13.4)
FC SEMS $(n = 85)$	$15(17.6)^{1}$
Retrosternal pain	6 (7.1)
Stent infolding/invagination	3 (3.5)
Abdominal pain	2 (2.4)
Globus sensation	2 (2.4)
Reflux symptoms	1 (1.2)
Vomiting	1 (1.2)
Fever	1 (1.2)
BD stents ( $n = 77$ )	8 (10.4)
Nausea and vomiting	3 (3.9)
Retrosternal pain	2 (2.6)
Reflux symptoms	2 (2.6)
Minor bleeding	1 (1.3)
SEPS $(n = 70)$	8 (11.4)
Reflux symptoms	3 (4.3)
Retrosternal pain	2 (2.9)
Minor bleeding	2 (2.9)
Nausea and vomiting	1 (1.4)

<sup>1</sup>Patients can have more than one complication; <sup>2</sup>Including one stentrelated death from massive bleeding. FC SEMS: Fully covered selfexpandable metal stent; BD stent: Biodegradable stent; SEPS: Selfexpandable plastic stent; PC SEMS: Partially covered self-expandable metal stent.

patients. Solely PC SEMS were used in two studies with a pooled clinical success rate of 78.2% (68/87). Only one study focused on the outcomes of SEPS placement and reported clinical success in 90% (27/30) of patients with anastomotic leaks.

**Stent migration, reactive tissue formation and food impaction**: Stent migration could be analyzed in 320 patients who received a total of 468 self-expandable stents. The overall pooled stent migration rate was 16.5% (77/468). By stent type migration rates were 21.8% (53/243) for FC SEMS and 10.6% (23/218) for PC SEMS. Data were insufficient to analyze the stent migration rate of SEPS.

Pooled analysis of tissue hyperplasia was possible for 384 patients in whom 530 stents were inserted.


Orive-Calzada Pro- and et al <sup>[33]</sup> retrospect	Patients treated with FC SEMS for benign upper gastrointestinal fistulae and	FC SEMS: 100% (87/87) PC SEMS: 100% (1/1)	Surgical drainage: 30% (17/56)	Minor complications: Atrial fibrillation: 1.8% (1/56)	FC SEMS: 100% (87/87)	Overall: 79% (44/56) -Postsurgical leaks:
2014	perforations: $n = 56$		Percutaneous drainage:	Maior complications:	PC SEMS: 0/1	78% (36/46)
	1 Postsurgical leaks: $n = 44$	Median time to removal: 42	41% (23/56)	Stent-related perforation: 5.4% (3/56)	-Stent-in-stent	-Perforations: 80%
	2 latrogenic perforations: $n = 6$	(9-1460) d		Stent migration: 20.5% (18/88)	procedure: 1	(8/10)
	3 Boerhaave syndrome: $n = 4$	~	FU: unknown	- FC SEMS: 20.7 (18/87)	-	
	4 Other perforations: $n = 2$			- PC SEMS: 0% (0/1)		
	1			Mortality rate: 16% (9/56)		
	Single stent: 59% (33/56)			- cerebrovascular accident: 1.8% (1/56)		
	Multiple stents: 41% (23/56)			- nosocomial pneumonia: 1.8% (1/56)		
				- neoplasia: 1.8% (1/56)		
				- secondary to sepsis: 10.7% (6/56)		
Persson et al <sup>[34]</sup> Retrospect	t Patients with benign spontaneous, iatrogen	ic Total No. of stents missing	Unknown	No stent-related complications	Stent type and no. of	82.5% (33/40)
2014	or traumatic esophageal perforations: $n = 4$	0		Stent migration not analyzed according to	stents removed missing	
	1 Iatrogenic perforation: $n = 16$	Stent type missing	FU: unknown	stent type	-Removal during second	No subgroup
	2 Boerhaave syndrome: $n = 23$			Mortality rate: 7.5% (3/40)	procedure: 1	analysis according to
	3 Other perforations: $n = 1$	Time to removal: 4-6 wk		1 Multi-organ failure: 5% (2/40)		etiology
				2 Respiratory insufficiency without sepsis:		
	Single stent: missing Multiple starts: missing			2.5% (1/40)		
- - - -	Iviuitiple stents: missing	- - - - -		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Sharaiha et Retrospect	t Patients treated with stent placement for	I otal stents: $n = 47$	Clip/endoloop: 27.8%	Overall 9 complications in 5 patients	No subgroup analysis	Overall: 47% (7/15)
al <sup>leel</sup>	benign upper GI leaks: $n = 18$	1 FC SEMS	(5/18)	5 minor complications in 4 patients:	for patients with benign	-Postsurgical leaks:
2014	1 Postsurgical leaks: $n = 12$	2 PC SEMS	Dilation: 33.3% (6/18)	- reflux/ esophagitis: 16.7% (3/18)	leaks	(5/11)
	2 latrogenic perforation: $n = 1$	3 SEPS	Surgery: 16.7% (3/18)	- abdominal pain: 5.6% (1/18)	-Stent-in-stent	-Fistula: 67% (2/3)
	3Other fistulae: $n = 5$	4 Uncovered	•	- collapsed stent: $5.6\%$ (1/18)	procedure: 7	-Iatrogenic: 0% (0/1)
			FU: median 283 d (IQR	4 Major complications in 3 patients:	-Irremovable uncovered	)
	Single stent: 28% (5/18)	Technical success: 100%	38-762)	- aspiration pneumonia: 11.1% (2/18)	stent: 1	
	Multiple stents: 72% (13/18)		~	- perforation: 5.6% (1 /18)		
	interior action in the fact of	Moon time to comparel: 54		periotum: 5.0% (1/10)		
				- suicture: 3.0% (1/ 10) Tierre h1-ci E 6% (1 / 17)		
		(11-21) a		11ssue hyperplasia: 5.6% (1/4/)		
				- stent type unknown		
				Food impaction/bezoar: 11.1% (2/47)		
				- stent type unknown		
				Stent migration not analyzed for subgroup		
				of patients with esophageal leaks		
				Overall mortality rate: $5.6\%$ (1/18)		
				Not specified		
Shim et al <sup>[36]</sup> Retrospect	t Patients who underwent endoscopic	FC SEMS: 100% (15/15)	Concurrent fluid	Minor complication:	FC SEMS: 100% (11/11)	Overall: 67% (8/12)
2014	treatment for anastomotic leakage after tota	al PC SEMS: 100% (1/1)	drainage: 61.5% (8/13)	Stent malposition: $6.3\%$ (1/13)	PC SEMS: 100% (1/1)	-Primary closure
	$\alpha$ actroctomy: $n = 77$	~ ~ ~	)	Stent migration: 25% (4/16)		rato: 67% (8/17)
	gaau county: n = 2/2	Modian time to removal: 38	EII	Define the balance $20\%$ ( $1/15$ )		Late. 07 % (0/ 14) Cocondarii claciira
	D Non-start thousant is - 14		T.O. MINIOWI	- I C JEIMUS, 2017 /0 (#/ IU) DC CEMIC: 00/ /0 /1)		
	2  INOR Stent therapy:  n = 14	(V-09) a				rate: U % (U/ 4)
				Tissue in- or overgrowth: $6.3\%$ (1/16)		
	Single stent: 85% (11/13)			- FC SEMS: 6.7% (1/15)		
	Multiple stents: 15% (2/13)			Mortality rate: 15.4% (2/13)		
				- sepsis related: 7.7% (1/13)		
				- non-stent related bleeding: 7.7% (1/13)		

Baishideng®

WJGE | www.wjgnet.com

Brangewitz et Re	etrospect	Patients with esophageal defects treated	FC SEMS: 100% (39/39)	Unknown	Minor complications:	FC SEMS: 90.3% (28/31)	53.8% (21/39)
$al^{[37]}$	•	with stent placement: $n = 39$			- stent-related ulcers: 12.8% (5/39)	-Self-limiting bleed: 2	
2013		1 Postsurgical leaks: $n = 31$	Median time to removal: 33	FU: unknown	Major complications:	-Migrated stent	No subgroup
		2 Iatrogenic perforations: $n = 6$	(9-132) d		- severe bleed at upper end of stent: 2.6%	requiring surgical	analysis according to
		3 Boerhaave syndrome: $n = 2$			(1/39)	removal: 1	etiology
		Single start: 100% (30/30)			- death due to esophageal necrosis at movimal and of start: 2.6% (1/30)		
					Provinium care of social 2000 (1/20) Stent migration: 15.4% (6/39) Mortality rate: 25.6% (10/39)		
					<ul> <li>esophageal necrosis at proximal stent</li> </ul>		
					enu: 2.0 % (1/ 37) - not specified: 23.1% (9/39)		
Leenders et Re al <sup>[38]</sup>	etrospect	Patients with anastomotic leakage after	FC SEMS: 100% (31/31) PC SFMS: 100% (7/2)	Unknown	Minor complications: - stent disintegration all with FC SFMS.	FC SEMS: 100% (26/26) PC SEMS: 0% (0/2)	80.8% (21/26)
2013		= 26		FU: range 2-144 wk	11.5% (3/26)	-Traumatic removal due	
			Mean time to removal: 11		Major complications:	to tissue ingrowth: 2	
		Single stent: 81% (21/26) Multiple stents: 19% (5/26)	(1-63) wk		<ul> <li>- stent-related perforation with FC SEMS:</li> <li>3.8% (1/26)</li> </ul>		
					Stent migration: 24.2% (8/33)		
					- FC 3EM3: 23.0 % (0/ 31) Tissue ingrowth: 6.1% (2/33)		
					- PC SEMS: 100% (2/2)		
					Mortauty rate: 19.2% (5/26) - sepsis-related: 19.2% (5/26)		
Wilson <i>et al</i> <sup>[39]</sup> Re	etrospect	Patients treated with FC SEMS placement	FC SEMS: 100% (40/40)	Drainage procedure:	Major complications:	No subgroup analysis	94% (31/33) avoided
2013		for benign esophagogastric diseases: $n = 33$		66.7% (22/33)	- severe hemorrhage from aorta-	for patients with	open repair
		1 Perforation: $n = 7$	Average time to removal: 47 c	l VATS/open: 36.4%	esophageal fistula: 3.0% (1/33)	esophageal leaks,	-Postsurgical leaks:
		2 Anastomotic leak: $n = 14$		(12/33)	No subgroup analysis for patients with	fistulae and perforations	; 95% (19/20)
		3 Sleeve gastrectomy leak: $n = 6$		Tube thoracostomy:	esophageal leaks, fistulae and perforations:	-Stent fracture: 2	-Perforations: 86%
		4 Fistula: $n = 6$		21.2% (7/33)	- stent migration		(6/7)
				Percutaneous: 9.1%	- food impaction		-Fistulae: 100% (6/6)
		Single stent: missing Multiple stents: missing		(3/33)	Mortality rate: 0% (0/33)		
				FU: unknown			
Van Boeckel et Kt	etrospect	l'attents treated with a SEMS or SEI'S for	PC SEMS: 98% (60/ 61)	Concurrent fluid	Major complications:	88.7% (63/71) Tr:	65.4% (34/ 52)
at 7010		seaming a penign esopnageai rupture or anastomotic loak: n = 52	FC SEMS: 100% (12/12) SEPS: 100% (7/7)	uramage: 40.2% (24/ 32)	severe remosternal pain: 3.0% (2/ 32) - all PC GEMS	115sue in- and/ or overorowth at removal	No suboroun analysis
7107		and control teas. $n = 32$ 1 A mastromotic leak: $n = 32$		Median EII: 470 (25-1200)	- an 1 - OLANO Hemorrhage: 3.8% (7.75)	of 8 PC SEMS	according to etiology
		2 latrogenic perforation: $n = 13$	Median time to removal: 25	d	- FC SEMS: stent-related death 1.9% (1/52)	-Stent-in-stent	accounting to currenced
		3 Boerhaave syndrome: $n = 4$	(1-197) d		- PC SEMS: required adrenaline injections:	procedure: 4	PC SEMS: 69%
		4 Others: $n = 3$			1.9% (1/52)	-Esophageal rupture: 2	FC SEMS: 56%
					Ruptured stent cover: 7.2% (6/83)	-Second endoscopic	SEPS: 71 %
		Single stent: missing			- PC SEMS: 9.8% (6/61)	procedure: 1	
		Multiple stents: missing			Tissue in-/overgrowth: 9.6% (8/83)	-Esophagectomy: 1	
					- FC SEMIS: 13.1% (8/ 61)		
					Энни пивтации: 12.0% (10/ 03) БС СЕМС: 20% /3 /15)	lvot analyzeu accoruing to stout trues	
					- PC SEMS: 10% (6/61)	in sicul if pe	

Baishideng®

79% (11/14) No subgroup analysis according to etiology	90% (27/30)	76.7% (23/30) No subgroup analysis according to etiology
No subgroup analysis for patients with esophageal leaks and fistulae -Removal during surgery: 1	-Stent-in-stent procedure: 1 No. of removed stents missing One migrated stent o in a patient with an esophago-colonic anastomotic leak could not be removed	No. of removed stents missing Not analyzed according to stent type
<ul> <li>- SEPS: 14% (1/7)</li> <li>- Fod obstruction: 3.6% (3/83)</li> <li>- PC SEMS: 4.9% (3/61)</li> <li>Mortality rate: 13.5% (7/52)</li> <li>- severe stent-related hemorrhage: 1.9%</li> <li>(1/52)</li> <li>- sepsis related: 7.7% (4/52)</li> <li>- active euthanasia: 1.9% (1/52)</li> <li>Stent migration: 33.3% (8/24)</li> <li>Further complications not analyzed for subgroup of patients with fistulae and leaks</li> <li>- chest pain</li> <li>- globus sensation</li> </ul>	Mortality rate: 6.7% (1/15) - paraspinal abscess related to persistent fistula Major complications: - stent dislocation and inability to place new stent requiring rethoracotony: 3.3% (1/30) Stent migration not analyzed for subgroup of patients with esophageal leaks Mortality rate: (2/30) - persistent sepsis and multi-organ failure: 6.7% (2/30)	Minor complications: - pain: 6.7% (2/30) - hiccups: 3.3% (1/30) - nausea: 3.3% (1/30) Major complications: - bowel obstruction: 6.7% (2/30) - eft atrial compression: 3.3% (1/30) Stent migration: 6.7% (2/30) - not analyzed according to stent type Mortality rate: 10% (3/30) - multi-organ failure: 3.3% (1/30) - multiple emboli caused by esophago- atrial fistula: 3.3% (1/30) - aspiration during contrast study: 3.3% (1/30)
Unknown FU: unknown	Interventional drainage: 40% (12/30) Tracheotomy: 43% (13/30) Mean FU: 12.8 (1-61) mo	Chest tube thoracostomy: - Alone: 23.3% (7/30) - Additional intervention: 76.7% (23/30) Pleural decortication: 56.7% (17/30) Muscle-flap reinforcement: 36.7% (11/30) Average FU: 8.1 mo
FC SEMS: 100% (24/24) Median time to removal: 42.5 (3-122) d	Total no. of SEPS missing Technical success: 100% Mean time to stent removal: 30 (7-62) d	At least 62 stents - FC SEMS - PC SEMS Technical success: 100% Average duration of stenting: 29 d
Patients treated for benign esophageal conditions by FC SEMS placement: - fistula or leak: $n = 15$ Single stent: $67\%$ (10/15) Multiple stents: 33% (5/15)	Patients treated with SEPS for: - postoperative esophageal anastomotic leaks: $n = 30$ Single stent: missing Multiple stents: missing Excluded from analysis because patients were included with active malignancy: - esophageal perforations: $n = 6$	Patients treated with SEMS for esophageal or gastric perforation and intrathoracic contamination: <i>n</i> = 30 - postsurgical leak: <i>n</i> = 13 - boerhaave syndrome: <i>n</i> = 6 - iatrogenic perforation: <i>n</i> = 6 - fistulae: <i>n</i> = 4 - other perforation: <i>n</i> = 1 Single stent: 50% (15/30) Multiple stents: 50% (15/30)
Retrospect	Retrospect	Pro- and retrospect
Buscaglia <i>et</i> al <sup>[41]</sup> 2011	Dai <i>et al</i> <sup>[12]</sup> 2011	David <i>et al</i> <sup>(43)</sup> 2011 <i>et al</i> <sup>(43)</sup>



43.8% (7/16)	No subgroup analysis according to etiology	94% (16/17)	100% (9/9)	81.8% (9/11)	77.6% (59/76) No suberoun	analysis according to etiology
FC SEMS: 100% (16/16) One stent was retrieved	in two pieces	SEPS: 100% (14/14) FC SEMS: 100% (3/3)	FC SEMS: 100% (9/9)	PC SEMS: 100% (10/10)	PC SEMS: 24.4% (33/135) Stent-in-stent	procedure: 73.3% (99/135) Removal during surgery: 2.2% (3/135)
Minor complications: 1 Stent infolding/invagination: 6.3%	<ul> <li>(1/16)</li> <li>2 Chest pain: 6.3% (1/16)</li> <li>3 Dysphagia: 6.3% (1/16)</li> <li>4 Globus sensation: 6.3% (1/16)</li> <li>Major complications:</li> <li>1 Respiratory compromise: 6.3% (1/16)</li> <li>2 Aspiration pneumonia: 12.5% (2/16)</li> <li>Stent migration: 31.3% (5/16)</li> <li>Montality rate: 0% (0/16)</li> </ul>	No complications associated with stent placement or removal Stent migration: 17.6% (3/17) - not analyzed according to stent type Mortality rate: 0% (0/17)	No stent-related complications Mortality rate: 0% (0/9)	<ul> <li>Major complications:</li> <li>1 Death by hemorrhage from stent-related erosion into the aorta: 8.3% (1/12)</li> <li>2 Stent-related fistula after removal: 8.3% (1/12)</li> <li>5 Stent migration: n = missing Mucosal hyperproliferation: n = missing Mucosal hyperproliferation: n = missing 1.7 (1/12)</li> <li>1 Stent-related death by hemorrhage: 8.3% (1/12)</li> <li>2 Pulmonary aspiration after stent removal</li> </ul>	and successful healing of the leak: 8.3% (1/12) Minor complications: - transient stent-related dysphagia: 11.4% (10/88)	<ul> <li>(12) (1) (1) (1) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2</li></ul>
Dilation: 6.3% (1/16) PEG placement: 6.3%	(1/16) FU: unknown	VATS pleural drainage: 29.4% (5/17) Pharyngostomy: 5.9% (1/17) Tube jenunostomy: 5.9% (1/17)	FU: at least 3 mo after stent removal Percutaneous drainage: 22% (2/9) Tracheostomy: 11% (1/9) FU: unknown	Tube thoracostomy: 100% (12/12) FU: unknown	Drainage of collections: 47.7% (42/88) - Survical: 26.1% (23/88)	- Percutaneous: 15.9% (14/88) - Endoscopic: 5.7% (5/88)
FC SEMS: 100% (16/16)	In situ for: 51 ± 45 d (range 9-163)	SEPS: 100% (14/14) FC SEMS: 100% (3/3) Mean time to removal: 17 (12-27) d	FC SEMS: 100% (9/9) Removal after 6 wk	PC SEMS: 100% (12/12) Median time to removal: 48 (16-99) d	PC SEMS: 100% (153/153) Median time to removal for	33 PC SEMS: 23 d Median time to removal for 99 PC SEMS: 69 d
Patients with benign esophageal lesions treated with Alimaxx-E stent: <i>n</i> = 16	<ul> <li>postsurgical leaks: n = 11</li> <li>fistula: n = 1</li> <li>iatrogenic perforations: n = 3</li> <li>other: n = 1</li> <li>Single stent: 81% (13/16)</li> <li>Multiple stents: 19% (3/16)</li> </ul>	Hospitalized patients with an anastomotic leak after esophagectomy: $n = 17$ Single stent: 100% (17/17)	Patients who developed postoperative leaks after minimally invasive esophagectomy: <i>n</i> = 18 - conventional treatment: <i>n</i> = 9 - FC SEMS placement: <i>n</i> = 9	Single stent: $100\%$ (9/9) Patients treated with stent placement for intrathoracic leak after esophagectomy: $n =$ 12 Single stent: $100\%$ (12/12)	Patient treated with PC SEMS placement for $\left[\begin{array}{c} \text{Patient treated with PC SEMS placement for } \\ \text{benign upper GI leaks or perforations: } n = \\ 88 \end{array}\right]$	<ul> <li>postsurgical leaks: n = 65</li> <li>poethaave syndrome: n = 4</li> <li>iatrogenic perforation: n = 14</li> <li>other perforations: n = 5</li> </ul>
Pro- and retrospect		Unknown	l <sup>μs]</sup> Retrospect	et Retrospect	Retrospect	
Eloubeidi <i>et</i> al <sup>[13]</sup>	2011	Freeman <i>et</i> al <sup>[44]</sup> 2011	Nguyen <i>et a</i> 2011	Schweigert i al <sup>fei</sup> 2011	Swinnen <i>et</i> al <sup>[47]</sup> 2011	

Baishideng®

Single stent: 58% (51/88)	Follow-up after removal:	- tracheal compression: 1.1% (1/88)
Multiple stents: 42% (37/88)	3 mo: 83 % 7 mo: 81 % 1 yr: 72 %	<ul> <li>- dysphagia due to tissue hyperplasia:</li> <li>18.2% (16/88); PC SEMS: 10.5% (16/153)</li> <li>Stent migration: 11.1% (17/153) of PC</li> <li>SEMS mortality rate: 10.2% (9/88)</li> <li>1 Sepsis related: 3.4% (3/88)</li> <li>3 Full-blown AIDS: 1.1% (1/88)</li> <li>3 Full-blown AIDS: 1.1% (1/88)</li> <li>4 Cardiac disease: 1.1% (1/88)</li> <li>Three additional deaths during first 3 mo after treatment:</li> <li>1 Sepsis after surgery: 1.1% (1/88)</li> <li>3 Pneumonia: 1.1% (1/88)</li> </ul>
FC SEMS: Fully covered self-expandable metal stent; FU: Follow-up; PC SEMS: Partially cov endoscopic gastrostomy; OTSC: Over-the-scope-clips; IQR: Interquartile range.	vered self-expandable metal stent; SEP	Self-expandable plastic stent; VATS: Video-assisted thoracic surgery; PEC: Percutaneous
Tissue hyperplasia was directly reported or deduced out of contex stents). The rate of reactive tissue formation according to stent type Of the 812 stents that were inserted in 540 patients, food impanalyze food impaction according to type of stent.	tt (e.g., stent-in-stent proce was 0.4% (1/267) for FC SE iction was reported in 6 case	lure for removal) in 111 cases (28.9% of patients and 20.9% of MS, 50.5% (110/218) for PC SEMS and 0% (0/45) for SEPS. s (1.1% of patients and 0.7% of stents). Data were insufficient to
<b>Adverse events and mortality</b> : Two studies including 44 patients tients with benign esophageal leaks <sup>[30,41]</sup> . So adverse events were events were aron, which were analyzed separately, 80 (13.4%) patients suffered cation, which were 7.8% and 5.5%, respectively. Complication rates ac Mortality during the course of stent therapy was reported in 10.0° ed in three cases (0.5%). One was caused by severe bleeding in a pnecrosis at the proximal end of a FC SEMS resulted in a fatal outcor SEMS into the aorta <sup>[46]</sup> . Other non-stent-related causes for mortality	s and 88 stent placements cc valuated for 599 patients. E) a total of 82 complications d ccording to stent type are pre % of all patients with benign patient treated with a FC SEM me <sup>[37]</sup> . The third stent-related me summarized in Table 7.	uld not be analyzed because of missing subgroup analyses for pa- cluding stent migration, reactive tissue formation and food impac- ue to stent placement. The overall pooled major and minor compli- sented in Table 6. Leaks, perforations and fistulae. Stent-related mortality was report- leaks, perforations and fistulae. Stent-related mortality was report- S who refused further interventions <sup>[40]</sup> . In another case esophageal death was due to massive hemorrhage caused by erosion of a PC
<b>Stent removal:</b> The outcome of stent removal could be analyzed i pooled successful removal rate was 78.7% (437/555). Causes of failu = 104, 18.7%), surgical removal ( $n = 5$ , 0.9%), esophageal ruptures ic removal due to tissue ingrowth ( $n = 2$ , 0.4%) and additional endos successful removals, the overall successful stent removal rate increas 84% (158/187) were removed after a median period of 5 to 7 wk. Ft that was retrieved in two pieces. There were two cases of a self-limitin 109/149) were removed after a median period of 7 to 10 wk. One s	in 13 studies in which 555 c are were stent embedding by s ( $n = 2$ , 0.4%), irremovable scopic procedures ( $n = 1$ , 0.5 sed up to 97.5% (541/555). § C SEMS removal was success ng bleeding and one migrated study accounted for 91% (13	f the 615 inserted stents were subsequently removed. The overall granulation tissue requiring stent-in-stent procedures for removal ( <i>n</i> stent ( $n = 2$ , 0.4%), self-limiting bleedings ( $n = 2$ , 0.4%), traumat-%). When uneventful stent-in-stent procedures were considered as itent removal outcome could be analyzed for 187 FC SEMS of which ful in 98.4% (184/187) of procedures, including one fractured stent FC SEMS required surgical removal. The majority of PC SEMS (73%, 5/149) of the PC SEMS removals <sup>1471</sup> . Successful endoscopic removal



of PC SEMS was achieved in 29.5% (44/149) of cases and in 96.6% (144/149) after stent-in-stent procedures. Three PC SEMS were removed during surgery and two removals were traumatic due to tissue ingrowth. The two cases of esophageal rupture also occurred during the removal of PC SEMS, but could not be included

 
 Table 5
 Pooled analysis of 643 patients with benign esophageal leaks, perforations and fistulae treated with selfexpandable stent placement

Etiology	
Postsurgical leaks	415 (64.5)
Iatrogenic perforations	126 (19.6)
Boerhaave's syndrome	50 (7.8)
Fistulae	24 (3.7)
Others/not specified	28 (4.4)
Stent type of 852 stents used in 573 patients <sup>1</sup>	
FC SEMS	349 (41.0)
PC SEMS	321 (37.7)
SEPS	60 (7.0)
Stent type unknown	122 (14.3)
Technical success	
Overall	851 (99.9)
FC SEMS	349 (100)
PC SEMS	320 (99.7)
SEPS	60 (100)
Stent type unknown	122 (100)
No. of stents per patient	
Single stent placement	357 (55.5)
Multiple stents inserted	131 (20.4)
Unknown	155 (24.1)
Clinical success	
Overall $(n = 625)$	480 (76.8)
According to etiology $(n = 358)$	
Postsurgical leaks ( $n = 247$ )	201 (81.4)
Perforations <sup>2</sup> ( $n = 86$ )	74 (86.0)
Fistulae ( $n = 17$ )	11 (64.7)
Others/not specified $(n = 8)$	6 (75.0)

<sup>1</sup>In two studies including 70 patients the total number of stents used was not reported; <sup>2</sup>Including iatrogenic and spontaneous perforations. FC SEMS: Fully covered self-expandable metal stent; PC SEMS: Partially covered self-expandable metal stent; SEPS: Self-expandable plastic stent.

in the pooled analysis because the overall number of removed PC SEMS was not reported<sup>[40]</sup>. The ruptures were successfully treated with another stent. The outcome of SEPS removal could be extracted from one study and was successful in 100% (14/14) of cases after a mean stent time of 17 d<sup>[44]</sup>.

# DISCUSSION

This pooled analysis of the literature showed that the overall clinical success rate of self-expandable stent placement was 24.2% for refractory benign esophageal strictures and 76.8% for benign esophageal leaks, perforations and fistulae. With regard to refractory benign strictures, the meta-analysis by Thomas et al<sup>[7]</sup> found sustained improvement of dysphagia in 46.2% of patients treated with self-expandable stents, which is almost twice as high as the clinical success rate (24.2%) in this pooled analysis. Also the systematic review by Repici et al<sup>[48]</sup> reported a much higher clinical success rate of 52% after SEPS placement for benign esophageal strictures. The difference in clinical success between our pooled analysis and the aforementioned systematic reviews may be explained by the etiology and the severity of the strictures. The study population of Thomas *et al*<sup>[7]</sup> mainly

included corrosive (43%), postsurgical (25%) and radiation (11%) strictures. The etiologies of the patients in the systematic review on SEPS treatment mainly included postsurgical (38%), corrosive (25%) and radiation (15%) strictures<sup>[48]</sup>. In our analysis, peptic strictures accounted for 25.0% of patients, while corrosive strictures represented only 12.5%. However, the literature data were insufficient to analyze the clinical outcomes of stent placement according to stricture etiology. With regard to the severity of the strictures, Thomas et al<sup>[7]</sup> included three studies, that accounted for 50% of weight in the meta-analysis, in which patients had a history of two or less dilatations before stent placement. The review by Repici *et al*<sup>[48]</sup> did not provide details on the number of previous dilatations, but included mainly retrospective studies with heterogeneous definitions of refractory or recurrent strictures. We think that the more homogeneous population included in this analysis of prospective studies, that fulfilled Kochman's criteria<sup>[8]</sup>, had more severe strictures and therefore a poorer outcome of stent therapy. Thomas et al<sup>[7]</sup> reported a significantly higher clinical success rate for Polyflex stents (55.3%) compared with nitinol stents (36.7%). Our results also showed a lower clinical success rate with the use of FC SEMS (14.1%) compared with SEPS (27.1%) and BD stents (32.9%). We do not have a good explanation for this finding. Complication, stent migration and tissue response rates were not significantly higher with the use of FC SEMS.

Safety analyses in patients treated with selfexpandable stents for refractory benign strictures showed an overall complication rate of 31.0%, including a major complication rate of 17.7%. That complications are frequent during the course of stent therapy has also been demonstrated by several retrospective studies that were not included in our analyses<sup>[49-53]</sup>. The major complication rate of BD stents (28.6%) was twice as high as those of SEPS (14.3%) and FC SEMS (10.6%), because they caused more retrosternal pain, hyperplasia-induced stenoses and bleedings. Severe retrosternal pain occurred in 13.0% of patients who received a BD stent. Pain after stent placement has been postulated to be caused by the radial force of the stent against the tight stricture and is mainly reported within the first week after stent placement<sup>[9,11,15,49,53]</sup>. However, in vitro analysis of the radial and axial forces of 23 esophageal stent models showed that BD stents had a relatively low radial force and high axial force<sup>[54]</sup>. Therefore, it is more likely that because of the rigid stent design BD stents interact less well with the peristalsis of the esophagus causing more spasm and pain. In this analysis clinically relevant hyperplastic tissue growth was reported in 7.8% of BD stents. Two case series not included in this review also showed that reactive tissue formation is common after BD stent placement (Figure 3)<sup>[17,55]</sup>. The occurrence of tissue growth may be explained as a reaction to the chemical processes of degradation,

WJGE | www.wjgnet.com

Total number of patients analyzed: $n = 599$	No. of patients $(n = 599)$	No. of FC SEMS $(n = 295)$	No. of PC SEMS $(n = 302)$	No. of SEPS $(n = 75)^{1}$	Stent type unknown $(n = 162)^2$
Overall complications	$80^3$ (13.4)	26 (8.8)	38 (12.6)	1 (1.3)	17 (10.5)
Overall major complications	$47^{3}(7.8)$	11 (3.7)	28 (9.3)	1 (1.3)	8 (4.9)
Hyperplasia-induced stenosis	16 (2.7)	0	16	0	0
Hemorrhage <sup>4</sup>	8 (1.3)	2 <sup>4</sup>	6	0	0
Stent-related perforation	6 (1.0)	4	1	0	1
Aspiration pneumonia	4 (0.7)	2	0	0	2
Respiratory compromise/ tracheal compression	2 (0.3)	1	1	0	0
Severe retrosternal pain	2 (0.3)	0	2	0	0
Bowel obstruction	2 (0.3)	0	0	0	2
Erosion <sup>4</sup>	2 (0.3)	0	$1^4$	0	1
Hemorrhage from aorta-esophageal fistula	1 (0.2)	1	0	0	0
Stricture formation	1 (0.2)	0	0	0	1
Stent-related fistula	1 (0.2)	0	1	0	0
Stent dislocation and inability to place new stent	1 (0.2)	0	0	1	0
requiring rethoracotomy	. ,				
Left atrial compression	1 (0.2)	0	0	0	1
Death due to esophageal necrosis at proximal stent end	1 (0.2)	1	0	0	0
Overall minor complications	33 <sup>3</sup> (5.5)	15 (5.1)	10 (3.3)	0 (0)	9 (5.6)
Transient stent-related dysphagia	11 (1.8)	1	10	0	0
Stent-related ulcers	5 (0.8)	5	0	0	0
Reflux/esophagitis	3 (0.5)	0	0	0	3
Chest pain	3 (0.5)	1	0	0	2
Stent disintegration	3 (0.5)	3	0	0	0
Stent collapse/invagination	2 (0.3)	1	0	0	1
Pneumoperitoneum during endoscopy secondary to air	1 (0.2)	1	0	0	0
insufflation					
Atrial fibrillation related to sedation	1 (0.2)	1	0	0	0
Stent malposition	1 (0.2)	1	0	0	0
Abdominal pain	1 (0.2)	0	0	0	1
Nausea	1 (0.2)	0	0	0	1
Globus sensation	1 (0.2)	1	0	0	0
Hiccups	1 (0.2)	0	0	0	1

## Table 6 Pooled analysis of adverse events in patients with benign esophageal leaks, perforations and fistulae

<sup>1</sup>Including 30 patients in whom the number of SEPS used was not reported; <sup>2</sup>Including 40 patients in whom the number of stents used was not reported; <sup>3</sup>Patients can have more than one complication; <sup>4</sup>Including one stent-related death. FC SEMS: Fully covered self-expandable metal stent; PC SEMS: Partially covered self-expandable metal stent; SEPS: Self-expandable plastic stent.

#### Table 7 Overall mortality in 643 patients treated with selfexpandable stents for benign esophageal leaks, perforations and fistulae n (%)

Overall mortality	64 (10.0)
Stent-related	3 (0.5)
Sepsis-related	23 (3.6)
Multi-organ failure	5 (0.8)
Cerebral embolism/cerebrovascular accident	2 (0.3)
Heart insufficiency/cardiac disease	2 (0.3)
Pneumonia	2 (0.3)
Malignancy	2 (0.3)
Non stent-related bleeding	1 (0.2)
Respiratory insufficiency without sepsis	1 (0.2)
Pulmonary embolism	1 (0.2)
Acute respiratory distress syndrome	1 (0.2)
Pulmonary aspiration after healing of leak	1 (0.2)
Aortic dissection	1 (0.2)
Tension pneumothorax	1 (0.2)
Paraspinal abscess related to persistent fistula	1 (0.2)
Full-blown AIDS	1 (0.2)
Aspiration during contrast study	1 (0.2)
Multiple emboli caused by esophago-atrial fistula	1 (0.2)
Active euthanasia	1 (0.2)
Not specified	13 (2.0)

which may also trigger bleedings from the affected esophageal mucosa. So one should be aware that the higher efficacy of BD stent placement is attended by an increased risk of complications.

The clinical success rate (76.8%) of self-expandable stent placement for benign esophageal leaks, perforations and fistulae found in this pooled analysis is comparable with the 81% of the systematic review by Dasari et al<sup>[1]</sup> (Figure 4A and B). In contrast to our analysis, the latter review excluded patients with leaks from the gastric staple line after sleeve gastrectomy and did not analyze patients with fistulae. In our study clinical success according to etiology was 81.4% for postsurgical leaks, 86.0% for perforations and 64.7% for fistulae. Though derived from retrospective series, these results seem promising. Patients with esophageal leaks or ruptures are usually in poor condition with elevated septic parameters and require invasive management, like drainage procedures, surgery and ICU care. This is reflected by the increased mortality rate of 7.2%-25.8% after postsurgical esophageal leakage<sup>[56-58]</sup>. Several treatment strategies have been described for the management





Figure 3 Endoscopic image of granulation tissue growth 4 mo after biodegradable stent placement for a refractory benign esophageal anastomotic stricture.

of esophageal leaks, such as endoscopic vacuum therapy, nose fistula tube drainage, surgical repair and conservative management<sup>[59-61]</sup>. Retrospective comparison of 41 patients with an anastomotic leak after esophagectomy who were matched by clinical status, showed that endoscopic vacuum therapy resulted in a lower mortality rate (12%, 2/17) compared with surgical treatment (50%, 9/18) and stent placement (83%, 5/6) in systemically ill patients<sup>[58]</sup>. Another retrospective study reported a significantly higher closure rate after endoscopic vacuum therapy (84%) compared with stent therapy (53.8%) in 71 patients with esophageal defects<sup>[37]</sup>. However, one should keep in mind that success of stent placement depends on the size of the esophageal lesion, the delay between diagnosis and stent placement and if the patient has elevated septic parameters<sup>[30,33,34,47]</sup>. Stent placement is most likely to fail in a large lesion (> 15 mm), that exists for several weeks in a septic patient. Therefore, patients with an esophageal leak should receive a multidisciplinary patient-tailored approach.

The removability of self-expandable stents was safe and feasible with an overall successful removal rate of 97.2% in patients with refractory strictures and 78.7% in patients with esophageal leaks. The fact that PC SEMS were used in 38% of patients with esophageal leaks resulted in a lower overall successful removal rate. PC SEMS removal was often complicated by stent embedding requiring stent-in-stent procedures to induce pressure-necrosis of the granulation tissue to facilitate the removal procedure. The vast majority of stent-in-stent procedures were reported in the study by Swinnen *et al*<sup>[47]</sup>. The removal</sup> of FC SEMS and SEPS removal was much safer with successful removal rates of 96.6% up to 98.4%. The relation between the use of PC SEMS and complicated stent removal has also been demonstrated by several large retrospective series<sup>[62,63]</sup>.

This pooled analysis of the literature has several limitations. The prospective data on the outcomes of stent placement for refractory benign esophageal strictures reflect a patient population with various



Figure 4 A small leak at the anastomosis of the esophagus and the gastric tube 5 d after esophagectomy (A) and esophageal fully covered self-expandable metal stent placement for a small anastomotic leak (B).

causes for stricture formation. Data were insufficient to provide analyses according to stricture etiology. The studies that were analyzed on the outcomes of esophageal stent placement for benign leaks, perforations and fistulae were all retrospective, causing heterogeneity and underreporting of adverse outcomes.

In conclusion, the outcomes of self-expandable stent placement for refractory benign esophageal strictures were poor with a clinical success rate of 24.4% and a major complication rate of 17.7%. However, randomized trials are needed to put these outcomes into perspective. Although derived from retrospective series, the evidence on stent placement for benign esophageal leaks, perforations and fistulae is promising with an overall clinical success rate of 76.8%.

# COMMENTS

## Background

Self-expandable stents in various types are increasingly being used for the treatment of refractory benign esophageal strictures and benign esophageal leaks, perforations and fistulae.

## Research frontiers

It is hypothesized that esophageal stent placement for benign refractory strictures prolongs the dysphagia-free period compared with conventional dilatation therapy. Besides application for the treatment of strictures, esophageal stents are also used to seal leaks, perforations and fistulae.

#### Innovations and breakthroughs

The literature on esophageal stent placement for benign indications is heterogeneous and usually includes small samples. In this systematic review

we performed a pooled analysis on the treatment outcomes of 232 patients with refractory strictures and 643 patients with leaks, perforations and fistulae.

## Applications

This pooled analysis may be helpful for the endoscopist in the decision-making on the indication for esophageal stent placement and also to inform the patient on the risks and benefits of stent therapy.

# Terminology

Biodegradable stents are only used for strictures, because they have the property to dissolve. Nitinol metal stents (SEMS) have an outer membrane of silicone or polytetrafluoroethylene to prevent hyperplastic tissue ingrowth. Because they are covered, they are removable and can also be used to seal leaks. Partially covered SEMS usually become partially embedded by granulation tissue, which prevents stent migration, but makes them harder to remove. Self-expandable plastic stents consist of plastic instead of metal and are fully covered.

## **Peer-review**

This review is well-written and comprehensive review about this subject.

# REFERENCES

- Dasari BV, Neely D, Kennedy A, Spence G, Rice P, Mackle E, Epanomeritakis E. The role of esophageal stents in the management of esophageal anastomotic leaks and benign esophageal perforations. *Ann Surg* 2014; 259: 852-860 [PMID: 24509201 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000000564]
- 2 Knyrim K, Wagner HJ, Bethge N, Keymling M, Vakil N. A controlled trial of an expansile metal stent for palliation of esophageal obstruction due to inoperable cancer. N Engl J Med 1993; 329: 1302-1307 [PMID: 7692297 DOI: 10.1056/ NEJM199310283291803]
- 3 De Palma GD, di Matteo E, Romano G, Fimmano A, Rondinone G, Catanzano C. Plastic prosthesis versus expandable metal stents for palliation of inoperable esophageal thoracic carcinoma: a controlled prospective study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1996; 43: 478-482 [PMID: 8726762]
- 4 Siersema PD, Hop WC, Dees J, Tilanus HW, van Blankenstein M. Coated self-expanding metal stents versus latex prostheses for esophagogastric cancer with special reference to prior radiation and chemotherapy: a controlled, prospective study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1998; 47: 113-120 [PMID: 9512274]
- 5 Davies N, Thomas HG, Eyre-Brook IA. Palliation of dysphagia from inoperable oesophageal carcinoma using Atkinson tubes or self-expanding metal stents. *Ann R Coll Surg Engl* 1998; 80: 394-397 [PMID: 10209405]
- 6 Birch JF, White SA, Berry DP, Veitch PS. A cost-benefit comparison of self-expanding metal stents and Atkinson tubes for the palliation of obstructing esophageal tumors. *Dis Esophagus* 1998; 11: 172-176 [PMID: 9844799]
- 7 Thomas T, Abrams KR, Subramanian V, Mannath J, Ragunath K. Esophageal stents for benign refractory strictures: a meta-analysis. *Endoscopy* 2011; 43: 386-393 [PMID: 21437850 DOI: 10.1055/ s-0030-1256331]
- 8 Kochman ML, McClave SA, Boyce HW. The refractory and the recurrent esophageal stricture: a definition. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2005; 62: 474-475 [PMID: 16111985 DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2005.04.050]
- 9 Chaput U, Heresbach D, Audureau E, Vanbiervliet G, Gaudric M, Bichard P, Bauret P, Coumaros D, Ponchon T, Fumex F, Bensoussan E, Lamouliatte H, Chryssostalis A, Robin F, Prat F. Comparison of a standard fully covered stent with a super-thick silicone-covered stent for the treatment of refractory esophageal benign strictures: A prospective multicenter study. United European Gastroenterol J 2013; 1: 93-102 [PMID: 24917946 DOI: 10.1177/2050640613476501]
- 10 Canena JM, Liberato MJ, Rio-Tinto RA, Pinto-Marques PM, Romão CM, Coutinho AV, Neves BA, Santos-Silva MF. A comparison of the temporary placement of 3 different selfexpanding stents for the treatment of refractory benign esophageal strictures: a prospective multicentre study. *BMC Gastroenterol*

2012; 12: 70 [PMID: 22691296 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230X-12-70]

- 11 Hirdes MM, Siersema PD, van Boeckel PG, Vleggaar FP. Single and sequential biodegradable stent placement for refractory benign esophageal strictures: a prospective follow-up study. *Endoscopy* 2012; 44: 649-654 [PMID: 22723182 DOI: 10.1055/ s-0032-1309818]
- 12 **Hirdes MM**, Siersema PD, Vleggaar FP. A new fully covered metal stent for the treatment of benign and malignant dysphagia: a prospective follow-up study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **75**: 712-718 [PMID: 22284093 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.11.036]
- 13 Eloubeidi MA, Talreja JP, Lopes TL, Al-Awabdy BS, Shami VM, Kahaleh M. Success and complications associated with placement of fully covered removable self-expandable metal stents for benign esophageal diseases (with videos). *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; **73**: 673-681 [PMID: 21272871 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.11.014]
- 14 van Boeckel PG, Vleggaar FP, Siersema PD. A comparison of temporary self-expanding plastic and biodegradable stents for refractory benign esophageal strictures. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011; 9: 653-659 [PMID: 21586341 DOI: 10.1016/ j.cgh.2011.04.006]
- 15 Repici A, Vleggaar FP, Hassan C, van Boeckel PG, Romeo F, Pagano N, Malesci A, Siersema PD. Efficacy and safety of biodegradable stents for refractory benign esophageal strictures: the BEST (Biodegradable Esophageal Stent) study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010; **72**: 927-934 [PMID: 21034894 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.07.031]
- 16 Dua KS, Vleggaar FP, Santharam R, Siersema PD. Removable self-expanding plastic esophageal stent as a continuous, nonpermanent dilator in treating refractory benign esophageal strictures: a prospective two-center study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2008; 103: 2988-2994 [PMID: 18786110 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1572-0241.2008.02177.x]
- 17 van Hooft JE, van Berge Henegouwen MI, Rauws EA, Bergman JJ, Busch OR, Fockens P. Endoscopic treatment of benign anastomotic esophagogastric strictures with a biodegradable stent. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 73: 1043-1047 [PMID: 21392754 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.01.001]
- 18 Evrard S, Le Moine O, Lazaraki G, Dormann A, El Nakadi I, Devière J. Self-expanding plastic stents for benign esophageal lesions. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2004; 60: 894-900 [PMID: 15605003]
- 19 Repici A, Conio M, De Angelis C, Battaglia E, Musso A, Pellicano R, Goss M, Venezia G, Rizzetto M, Saracco G. Temporary placement of an expandable polyester silicone-covered stent for treatment of refractory benign esophageal strictures. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2004; 60: 513-519 [PMID: 15472671]
- 20 Eloubeidi MA, Lopes TL. Novel removable internally fully covered self-expanding metal esophageal stent: feasibility, technique of removal, and tissue response in humans. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2009; **104**: 1374-1381 [PMID: 19491851 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2009.133]
- 21 Biancari F, Saarnio J, Mennander A, Hypén L, Salminen P, Kuttila K, Victorzon M, Böckelman C, Tarantino E, Tiffet O, Koivukangas V, Søreide JA, Viste A, Bonavina L, Vidarsdóttir H, Gudbjartsson T. Outcome of patients with esophageal perforations: a multicenter study. *World J Surg* 2014; **38**: 902-909 [PMID: 24174169 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-013]
- 22 Elbe P, Lindblad M, Tsai J, Juto JE, Henriksson G, Agustsson T, Lundell L, Nilsson M. Non-malignant respiratory tract fistula from the oesophagus. A lethal condition for which novel therapeutic options are emerging. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2013; 16: 257-262 [PMID: 23184563 DOI: 10.1093/icvts/ivs478]
- Schweigert M, Solymosi N, Dubecz A, Stadlhuber RJ, Muschweck H, Ofner D, Stein HJ. Endoscopic stent insertion for anastomotic leakage following oesophagectomy. *Ann R Coll Surg Engl* 2013; 95: 43-47 [PMID: 23317727 DOI: 10.1308/003588413X13511609 956255]
- 24 Schweigert M, Dubecz A, Beron M, Muschweck H, Stein HJ. Management of anastomotic leakage-induced tracheobronchial fistula following oesophagectomy: the role of endoscopic stent insertion. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2012; **41**: e74-e80 [PMID: 22371521 DOI: 10.1093/ejcts/ezr328]

- 25 Donatelli G, Dhumane P, Perretta S, Dallemagne B, Vix M, Mutter D, Dritsas S, Doffoel M, Marescaux J. Endoscopic placement of fully covered self expanding metal stents for management of post-operative foregut leaks. *J Minim Access Surg* 2012; 8: 118-124 [PMID: 23248437 DOI: 10.4103/0972-9941.103109]
- 26 Seven G, Irani S, Ross AS, Gan SI, Gluck M, Low D, Kozarek RA. Partially versus fully covered self-expanding metal stents for benign and malignant esophageal conditions: a single center experience. *Surg Endosc* 2013; 27: 2185-2192 [PMID: 23370964 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-012-2738-x]
- 27 Dubecz A, Watson TJ, Raymond DP, Jones CE, Matousek A, Allen J, Salvador R, Polomsky M, Peters JH. Esophageal stenting for malignant and benign disease: 133 cases on a thoracic surgical service. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2011; 92: 2028-232; discussion 2028-232; [PMID: 22115214 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2011.08.0 33]
- 28 Schweigert M, Dubecz A, Stadlhuber RJ, Muschweck H, Stein HJ. Risk of stent-related aortic erosion after endoscopic stent insertion for intrathoracic anastomotic leaks after esophagectomy. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2011; 92: 513-518 [PMID: 21592460 DOI: 10.1016/ j.athoracsur.2011.02.083]
- 29 Dua KS, Latif SU, Yang JF, Fang TC, Khan A, Oh Y. Efficacy and safety of a new fully covered self-expandable non-foreshortening metal esophageal stent. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2014; 80: 577-585 [PMID: 24685007 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2014.02.005]
- 30 El Hajj II, Imperiale TF, Rex DK, Ballard D, Kesler KA, Birdas TJ, Fatima H, Kessler WR, DeWitt JM. Treatment of esophageal leaks, fistulae, and perforations with temporary stents: evaluation of efficacy, adverse events, and factors associated with successful outcomes. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2014; **79**: 589-598 [PMID: 24125513 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.08.039]
- 31 Freeman RK, Ascioti AJ, Dake M, Mahidhara RS. An analysis of esophageal stent placement for persistent leak after the operative repair of intrathoracic esophageal perforations. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2014; 97: 1715-1719; discussion 1715-1719 [PMID: 24629300 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2014.01.011]
- 32 **Gubler C**, Bauerfeind P. Self-expandable stents for benign esophageal leakages and perforations: long-term single-center experience. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2014; **49**: 23-29 [PMID: 24164499 DOI: 10.3109/00365521.2013.850735]
- 33 Orive-Calzada A, Calderón-García Á, Bernal-Martínez A, Díaz-Roca AB, Barrio-Beraza I, Cabriada-Nuño JL, Orive-Cura VM. Closure of benign leaks, perforations, and fistulas with temporary placement of fully covered metal stents: a retrospective analysis. *Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech* 2014; 24: 528-536 [PMID: 24710256 DOI: 10.1097/SLE.0b013e318293c4d8]
- 34 Persson S, Elbe P, Rouvelas I, Lindblad M, Kumagai K, Lundell L, Nilsson M, Tsai JA. Predictors for failure of stent treatment for benign esophageal perforations a single center 10-year experience. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 10613-10619 [PMID: 25132783 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i30.10613]
- 35 Sharaiha RZ, Kim KJ, Singh VK, Lennon AM, Amateau SK, Shin EJ, Canto MI, Kalloo AN, Khashab MA. Endoscopic stenting for benign upper gastrointestinal strictures and leaks. *Surg Endosc* 2014; 28: 178-184 [PMID: 24013467]
- 36 Shim CN, Kim HI, Hyung WJ, Noh SH, Song MK, Kang DR, Park JC, Lee H, Shin SK, Lee YC, Lee SK. Self-expanding metal stents or nonstent endoscopic therapy: which is better for anastomotic leaks after total gastrectomy? *Surg Endosc* 2014; 28: 833-840 [PMID: 24114516 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-013-3228-5]
- 37 Brangewitz M, Voigtländer T, Helfritz FA, Lankisch TO, Winkler M, Klempnauer J, Manns MP, Schneider AS, Wedemeyer J. Endoscopic closure of esophageal intrathoracic leaks: stent versus endoscopic vacuum-assisted closure, a retrospective analysis. *Endoscopy* 2013; 45: 433-438 [PMID: 23733727 DOI: 10.1055/s-0032-1326435]
- 38 Leenders BJ, Stronkhorst A, Smulders FJ, Nieuwenhuijzen GA, Gilissen LP. Removable and repositionable covered metal selfexpandable stents for leaks after upper gastrointestinal surgery: experiences in a tertiary referral hospital. *Surg Endosc* 2013; 27:

2751-2759 [PMID: 23436082 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-013-2802-1]

- 39 Wilson JL, Louie BE, Farivar AS, Vallières E, Aye RW. Fully covered self-expanding metal stents are effective for benign esophagogastric disruptions and strictures. J Gastrointest Surg 2013; 17: 2045-2050 [PMID: 24065368 DOI: 10.1007/ s11605-013-2357-4]
- 40 van Boeckel PG, Dua KS, Weusten BL, Schmits RJ, Surapaneni N, Timmer R, Vleggaar FP, Siersema PD. Fully covered self-expandable metal stents (SEMS), partially covered SEMS and self-expandable plastic stents for the treatment of benign esophageal ruptures and anastomotic leaks. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2012; 12: 19 [PMID: 22375711 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230X-12-19]
- 41 Buscaglia JM, Ho S, Sethi A, Dimaio CJ, Nagula S, Stavropoulos SN, Gonda TA, Poneros JM, Stevens PD. Fully covered self-expandable metal stents for benign esophageal disease: a multicenter retrospective case series of 31 patients. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 74: 207-211 [PMID: 21549373 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.02.024]
- 42 Dai Y, Chopra SS, Kneif S, Hünerbein M. Management of esophageal anastomotic leaks, perforations, and fistulae with selfexpanding plastic stents. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2011; 141: 1213-1217 [PMID: 21167516 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2010.07.096]
- 43 David EA, Kim MP, Blackmon SH. Esophageal salvage with removable covered self-expanding metal stents in the setting of intrathoracic esophageal leakage. *Am J Surg* 2011; 202: 796-801; discussion 801 [PMID: 22137138 DOI: 10.1016/ j.amjsurg.2011.06.042]
- 44 Freeman RK, Vyverberg A, Ascioti AJ. Esophageal stent placement for the treatment of acute intrathoracic anastomotic leak after esophagectomy. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2011; 92: 204-208; discussion 208 [PMID: 21549349 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2011. 02.016]
- 45 Nguyen NT, Rudersdorf PD, Smith BR, Reavis K, Nguyen XM, Stamos MJ. Management of gastrointestinal leaks after minimally invasive esophagectomy: conventional treatments vs. endoscopic stenting. *J Gastrointest Surg* 2011; **15**: 1952-1960 [PMID: 21904963 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-011-1658-8]
- 46 Schweigert M, Dubecz A, Stadlhuber RJ, Muschweck H, Stein HJ. Treatment of intrathoracic esophageal anastomotic leaks by means of endoscopic stent implantation. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2011; 12: 147-151 [PMID: 21106566 DOI: 10.1510/ icvts.2010.247866]
- 47 Swinnen J, Eisendrath P, Rigaux J, Kahegeshe L, Lemmers A, Le Moine O, Devière J. Self-expandable metal stents for the treatment of benign upper GI leaks and perforations. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; **73**: 890-899 [PMID: 21521563 DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2010.12.019]
- 48 Repici A, Hassan C, Sharma P, Conio M, Siersema P. Systematic review: the role of self-expanding plastic stents for benign oesophageal strictures. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2010; **31**: 1268-1275 [PMID: 20236257 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2010.04301.x]
- 49 Dan DT, Gannavarapu B, Lee JG, Chang K, Muthusamy VR. Removable esophageal stents have poor efficacy for the treatment of refractory benign esophageal strictures (RBES). *Dis Esophagus* 2014; 27: 511-517 [PMID: 23121426 DOI: 10.1111/j.1442-2050.2012.01432.x]
- 50 Bakken JC, Wong Kee Song LM, de Groen PC, Baron TH. Use of a fully covered self-expandable metal stent for the treatment of benign esophageal diseases. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010; 72: 712-720 [PMID: 20883848 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.06.028]
- 51 Senousy BE, Gupte AR, Draganov PV, Forsmark CE, Wagh MS. Fully covered Alimaxx esophageal metal stents in the endoscopic treatment of benign esophageal diseases. *Dig Dis Sci* 2010; 55: 3399-3403 [PMID: 20859687 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-010-1415-y]
- 52 Kim JH, Song HY, Choi EK, Kim KR, Shin JH, Lim JO. Temporary metallic stent placement in the treatment of refractory benign esophageal strictures: results and factors associated with outcome in 55 patients. *Eur Radiol* 2009; **19**: 384-390 [PMID: 18726598 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-008-1151-2]
- 53 Holm AN, de la Mora Levy JG, Gostout CJ, Topazian MD, Baron

TH. Self-expanding plastic stents in treatment of benign esophageal conditions. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2008; **67**: 20-25 [PMID: 17945227 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2007.04.031]

- 54 Hirdes MM, Vleggaar FP, de Beule M, Siersema PD. In vitro evaluation of the radial and axial force of self-expanding esophageal stents. *Endoscopy* 2013; 45: 997-1005 [PMID: 24288220 DOI: 10.1055/s-0033-1344985]
- 55 Karakan T, Utku OG, Dorukoz O, Sen I, Colak B, Erdal H, Karatay E, Tahtaci M, Cengiz M. Biodegradable stents for caustic esophageal strictures: a new therapeutic approach. *Dis Esophagus* 2013; 26: 319-322 [PMID: 22974043 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1442-2050.2012.01418.x]
- 56 Kassis ES, Kosinski AS, Ross P, Koppes KE, Donahue JM, Daniel VC. Predictors of anastomotic leak after esophagectomy: an analysis of the society of thoracic surgeons general thoracic database. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2013; 96: 1919-1926 [PMID: 24075499 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2013.07.119]
- 57 Rutegård M, Lagergren P, Rouvelas I, Lagergren J. Intrathoracic anastomotic leakage and mortality after esophageal cancer resection: a population-based study. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2012; 19: 99-103 [PMID: 21769467 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-011-1926-6]
- 58 Schniewind B, Schafmayer C, Voehrs G, Egberts J, von Schoenfels W, Rose T, Kurdow R, Arlt A, Ellrichmann M, Jürgensen C, Schreiber S, Becker T, Hampe J. Endoscopic endoluminal vacuum therapy is superior to other regimens in managing anastomotic leakage after esophagectomy: a comparative retrospective study.

*Surg Endosc* 2013; **27**: 3883-3890 [PMID: 23708716 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-013-2998-0]

- 59 Ahrens M, Schulte T, Egberts J, Schafmayer C, Hampe J, Fritscher-Ravens A, Broering DC, Schniewind B. Drainage of esophageal leakage using endoscopic vacuum therapy: a prospective pilot study. *Endoscopy* 2010; 42: 693-698 [PMID: 20806153 DOI: 10.1055/s-0030-1255688]
- 60 Hu Z, Yin R, Fan X, Zhang Q, Feng C, Yuan F, Chen J, Jiang F, Li N, Xu L. Treatment of intrathoracic anastomotic leak by nose fistula tube drainage after esophagectomy for cancer. *Dis Esophagus* 2011; 24: 100-107 [PMID: 20819102 DOI: 10.1111/j.1442-]
- 61 Kotzampassakis N, Christodoulou M, Krueger T, Demartines N, Vuillemier H, Cheng C, Dorta G, Ris HB. Esophageal leaks repaired by a muscle onlay approach in the presence of mediastinal sepsis. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2009; 88: 966-972 [PMID: 19699929 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2009.05.011]
- 62 van Halsema EE, Wong Kee Song LM, Baron TH, Siersema PD, Vleggaar FP, Ginsberg GG, Shah PM, Fleischer DE, Ratuapli SK, Fockens P, Dijkgraaf MG, Rando G, Repici A, van Hooft JE. Safety of endoscopic removal of self-expandable stents after treatment of benign esophageal diseases. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; 77: 18-28 [PMID: 23261092 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2012.09.001]
- 63 van Heel NC, Haringsma J, Wijnhoven BP, Kuipers EJ. Endoscopic removal of self-expandable metal stents from the esophagus (with video). *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 74: 44-50 [PMID: 21549376 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.02.020]

P- Reviewer: Bustamante-Balen M, Chen MJ, Nishida T S- Editor: Ji FF L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang DN







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/ Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v7.i2.154 World J Gastrointest Endosc 2015 February 16; 7(2): 154-158 ISSN 1948-5190 (online) © 2015 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

CASE REPORT

# Rare case of dysphagia, skin blistering, missing nails in a young boy

Jasbir Makker, Bharat Bajantri, Prospere Remy

Jasbir Makker, Bharat Bajantri, Prospere Remy, Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Medicine, Bronx Lebanon Hospital Center, Albert Einstein College of Medicine of Yeshiva University, New York, NY 10457, United States

Author contributions: Makker J and Bajantri B contributed equally in writing the manuscript; Remy P edited and approved the final version of manuscript.

Ethics approval: Institutional Review Board waiver was obtained.

**Informed consent:** Informed written consent was obtained prior to writing this case report.

**Conflict-of-interest:** Authors have no conflicts of interests to declare.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Correspondence to: Jasbir Makker, Gastroenterology Fellow, Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Medicine, Bronx Lebanon Hospital Center, Albert Einstein College of Medicine of Yeshiva University, 1650 Grand Concourse Bronx, New York, NY 10457, United States. makkerjs@gmail.com

Telephone: +1-347-3228242 Fax: +1-718-5185111 Received: October 2, 2014 Peer-review started: October 12, 2014 First decision: December 12, 2014 Revised: December 22, 2014 Accepted: January 9, 2015 Article in press: January 12, 2015 Published online: February 16, 2015

# Abstract

Epidermolysis bullosa is a group of genetic disorders with an autosomal dominant or an autosomal recessive mode of inheritance and more than 300 mutations. The disorder is characterized by blistering mucocutaneous lesions and has several varying phenotypes due to

anchoring defect between the epidermis and dermis. The variation in phenotypic expression depends on the involved structural protein that mediates cell adherence between different layers of the skin. Epidermolysis bullosa can also involve extra-cutaneous sites including eye, nose, ear, upper airway, genitourinary tract and gastrointestinal tract. The most prominent feature of the gastrointestinal tract involvement is development of esophageal stricture. The stricture results from recurrent esophageal mucosal blistering with consequent scarring and most commonly involves the upper esophagus. Here we present a case of a young boy with dominant subtype of dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa who presented with dysphagia, extensive skin blistering and missing nails. Management of an esophageal stricture eventually requires dilatation of the stricture or placement of a gastrostomy tube to keep up with the nutritional requirements. Gastrostomy tube also provides access for esophageal stricture dilatation in cases where antegrade approach through the mouth has failed.

Key words: Epidermolysis bullosa; Dysphagia; Esophageal stenosis; Gastrostomy; Blistering

© **The Author(s) 2015.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** Epidermolysis bullosa is a genetic disorder with four main types. The most prominent feature of the disease is extensive skin blisters. Extra-cutaneous manifestations like dysphagia vary among different subtypes. Recessive type of dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa is the subtype most commonly associated with esophageal strictures. Treatment of dysphagia secondary to esophageal stricture involves changing diet texture, dilatation of the stricture and placement of a gastrostomy tube.

Makker J, Bajantri B, Remy P. Rare case of dysphagia, skin blistering, missing nails in a young boy. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2015; 7(2): 154-158 Available from: URL: http://www.



wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v7/i2/154.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.4253/wjge.v7.i2.154

# INTRODUCTION

Epidermolysis bullosa is a multisystem inherited disorder with extensive skin blistering as the most prominent feature. Four distinct types of epidermolysis bullosa recognized are epidermolysis bullosa simplex (EBS), junctional epidermolysis bullosa (JEB), dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa (DEB) and kindler syndrome. Severity and extent of cutaneous and extra-cutaneous features can vary among different subtypes and depends on the type of skin structural protein affected.

# CASE REPORT

A 15-year-old boy with blistering skin disease since birth presented to this hospital complaining of worsening dysphagia for 3 d. He had been generally well till the age of 9 years when he started experiencing dysphagia. He described his symptoms as gradually worsening difficulty in swallowing solids for past 6 years. He mostly consumed liquids and soft consistency meals during these years. He reported an episode of worsening swallowing difficulty with inability to swallow liquids as well about 6 mo prior to presentation. At that time, he was admitted to another hospital and a barium esophagogram was obtained which showed upper esophageal stenosis. He also reported a failed endoscopic attempt at that time. Subsequently, he improved spontaneously in 2-3 d and resumed his liquid diet until 3 d ago when he again experienced difficulty swallowing liquids and solids both. He described his symptoms as inability to swallow and the food being stuck in his throat. He also claimed to have a choking sensation when he tried to drink milk. He denied chest pain, shortness of breath, fever and drooling of saliva. He denied any worsening of his skin condition.

He had an extensive skin blistering disease since birth and was advised by his pediatric dermatologist to use a moisturizing cream on the raw skin areas exposed by ruptured blisters. Review of his skin lesion biopsy done previously revealed the diagnosis of dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa dominant type. He denied any prior surgeries. He did not smoke, use alcohol or any illicit drug. He lived with his mother who was apparently healthy without any chronic skin disease. His mother was separated from his father and did not have any details about his father's medical conditions.

On examination, he appeared comfortable, afebrile with pulse 93 beats per minute, blood pressure 111/68 mmHg, respiratory rate 18 per minute and body mass index (BMI) was 16.1 kg per square meter. He had



Figure 1 Extensive erosions, crusts, scars on the skin and missing nails.



Figure 2 Upper esophageal stenosis as seen on an esophagogram.

extensive erosions and crust formation with whitish papules involving face, neck, trunk, and extremities (Figure 1). On examination of his extremities, many of his finger and toenails were missing (Figure 1). His oral cavity examination and the systemic examination including chest, cardiac, abdomen and neurological examination were unremarkable.

During his hospital stay, an esophagogram was done which showed tight stenosis at the level of cervical esophagus (Figure 2). An upper gastrointestinal endoscopy was performed which showed a tight stenosis involving the upper esophagus (Figure 3). Stenosed region of the upper esophagus could not be traversed even with the use of an extra slim 5.5 mm diameter endoscope. Patient eventually underwent a percutaneous gastrostomy tube placement.

# DISCUSSION

A German dermatologist Heinrich Koebner coined the term epidermolysis bullosa in 1886<sup>[1]</sup>. Epidermolysis bullosa comprises a group of hereditary disorders characterized by recurrent mucocutaneous blisters that result from minor trauma. Due to several genotypic and phenotypic variants of epidermolysis bullosa, classifying this group of disorder was challenging. In 1962, Epidermolysis bullosa was first classified by Pearson based on the detailed structures of dermo-

## Makker J et al. Epidermolysis bullosa



Figure 3 Upper esophageal stenosis as seen on an esophagogastroduodenoscopy.

epidermal junction as seen on the electron microscope<sup>[2]</sup>. Since then the group of experts have had four international consensus meetings on diagnosis and classification of epidermolysis bullosa to include all the subclasses under one classification system.

The last international consensus meeting results were released in 2014 and the expert group continues to recognize epidermolysis bullosa into four major types based on the level of cleavage in the skin layers<sup>[1]</sup>. Skin is composed of an outer epidermis, inner dermis and an intermediate layer called basement membrane zone, which lies between the epidermis and dermis. Basement membrane zone has been further divided into four layers - hemidesmosome, lamina lucida, lamina densa and sub-lamina densa<sup>[3]</sup>. Four major types (Figure 4) of epidermolysis bullosa with their level of cleavage are – EBS (intra-epidermal cleavage), JEB (intra-lamina lucida cleavage), DEB (intra sub-lamina densa cleavage) and kindler syndrome (multiple levels of cleavage)<sup>[1]</sup>.

# Epidemiology

Epidermolysis bullosa has a variable worldwide prevalence. The variability is likely due to genetic differences between different populations but the differences in recognizing and reporting of the disease are also contributory. In countries where epidermolysis bullosa registries have been established, epidemiological data is slowly emerging but is still underestimated. Prevalence of 10 per million in Australia<sup>[4]</sup>, 49 per million in Scotland<sup>[5]</sup>, 32 per million in Ireland<sup>[6]</sup> and 10.1 per million in Italy<sup>[7]</sup> has been reported. In United States, National Epidermolysis Bullosa Registry (NEBR) was founded in 1986 and since then it has emerged as the largest registry of epidermolysis bullosa in the world. According to 1990 estimates of NEBR, the prevalence of epidermolysis bullosa was 8 per million in United States<sup>[8]</sup>.

# Etiopathogenesis

Epidermolysis bullosa is inherited as an autosomal dominant or an autosomal recessive disease. Muta-

tions in genes encoding for structural proteins of epidermis, dermis and basement membrane zone are responsible for the fragility of the skin. Phenotypic heterogeneity of epidermolysis bullosa depends on the structural protein involved. Various proteins implicated in different subtypes of epidermolysis bullosa are shown in Figure 4<sup>[9]</sup>.

# **Clinical features**

**Cutaneous manifestations:** Skin blisters are the most prominent manifestations of epidermolysis bullosa. Blisters may involve oral mucosa as well. Besides skin blisters, other skin lesions described in literature are erosions, milia (small white papules), deformity or absence of finger and toenails, scarring and extensive granulation tissue. Skin lesions vary in severity and extent among different subtypes.

EBS is the predominant type prevalent in western countries and in general has milder skin lesions as compared to JEB or DEB. The herlitz subtype of JEB is less prevalent than the non-herlitz JEB, but both can have characteristic enamel hypoplasia. Skin scarring is a predominant feature of herlitz subtype JEB. In addition, involvement of the mucosal surfaces of esophagus, upper airway and cornea with subsequent scarring can also be seen with herlitz subtype JEB. The non-herlitz JEB has fewer tendencies to develop extracutaneous manifestations. Dominant form of DEB develops skin blisters at birth. Recurrent involvement of esophagus with subsequent scarring and stenosis can be seen among these patients. Recessive form of DEB is the most severe form of epidermolysis bullosa and leads to disfiguring skin scars, hand and foot deformities, growth retardation and failure to thrive. Kindler syndrome is characterized by photosensitivity and skin pigmentation besides skin blistering<sup>[8]</sup>.

# Extra-cutaneous manifestations

Epidermolysis bullosa, in addition to skin involvement, may involve extra-cutaneous sites leading to significant morbidity and mortality. It can involve eye, oral cavity, nose, gastrointestinal tract, genitourinary tract, respiratory tract and heart. Involvement of eye may manifest as conjunctival edema, keratitis, corneal erosions, corneal ulcerations and scarring. Genitourinary involvement may manifest as scarring of glans penis or vaginal vestibule, urethral strictures leading to hydroureter and hydronephrosis. Repeated blisters involving nose, oral cavity and ear may lead to scarring and occlusion of external nares, oropharynx and external auditory canal. Blisters may involve larynx and upper respiratory tract epithelium leading to scarring and respiratory compromise<sup>[10]</sup>. Musculoskeletal involvement in recessive DEB is characterized by extensive blistering and scarring that eventually leads to fusion of fingers and toes (mitten deformity). Other features of musculoskeletal involvement are contractures involving multiple





Figure 4 Major types and subtypes of epidermolysis bullosa with affected structural skin proteins in parenthesis.

joints, muscular dystrophy and osteoporosis.

Anemia is commonly seen in patients with JEB and recessive DEB. Cardiomyopathy secondary to micronutrient deficiencies, anemia and transfusion related iron overload has been uncommonly seen in recessive DEB. Skin cancers like squamous cell carcinoma, basal cell carcinoma and melanoma are also known to occur in patients with epidermolysis bullosa<sup>[11]</sup>. Squamous cell carcinoma is the leading cause of mortality in several subtypes of epidermolysis bullosa. It most commonly affects recessive form of epidermolysis bullosa and the cumulative risk increases with age<sup>[12]</sup>.

#### Gastrointestinal manifestations

The gastrointestinal tract is commonly involved in different subtypes of epidermolysis bullosa. Repeated blistering of the esophageal mucosal surface most commonly leads to scarring and stenosis of the upper esophagus. The resulting strictures can vary in length and may involve multiple sites. Recessive type of DEB is the subtype most commonly associated with esophageal strictures, however other types including dominant DEB, JEB and EBS may also show similar findings<sup>[13]</sup>. Analysis of 3280 epidermolysis bullosa patients enrolled in National Epidermolysis Bullosa Registry showed the highest cumulative risk of esophageal strictures in the recessive subtype of DEB. Cumulative risk of about 95% and 35% were seen respectively in patients with recessive DEB and herlitz JEB<sup>[14]</sup>.

Patients usually present with symptoms of dysphagia, odynophagia and malnutrition. Strictures, though commonly affect the upper esophagus, may involve mid and lower esophagus as well. Lower esophageal strictures can be precipitated by gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) besides blistering of the mucosa. The other common gastrointestinal problems affecting epidermolysis bullosa patients are constipation and fecal impactions, which result from painful perianal blistering or anal canal stenosis. Pyloric atresia that mostly involves JEB patients is another serious gastrointestinal problem that manifests early in life<sup>[11]</sup>.

#### Treatment

Currently there is no effective therapy available for curing epidermolysis bullosa. However, over the last decade several potential future therapies including protein replacement and gene therapies have been explored. Model systems using these approaches show promise for significant advances in future. Gene therapy for non-Herlitz junctional epidermolysis bullosa has been performed and shown to be efficacious<sup>[15]</sup>. In the absence of a definite therapeutic modality to cure or modify epidermolysis bullosa disease course, management is largely symptomatic. Management of skin lesions focuses on avoiding further skin trauma and secondary bacterial infections<sup>[8]</sup>.

Dietary modification with fiber supplementation is an effective initial approach to manage constipation. Osmotic laxatives can also be tried if dietary measures fail. GERD symptoms usually respond to histamine type 2 receptor antagonists or proton pump inhibitors.

Treatment of an esophageal stricture begins with modification of diet texture to soft, puree and liquids. Supplementation of multivitamins and minerals is an additional important measure. Despite these measures, patients may not be able to keep up with the required caloric intake resulting in malnutrition and growth retardation. Severe strictures eventually may require esophageal dilatation that can be done either with the use of a balloon catheter or a bougie. Both the methods have comparable efficacy, however balloon catheters are preferred due to their relative safety over bougies. Single or multiple sessions of esophageal dilatations may be needed. Usually an antegrade approach is used where a balloon catheter

WJGE www.wjgnet.com

is inserted from the mouth under endoscopic or fluoroscopic guidance. In cases with microstomia due to oropharyngeal scarring, a retrograde approach from the gastrostomy tube may also be tried. With each dilatation small but definite risk of esophageal perforation exists<sup>[16]</sup>. Rarely, colonic interposition or transposition has also been used. Management of most of these complications of epidermolysis bullosa requires a multi-modality approach with multi-disciplinary coordination.

# COMMENTS

## Case characteristics

A 15-year-old boy with blistering skin disease since birth, dysphagia since age nine presented with worsening dysphagia for 3 d.

#### Clinical diagnosis

He had extensive skin erosions and crust formation involving face, neck, trunk, and extremities and many of his finger and toenails were missing.

## **Differential diagnosis**

Four main types of epidermolysis bullosa: epidermolysis bullosa simplex, junctional epidermolysis bullosa, dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa and kindler syndrome.

# Laboratory diagnosis

Skin lesion biopsy showed dominant type dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa.

# Imaging diagnosis

Esophagogram showed tight stenosis at the level of cervical esophagus and an upper gastrointestinal endoscopy showed a tight stenosis involving the upper esophagus.

## Pathological diagnosis

Gene mutation affecting collagen VII leads to skin blisters involving uppermost part of dermis.

#### Treatment

Management of skin lesions is largely symptomatic but protein and gene replacement therapies are emerging. Worsening dysphagia may require esophageal stricture dilatation or gastrostomy tube placement.

#### Related reports

Recessive type of dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa (DEB) is the subtype most commonly associated with esophageal strictures, however other types including dominant DEB, junctional epidermolysis bullosa and epidermolysis bullosa simplex may also show similar findings.

#### Term explanation

Epidermolysis bullosa comprises a group of hereditary disorders characterized by recurrent mucocutaneous blisters that result from minor trauma.

# **Experiences and lessons**

This case report highlights the association of skin blisters, missing nails and dysphagia in patients with epidermolysis bullosa.

#### Peer-review

This is a very nice case report.

# REFERENCES

 Fine JD, Bruckner-Tuderman L, Eady RA, Bauer EA, Bauer JW, Has C, Heagerty A, Hintner H, Hovnanian A, Jonkman MF, Leigh I, Marinkovich MP, Martinez AE, McGrath JA, Mellerio JE, Moss C, Murrell DF, Shimizu H, Uitto J, Woodley D, Zambruno G. Inherited epidermolysis bullosa: updated recommendations on diagnosis and classification. *J Am Acad Dermatol* 2014; **70**: 1103-1126 [PMID: 24690439 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaad.2014.01.903]

- 2 **Pearson RW**. Studies on the pathogenesis of epidermolysis bullosa. *J Invest Dermatol* 1962; **39**: 551-575 [PMID: 13942265 DOI: 10.1038/jid.1962.156]
- 3 Chan LS. Human skin basement membrane in health and in autoimmune diseases. *Front Biosci* 1997; 2: d343-d352 [PMID: 9232815]
- 4 Murrell DF. Epidermolysis bullosa in Australia and New Zealand. Dermatol Clin 2010; 28: 433-438, xvi [PMID: 20447522 DOI: 10.1016/j.det.2010.02.009]
- 5 Horn HM, Priestley GC, Eady RA, Tidman MJ. The prevalence of epidermolysis bullosa in Scotland. *Br J Dermatol* 1997; 136: 560-564 [PMID: 9155958 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.1997. d01-1235.x]
- 6 McKenna KE, Walsh MY, Bingham EA. Epidermolysis bullosa in Northern Ireland. Br J Dermatol 1992; 127: 318-321 [PMID: 1419751 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.1992.tb00448.x]
- 7 Tadini G, Gualandri L, Colombi M, Paradisi M, Angelo C, Zambruno G, Castiglia L, Annicchiarico G, Hasheem MEL, Barlati S, Gardella R, Naldi L, Bonifazi E, Grofalo L, Moretti G, Cavalli R, Cambiaghi S, Percivalle S, Bellinvia M, Di Benedetto A, Locatelli A, Lunardon L, Bruni E, Patrizi A, Lembo G, Cainelli T. The Italian Registry of hereditary epidermolysis bullosa. *G Ital Dermatol Venereol* 2005; 140: 359-372
- 8 Fine JD. Inherited epidermolysis bullosa. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2010; 5: 12 [PMID: 20507631 DOI: 10.1186/1750-1172-5-12]
- 9 Bruckner-Tuderman L, Has C. Molecular heterogeneity of blistering disorders: the paradigm of epidermolysis bullosa. *J Invest Dermatol* 2012; **132**: E2-E5 [PMID: 23154626 DOI: 10.1038/skinbio.2012.2]
- 10 Fine JD, Mellerio JE. Extracutaneous manifestations and complications of inherited epidermolysis bullosa: part I. Epithelial associated tissues. J Am Acad Dermatol 2009; 61: 367-384; quiz 385-386 [PMID: 19700010 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaad.2009.03.052]
- 11 Fine JD, Mellerio JE. Extracutaneous manifestations and complications of inherited epidermolysis bullosa: part II. Other organs. J Am Acad Dermatol 2009; 61: 387-402; quiz 403-404 [PMID: 19700011 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaad.2009.03.053]
- 12 Mallipeddi R. Epidermolysis bullosa and cancer. *Clin Exp* Dermatol 2002; 27: 616-623 [PMID: 12472531 DOI: 10.1046/ j.1365-2230.2002.01130.x]
- 13 Travis SP, McGrath JA, Turnbull AJ, Schofield OM, Chan O, O'Connor AF, Mayou B, Eady RA, Thompson RP. Oral and gastrointestinal manifestations of epidermolysis bullosa. *Lancet* 1992; 340: 1505-1506 [PMID: 1361600 DOI: 10.1016/0140-6736( 92)92759-9]
- 14 Fine JD, Johnson LB, Weiner M, Suchindran C. Gastrointestinal complications of inherited epidermolysis bullosa: cumulative experience of the National Epidermolysis Bullosa Registry. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2008; 46: 147-158 [PMID: 18223373 DOI: 10.1097/mpg.0b013e31812f5667]
- 15 Mavilio F, Pellegrini G, Ferrari S, Di Nunzio F, Di Iorio E, Recchia A, Maruggi G, Ferrari G, Provasi E, Bonini C, Capurro S, Conti A, Magnoni C, Giannetti A, De Luca M. Correction of junctional epidermolysis bullosa by transplantation of genetically modified epidermal stem cells. *Nat Med* 2006; **12**: 1397-1402 [PMID: 17115047 DOI: 10.1038/nm1504]
- 16 Mortell AE, Azizkhan RG. Epidermolysis bullosa: management of esophageal strictures and enteric access by gastrostomy. *Dermatol Clin* 2010; 28: 311-318, x [PMID: 20447496 DOI: 10.1016/ j.det.2010.01.012]

P- Reviewer: Al-Biltagi M, de Bortoli N, Dumitrascu DL S- Editor: Ji FF L- Editor: A E- Editor: Zhang DN





WJGE www.wjgnet.com



# Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

8226 Regency Drive, Pleasanton, CA 94588, USA Telephone: +1-925-223-8242 Fax: +1-925-223-8243 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: http://www.wjgnet.com/esps/helpdesk.aspx http://www.wjgnet.com

